Item 2 — Properties
Executive and Adminisirative Offices

We lease approximately 11,700 square feet of o fiice space in Los Angeles, California to serve as our executive
headquarters. 'We own an 8,100 square foot office building in Melboume, Australia, approximately 5,200 square foct of
which serves as the headquarters for our Austral{an and New Zealand operations (the remainder being leased to an
untelated third party). We maintain our accounting personnel and certain IT and operational personnel in approximately
5,900 square foot of offices located in our Wellington Courtenay Central shopping center. We occupy approximately
3,500 square feet at our Village East leaschold property for administrative purposes, We also own a residential
condominjum unit in Los Angeles, used for offsite corporate meetings and residential space by our Chairman and Chief
BExecutive Officer,

Entertainment Properties

Entertainment Use T.easehold fnterests

As of December 31, 2013, we lease approximately 1.8 million square feet of completed cinema space in the
Uhited States, Australia, and New Zealand as follows:

Approximate Range of
Remaining Lease Terms
Aggregate Square Footage (incloding remewals)
Tnited States 942,000 2014 -2049
Australia 724,000 2017 —-2049
New Zealand 150,000 2024 -2034

On December31, 2013, we settled 2 management fee clajm that we had with the owner of the lease interest in the
Plano, Texas cinema that we bad managed since 2003. As patt of the settlement, we acquired that entity. Also, in
September 2013, we fook hack a cinema at one of our fee properties in New Zealand and commenced to refurbish and
upgrade that facility with the intent of operating the cinema ourselves. The cinema was already Ieased to a competitor at
the time we acquired it in May 2007, We expect to begin operations of this cinema in the third quarter of 2014, During
the first quarter 2014, we entered into alease for a new Angelika style cinema currently being developed by Edens in the
‘Union Market area of Washington D.C.

Fee Inferests

In Australia, as of December 31, 2013, we own approximately 3.2 million square feet of land at nine
locations. Most of this land is located in the greater metropolitan areas of Brisbane, Melboume, Perth, and Syduey,
including the 50.6-acre Burwood site. Of these fee interests, approximately 138,000 square feet are cumrently improved
with cinemas. These figures include the 3.3-acre Moonee Ponds property which is under a contract of sale with
completion due on April 16, 2015.

In New Zealand, as of Decomber 31, 2013, we own approXimately 3.4 million square feet of land at seven
locations. This includes the Courtney Central ETRC in Wellington, the 70.3 acre Manukau site, and the foe interests
underlying three cinemas in New Zealand, which properties include approximately 21,000 square feet of ancillaxy retail
space. :

In the United States, as of December 31,2013, we own approximately 134,000 squars feet of improved real estate
comprised of four Tive theater buildings, which include approximately 58,000 square feet of leasable space, and the fee
interest in our Cinemss 1, 2 & 3 in Manhattan (held through a limited liability company in which we have a 75%
managing member interest).

Live Thea “Lil eaters™

Included among our real estats holdings are four “Off Broadway” style live theaters, operated through our
Liberty Theaters subsidiary. We lcense theater auditoriums to the producers of “Off Broadway” theatrical
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productions and provide various box office and concession services. The terms.of our licenses are, naturally, principally
dependent upon the commercial success of ourtenants, STOMP has been playing at our Orpheum Theatre in excess of 17
years. While we attempt to choose productions that we belicve will be successful, we haveno control overthe production
itself At the current time, we have three single auditorjum theaters in Manhattan:

o theMinetta Lane (399 seats);
« the Orpheum (347 seats); and
o the Union Sguare (499 seats).

We also own 2 four-auditorium theater complex, the Royal George in Chicago (main stage 452 seats, cabaret 199
seats, great Toom 100 seats and gallery 60 seats). Two of the properties, the Union Square and the Royal George, have
ancillary retail and office space.

Liberty Theaters is primarily in the business of renting theater space. However, we may from time to time
participate as an investor in a play, which can help facilitate the production of the play at one of our facilities, and do
from time to time rent space on a basis that allowsus to share in a production’s revenue or profits. Revenue, expense, and
profits are reported as a part ofthe real estate segment of our business.

Joint Venture Cinems Interests

‘W also hold real estate through several unincorporated joint ventures, two 75% owned subsidiaries, and one
majority-owned subsidiary, as described below:

» inAustmlia, we own a 75% interest in a subsidiary company that leases two cinemas with eleven sereens in two
Australian country towns, and 2 33% unincorporated joint venture interest in a 16-screen leasehold cinema in 2
suburb of Brisbane,

e inNew Zealand, we own a 50% unincorporated joint venture i in two ci with 13 in the New
Zealand cities of Auckland and Dunedin.

« Inthe United States, we own a 75% managing member interest in the limited liability company that owns our
Cinemas 1,2 & 3 propesty and a 50% managing member interest in Shadow View Land & Farming, LLC which
owns an approximately 202-acre property in Riverside County, California which, while zoned residential and
approved for 816 single family lots.

19

FEAY S T N NN o

¥ > 1y SMpiE GF Einedt TRha s E Nt T el o
st Ty npwdnadshe e Pl > afflae SR

JA1412



Income Operating Property,

As of December 31, 2013, we own fee interests in approximately 1.0 million square feet of incoxe producing

properties (including certain propexties principally occupied by our cinemas).

Square Feet of
Improvements Percentage Gross Book Value
Property (rentalentertatnment) Leased (in US, Dollars)
Aubum 60000 /57000
100 Parramatta Road Plus a 871-space 100% $30,646,000
Auburm, NSW, Australia parking structure
Belmont
Enutsford Avenue and 15000/ 45000 100% $13,840,000
Fulham Street
Belmont, WA, Australia
Cinemas 1,2 & 37 .
1003 Third Avenue 0/21000 N/A $23,837,000
Manhattan, NY, USA
Courtenay Central 33000/ 76000
100 Courtenay Place Plus a 1,086-space 70% $26,216,000
‘Wellington, New Zealand parking structure

[6] Rental square footage refers to the amount of area available to be reated to fird parties and the percentage |eased ia the amount of such
rental square footage currently leased 1o fhird parties. A mumber of our resl estate holdinge include entertai p rented to one
or more of our subsidiarios. The rental arca to such subsidiarics is noted under the entertsinment square foatage. The grose book vatue refers
to the pross carrying cost of the land and buildings of fhe property, Book valuc and rentel information are 2s of Decesmber 31, 2013,

[7] This property is owned by a limited [iability company in which we hold a 75% managing interest. The temaining 25% is owned by
Sution Hill Investments, LLC, a company owned in equal paria by our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. James J. Cotter, and 2 third

party.
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Square Feet of
Tmprovements Percentage Gross Book Value
Property {rental i ) Leased (in US. Dollars)
Invercargill Cinema
29 Dee Street 9000 / 24000 69% $3,231,000
Invercargill, New Zealand
Lake Taupo Matel
138-140 Lake Terrace Road 9000/0 Short-term rentals $2,304,000
Taupo, New Zealand
Maitland Cinema
Ken Tubman Drive 0/22000 N/A $2,124,000
Maitland, NSW, Austvalia
Minetta Lane Theatre
18-22 Minetta Lane 0/9000 NA 58,679,000
Manhattan, NY, USA
Napier Cinema
154 Station Street 12000 / 18000 100% $3,530,000
Napier, New Zealand
Newmarket
400 Newmarket Road 93000/ 0
Newmarket, Queensiand, Plus a 436-space 100% 338,951,000
Ausiralia parking structurs
Orpheum Theatre
126 2% Street 1000/ 5000 0% $3,639,000
Manhattan, NY, USA
Royal Gearge 37000 / 23000
1633 N. Halsted Strest Plusa 55-space 91% $3,485,000
Chicago, IL, USA parking structure
Rotorua Cinema
1281 Eruera Street 0719000 N/A $3,030,000
Rotorua, New Zealand
‘Union Square Theatre
100 B. 17* Street 21000/ 17000 100% $8,923,000
Manhattan, NY, USA
21

QN B 50t RN J0 S ac sy
: izt S crantaiad s

of dned TR

F PRER Tt ey
A

s Pose I

sy

PRI A0F TR

HH

NERE

JA1414




Lopg-Term X easehold Operating Property

In addition, in certain cases we have long-term leases that we view more akin to real estate investments than
cinema leases. As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 155,000 square foot of space subject to such long-term
leases,

Square Feet of
Tmprovemenis Pereentage Gross Book Value
Property® (rental/entertainment) Leased (inUS, Dollars)
Maaville 0753000 N/A $2321,000
Tower 0/16000 N/A $1,017,000
Village East’ 4000738000 100% $8,454,000
‘Waum Ponds 6000 /38000 100% $3,961,000

[8] Rental square footage refers to the amount of area avzilable 10 be rented to third pnrurs, ami 1he percentage Ieased in 1he amount of rental
square fooiage currently leased o fhird parties. A number of our long-term g property include

rented to one or more of our eubsidieries, The renial area io such subsdinries is noted under 1he enteriainment square footsge. Bonk value
includes the entire investment in the leased property, including any cinema fit-out. Rental aud book value information is as of Decembear 31,
2013,

[9] The lease of the Village Bast provides for a call aption pursuant o which Reading may purchase the cinema ground leasc for $5.9 million
at the end of the lease ferm in 2020. Addmonnlly, the leape has a put option pursuant o which SHC may require Reading 1o purchase all or a
portion of SHC's interest in the cxisting cinema leas: and the cinema gmund lcm at any time between July 1, 2013 end December 4,
2019. Sec Noie 25 - Relaled Parties and T) fionk to our 2013 C i
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Inyestrpent and Development Property

‘We aro engaged in several investment and development projects relative to our currently undeveloped parcels of
land. Tn addition, we anticipate that redevelopment of one ormore of our existing developed properties may also occur,

Gross Book Value
Property" Acreage (in U.S. Dellars) Status
Aubura, [We are actively pursuing the development of the]
Sydney; Australia 2.6 ecres §1,824,000 next phase of this property.
Burwood, We continue to evaluate our options with regards to
Victoria, Australia 50.6 acres $46,528,000 his property.
Coachella, [We continue to evaluate our options with regards o
CA, USA 202 acres 54047000 e property.
We are actively pursuing the development of the|
Conrtenay Ceniral, : Nt
* Wellngon, 1.1 aeres 86953000 [Pt phase of this property having signed a leasg
New Zeaand ’ et lagreement for a Countdown (Woolwarths)
jsupermarket to be developed on this site.
Lake Tenpo, Taupo, New [We are pursuing various options o dispose of this|
Zeatmd 0.5 acre $2,304,000 Ibroperty.
[The bulk of the land is zoned for agriculture and i
curenlly used for  hortiont i
purposes. A development plan has been filed to
. . irezone the property for warehouse, distribution and|
Manukan, 6:]];“2&: :O;:T:ﬂm 13,993,000 Imanufacturing uses. We currently anficipate thaf
Anckland, New Zealand y industrial 4 this rezoning will be approved. Tan 2010, wo
acquired an adjacent property which is zoned
industrizl, but is currently unimproved. This
Iproperty links our existing parcel with the existing]
road network.
n November 2013, we entered into a definjtive]
Moonee Ponds, Victoria, purchase and sale agreement fo sell onr propetics|
Australia 3.3 acres $11,053,000 located in Moonee Ponds, Viotoria, Ansiralia with|
2 scheduled closing date of April 16, 2015
[10] A number of our rcal cstate holdings include additional land held for dove

future development. The gross book value includes, 28 app

Ta addition, we have acquired ceriain parcels for
1 italized interest.

ble, the lend, buildi

cosis, and

Some of our income operating property and our investment and development property camy various debt
encumbrances based on their income stieams and geographic Incations. Foran explanation ofour debt and the associated
security collateral please see Note 12 — Notes Payable to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Other Property Interests and Investments

‘We own the fee interest in 11 parcels comprising 195 acres in Pennsylvenia and Delaware. These acres consist
primarily of vacant Jand. With the exception of certain propenties located in Philadelphia (including the raised raiload
bed leading to the old Reading Railmad Station), the properties are principally located in mra] arcas of Penosylvania and
Delaware, Additionally, we own a condominium in the Los Angeles, California arca that is used for offsite corporate
meetings and by our Chief Executive Officer when he is in town. Except for anegative pledge on the aforementioned Los
Angeles condominium, these properties are unencumbered with any debt and ace lien free,
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tern 3 — Legal Proceedings

Tax Audit/Litigation

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) has examined the tax retum of Reading Bntertainment Inc. (“"RDGE”)
for its tax years ended December 31, 1996 through December 31, 1999 and the tax return of Craig Corporation (‘CRG")
for its tax yoar ended June 30, 1997. These companies are both now wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, but for
the time periods under audit, were not consolidated with the Company fox tax putposes.

CRG and the IRS apreed to compromise the claims made by the IRS against CRG and the Tax Court's order was

entered on January 6, 2011, Tn the settlement, the IRS conceded 70% of its claimed adjustment to income. Instead of a
claim for unpaid taxes of $20.9 million plus interest, the cffect of settlement on the Reading consolidated group was to
require a total federal income tax obligation of $5.4 million, reduced by a federal tax refund 0£$800,000 and increased by
Taterest of $9.3 million, for a net federal tax liability of $13.9 million as of January 6, 20L1. On October26, 2011, CRG
reached an agreement with the IRS for an installment plan to pay offthis federal tax liability, inclnding additional interest
accrals at the prescribed IRS floating rate. The agrecment requires monthly payments of $290,000 over a period of
approximately five years. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, after the payments made during 2013 and 2012,
respectively, the remaining federal tax obligation was $8.3 million and $10.0 million, respectively, in tax and interest. Of
the $8.3 million owed under the installment agreement as of December 31, 2013, $3.5 million was recorded as cument
taxes payable, with the remaining balance being recorded as non-cinrent tax liability. Ofthe $10.0 million owed under
the installment agreement as ofDecember 31, 2012, $3.5 million was recorded as current taxes payable, with the
remaining balance being recorded as non-cumrent tax liability.

The impact of the settlement upon the state taxes of the Reading consolidated group, if the adjustment to income
agresd with the IRS were reflected on state returns, would be an obligation of approximately $1.4 million in tax plus
interest and potential penalty. As of December 31,2013, no deficiency has been asserted by the State of California, and
we have made no final decision as to the course of action to be followed ifa deficiency isasserted.

Environmental and Asbestns Claims

Certain of our subsidiades were historically invelved i milroad opermtions, coal mining, and
manufscturing. Also, certain of these subsidiaries appear in the chain of title of properties that may sufier from
pollution. Accordingly, certain of these subsidiacies have, ffom time fo time, been named in and may in the fature be
named in various actions brought under applicable environmental laws, Also, we are in the real estate development
business and may encounter from time to time unanticipated environmental conditions at properties that we have
acquired for development. These environmental conditions can increase the cost of such projects, and adversely affect
the value and potential for profit of such projects. We do not cumently believe that our exposure under applicable
environmental laws is materal in amount.

From time to time, we have claims brought against us relating to the exposure of former employees of our
railroad operations to asbestos and coal dust. These are generally covered by an i scttlement hed in
September 1990 with our i carriers. H x this i settiement does not cover litigation by people who
were not our employees and who may claim second hand exposure to asbestos, coal dust and/or other chemicals or
elements now recognized as potentially causing cancer in humans. Our known exposure to these types of claims, asserted
or probable of being asserted, is not material,

25

JA1418



In connection with the development of our 50.6 acre Burwood site, it will be necessary to address certain
environmental issues. That property was at one time used as brickworks and we have discovered petroleum and asbestos
at the site. During 2007, we developed a plan for the remediation of these materials, in some cases through removal and
in other cases through encapsulation, As of December 31, 2013, we estimate that the total site prepamtion costs

jated with the al of this contaminated soil will be $15.2 million (AUS$17.1 million) and as ofthat date we had
already incurmred a total of $7.4 million (AUS$8.3 million) of these costs. We do not believe that this has added materially
ta the overall development cost of the site, as it is anticipated that all of the work will be done in connection with the
excavation and other development activity slready contemplated for the property.

26

LA VRS IR

JA1419

vy Tl e F PRl Tor gy Tarmagad or lawses sy
et o
Y

Theefen wad fa ot wankaisd e &
Ty £




PART I

— Market for Registrant’s Common Equi ted Stockholder Matters a uer Purchgses of Equi
Securities

arket Information

Reading International, Fnc., a Nevada corporation (“RDI” and collectively with our consolidated subsidiaries and
corporate predecessors, the “Company,” “Reading” and “we,” “us,” or “our”), was incorporated in 1999. Historically, we
have been listed on the AMEX and due to the 2008 purchase of the AMEX by the NYSE Alternext US ; we were listed on
that exchange at December31,2008. During July 2009, we moved ourlisting from NYSE Altemext to NASDAQ.

The following table sets forth the high and low closing prices ofthe RDI and RDIB eommon stock foreach ofthe
quarters in 2013 and 2012 asreported by NASDAQ:

Class A Stock Class B Stock

High Low High Low

2013 Fouth Quarter $ 749 $ 615 8 9.00 $ 699
Third Quarter § 658 $§ 615 $ 799 5 652

Second Quarter $ 636 $ 550 $ 740 $ 600

First Quarter $ 6.08 3 542 § 749 $ 565

2012 Fourth Quarter $ 623 $ 548 § 740 $ 5.64
Third Quarter § 658 $ 473 $ 795 $ 500

Second Quarter $ 588 $ 462 $ 675 $ 453

First Quarter $ 456 § 412 § 700 $ 426

The following table summarizes the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans:

Nuomber of
Number of ‘Weighted- securities
securities to be average exercise remaining
issned upon priceof available for
exercise of outstanding futnre issnance
outstanding options, under equify
options, warraots, warrauts, and compensation
Plan category and righis rights plans
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders 894,950 3 7.33 1,829,436
Total 894,950 $ 7.33 1,829.436

erfo ce h

The following line graph compares the cumulative total stockholder retum on Reading Intemational, Ine.'s
common stock for the years ended December 31, 2009,2010, 2011, 2012, and 2013 against the eumulative total return
as caleulated by the NASDAQ composite, the motion picture theater operator group, and the real estate operator group.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TQTAL RETURR*
Among;Realing. Infemational: ng 'a-[}IAG_S‘zDA'Q.gprqgnﬁs.ﬂe ntlex, Real Bstate-Ofierators:
rgup,
4hd Motign-Fictifa Thiestet Operétdts Gbug"

o
a5

: P
e T
12:40- LEnT] 1242 1243
swding ntetsational, ing. 5~ NASDAR Cotposits:
Rial Exeate-Opetatars Gicup: 3% Matioh Pletuie Thedtir Opbratoks Group

400, iivested:on 1231 08 o stock brindek, Inliding réinyEstnert of dividends,
Eiscalyeat ending Decembier3T.

Holders of Record,

The number of holders of record of our Class A Stock and Class B Stock in 2013 was approximately 3,500 and
300, respectively. On March 6, 2014, the closing price per share of our Class A Stock was $7.54 and the closing price per
share of our Class B Stock was $10.23,

Dividends on Conmon Stock

‘We have never declared a cash dividend on our common stock and we have no current plans fo declare a
dividend; however, we review this matter on an ongoing hasis.

ent Sales of Unregistered Secnrities; Use of Proceeds from Repiste: ccurities
None,
c) Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affillated Purchasers

During 2011, we purchased 172,300 of Class A Nonvoting shares on the open market for $747,000. No shares
were purchased during either 2013 or 2012,
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Item 6 — Selected Financial Data

The table below sets forth certain historical financial data regarding our Company. This information is derived
in paxt from, and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements included in Kem 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 (the “2013 Annual Report”), and the welated notes to
the consolidated financial statements (dollars in thousands, except per share amounts).

At or for the Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Reveaue 5 258221 8 254,430 § 244979 § 229,322 § 216,740
Opemting income [ 20935 § 19,127 § 18,178 § 13,069 § 13910
lTucome (loss) from discontinued operations $ -~ 8 “05) % 1,888 § 97 12
Net income (loss) 13 2,145 § (1,406) § 10,896 § (12,034) § 6,482
Net income (loss) atiributeble to Reading
International, Inc. sharcholders 3 9,041 § 914) 5 9956 3 (12,650) $ 6,094
Basic caminga (loss) per share — confinting
operstions $ 039 § 0.02) 036 § 056) & 027
Basic ¢amings (loss) per share ~ discontinued '
operations $ - § (0.02) § 0.08 § - § -
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 039 8 (0.04) § 044 § 056) § 0.27
Diluted carminga (foes) per share — continuving :
operations $ 038§ 0.02) $ 035 § 0.56) $ 0.27
Diluted camings {loss) per share — discontinued
operetions 3 -~ 3 {0.02) & 008 §$ -8 -
Diluted earnings (Joss) per shere H 038§ 0.04) § 043 $ 056) § 027
Other Information:
Shares ouistending 23,083,265 23,083,265 22,806,838 22,804,313 22,588,403
Weighted  average nmumber of  sharcs
outstanding-besic 23,348,003 23,028,596 22,764,666 22,781,392 22,580,942
Weighted  average number of  shares
outstanding—diluted 23,520,271 23,028,596 22,993,135 22,781,392 22,767,735
Total assete $ 386,807 § 428,588 §$ 430,764 § 430,349 § 406417
Total debt 3 168460 § 196,597 $ 209,614 § 228,821 § 226,993
" Working capital (deficit) [ (71,794) § @21,415) § (12,344) § (57,634) §  (16229)
Stockholders’ equity $ 121,747 § 130,954 § 124,987 § 112,639 $ 110,263
EBIT 5 24020 % 20416 % 18,664 § 13900 % 22,618
Depreciation and amortization $ 15,197 § 16,049 § 16,595 § 15,563 § 15,034
Add: Adj for di inued op $ - 3 335 % 365 % 351 8 134
EBITDA 13 39217 § 36,800 § 35624 8 29814 § 37,786
Debt to EBITDA s 430 5 534 8 588 § 767 % 6.01
Capital expenditure (includi isitions) 3 20,082 § 13,723 ¢ 9376 § 19371 $ 5,686
Number of employecsat 12/31 2494 2412 2,263 2,109 2,207

BEBIT p ted above rep net i (loss) adjusted for interest expense (calculated net of interest

income) and income tax expense. EBIT is presented for informational purposes to show the significance of depreciation
and amortization in the calculation of EBITDA. We use EBIT in our evaluation of our eperating results since we believe
that it is usefi1l as a messure of financial performance, particularly for us as a multinational company. 'We believe itis a
usefirl measure of financial performance principally for the following reasons:

s since we opemte in multiple tax jurisdictions, we find EBIT removes the impact of the varying tax rates and tax.
regimes in the jurisdictions in which we operate.

« in addition, we find EBIT useful as & financial measure that removes the impact from our effective tax rate of
factors not directly related to our business operations, such as, whether we have acquired opemting assets by
purchasing those assets directly, or indirectly by purchasing the stock of a company that might hold such
operating assets,

« theuse of EBIT as a financial measure also (i) removes the impact oftax timing differences which may vary from
time to time and from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, (ii) allows us te compare our performance to

29

JA1422



thet achieved by other companies, and (iii) is useful as a financial measure that removes the impact of our
historically sigoificant net Joss canry-forwards.

o the elimination of net interest expense helps us to compare our operating performance to those companies that
may have more or less debt than we do.

EBITDA presented above is net income (loss) adjusted for interest expense (agein, calculated net of interest
income), income tax expense, and in addition depreciation and amortization expense. 'We use EBITDA.in our evaluation
of our perfammance since we believe that EBITDA provides a useful measure of financial performance and value. We
believe this principally for the following reasons:

e  we believe that EBITDA is an industry comparative measure of financial performance. It is, in our experience, a
measure commonly used by analysts and financial commentators who report on the cinema exhibition and real
estate indusiries and a measure used by financial institutions in underwriting the creditworthiness of companies
in these industries. Accordingly, our management monitors this caleulation as a method of judging our
performance against our peers and market expectations and our creditworthiness.

» also, analysts, financial commentators, and persons active in the cinema exhibition and real estate indusiries
typically value enterprises engaged in these busi at various multiples of EBITDA. Accordingly, we find
EBITDA valuable as an indicator ofthe undetlying value of our businesses.

‘We expect that investors may use EBITDA to judge our ability to generate cash, as a basis of comparison 1o other
companies engaged in the cinema exhibition and real estate businesses and as a basis to value our company against such
other companies.

Neither EBIT nor EBITDA jis a measurement of financial performance under accounting principles generily
aceepted in the United States of America and should not be considered in isolation or construed as a substitute for net
income or other operations data or cash flow data prepared in aceordance with accounting principles generally pted
in the United States for purposes of analyzing our profitability. The exclusion of vations components such as interest,
taxes, depreciation, and amortization necessarily [imit the usefulness of these measures when zssessing our financial
performance, as not all fands depicted by EBITDA are available for management’s discretionary use. For example, a
substantial portion of such fands are subject to contractual restrictions and functional requirements to service debt, to
fund necessary capital expenditures and fo meet other commitments from time to time as described in more detail in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

EBIT and BBITDA also fail to take into account the cost of interest and taxes, Tnterest is clearly a real cost that
for us is paid periodically as accrued. Taxes may ormay not be a curent cash item but are nevertheless real costs that, in
most situations, must eventually be paid. A company that realizes taxable eamings in high tax jurisdictions may be
ultimately less valuable than a company that realizes the same amount of faxable eamings in a low tax
jurisdiction, BBITDA fails to take into account the cost of depreciation and amortization and the fact that assets will
eventually wear out and have to bereplaced.

EBITDA, as calculated by us, may not be comparable to similady titled measures reported by other
companies. A reconciliation ofnet income (loss) to EBIT and EBITDA is presented below (dollars in thousands):

2013 2012 2011 2010 2003

Net income (loss) atiributsble to Reading

International, Inc, sharcholders $ 9,041 § (514) § 9,956 § (12,650) § 6,094
Add: Inlcrest expense, net 10,037 16,4426 21,038 12,286 14,572
Add: Tncome tax (beoefit) expense 4,942 4,904 (12,330) 14,264 1952
EBIT 3 24020 § 20,416 $ 18,664 § 13,0900 § 22,618
Add: Deprecistion end amortization 15,197 16,049 16,595 15,563 15,034
Adj for dis inued operati - 335 365 351 134
;EEITDA $ 39,217 8 36=800 $ 35,224 $ 22,.814 $ 317,786
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Item 7 — Mapagement’s Discussions and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulfs of Operations

The following review should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes
included in this 2013 Annual Report. Historical results and percentage relationships do not necessarly indicate
operating Tesults for any future periods.

Overview,
We are an internationally diversified company principally focused on the development, ownership, and

operation of entertainment and real property assets in the United States, Australia, and New Zealand. Currently, we
operate in two business segments;

s Cinema Exhibition, through our 56 multiplex theaters, and
« Real Estate, including investment, development, and the rental ofretzil, commercial and live theater assets.

We believe that these two business segments complement one another, ag the comparatively consistent cash flows
generated by our cinema operations can be used to find new cinema business opportunities and the front-end cash
demands ofourreal estate investment and development business,

‘We manage our worldwide cinema exhibition businesses under various different brands:

s inthe US,underthe Reading, Angelika Film Center, Consolidated Amusements, and City Cinemas brands;
«  in Australia, underthe Reading brand; and
« inNew Zealand, underthe Reading and Rialto brands.

‘While we do not believe the cinema exhibition business to be a growth business, we do believe it to be a
business that will likely continue to generate faily consistent cash flows in the years ahead even in recessionary or
inflatjonary environment. This is based on our helief that people will continue to spend some reasonable portion of their
entertainment dollar on entestainment outside of the home and that, when compared to other forms of outside the home
entertainment, movies continue to be a popular and competitively priced option. Since we believe the cinema exhibition
business to be a maturs business with most markels either adequately screened or over-screened, we see growth in oux
cinema business coming principally from the enhancement of our current cinemas, the development in select markets of
specialty cinemas, and the opportunistic acquisition of already existing cinemas mther than from the development ofnew
conventional cinemas. From time to time, we invest in the securities of other companies, whete we helieve the business or
assets of those companies to be attractive or to offer synergies to our existing entertainment and real estate businesses. In
the current environment, we intend to focus on the development and redevelopment of our existing assets (particulady
our New York assets and our Angelika Film Ceoter chain), as well as to continue to be opportunistic in identifying and
endeavoring to acquire undervalued assets, particularly assets with proven cash flow and which we believe to be resistant
to current recessionary trends.

In summary, while we do have operating company attributes, we see ourselves principally as a geographically
diversified real estate company and intend to add to stockholder value by building the value of our portiblio of tangible
assets including both entertainment and other types of land and brick and mortar assets. We endeavor to maintain a
reasonable asset allocation between our domestic and intemational assets and operations, and between our cash
generating cinema operations and our cash consuming real estate investment and development activities, Webelieve that
by blending the cach generating capabilities of a cinema operation with the investment and development oppertunities of
ourreal estate operations, our business strategy is unique among public companies.

Business Climate
Cinema BExhibition - General
After years of uncertainty as to the fature of digital exhibition and the impact of this technology on cinama

exhibition, it became clear in 2012 that the industry must go digital. We have now completed the conversion ofall ofour
USS,, Austrslia, and New Zealand cinema operations to digital projection. Over several yeats, we anticipate

31

I
LG, 13

ey Thausy ke
Sy

o ad Fy i
I £ THNGIN AN

U Ui

JA1424




that the cost of this conversion will be covered in substantial part by the receipt of Vistual Print Fees paid by film
distributors for the use of such digital projection equipment.

In the case of “in-home” entertainment alternatives, the indusity has experienced significant leaps in xecent
periods in both the quality and affordability of in-home entertainment systems and in the accessibility to entertainment
programming through cable, satellite, DVD, and intemet distribution channels. These altemative distribution channels
are putting pressure on cinema exhibitors to reduce the time period between theatrical and secondary release dates, and
certain distibutors are talking about possible simultaneous or near simultaneous releases in multiple channels of
distribution. These issues are common to both our domestic and intermational cinema operations.

Certain new entrants to the cinema exhibition market, as well as certain of our historic competitors, have begun
to develop new and to reposition existing cinemas that offer a broader selection of premium seating and food and
beverage offerings. These include, in some cases, food service to the seat and the offering of aleoholic beverages. We
have for some years offered premium seating and aleoholic beverages in certain of our overseas cinemas. We have also
offered café food selections and zlcoholic beverages domestically in certain of our Angelika Film Centers. Accordingly,
we are experienced in and believe that we can compete effectively with this emerging competition. We are currently
reviewing the potential for expanding our offerings at a variety of our domestic cinemas.

inema Exhibition — ja /Ne alan

The film exhibition industry in Australia and New Zealand is highly concentrated in that Village, Event, and

Hoyts (the “Major Exhibitors™) control approximately 65% of the cinema box office in Australia while Event and Hoyts
control approximately 55% of New Zealand’s cinema box office. The industry is also vertically integrated in that one of
the Major Bxhibitors, Roadshow Film Distributors (part of Village), also serves as a distributor of film in Australia and
New Zealand for Wamer Bros. and New Line. Films produced or distributed by the majority of the local intemational
independent producers are also distributed by Roadshow. Typically, the Major Exhibitors own the newer multiplex and

megaplex cinemas, while the independent exhibitors typically have older and smaller cinemas. In addition, the Major
Exhibitors have in recent periods built a number of new multiplexes as joint venture partners or under shared facility
arrangements, and have historicalty not engaged in head-to-head competition.

Cinema Bxhibition — North America,

In North America, distributors may find it more commercially appealing to deal with major exhibitors, rather than
to deal with independents like us, which tends to compress the supply of screens in a very limited number of
markets. This competitive disadvantage has increased significantly in recent pedods with the development of mega
circuits like Regal and AMC who are able to affer distributors access to screens on a truly nationwide basis, or, on the
other hand, to deny access if their desires with respect to film supply are not satisfied.

These consolidations can adversely affect our ability to get film in certain U.S. markets where we compete
against major exhibitors. ‘With the restructuring and consolidation undertaken in the industry, and the emergence of
increasingly attractive “in-home” entertainment altematives, strategic cinema acquisitions by our U.S. opemtion have and
can continme to be a way to combat such a competitive disadvantage.

Real Estate — Australia and New Zealand

Over the past few years, there has been a noted stabilization in real estate market activity resulting in some
increases to commercial and retail property values in Australia and to a Iesser extent in New Zealand. Both countries have
relatively stable economies with varying degrees of economic growth that are mostly influenced by global trends. Also,
we have noted that our Australian and New Zealand developed properties have had consistent growth in rentals and
values although project commencements have slowed, Once developed, we remain confident that our Australian and New
Zealand holdings will continue to provide value and cash flows to our operations.

Rea] Pstate — North America
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The commercial real estate market has improved somewhat over the past two years and we have noted some
strong increases associated with our real estate located in large urban environments.

Business Segments

As indicated above, our two primary business segments are cinema exhibition and real estate, These segments
are summarized as follows:

Cinema Exhibition

One of our primary businesses consists of the ownership and operation of cinemas. For a breakdown of our
curent cinema assets that we own and/or manage please see Item 1 — Our Business of this 2013 Annual Report under the
subheading ““Our Cinema Exhibition Activities.”

On December 31, 2013, we acquired a 5-screen cinema jn the U.S, that we previously had managed since 2003,
In 2012, we opened one cinema with 8 screens and elosed two cinemas having a total of 8 screens. In 2011, we purchased
one 17-screen cinema.

Our cinema rcvenue ists of admissi 1 and advertising. The cinema operating expense
consists ofthe costs directly attributable to the operation of the cinemas including film rent expense, operating costs, and
occupancy costs. Cinema revenue and expense fluctuate with the availability of quality first-run films and the numbers of
weeks the first—run films stay in the market.

Real Estate
Forfiscal 2013, our income operating property consisted of the following:

« ourBelmont, Western Australia ETRC, our Aubum, New South Wales ETRC and our Wellington, New Zealand
ETRC;

» ourNewmarket shopping centerin Newmarket, Queensland, a suburb of Brisbane;

« three single auditorium live theaters in Manhattan (Minetta Lane, Orpheum, and Union Square) and 2 four
auditorium live theater complex in Chicago (The Royal George) and, in the case of the Union Square and the
Royal George, their accompanying ancillacy retail and commercial tenants;

« a New Zealand commercial property located at Lake Taupo and Australian commercial properties rented to
unrelated thicd pasties, to be held for current income and long-term appreciation; and

o the ancillary retail and commercial tenants at some of ournon-ETRC cinema properties,

In addition, we had various parcels ofunimproved real estate held for development in Australia and New Zealand
and certain unimproved land in the United States that was used in our historie activities. We also owned an 8,100 square
foot commercial building in Melboume, which serves as our administrative headquarters for Australia and New Zealand,
approximately 36% of which is leased to an unrelated third party.

Acguisitions
Operating Assels

On December 31, 2013, we settled a management fee claim that we had against the owner of the Plano, Texas
cinema that we had managed since 2003 for a cash receipt of $1.9 million. As part of the settlement, we acquired that
entity, and through the purchase of that entity acquired the underlying cinema’s lease and the associated personal
propetty, equipment, and trade fixtures. Because the fair value of the lease, in light of anticipated rent payments, resulted
in a lease liability of $320,000 and the acquired not assets, including cash received in connection with the settlement,
were valued at$1.7 million, we recorded a net gain on acquisition and settlement of $1.4 million which is included as
other income in our statement of operating income forthe year ended December 31,2013,  We also acquired in 2013 the
50% interest we did not own in AFC LLC. In August 2011, we purchased the CalOaks Cinema, our largest multi-sereened
cinema to date, for $4.2 million.

Nonoperating Assets
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On January 10, 2012, Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC, a limited liability company owned by our Company,
acquired a 202-acre property, zoned for the development of up to 816 single-family residential units, located in the City
of Coachella, California. ‘The property was acquired at a foreclosure auction for $5.5 million. The property was acquired
as a long-term investment in developable land. Half of the funds used to acquire the land were provided by James I.
Cotter, our Chaiman, Chief Executive Officer and controlling shareholdez Upon the approval of our Conflicts
Committee, thess funds were converted into a 50% interest in Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC. We are the
managing member of this company.

Disposals
Moonee Ponds Properties - Held for Sale

. In 2013, we entered into a purchase and sale agreement to sell our 3.3-acre properties in Moonee Poxds for
AUS$23.0 miltion which is scheduled to close on April 16, 2015 and is classified as land held for sale on our December
31,2013 consolidated balance sheet,

Indooroopilly Property

On November 20, 2012, we sald our Indooroapilly property for $12.4 million (AUS$12.0 million). As the boek
value was $12.5 million (AUS$12.1 million) for this property, we recorded a loss on salo as ar impaimment expense of
$318,000 (AUS$306,000) for the year ended December 31, 2012 which included the cost to sell the property.
Taringa Properties

On February 21, 2012, we sold our three properties in the Taringa area of Brisbane, Australia of approximately
1.1 scres for $1.9 million (AUS$1.8 million). Because the net caying amounts of these properties were greater than the
total sale price, we recorded an impairment expense for these propexties of $369,000 (AUS$365,000) for the year ended
December 31,2011,
Elsternwick Cinema

On April 14, 2011, we sold our 66.7% share of the 5-scen Elstemwick Classic cinema located in Melboume,
Australia to our joint venture partner for $1.9 million (AUSS$ 1.8 million) and recopnized a gain on sale of a discontinued
operation of$1,7 million (AUS$1.6 million).
Investment ang Development Property.

We are engaged in severzl real estate development projects. For a complete list of these propesties with their
size, status, and gross book values see Item 2 — Properties under the heading of “Investment and Development Property.”

Critical Accounting Policies

The Securities and Exch Commission defines critical aceounting policies as those that are, in management’s
view, most important to the portrayal of the company’s financial condition and results of operations and the most
demanding in thejrcalls on judgment. ‘We believe our most crjtical accounting policies relate to:

e impairment oflong-lived assets, including goodwill and intangible assets;
s tax valuation allowance and obligations; and
e legal and environmental obligations.

Impairmeni of long-lived assets, including goodwill and intangible assets
‘We review long-lived assets, inclnding goodwill and intangibles, for impairment as part of our annual budgeting

process, at the beginming ofthe fourth quarter, and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the asset may not be fully recoverable.
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Pussuant to FASB ASC 360-35, we review intemal menagement reports on a monthly basis as well as monitoring
cument and potential future competition in film markets for indications of potential impairment. We evaluate our long-
lived assets using historieal and projected data of cash flow as our primary indicator of potential impairment and we take
into consideration the seasonality of ourbusiness, Ifthe sum ofthe estimated, undiscounted fiuture cash flows is Jess than
the carrying amount of the asset, then impaimment is recognized for the amount by which the canying valus of the asset
exceeds its estimated fair value based on an appraisal or a discounted cash flow calculation.

For certain non-income producing properties, we obtain appraisals or other evidence to evaluete whether there
are impajrment indicators for these assets. Based on calculations of curent value from appraisals and a sales contract, we
recorded impaimment losses of$1.5 million and $369,000 relating to certain of our property and cinema locations for the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. No impaimment losses were recorded in 2013, For a further
explanation of our 2012 impairment losscs scc below under the heading “Coachella jmpairment” and see Note 7 —
In and Develop Property to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pursuant to FASB ASC 350-35, goodwill and intangible assets are evaluated annually on a reporting unit
basis. The impairment cvaluation is based on the present value of estimated future cash flows of the segment plus the
expected terminal value. There are significant assumptions and estimates used in determining the future cash flows and
terminal value, The mast significant assumptions include our cost of debt and cost of equity assumptions that comprise
the weighted average cost of capital for each reporting unit. Accordingly, actual results could vary materially from such
estimates. There was no impairment for the goodwill and intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012,
and 2011, respectively.

Tax valuation allowance and obligations

We record our estimated future tax benefits and liabilities arising from the tempaorery differences between the tax
bases ofassets and Habilities and amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, as well as operating
loss camry-forwands. We estimate the recoverability of any tax assets recorded on the balance sheet and provide any
necessary allowances as required. As of December 31, 2013, we had recorded approximately $43.8 million of deferred tax
assets related to the temparary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and amounts reported in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets, as well as operating loss carry-forwards and tax credit carry-forwards. These
deferred tax assets were offset by a valuation allowance of $35.0 million resulting in a net deferred tax assst of $8.8
million. The recoverability of deferred tax assets is dependent upon our ability to generate future taxable income. There
is no assurance that sufficient future taxable income will be generated to benefit from our tax loss camy-forwards and tax
credit carry-forwards. .

Legal and environmental obligations

Certain of our subsidiares were historically involved in milroad operations, cosl mining, and
manufacturing. Also, certain of these subsidiaries appear in the chain of title of properties that may suffer fom
pollution. Accordingly, certain of these subsidiaries have, from time to time, been named in and may in the fature be
named in various actions brought under applicable envimnmental laws. Also, we are in the real estate development
buginess and may encounter fom time to time unanticipated environmental conditions at properties that we have
acquired for development. These environmental conditions can increase the cost of such projects and adversely affectthe
value and potential for profit of such projects. We do not currently believe that cur exposure under applicable
environmental laws is material in amount.

From time to time, we have claims brought against us relating to the exposure of former employees of our
railrad operations to asbestos and coal dust, These are generally covered by an insurance settlement reached in
September 1990 with our insurance carriers. However, this insurance scttlement does not cover litigation by people who
were not our employess and who may claim second hand exposure to asbestos, coal dust, and/or other chemieals or
elements now recognized as potentially causing cancer in humans. Ourknown exposure to these types of claims, asserted
or probable of being asserted, is not material.

From time to time, we are nvolved with claims and lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of our business that

may include contractual obligations, insurance clabms, tax claims, employment matters, and anti-trust issues, among other
matters.
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2012 Coachella impaitment

In January 2012, we acquired in a foreclosure auction for $5.5 million a 202-acre property located in Coachella,
California zoned for the development ofup to 816 single-family residential units. The only other bidder was the holder
of the mortgage on the property who bid $5.46 million for the property. At the time ofthe purchase, we knew, based on
our due diligence that we were paying more for the property than would be supported by an appraisal done under the
Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (‘USPAP"). However, the amount that we bid was the lowest price at
which we were able to acquire the property from the mortgagor.  In valuing the property, we took into account a varety
of factors, including the fact that the propery is located within the City of Coachella, the state of the land use
entitlements, and the fact that the prior owner had invested considerable time and money in obtaining the entitlements
from the City of Coachella. Since an independent USPAP appraisal of the property produced an appraised value as of
December 2012 at $4.0 million, we wrote down the book value of the propesty by $1.5 million as of the end of our 2012
fiscal year. As noted below, this propetty is owned by a limited liability company which is, in tum, 50% owned by Mr.
James J. Cotter who, accordingly, shares in any impairment loss to the extent ofhis ownership interest.

We acquired the property as a potentially long-term investment based on the expectation that ready-for-
development residential real estate will recover in value, As we are not in the business of developing single family
residences, it is anticipated that the property will eventually be sold to 2 developer of this type of property.

We hold the property in 2 limited liability company, which we manage. This company it owned 50/50 by
ourselves and our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, James J. Cotter The opportunity to acquire the property was
originally presented to Mr Cotter in his individual capacity and the transaction was approved by our Conflicts
Committee, comprised entirely of independent directors.

Resnlts of Operations

. We currently have two operating segments; Cinema Exhibition and Real Estate. Our cinema exhibition segment
includes the operations of our consolidated cinemas. Our real estate segment includes the opemting results of our
commercial real estate holdings, cinema real estate, live theater real estate, and ETRC’s,

‘The tables below summarize the results of operations for aur principal business segments for the years ended
December 31, 2013,2012, and 2011 (dollars in thousands).

Cinema Interssgment
Year Ended December 31, 2013 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminati Total
Revenue 3 235,418 8 26,456 $ (7,653) 258,221
Opetating expense 200,859 10,830 (7,653) 204,036
Depreciation and amortization 10,741 4,023 - 14,764
General end administrative expense 3,273 644 — 3,917
Begment operatng income 3 24,545 § 10,955 § -3 35,504

Cinema Intersegment
Year Ended December 31, 2012 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminati ‘Total
Revenne 3 234,703 § 27,256 $ {7,529) $ 254,430
Operating expense 198,040 11,163 (7,529) 201,674
Depreciation and amortization 11,154 4,441 - 15,595
General aud administrative expense 2,598 718 - 3316
Impairment expense - 1,463 — 1463
Sepment operating income 3 22,911 § 9471 $ — 3 32382
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Cinema Intersegment

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminations Total

Revenue $ 225,849 § 26,562 $ (7,432) $ 244979
Operating expense 189,647 10,190 (7,432) 192405
Depreciation and amortization 11,842 4444 — 16,286
General and administrative expense 2,740 646 - 3386
Impairment expense - 369 — 369
Segment operating income 3 21,620 $ 10,913 § -3 32,533

Reconciliation to net income aftributable

fo Randing International, Inc. ahareholders: 2013 2012 2011
Total segment operating income $ 35504 § 32,382 § 32,533
Non-segment:
Depreciation and amortization expense 433 454 309
General and administrative expense 14,136 12,801 14,046
Operating income 20,035 19,127 18,178
Interest expense, net (10,037 (16,426) (21,038)
Other income {Joss) 1,876 (563} 1,157
Gain (loss) on sale of assets (56) 144 {67)
Income tex benefit (expense) (4,942) (4,904) 12330
Fquity earnings (loss) of unconsolidated joint vemtures and
enities 1,369 1,621 (1,552)
Income (loss) from discontinned operations - (85) 232
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operation — (320) 1,656
Net income (loss) $ 9,145 % (1,406) $ 10,896
Net (income) Joss attribuiable to trolling i (104) 492 (940)

Net income (loss) attributeble to Reading International, Ino.
sharchold 3 2041 § (914) $ 9956

Cinema Exhibition Segment

The following tables and disenssion that follows defail our operating results for our 2013, 2012, and 2011
cinema exhibition segment (dollars in thousands). All percentages below are expressed as s percent of total revenue,
except film rent and advertising cost which {s expressed as a percentage of admissions revenue and concession cost which
is expressed as a percentage of concessions revenue:

Operating Income by Country for the

Year Ended December 31, 2013 United States Australia Nevw Zealand Total
Admissions revenue $ 84,725 § 61,741 § 15,039 § 161,505 .
Concessions revenus 35,056 24,025 5,596 64,677
Advertising and otheczrevenues 6,540 5,655 1,041 13,236
Total revenues 126,321 91,421 21,676 239418
Film rent and advertising cost 44,284 29,060 7,116 80,460
Concession cost 5924 4,847 1,438 12,209
Oceupancy expense 25,981 18,371 3,943 48,295
Other operating expense 31,930 22218 5,747 59,895
Total operating expense 108,119 74,496 18,244 200,859
Depreciation and amottization 6,181 3,603 957 10,741
General and administrative expense 2,347 926 - 3,273
Segment operating income $ 9,674 § 12,396 § 2475 § 24,545
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Operating Data as a Percentage of

Revenne for Year Ended

December 31, 2013 United States Australia New Zealand Total
Admissions revenue 67.1% 67.5% 69.4% 67.5%
Concessions jevepue 27.8% 26.3% 25.8% 270%
Advertising and other revenue 5.2% 6.2% ) 4.8% 55%
Total revenus 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Filmrent and advertising cost 523% 47.1% 473% 493%
Concession cost 16.9% 20.2% 25.1% 189%
Occupancy expense 20.6% 20.1% 18.2% 20.2%
Other operating expense 253% 243% 26.5% 250%
Total operating cost and expense 85.6% 81.5% 84.2% 83.9%
Depreciation and amortization 4.9% 3.9% 44% 45%
General and administrative expense 1.9% 1.0% 0.0% 14%
Segment operating income 7.7% 13.6% 11.4% 103%

Operating Income by Couofry for the

Year Ended December 31, 2012 - United States Ausiralia New Zealand Total

Admissions revenue $ 78,745 § 68,819 § 13,897 § 161,461
Concessjons revenue 32,219 24,564 4,266 61,049
Advertising and other revenues 5,433 5,806 954 12,193
Total revenues 116,397 99,189 19,117 234,703
Film rent and advertising cost 40,690 32,953 6,517 80,160
Concession cost 5,205 4,908 1,034 11,147
Occupaney expense 26,143 19,233 3,503 48,879
Other operating expense 29,870 23,024 4,960 57,854
Total operating expense 101,908 80,118 16,014 198,040
Depreciation and amoxtization 6,482 3,589 1,083 11,154
Geneyal and administrative expense 1,937 661 ~ 2,598
Segment operating income b3 6,070 $ 14,821 § 2,020 § 22,911

Operating Data as a Percentage of

Revenue for Year Ended

December 31,2012 United States Ausiralia New Zealand Total
Admissions revenue 67.7% . 69.4% 72.7% 68.8%
Concessions revenue 27.1% 24.8% 22.3% 260%
Advertising and other revenue A7% 5.9%. 5.0% 52%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Filmrent and advertising cost 51.7% 47.9% 46.9% 49.6%
Concession cost 16.2% 20.0% 24.2% 183%
Occupancy expense 22.5% 19.4% 183% 208%
Other operating expense 25.1% 23.2% 25.9% 24.6%
Total operating cost and expense 87.6% 80.8% 83.8% 844%
Depreciation and amoxtization 5.6% 3.6% 5% 43%
General and administrative expense 1.7% 0.7% 0.0% 1.1%
Segment operating income 52% 14.9% 10.6% 2.8%
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Operating Income by Country for the

Year Ended D ber 31,2011 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Admissions revenue $ 73,062 § 72,887 $ 12,622 § 158,571
Concessions revenue 28,225 23,306 3,446 54,977
Advertising and other revenues 5482 6,019 800 12,301
Total revenues 106,769 102,212 16,868 225,849
Film rent and advertising cost 37,360 34,390 5,878 77,628
Concession cost 4,460 4,963 852 10,275
Occupancy expense 25,210 19,107 3,157 47474
Other operating expense 27,033 22,274 4,963 54,270
Total operating expense 94,063 80,734 14,850 ' 189,647
Depreciation and amontization 6,525 4,218 1,099 11,842
General and administrative expense 1,973 691 76 2,740
Segment operating income 3 4,208 3 16,569 35 843 § 21,620

Operating Data as a Percentage of

Revenue for Yenx Ended

D ber 31,2011 United States Ausiralia New Zealand Tatal
Admissions revenue 68.4% 71.3% 74.8% 702%
Concessions revenue 26.4% 22.8% 204% 243%
Advertising and other revenue 5.1% 5.9% 4.7% 54%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% ) 100.0% 100.0%
Film rent and advertising cost 51.1% 47.2% 46.6% 49.0%
Concession cost 158% 21.3% 24.7% 18.7%
Occupancy expense 23.6% 18.7% 18.7% 21.0%
Other operating expense 25.3% 21.8% 284% 240%
Total operating cost and cxpense 88.1% 79.0% 88.0% 84.0%
Depreciation and amortization 6.1% 4.1% 6.5% 52%
Genera) and administrative expense 1.8% 0.7% 0.5% 12%
Segment operating income 3.9% 16.2% 50% 9.6%

Cinema Results for 2013 Comy to 2012

o Cinema revenue increased in 2013 by $4.7 million or 2.0% compared to 2012. The geographic activity of our
revenue can be summarized as follows:

o United States - Revenue in the United States increased by $9.9 million or8.5%. This increase in
revenue was predominately attributable to a440,000 person increase in box office admissions and a
2,.6% increase in the average ticket price eoupled with a commensurate increase in concessions revenue,

Both of these increases were primarily related to the quality of film product in 2013 compared to the
same period in 2012.

o Australia - Revenue in Australia decreased by $7.8 million or7.8%. This decrease in revenue was
primarily related to a 5.1% decrease in the average ticket price resulting from a continued and expanded
competitive ticket pricing model; offset in part by, a 60,000 person increase in bhox office
admissions. As noted below, this d iny ‘was exacerbated by a d in the value of the
Australiaa dollar compared to the US. dollar for the comparable periods (see below).

o New Zealand - Revenue in New Zealand increased by $2.6 million or 13.4%. This increase in revenue
was predominately attributable o a year over year 121,000 person increase in admissions; somewhat
offset by, a decreaso in the average ticket price 0£0.4%. The increase in New Zealand admissions was
primarily as aresult of increased revenues coming from our previously earthquake
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damaged New Zealand multiplex, This i in was hat enh d by an increase in
the value ofthe New Zealand dollar compared to thaU S, dollar (see below).
e Operating expense increased in 2013 by $2.8 mllhcn or 14% compared to 2012, Year over year operating
expense percentage decreased in relation fo revetue from 84.4% to 83.9%.

o United States - Operating expense in the United States increased by $6.2 million ox6.1% primarily
related to a $3.6 millien increase in film rent and advertisingprimaidly associated with the
aforementioned increases in revenues from admissions and a $2.0 million increase in other operating
expense including a $778,000 increase in projection costs primarily related to our new digital
equipment lease.

o Australia - Opemating expense in Anstralia decreased by $5.6 million or 7.0%. This decrease was in line
with the above-mentioned decrease in cinema revenue which directly affects film rental costs and
exacerbated by the year over year decrease in the value of the Australian dollar compared to the U.S.
dollar (sec below),

o New Zealand - Operating expense in New Zealand increased by $2.2 million or 13.9%. This increase
was in line with the above-mentioned increase in cinema revenue which directly affects film rental costs
and with the above-mentioned year over year increase in the value of the New Zealand dollar compared
to the U.S. dollar (see below),

o Depreciation expense d d in 2013 by $413,000 or 3.7% compared to 2012. This decrease was primarily
related to several of our cinema assets teaching the end of their depreciable lives.

« Genemnl and administrative expense increased in 2013 by $675,000 or 26.0% compared to 2012. This increase
was primarily related to an increase in labor expense from our U.S. and Australian cinema operations.

o Australian averag hange rates d d by 6.5% from 2012 to 2013 and the New Zealand average exchange
rates increased by 1.2% from 2012 to 2013 both of which had an impact on our statements of operations.

o Asaresult, cinema exhibition segment operating income increased in 2013 by $1.6 million compared to 2012
piimarily from the eforementioned increase in revenue from our 1.5, and New Zealand cinema operations.

Cinema Resulis for 2012 Compareqd to 2011

e Cinema revenue increased in 2012 by $8.9 million ox 3.9% compared to 2011. The geographic activity of our
revenue can be summarized as follows:

o United States - Revenue in the United States increased by $9.6 million or 9.0%. This inerease in
revenue was prednmmately attnbutab]e 10 a 722,000 pexson increase in box office admissions and a

te i in and jons revenue primarily from our 2011 acquisition of
the CalOaks cinema in Mumieta, Califomia and from our newly opened AFC Mosaic cinema in the
greater Washington D.C. metropolitan area; offset by, a 0.7% decreass in the average ticket price.

o Australia - Revenne in Australia decreased by $3.0 million or 3.0%. This decrease in wvenue was
primarily related to a 91,000 person decrease in box office admissions coupled with a 3.9% decrease in
the average ticket price resulting from a more competitive ticket pricing model. This decrease included
the temporary closure of a cinema in Australia due to rencvations during the second quarter As noted
below, there was only & nominal change in the Australian dollar compared to the U.S, do llar for the
comparable period (see below).

o New Zealand - Revenue in New Zealand increased by $2.2 million or 13.3%. This increase in revenue
was predominately attributable to 2 year over year 236,000 person increase in admissions; offeet by, a
decrease in the average ticket price of 7.6% resulting from 2 more competitive ticket pricing model. The
increase in New Zealand admissions was prmarily as a result of the reopening of an earthquake
damaged New Zealand multiplex in early January 2012. This increase in revenue was somewhat
enbanced by an increase in the value ofthe New Zealand dollar compared to the U.S. dollar (see below).

o Operating expense increased in 2012 by $8.4 million or 4.4% compared to 2011. Year over year operating
expense percentage increased in relation to revenue from 84.0% to 84.4%.

o TUnited States - Operating expense in the United States increased by $7.8 million or 8.3% primarily

related to a $3.3 million increase in filmrent and advertising and a $3.1 million increase in other
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operating expense both of which were primarily jated with the afc tioned newly acquired and
opened cinemas.

Australia - Operating expense in Anstralia decreased by $616,000 or 0.8%. This decrease was in line
with the above-mentioned d in cf which directly affects film rental costs and with
the year over year nominal increase in the value of the Australian dollar compared to the U.S. dollar (see
below), .

New Zealand - Operating expense in New Zealand incxeased by $1.2 million or 7.8%. This increase was
in line with the above-mentioned increase in cinema revenue which directly affects film rental costs
offset by the above-mentioned year over year increase in the value ofthe New Zealand dollar compared
to the U.S. dollax (see below).

o Depreciation expense decreased in 2012 by $688,000 or 5.8% compared to 2011. This decrease was primarily
related to several of our cinema assets reaching the end of their depreciable lives.

and adminjsteative expense decreased in 2012 by $142,000 or 5.2% compared to 2011. This decrease

was primarily related to preopening costs in 2011 for a newly opened Australian cinema which did not recur in

e QGenemnl
2012.
»  Australi

an and New Zealand monthly average exchange rates for 2012 increased by 0.3% and 24%,

respectively, from those in 2011, which had an overall positive impact our statements of operations.
« Asaresult, cinema exhibition segment operating income increased in 2012 by $1.3 million compared to 2011
primarily from the aforementioned increase in revenus from our Australian cinema operations.

Real Estate Segment

As discussed above, our other business segment is the development and management of real estate. These
holdings include our rental live theaters, certain fee owned properties used in our cinema business, and unimproved real
estate held for development.

The tables and discussion that follow detail our aperating results for our 2013, 2012, and 2011 real estate

segment (dollars

in thousands), All percentages below are expressed as a percent of total revenue except live theater cost

which is expressed as a percentage of live theater rental and ancillary revenue, and property cost which is expressed as a
percentage of property rental revenue:

Operating Income by Couniry for the

Year Ended December 31,2013 Unlted States Aunstralia New Zealand Total
Live theaterrental and ancillary income $ 3,500 % - 3 - 8 3,500
Property rental i 1,692 14,424 6,840 22,956
Total revenues 5,192 14,424 6,840 26,456
Live theater cosis 1,574 - - 1,574
Properiy rental cost 316 2,362 1,684 4,362
Occupancy expense 946 3,139 809 4,894
Total operating expense 2,836 5,501 2,493 10,830
Depreciation and amortization 314 2,633 1,074 4,023
General and administrative expense 67 527 50 644
Sepment operating income $ 1975 § 5761 § 3,223 § 10,959
Operating Data as a Percentage of

Revenue for Year Ended

December 31,2013 United States Anstralia New Zealand Total
Live theater rental and ancillary revenue 674% 132%
Property rental revenue 32.6% 100.0% 100.0% 86.8%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Live theater cost 45.0% 450%
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Property cost 18.7% 16.4% 24.6% 19.0%

Occupancy expense 18.2% 21.8% 11.8% 18.5%
Total operating cost and expense 54.6% 38.1% 364% 40.9%
Depreciation and amortization 6.0% 18.3% 159% 152%
General and administrative expense 13% 3.7% 0.7% 24%
Impairment expense 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 09%
Segment operating income 38.0% . 39.9% 47.1% 414%

Operating Income by Couniry fox the

Year Ended December 31, 2012 _United States Ausiralia New Zealand Toatal

Live theaterrental and ancillary income $ 3416 §$ - 3 - § 3416
Property rental income 1,690 14,536 7,614 23,840
Total revenues 5,106 14,536 7,614 27,256
Live theater costs 1,538 - - 1,538
Property rental cost 456 3,262 1,459 5,177
Occupancy expense 857 2,815 776 4,448
Total operating expense 2,851 6,077 2,235 11,163
Depreciation and amoxtization 305 2,824 1,312 4,441
General and administrative expense 100 535 83 718
Impairment expense 1,463 - - 1,463
Segment operating income 3 387 § 5,100 § 3984 § 9471

Operating Data as a Percentage of

Revenue for Year Ended

D ber 31, 2012 United States Australia New Zealand ‘Total
Live theater tenta] and ancillary revenue 66.9% 12.5%
Property rental rovenue 33.1% 100.0% 100.0% 87.5%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100,0% 100.0%
Live theater cost 45.0% 450%
Property cost 27.0% 224% -19.2% 211%
Occupancy expense 16.8% 19.4% 102% 163%
Total operating cost and expense 55.8% 41.8% 294% 41.0%
Depreciation and amoxtization 6.0% 194% 172% 163%
General and administrative expense 2.0% 3.7% 11% 2.6%
Tmpairment expense 28.7% 0.0% 0.0% 54%
Segment operating income 7.6% 351% 523% 34.7%

Operating Tacome by Couniry for the

Year Ended December 31,2011 United States Anstralia New Zealand Total

Live theater rental and ancillary income $ 3,507 - 8 - § 3,507
Properiy rental income 1,714 13,850 7491 23,055
Total revenues 5,221 13,850 7491 26,562
Live theater costs 1,505 — - 1,505
Property rental cost 124 2,507 1375 4,006
Occupancy expense B45 3,121 713 4,679
Total operating expense 2474 5,628 2,088 10,190
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Depreciation and amortization 326 2,848 1,270 4,444
General and administrative expense 32 554 60 646
Impairment expense — 369 - 369
S, t operating income 3 2389 § 4451 § 4073 10,913
Operating Data as a Percentage of

Revenue for Year Ended

D ber 31, 2011 United States Anstralia New Zealand Total
Live theaterrental and ancillary revenue . 67.2% 132%
Property rental revenue 32.8% 100.0% 100.0% 86.8%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 1000% 100.0%
Livetheater cost 42.9% 429%
Property cost 7.2% 18.1% 184% 174%
Qceupancy sxpense 16.2% 22.5% 95% 176%
Total operating cost and expense 47.4% 40.6% 275% 384%
Depreciation and amortization 6.2% 20.6% 170% 16.7%
General and administrative expense 0.6% 4.0% 0.8% 24%
Impairment expense 0.0% 2.7% 0.0% 14%
Segment operating income 45.8% 32.1% 544% 41.1%

Real Estate Results for 2013 Compared to 2012

« Real estate revenue decreased by $800,000 or 2.9% compared to 2012, The decrease in revenue was primarily
related to the closure of our Courtenay Central parking structure in July 2013 as a result of an earthquake in
‘Wellington, New Zealand. Revenue was also affected by the aforomentioned fluctuations in eurrency exchange
rates (see below).

« Operating expense for the real estate segment decreased by $333,000 or 3.0% compared to 2012. This decrease
resulted primarily from a decrease in professional fees from our 2012 legal work associated with protecting the
propexly rights of our Burwood property and with our xesidual milroad propertics and the aforementioned
fluctuations in currency exchange rates (see below). These decreases were in part offset by additional costs
associated with the start of development work on our Wellington, New Zealand location in 2013,

o General and administrative costs decreased by $74,000 or 10.3% compared to 2012 primarily due to an increase
in our allowance for doubtfil accounts for our U.S. propeties in. 2012 which did not recurin 2013.

e Australian average exchange rates decreased by 6.5% from 2012 to 2013 and the New Zealand average exchange
rates increased by 1.2% from 2012 to 2013 both of which had an impact on our statements of operations.

o Asaresult ofthe above, real estate segment income inereased by $1.5 million or 15.7% compared to 2012.

Rea] Estate Results for 2012 Compared to 201 1

« Renl estate revenue increased by $694,000 or 2.6% compered to 2011, The increase in revenue was pomarily
related to an increase in rental income ftom our Australian and New Zealand ETRCs coupled with fluctuations in
currency exchange rates (see below); offet by, 2 decrease in rent from our live theater venues in the US.

« Operating expense for the real estate segment increased by $973,000 or 9.5% compared to 2011. This increase
in expense was primarily related to higher repair, maintenance, and insurance costs for our operating properties,
from legal costs incurred in 2012 associated with protecting the property rghts of our Burwoed property and
‘with our residual railroad properties, and the aforementioned fluctuations in currency exchange rates (see below).

» Werecorded a real estate impairment loss in 2012 of$1.5 million related to our Coachellz property (see Note 7 —
Investment and Development Property to our 2012 Consolidated Financjal Statements). As noted zbove, this
property is owned by a limited liability company which is, in tum, 50% owned by M. James J.

43

AN HASS TP Sy Ghng
Py

T 3o S NSRRIy orEy of Hnadn, The sy
Py Nenaenciof pash NF et dy

Raug

JA1436



Cotter who, accordingly, shares in any Impairment loss to the oxtent of his ownership interest. In 2011, we
recorded a $369,000 impajrment loss related to our Taringa real estate property. We subsequently sold the
Taringa property on Februacy 21, 2012 for $1.9 million (AUS$1.8 million).

o General and administrative costs increased by $72,000 or 11.1% compared to 2011 primarily due to an increase
in our allowance for doubtful accounts for our U.S, properties in 2012.

o Australian and New Zealand monthly average exchange rates for 2012 increased by 0.3% and 24%,
respectively, from those in 2011, which had an overall positive impact on ourstatements of operations.

« Asaresult ofthe above, real estate segment income decreased by $1.4 million or 13.2% compared to 2011.

Nou-Segment Activity

Non-segment expense/income includes cxpense and/or income that is not directly attributable to our two
operating segments.

2013 Comparedto 2012

» pgeneral and administmtive expense inereased by $1.3 million primaxily related to an increase in compensation
expense, pension costs, and additional audit fees..

o net interest expense decreased by $6.4 million compared to 2012, The decrease in interest expense during the
2013 1esulted fiom an overall decrease in our worldwide debt balances and a decrease in the interest rates on our
corporate loans in the U.S, and Australia. Additionally, our interest expense was lower in the 2013 dueto a
decrease in the fair value of our interest rate swap liabilities in 2013 compared to an increase in thess labilities
during the same period in 2012 resulting in a comparative decrease in interest expense from 2012 to 2013,

o the $1.9 million in other income during 2013 was primarily related to a $1.4 million gain on the acquisition ofa
cinema and the receipt of insurance proceeds from our business interruption claim for the temporary closure of
our einema in Christchurch, New Zealand (see Note 26 — Casualty Loss to our 2013 Consolidated Financial
Statements), The $563,000 in other income during 2012 was primarily related to the wiite off of our GE Capital
loan costs at the time of the refinance of our U.S. Corporate Credit Facility with Bank of Amercs; offset by,
insurance proceeds from our businese interruption elaim for the temporary closure of our cinema in Christehureh,
Now Zealand due to the February 22, 201 1 earthquake,

« equity eamings from unconsolidated investments decreased by $252,000 primarily related to decrease in income
from our Mt. Gravatt investment.

2012 Compared to 2011

o . general and administrative expense decreased by $ 1.2 million primarly related to the one-time additional labor
costs incurred during 2011, associated with the transfer of our accounting functions from the U.S. and Australia
to Now Zealand not being repeated in 2012, as well as some cost savings resulting from the synergles gained asa
result of this move.

s metinterest expense decreased by $4.6 million compared to 2011. The decrease in intexest expense during 2012
was primarily due to a smaller increase in the fair value of our interest rate swaps in 2012 than that noted forthe
same period in 2011 and to a decrease in intorest rates specifically fom our Trust Prefemed Securities. Effective
May 1,2012, that interest rate changed from a fixed rate of 9.22%, which was in effect for the past five years, to 2
variable rate of 3 month LIBOR plus 4.00%, which will reset each quarter through the end ofthe loan, unless we
choose to fix the rate again.

« the $563,000 in other loss during 2012 was primarily telated to the write off of our GE Capital loan costs at the

" time ofthe rcﬁnancc of our U.S. Corporate Credit Facility with Bank of America; offsst by, additional insurance
ds from our busi interruption. clajm for the temporary closure of our cinema in Christchurch, New
Zealand due to the February 22, 2011 eacthquake. The $1.2 million in other income during 2011 was primarily
related to insurance proceeds from 2 partial payment of our business interruption claim for the aforementioned
temporary closure of our cinema in Christehurch, New Zealand (see Note 26 — Casualty Loss to our 2012
Consoclidated Financial Statements).

« the net income tax expense was $4.9 million during 2012 compared to a net income tax benefit of $12.3 million

during 201 1. The year over year change in 2012 was primarily related to a reduction in deferred
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tax assets in Australia, caused by the sale of certain assets, plus a reduction in loss carcyforwards available to
offset fature Australia taxable income. For 2011, the change was primarily related to a oneime tax provision
adjustment of $14.4 million caused by a2 reduction in the valuation allowance related to our Australian
operations (see Note 14 — Jncome Tax to our 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements).

«  equity eamings from unconsolidated investments increased by $3.2 million primarily related to 2 2011 $2.9
million impairment to our interest in Rialto Bntertainment not repeated in 2012.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxation in several jurisdictions throughout the world. Our effective tax rate and
income tax liabilities will be affected by a number of factors, such as:

the amount oftaxable income in particular jurisdictions;
the tax rates in particular jurisdictions;

tax treaties between jurisdictions;

the extent to which income is repatriated; and

» future changes in law.

Generally, we file consolidated or combined tax returns in jurisdictions that pennit or require such filings. For
jurisdictions that do not permit such a filing, we may owe income, fanchise, or capital taxes even though, en an overall
basis, we may have incumed a net loss for the tax year.

For the years ending 2018, 2012, and 2011, our consolidated business units produced a netincome 0£$9.0
million (primarily driven by a decrease in our interest expense as noted above), 2 net Joss of $214,000, and a net income
of $10.0 million (primarily driven by a decrease in our tax provision of $14.4 million caused by a reduction in the
valuation allowance related to our Australian operations), respectively, attributable to Reading Intemational, Inc.
common shareholders. For many of the years pgor to 2013, we consistently experienced net losses. However, as
explained in the Cinema and Real Estate segment sections above, we have generally noted improvements in our segment
operating income such that we have 2 positive segment operating income for each of the years 0£2013,2012, and 2011,
that in years past has been negative. Although we cannat assure that this trend will continue, we are committed to the
overall improvement of earnings through good fiscal management.

Business Plan, Lignidity, and Capital Resources of the Company

Business Plan

‘While we do not believe the cinema exhibition business to be 4 growth business, we de believe it to be &
business that will likely continue to genemte fairly consistent cash flows in the years ahead even in recessionary or
inflationary environment. This is based on our belief that people will continue to spend some reasonable portion of their
entertainment dollar on entertainment outside of the home and that, when compared to other farms of outside the home
entertainment, movies continue to be a popular and competitively priced option. Since we believe the cinema exhibition
business to be a mature business with most markets either adequately screened or over-screened, we see growth in our
cinema business coming principally from the enhancement of our cument cinemas, the development in select markets of
specialty cinemas, and the opportunistic acquisition of already existing cinemas rather than from the development ofnew
conventional cinemas, From time to time, we invest in the securities of other companies, where we believe the business ox
assets of those companies to be attractive or to offtr synergies to our existing entertainment and real estate
businesses. Also, in the current environment, we intend to be opportunistic in identifying and endeavoring to acquire
undervalued assets, particularly assets with proven cash flow and which we believe to be resistant to current recessionary
trends.

Tn summary, while we do have operating company attributes, we see ourselves principally as a geographically
diversified real estate company and intend to add to stockholder value by building the value of aur portfolio of tangible
assets including both entertainment and other types of land and brick and mortar asseis. We endeavor to maintain a
reasonable asset allocation between our domestic and international assets and operations, and between our cash
generating cinema operations and our cash consuming real estate development activities. We

45

o 2 et e T 30 Gy MRSy S

Fhvas SN RS

JA1438



believe that by blending the cash generating capabilities of a cinema operation with the investment and development
opportunities of our real estate development operation, our business strategy is unique among publie companies.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

Our ability to generate sufficient cash flows fom operating activities in order to meet our ebligations and
commitments drives our liquidity position. This is further affected by our ability to obtain adequate, reasonable
{financing and/or to convert non-performing or non-strategic assets into cash.

Currently, our liquidity needs continue to arise mainly from:

o  working capital requirements;
o  capital expenditures; and
»  debtservicing requirements.

‘With the changes to the worldwide credit markets, the busi ity is \ed that credit will be more
difficult to obtain especially for potentially risky ventures like business and asset acquisitions. However, we believe that
our acquisitions over the past few years coupled with our strengthening operational cash flows demonstrate our sbility to
improve our profitability. We believe that this business model will help us to demonstrate to lending institutions our
ability not enly to make strategic acquisitions but also to service the associated debt.

iscugsi ment ash Flows

The filowing discussion compares the changes in our cash flows over the past three years.
Operating Activities

2013 Compared to 2012, Cash provided by operations was $25.2 million in 2013 compared ta $25.5 million in
the 2012, The decrease in cash provided by operations of$313,000 was due primarily to a $5.1 million inerease in
operational cash flows; offset by, a $3.4 million decrease in cash from changesin operating assets and liabilities

2012 Compared to 2011, Cash provided by operations was $25.5 million in 2012 compared to $24.3 million in
the 2011. The increase in cash provided by operations of §1.2 million was due primarily to a $4.4 miilion inerease in
operational cash flows; offset by, a $3.2 million decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities.
Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $6,1 million in 2013, $6.1 million in 2012, and $3.8 million in 2011. The
following summarizes our discretionary investing activities for each of the three years ending December 31,2013:

The $6.1 million cash used in 2013 was primarily related to:
o $20.1 million in property enhancements to our existing properties;
offset by

«  $1.6million in cash provided from restricted cash;

o  $1.9million in cash received associated with a cinema acquisition;
o $2.0million ofproceeds from a note receivable; and

e  38.0 million ofproceeds from time deposits;

The $6.1 million cash used in 2012 was primarily related to:

«  $8.2million in property enhancements to our existing propertics;
«  $8.0 million to purchase time deposits;

Tha

PAraTIER 0 3




o  $1.8 million to purchase a note receivable; and
s  $5.5 million forthe purchase ofthe Coachella land acquisition;

offet by,

+  $14.1 million of proceeds from the sale of our Taringa and Indoaroopilly properties;
o  $382,000 in return of investment in unconsolidated entities; and
s  $3.0 million ofproceeds fiom the sale of marketable securilies.

The $3.8 million cash used in 2011 was primarily related to:

$3.9 million forthe purchase of the CalOzaks cinema;

$5.5 milljon in property enhancements to our existing propeties;
$168,000 of 3 change in restricted cash; and

$2.2 million for the purchase of mortgage notes receivable;

offset by,

« $1.9 million ofnet proceeds from the sale of our 66.7% share of the 5-screen Elstemwick Classic cinema located
in Melboume, Australia;

e  $143,000 ofproceeds from the sale of marketable securities; and

« 368 million of proceeds fiom thepayoff of a Jongterm other receivable associated with” our Malulani
investment.

Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities was $17.8 million fn 2013, $12.7 million 2012 and $23.4 million in
2011. The following summarizes our finencing activities for each ofthe three years ending December31,20 13:

The $17.8 million cash used in 2013 was primarily related to:

« $28.1 million of loan repayments including a $6.4 million payoff of our former Liberty Theaters Term Loan, a
$6.8 million payoff of our Sutton Hill Capital Note, $5.5 milllon in payments on our Bank of America Revolver
and Line of Credit, $8.6 million in payments on our NAB term debt, and a $592,000 payoff of the Nationwide
Loan 1; and

o $2.1 million in nonconirolling interests® distxibutions;

offset by,
«  $12.5 million of new borrowing including $5.0 million from our Bank of America Revolver and $7.5 million
from our new lozn on the Orpheum and Minetta Lane Theatres offset by $563,000 of borowing costs;

o $263,000 in noncontrolling interests’ contributions; and
»  $248,000 of proceeds from the exercise of employes stock options.

The $12.7 million cash used in 2012 was primarily related to:

«  $62.6 million of loan repayments including $15,0 million to pay off our Burohypo Cinemss 1, 2, 3 loan, $32.2
million to pay offour GE Capital Loan, and $14.8 million in payments on ourNAB term debt;

offset by,
«  $47.0 million of new bomowing including $30.0 million of loan proceeds from our new Bank of America U.S.

Credit Facility and $15.0 million of loan proceeds from our new Cincmas 1, 2, 3 loan (both offsct by a total of
$782,000 of capitalized borrowing cost) and $2.0 million of borro wing from our Bank of America line oferedit;
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e $3.4 million in noncontrolling interests' contributions; and
»  $308,000 of proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options,

The $23.4 million cash used in 2011 was primarily related to:

e $126.8 million of loan repayments including the $105.8 million payoff of our Australian BOSI loan, $5.3
million in loan repayment on our GE Capital Loan, $9.7 million payoff of our NAB revolver, $3.4 million loan
repayment of our NAB term debt, and $2.0 million pay down of our Mationwide Notes;

»  $747,000 to repurchase our Class A Nonvoting Commen Stock; and

»  $654,000 in noncontrolling interests’ distributions.

offset by,

» $105.3 million of new borrowing including $104.2 million of loan proceeds from our new NAB loan net of
$774,000 of capitalized bomowing costs and $1.1 million of borrowing from our New Zealand credit facility;
and

s $233,000 in noncontrolling interests’ contributions,

Future Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the past 24 months, we have put into place several measures that currently have or will bave a positive
effect on our overall liquidity, including:

s refinancing our Liberty Theaters loan with a $7.5 million loan securitized by our Minetta and Orpheum theatres
having a maturity date of June 1,2018.

« replacing our GE Capital Term Loan of $27.7 million with a new revolving linc of credit from Bank of America
(the “BofA Revolver”) of $30.0 million which has significantly lower principal payments than those of our
former GE Capital Term Loan. On March 25,2013, Bank of America increased the borrowing limit on our BofA
Revolver from $30.0 million to $35.0 million.

o renewing and increasing our existing $3.0 million line of credit with Bank of America to $5.0 million.

» replacing our Burohypo AG, New York Branch Joan with a new $15.0 million Sovereign Bank, N.A, term Joan
having a one-yearterm ending on June 27,2013 one year extension option to June 27,2014 which we exercised
in June 2013.

» receiving, on February 8, 2012, an approved amendment from Westpac renewing our existing $36.9 million
(NZ$45.0 million) New Zealand credit facility with a 3-year $32.8 million (NZ$40.0 million) credit facility.

‘We believe that we have sufficient borrowing capacity to meet our shori-term working capital requirements. To
meet our curent and future liquidity requirements, we have the following external sources of unused liquidity:

s $9.9 million (NZ$12.0 million) is available on our New Zealand Corpomte Credit facility;
e 54.5 million (AUS$5.0 million)is available on our NAB revolver facility; and
«  $5.0 million is available on our Bank of America Line of Credit.

Potential uses for funds during 2014 that would reduce our liquidity, other than those relating to working capital
needs and debt service requirements include:

» payments on ourlegal setilement obligation for the Tax/Audit Litigation;
« theselective development of our curently held for development projects; and
o theacquisition ofassets with proven cash flow that we believe to be resi to the current x ionary trends,

We are in the process of negotiating a renewal of our Australian NAB Corporate Term Loan 2nd Coxporate
Revolver and are optimistic that a renewal will be consummated by May 31, 2014, on terms that are at least equal to those
that are expiring at June 30,2014, In addition we arc secking a further 12 to 24 moxth extension on our US
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Cinema 1,2, 3 Term Loan which expires on June 27, 2014 and remain optimistic that this can be achieved by May 31,
2014 as well.

Our worldwide cash position at December 31,2013 was $37.7 million including $16.4 million in the U.S,, $12.1
million in Australia, and $7.7 million in New Zealand. Aspart of our main credit facilities in Australia, New Zealend, and
the U.S,, we are subject to certain debt covenants which limit the transfer or use of cash outside of the various regional
subsidiaries in which the cash is held, As such, at December 31, 2013, we have approximately $15.8 million of cash that
js notrestricted by loan covenants.

Based upon the curent levels of the consolidated operations, further anticipated cost savings and future growth,
we believe our cash fiow from operations, together with both the existing and anticipated lines-of-credit and other sources
of liquidity (including fature potential asset sales) will be adequate to meet our anticipated requirements for principal
repayments, interest payments, and short-term debt maturities plus any other debt service obligations, working capital,
capital expenditures and other opexating needs.

There can be no assurance, however, that the business will continue to generate cash flow at or above cument
levels or that estimated cost savings or growth can be achieved. Future opemting performance and our ability to service
or refinance existing indebtedness will be subject to futute economic conditions and to financial and other factors, such
as access to first-run films, many of which are beyond our control. If our cash flow from operations and/or proceeds fom
anticipated borrowings should prove to be insufficient to meet our funding needs, our current intention is either:

» to defer construction of projects currently slated for land presently owned by us;
» totake on joint venture partners with respect to such development projects; and/or
. to sell assets.

Contractual Obligations

The following table provides information with respect to the maturities and scheduled prineipal repayments of
our secured debt and lease obligations at December 31,2013 (in thousands):

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 ‘Thereafter Total

Debt F 755385 33,009 % 3,500 § 21,0008 7,500 § —% 140547
Subordinated notes (brust preferred
securities) - - - - - 27,913 21913
Tax settlement liability 3,480 2,301 - - - - 5,781
Pension Hzbility 14 32 50 633 607 7,191 8,527
Lease obligations 33,676 31,431 21,777 25188 21,427 58,410 197,909
Hsiimated iterest on debt 5,640 3,744 3010 1,846 1238 9,761 25,239

Total $ 118348 $ 70,517 $ 34337 5 48,667 3 30,772 3 103,275 § 405916

Estimated interest on long-term debt is based on the anticipated loan balances for future periods calculated
against cumrent fixed and variable interest rates.

We adopted FASB ASC 740-10-25 — Fncome Taxes - Uncertain Tax Positions on January 1, 2007. As of
adoption, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax bencfits for uncertain tax positions was $12.5 million increasing to
$03.7 million, to $14.5 million, and to $15.3 million as of December 31, 2007, 2008, and 2009, respectively. As of
December 31 2010, the gross unrecognized tax benefit increased to $20.6 million, substantially as a result of having
settled our Tax Audit/Litigation case (see Note 19 — C I and C gencies to our 2013 Consolidated Finaneial
Statements). As of December 31, 2011, the gross unrecognized tax benefit decreased to $4.1 million Jargely because the
Tax Audit/Litigation matter is no longer in the nature of an uncertain tax position govemed by FASB ASC 740-10-25,
but is a fixed and determinable tax liability. As of December 31, 2012 and 2013, the gtoss unrecognized tax benefit was
$5.3 million and $4.0 million, respectively. We do not expect a significant tax payment related to the $4.0 miltion in
uncertain tax positions within the next 12 months.
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Total debt of uncensolidated joint ventures was $634,000 and $703,000 as of December 31, 2013 and December
31, 2012, respectively. Our share of unconsolidated debt, based on our ownemhip percentage, was $211,000 and
$234,000 as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. This loan is guarsnteed by one of our
subsidiaries to the extent of our ownership percentage.

Off-Balance Sheet Arangements

There are no offbalance sheet transactions, arrangements, or obligations (including contingent obligations) that
have, or are reasenably likely to have, a cument or future material effect on our financial condition, changes in the
financial condition, revenue or expense, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources.

Finzneial Risk Management,

Our internally developed dsk ient procedure, seeks to minimize the potentially negative effects of
changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates on the results of operations. Our primary exposure to fluctuations in
the financial markets is currently due to changes in foreign exchange rates between U.S and Australia and New Zealand,
and interest rates.

If our operational focus shifts more to Australia and New Zealand, unmealized foreign curmency translation gains
and losses could matedally affect our financial position. Historically, we managed our currency exposure by creating
patural hedges in Australia and New Zealand. This involves local eonntry soureing of goods and services as well as
borowing in local currencies. During 2012, we deviated somewhat from this practice by purchasing $8.0 million in time
deposits denominated in T1.S. dollars and held by an Australian bank. Asa consequence, at December 31, 2013, we hold
$4.5 million in Australia and $495,000 in New Zealand denominated in U.S. dollars, Also, by paying off our New
Zealand debt and paying down on our Australian debt with the proceeds of our TPS in 2007, we added an increased
element of currency risk to our Company, We believe that this currency risk is mitigated by the long-term nature of the
fully subordinated notes and our ability in 2009 to repurchase, at a discount, some of these securities,

Our exposure to interest rate 1isk arises out of our long-term debt obligations. Consistent with our intemally
developed guidelines, we seek to reduce the negative effects of changes in interest rates by changing the character of the
{nterest Tate on our long-term debt, converting a fixed rate into a variable rate and vice versa. Our intemal procedures
allow us to enter into decvative contracts on certain borrowing transactions to achieve this goal. Our Australian Credit
Facility provides for floating interest rates based on the Bank Bill Swap Bid Rate (BBSY bid mte), but requires that not
less than 75% of the loan be swapped inte fixed rate obligations but we have elected to swap 100% of the balance.
Although our Bank of America Revolver does not require a fixed interest swap agreement, we entered into an approxjmate
threc-year $31.5 million fixed interest rate swap that has a balance reduction schedule which matches the contraction
amortization of the Bank of America Revolver. Effsctive October 28, 2013, we entered into a three-year $27.9 million
fixed interest Tate swap for our Trust Preferred Securities (see Note 13 ~Derivative Instruments to our 2013 Consolidated
Finangial Statements).

In accordance with FASB ASC 815-20 — Derivatives and Hedging, we marked our interest swap instruments to
market on the consolidated balance sheet resulting in a $2.0 million decrease to Interest expense during 2013, a $1.1
million increase to interest expense during 2012, and a $5.0 increase to interest expense during 201 1.

Inflation

We continually monitor inflation and the effects of changing prices. Inflation fnereases the cost of goods and
services used. Competitive conditions in many of our markets restrict our ability to recover fully the higher costs of
acquired goods and services through price increases. ‘We attempt to mitigate the impact of inflation by implementing
continuous process improvement solutions to enhance productivity and efficiency and, as 2 result, lower costs and
operating expenses. In our opinion, the effbcts of inflation have been managed appropriately and as a result, havenot had
a material fmpact on our operations and the resulting financial position or liquidity.

Accounting Pronoypcements Adopted During 2013 .
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Please see Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.
New Accounting Pronouncements

Please see Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.
Forward-Looking Statements

Our statements in this annnal report contain a variety of farward-looking statements as defined by the Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements reflect only our expectations regarding fiture events and
operating performance and necessarily speak only as of the date the information was prepared, No guarantees can be
given that our expectation will in fact be realized, in whole or in part. You can recognize these statements by our use of
words such as, by way ofexample, “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” and “anticipate” or other similar terminology.

These forward-looking statements reflect our expectation after having considered a variety of risks and
uncertainties. However, they are necessarily the product of intemal di ion and do not ily completely reflect
the views of individual members of our Board of Directors or of our management team. Individual Board members and
individual members of our management team may have different view as to the risks and uncestainties involved, and may
have difforent views as to futurc events or our operating performance.

Among the factors that could canse actual results to differ materially from those expressed in or underlying our
forward-looking statements are the following:

o  with respect to our cinema operations:

o the number and sitractiveness to movie goers of the films released in future pexiods;

o the amount of money spent by film distributors to proinote their motion pictures;

o the licensing fees and tems required by film distributors from motion picture exhibitors in order to
exhibit their films;

o the comparative attractiveness of motion pictures as a source of entertainment and willingness and/or
ability of consumers (i) to spend their dollars on entertainment and (fi) to spend their entertainment
dollars on movies in an outside the home environment;

o the extent to which we encounter competition from other cinema exhibitors, fiom other sources of
outside of the home entertainment, and from inside the home entertainment options, such as “home
theaters” and competitive film product distribution technology such as, by way of example, cable,
satellite broadcast, DVD and VHS rentals and sales, and so called “movies on demand;™ and

o the extent to and the efficiency with which, we are gble to integrate acquisitions of cinema circuits with
our existing operations,

»  withrespect to ourreal estate development and opemation activities:
o the rental rates and capitalization rates applicable to the markets in which we operate and the quality of
properties that we own;
the extent to which we can obtain on a timely basis the varous land use approvals and entitlements
needed to develop our properties;
the risks and uncertainties associated with real estate development;
the availability and cost oflabor and materials;
competition for development sites and tenants;
environmental remediation issues;
the extent to which our cinemas can continue to serve as an anchor tenant who will, in turn, be
inflnenced by the same factors as will influence generally the results of our cinema operations; and

o certain of our activities are in geologically active areas, creating a risk of damage and/or distuption of
real estate and/or cinema businesses from earthquakes.

e with Tespect to our operations generally as an intemational company involved in both the development and
operation of cinemas and the development and operation ofreal estate; and previously engaged for many years
in the railroad business in the United States:
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o ourongeing access to borrowed funds and capital and the interest that must be paid on that debt and the
returns that must be paid on such capital;

o the relative values ofthe cumency used in the countries in which we operate;

o changes in govemment tegulation, including by way of example, the costs resulting from the
implementation of the requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley;

o ourlaborrelations and costs of labor (including fiuture govemment requirements with respect to pension
liabilities, disability insuranee and health coverage, and vacations and leave);

o our exposure from time to time to legal clajms and to uninsurable risks such as those related to our
historic railroad operations, including potential enviropmental claims and health related claims relating
to alleged exposure to asbestos or other sub now or in the fature recognized as being possible
causes of cancer or other health related problems;

o changes in future effective tax rates and the results of currently ongoing and future potential audits by
taxing authorities having jurisdiction over our vafous companies; and

o changes in applicable accounting policies and practices.

The above list is not necessarily exhaustive, as business is by definitjon unpredictable and risky, and subject to
influence by numerous factors outside of our control such as changes in government tegulation or policy, competition,
interest rates, supply, technological innovation, changes in consumer taste and fancy, weather, and the extent to which
consumers in our markets have the economic wherewithal to spend money on beyond-the-home entertainment.

Given the variety and unpredictability of the factors that will ultimately influence our businesses and our results
of operation, it naturally follows that no gusrantees can be given that any of our forward-looking statements will
ultimately prove to be correct. Actual results will undoubtedly vary and there isno guarantee as to how our securities will
perform either when considered in isolation or when compared to other securities or investment opp ortunities.

Finally, we undertake no obligation to update publicly or to revise any of our forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable
law. Accordingly, you should always note the date to which our forward-looking statements speak.

Additionally, certain of the presentations included in this annual report may contain “non-GAAP financial
measures.™ In such case, a reconciliation of this jnformation to our GAAP financial statements will be made available in
tion with such i
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Ntern 7A — Onanfitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risic

The Securties and Exchange Commission requires that registrants include infbrmation about potential effects of
changes in cumency exchange and interest rates in their Form 10-K filings. Several altematives, all with some limitations,
have been offered. The fllowing discusslon is based on a sensitivity analysis, which models the effects of fluctuations in
cumency exchange rates and interest tates. This analysis is constrained by several factors, including the following:

s itisbased on asingle point in time.
o it doesnot inelude the effbets of other complex market reactions that would atise from the changes modeled.

Although the results of such an analysis may be usefitl as a benchmark, they should not be viewed as forecasts.

At December 31, 2013, approximately 55% and 18% of our assets (determined by the book value of such assets)
were invested in assets denominated in Australian dollars (Reading Australia) and Mew Zealand dollars (Reading New
Zealand), respectively, including approximately $34.5 million in cash and cash equivalents. At December 31, 2012,
approximately 51% and 18% of our assets were invested in assets denominated in Australian and New Zealand dollars,
respectively, including approximately $15.8 million in cash and cash equivalents.

Our policy in Australia and New Zealand is to match evenue and expenses, whenever possible, in local
cumencies. As a result, 2 majority of our expenses in Australia and New Zealand have been procured in local
cumrencies. Due to the developing mature of our operations in Australia and New Zesland, our revenue is not yet
significantly greater than our operating expense. The resulting natural operating hedge has led to a negligible forsign
cumency effect on our eamings. As we continue to progress our acquisition and development activities in Australia and
New Zealand, we cannot assure you that the forelgn cumrency effect on our eamings will be insignificant in the future.

Historically, our policy has been to bomow in local currencies to finance the development and construction of
our entertainment complexes in Australia and New Zealand whenever possible. As a result, the borrowings in local
cumencies have provided somewhat of a patural hedge against the foreign cumency exchange exposure. Even so,
approximately 63% and 48% of our Australian and New Zealand assets (based on book value), respectively, remain
subject to such exposure unless we elect to hedge our forcign currency exchange between the U.S. and Australian and
New Zealand dollars. Ifthe foreign currency rates were to fluctuate by 10% the resulting change in Australien and New
Zealand assets would be $14.9 million and $3.7 million, respectively, and the change in annual et income would be
$23,000 and $21,000, respectively. At the present time, we have no plan to hedge such exposute. We believe that this
curmrency risk is mitigated by the long-term nature of the fully subordinated notes.

We record unrealized foreign cumency translation gains or losses that could materially affect our financial
position. We have accumulated untealized foreign currency translation gains of approximately $65.6 wmillion and $64.6
million as of Decembex 31,2013 and 2012, respectively.

Historically, we maintained most of our cash and cash equivalent balances in short-term money market
instruments with otiginal maturities ofsix months orless. Some of our money market investments may decline in value if
interest rates increase. Due to the short-term nature of such investments, 2 change of 1% in short-term interest rates would
nothave a material effect on our financial condition.

The majority of our loans have fixed interest rates; however, one of ourinternational loans has a varjable interest
rate and a change of approximately 1% in short-term interest rates would have resulted in approximately $660,000
increase or decrease in our 2013 interest expense,
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Report of Independent Registered Public A ting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Reading International, Inc.

‘We have andited the panying lidated balance shests of Reading International, Inc. and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the perod ended
December 31,2013, Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included the financizl statement schedule listed
in the index appearng uuder Schedule II These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management, Our responsibility is to express an opinion on thess financial statements
based on our audits,

We conducted our audits in aceordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assumnce about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
prineiples used and significant estimates made.by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fily, in all material respects, the
finaneial position of Reading Intemational, Inc, and subsidiaries as ofD: ber 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the related finaneial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly,
ia all material respects, the information set forth therein.

‘We also have audited, in rdance with the dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the Company’s intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria
established in the 1992 ftemal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO), and oureport dated March 7, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/e/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
Los Angeles, California
March 7,2014
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Reading International, Ine, and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheefs as of December 31, 2013 and 2012

(US. dollars in thousands)
December 31,
2013
ASSETS
Current Ansets:
Cash and cagh cquivalenis $ 37,696 & 38,531
Time deposits - 8,000
Receivibles 9,087 8,514
Inventory 941 918
Investment in marketable securities 55 55
Restricicd cagh 82 2465
Deferred tax agset 3,273 3,659
wid and other current sssels 3,283 © 3,576
Total current assets 55,117 65,718
Operating, propezty, nct 191,660 202,778
Lund held for sale 11,052 -
Investment and development property, net 74,230 94,922
I in lidated joint ven and entities 6,135 7,715
h¢ in Reading I ional Trusi I 838 838
Goodwill 22,159 22,398
Intangible asscts, net 13,440 15,661
Deferred tax aset, net 5,566 8,989
Olher asscis 6,010 9,069
Total agsets $ 386,807 § 423,588
TLIABILYTIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabllities;
Accounis paysble and accrued linbilitdes 3 18,608 § 18,909
Film rent payable 6438 6,657
Notes paysable — curront porfion 75,538 19,714
Notes payable to related party — current portion - 9,000
Taxes payable 8,308 15,234
Doferred current revenue 11,864 11,587
Other current lisbilities 6,155 §,032
Tetal current liabilities 126,911 87,133
Noteg payable — long-term poriion 65,009 139,970
Subordinzted debt 21913 27913
Noncurrent iax Habikitier 12478 8,859
Other liabilities 32,749 33,759
Total kiabilities 265,060 291,634
C i and eontl cles (Note 19)
Stockholders’ equity:
Class A non-voting common siock, par vaiue $0.01, 100,000,000 shares authorized,
32,254,199 jsued and 21,890,029 outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 31,951,945
issued and 21,587,775 outstanding al December 31, 2012 225 223
Class B voting common stock, par vaiue $0.01, 20,000,000 shares authorized aud
1,495,490 issucd and outstanding at December 31, 2013 and at Decomber 31, 2012 15 15
Nonvoting preferred stock, par value $0.01, 12,000 shares muthorized and no issued
or omtelanding sharcs at Deceraber 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 - -
Addilional paid-in capital 137,849 136,754
Accumulated deficit (57,952) (66,993)
Treasury thares (4,512) (4,512)
Accunn Jated other comprehensive income 41,515 61,369
Total Reading International, Juc, stockholders’ equity 117,140 126856
lling intereste 4,607 4,098
Total stockholders® equity 121,747 130,954
Total Habilities and stockholders® equity 3 386,807 § 428,588

See ing notes to lidated financial
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Reading Interpafional, Yne. and Subsidiartes
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2013
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

‘Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Operating revenue
Cinema $ 239,418 § 234,703 § 225,849
Real estate 18,803 19,727 19,130
‘Total operating revenue 258,221 254430 244,979
Operating expense
Cinema - 193,206 190,511 182,215
Real estate 10,830 11,163 10,190
Depreciation and amortization 15,197 16,049 16,595
General and administrative 18,053 16,117 17432
Impeirment expense — 1463 369
Total operating expense 237,286 235,303 226,801
Operating income 20,935 19,127 18,178
Interest income 407 800 1482
Interest expense 10,444) (17,226) (22,520)
Net gain (loss) on sale of assets (56) 144 67N
Other income (expense) 1,876 (563) 1,157
Tucome (loss) before lncome tax expense and equity earnings of unconselidated
joint ventures and entitizs 12,718 2,282 (1,7170)
Income tax benefit (expense) (4,942) (4,909 12,330
Iucome (Joss) before equity ings (loss) of idated joint ventures
aund entities 1,176 (2,622} 10,560
Equity earnings (loss) of 1idated joint ventures and entities 1,369 1,621 (1,552)
Income (loss) before discontinued oporations 9,145 (1,001) 9,008
Tncome (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax. - (85) 232
Gain (loss) on sate of discontimied operations - (320) 1656
Net income (loss) $ 9,145 § (1,406) $ 10,896
Net (income) loss atiributable to noncontrolling interests (104) 492 (940)
Net imcome (loss) attributable to Reading Imternatil Inc.

harehold, $ 9,041 § (914) $ 9956
Baslc fncome (loss) per common share aitributable to Reading International,
TInc. sharsholders:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations M 039 % 002) 3 0.36
Eearnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net — 0.02) 0.08
Basic income (foss) per share aftri ble to Readiug International, Inc.

harehold $ 039 § 004 3 0.44
Diluted income (Joss) per common share attributabl te Reading International,
Tmc, shareholders:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations - $ 038 $ 002) 3 0.35
Barnings (loss) from di inued operations, net — 0.02) 0.08
Diluted mcome (loss) per share attributable to Reading Internati Ine.

harchold 3 038 & (0.04) 043
Welghted average number of shares ontstanding--basic 23,348,003 23,028,596 22,764,666
Welghted average number of shares oulstanding-dfiuted 23,520,271 23,028,596 22,993,135

See panying notes to lidated financial
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Reading International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (L oss) for the Three Years Ended December 31,2013

(U.S. doltars in thonsands)
Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Net income (loss) $ 9,145 § (1406) $ 10,896
Curaulative foreipn currency adjustment (19,368) 4419 1,028
Reclassification of realized gain on avaibble for sale i included in
net income (loss) - (10%) (25)
Unrealized income (loss) on available for sale mvestments - 107 (@)
Acciued pension service benefit (costs) (593) (1,980) 832
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (10,816) & 1,031 $ 12,724
Net (income) Joss attributable to trolling ints (104) 492 940)
Comprehensive (incame) Joss atiributable to nirolling i 107 (5) (11)
C hensive income (loss) attributable io Reading Infernational, Inc. 3 (10,813) $ 1518 3 11,773
’ Ses panying notes to lidated financisl
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Reading Interna Honal, Tnc. and Subsidiaries
C Stats

ts of St ders® Equity for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2013
(In thousands)
Common Stoek Accomulated Readlng
Toicmatiooad
Class A ClassD  Addltional Other Ine, Total
Class A Par ClastB Par PaidIn  Accumplated Treasury C
Shares Value Bhares Value Capital Delelt Stock  Ineome/(Loss Ei Toterests Egui
Al Janoary 1,2011 21309 1§ 216 1495 |S 15 5 134236 § (76035) 5 (3.765) § 57,120 § 111,787 § 852 & 112,639
Nelincome - - - - - 9956 - - 9,956 940 10896
Oiheccomprehensive income, net of tax - - - - - - - 1317 1817 1 1828
Slock  option  and  restricled  slock
compensation expense - 4 - - 935 - - - 939 - 939
Porcinse oftrrasury shares a7 - - - - - (747} - {17 - (147
Ciass A common stock issued for siock
bonuses and opiions exercised 174 - - - - - - - - . - -
Cinome salet i - - - - - - - - - 147 147
Ce I from T
shareholdere - - - - - - - - - 233 233
Dlstributions to noncontrolling shareholders = = - = - - - -~ - (654) (654)
AlDecember31, 2011 21311 | 5 220 1495 s 15 $ 135171 % 66079) § _(4512) & S8937 3 123753 % 1,235 8 1249%7
Mel fose - - - - - 914) - - ©14) (492) {1,406)
Other compreheasive income, net oftax. - - - - - - - 2432 2,432 s 2437
Stock  option wnd  resteicted  stock
compensation expense - 2 - - 1276 - - - 1,278 - 1278
Clase A common siack irtued for stork]
bomuses and options exercised 211 1 - - 307 - - - 308 - 308
Coniributi from 1
sherholder - - - - - - - - - 3350 3350
AtDeosmber31,2012 21588 | & 223 1495 |5 15 5 136754 $_ (66993 8 (3,512) § 61369 126,856 S 4,098 5 130954
Netincome - - - - - 9,041 . - 9,041 104 9,145
Otheccomprehentive loes, nel oftx - - - - - - - {19.854) {19,854y aen (19.961)
Stock oplion and  restricted  atock] .
compensation expense - 2 - - 48 - - - 950 - 950
Inkind cxchange of slock for the exercise of
optione, net icsued 22 - - - - - - - - - -
Clase A common siock isened for stocl)
bonutes snd oplions exercised 280 - - - 248 - - - 248 - 248
Convertion of noncontrolling interest to}
equity - - - - Qo) - - - aon 0 -
Cond fram 113
sharcholders - - - - - - - - - 2,513 2,513
Distributions lo nencentwlling sharcholders - ~ - - - - = - - (2,102) (2102)
At Deoember 31,2013 21850 | § 223 1495 | S 15 S 131843 § (57950 8 _(4512) § 41315 § 117,140 5 4,607 5 121747
See ipanying notes to lidated fi ial
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Rea ding International, Ine, and Subsidiaries
Cobsolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Years Ended December 31,2013

(U.S, dollars in thonsands)
—_VearBndedDecemberdl,
2013 2012 2011
Operatlug Actlvliles
el income (Joks) H 91435 (1406)% 10,896
Adjustmen(s fa reconciie ne¢ Income (loss) to net cash provided by operating actlvities:
(Income) Jass onforeign H “15) (20) 16
Byity (camings) Joss ofunconsolidated joivk venlnces and entities (1,369) (1,621) 1,552
isicibutions of carni i Joint: d enlitice 1095 1,540 1,119
‘Loos provision on impairmeat of wsnet - 1463 269
(Gain) Jans on sale of assete 56 176 (1,589}
Change in valoation allowance fornet deferred Lax assels 2,98 1929 (15,028)
Guln on sale ofmatkelable secnrities - Q09 Q@5)
Guin on cinemn roquisition and setilsment (1359) - -
Depreciation and umortization 15197 16,384 16,960
Amortizetion of priorservicecosts 660 304 832
Amortization of tbove and below markei lessea 413 395 427
[zation of deferred | 954 1440 1,276
Aumostization of stralght-linerent 574 1,213 782
Siock brsed compencrtion enpense 950 1,276 939
Changes In assets and llabilites:
(Incrosse) decrepse in recejvables 281 (1,449) (L 468)
(Incresse) decxance in prepaid ind otherascete 6y 1,907 ™
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable wnd accrued expenses 556 1800 833
Incresse in film rent payable 133 415 361
Tncrease (decrease) in taxes payable (3294) (2.965) 908
TIncreass (decrease) in deferred revenoe aad other fisbilitles (576) 2,302 5,100
Net eash provided by oEenﬂnEl:ﬁviﬁu 25183 25496 24253
Tovesting Aetiviles
Cash paid for acquisitions - (5.510) @917
Acquirition deposil puid - - (200)
Cash reeeived fomeinema scquinition 1936 - -
Parchoses ofand eddilions to opemting propedy (20082)  (8213) 5459)
Changein restricted cash 1.609 © (16%)
Parcheze of notes receivable - (i.80D) ‘2184)
Procecds from notes receivable 2000 - -
Sulo ofmukeinblesecorities - 2974 143
istibutions ofi i joint ventures and entities 395 382 -
Prooosds from sale of property - 14,078 6,750
Porchase of lime deposits - (8,000} -
Proceeds fom tims deposits 8,000 - -
Cinean sale proceeds from noncontroling charcholder - - 1,857
Net oxsh usod in investing sctivities (6142) (6,095 (3,768)
Flmanduog Activitics
Repayment of long-temn bomowings (28121)  (62,602)  (126,780)
Proceede from bomowings 12,500 47,007 105,311
Chpitalized borowing costs (563) (182) 14)
Repurchase of Class A Nonvoting Common Stock - - 4N
Procesds from the exorise of slock opliens 248 308 -
Noncontrolling interest conteibutions 263 3350 233
Nonconbrolling interest dislibutions (2102) - {654)
Net oush nsed infiuancing selivities Q1775) __(12.719) @3411)
Effect of cxchnnge rate on cash (2]07) 252 45)
1 in cxstr and cash eg ®35) 6934 @)
Cashinod cash cqui valeals st thebeptnming of the period 38,531 31597 34.568
Cashrod uihglﬂvllmh attheznd of theperied $ 376968 385315 3]&
Supplememisl Dinclosures
Cesh paid during the period for:
Interest on borowings H 6953 % 145265 16,957
Income laxes 5903 5,666 2,688
Non-Cash Tramiactions
Contribution from i enchmpe fordebtreducion - related puty s 22508 -5 -
P jon of Sagil to equity n - -
Tao-kind exchunge of plock for the exercise of oplione, nel an - -
Contribution from i bomus necmal . - 255 -
Forectosure of w morigage nole to oblain titte oftheunderiying propery - - 1,984
See ing notes to idnted financial
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Reading International, Inc, and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2013

Note I - Nature of Business

Reading International, fnc., a Nevada corporation (“RDI” and collectively with our consolidated subsidiaries and
corporate pred the “Company,” “Reading” and “we,” “‘us,” or “our™), was incoxporated in 1999, and, following
the consumumation of a consolidation transaction on December 31, 2001 (the “Consolidation™), is now the owner of the
consolidated businesses and assets of Reading Entertainment, fnc. ("RDGE™), Craig Corporation (“CRG"), and Citadel
Holding Corporation (“CDL"). Ourbusinesses consist primarily of

« the development, ownership and operation of multiplex cinemas in the United States, Australia, and New
Zealand; and

« the development, ownership, and operation of retail and commercial real estats in Australia, New Zealand, and
the United States,

Note 2 — Summary of Sigpificant Accounting Policjes
Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of RDI and its subsidiaries include the accounts of RDGE, CRG, and
CDL. Also consolidated are Australia Country Cinemas Pty, Limited (“ACC”), a company in which we own a 75%
interest and whose only assets are our leasehold cinemas in Townsville and Dubbo, Australia, Sutton Hill Properties, LLC,
a company in which we own a 75% interest and whose only asset is the fee interest in the Cinemas 1, 2, 3, and Shadow
View Land and Farming, LLC in which we own 2 50% controlling membership interest and whose onty asset isa 202 acre
land parcel in Coachella, California.

Our investment interests are accounted for as unconsolidated joint ventures and entities, and accordingly, our
unconsolidated joint ventures and entities in 20% to 50% owned compenies are accounted for on the equity
method. These investment intetests include our

e 25% undivided inferest in the unincorporated joint venture that owns 205-209 East 57th Street Associates, LLC
(Place 57) a limited liability company formed to redevelop our former cinema site at 205 Fast 57th Street in
Manhattan;

o 33.3% undivided interest in the unincarpomted joint venture that owns the Mt. Gravatt cinema in a suburb of
Brisbane, Australia;

« 33.3% undivided interest in Rialto Distribution, an unincorporated joint venture engaged in the business of
distributing art film in New Zealand and Australia; and

e  50%undivided interest in the unincorporated joint venture that owns Rialto Cinemas.

Refinancing Long-Term Debt
Australian Credit Facility

Our Australian NAB Corporate Term Loan matures on June 30, 2014. Accordingly, the outstanding balance of
this debt of $56.7 million (AUUS$63.5 million) is classified as cument on our December 31, 2013 balance sheet. The
Australian NAB Comperate Term Loan ig seented by the majority of our theater and entertainment-themed retail center
(“ETRC") properties in Austmlia. While no assurances can be given that we will be successful, we are cumrently in the
process ofrenewing this loan and anticipate that the refinancing will be completed atthe latest by May 31, 2014.

Cinemas 1, 2, 3 Term Loan
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Our Cinemas 1,2, 3 Term Loan matures on June 27, 2014. Accordingly, the ouistanding balance of this debt of
$15.0 million is classified as cumrent on pur December 31, 2013 balance sheet. While no assurances can be given that we
will be successfisl, we are cumrently in the process ofnegotiating an extension of this loan.

Liberty Theaire Term Loans

On May 29, 2013, we replaced our Liberty Theater Term Loan with a loan securitized by our Orpheum and
Minetta Lane theaters, thus releasing the Royal George from the securitization end leaving it unencumbered. This new
loan, called the Minetta and Orpheum Theatres Loan, has a note balance of$7.5 million. See Note 12 ~ Notes Payable.

US. Credit Factlity

On October 31, 2012, we replaced our GE Capital Term Loan of $27.7 million with a new credit facility from
Bank of America of $30.0 million with an interest rate of between 2.50% and 3.00% above LIBOR and an expiration date
of October 31, 2017. In addition, Bank of America increased our existing $3.0 million line of credit to $5.0 million. On
March 25, 2013, Bank of America extended the borrowing limit on our BofA Revolver from $30.0 million to $35.0
million. See Note 12 — Notes Payable.

Cash Position

Our cash position at December 31, 2013 was $37.7 million including $17.9 million in the U.S., $12.I million in
Australia, and $7.7 million in New Zealand. As part of our main credit facilities in Australia, New Zealand and the U.S.,
we are subject to certain debt covenants which limit the transfer oruse of cash outside of the various regional subsidiaries
in which the cash is held. As such, at December31,2013, we have approximately $15.8 million ofcash worldwide that is
not restricted by loan covenants,

At December 31, 2013, we had undrawn funds of $4.5 million (AUS$5.0 million) available under our NAB line
of credit in Australia, $9.9 million (NZ$12.0 million) available under our New Zealand Corporate Credit facility, and $5.0
million available under our BofA Revolver in the US. Accordingly, we believe thet we have sufficient bomowing
capacity under our various credit facilities, together with our $37.7 million cash balance, to meet our anticipated short-
term working capital requirements.

Accounting Prineiples

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of Amedca (“US GAAP”).

Cash and Cash Bquivalents

‘We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased to be
cash equivalents for which cost approximates fairvalue.

Time Deposits

Time deposits are cash depository investments in which the original maturity of the investments is greater than
90 days. During May 2012, we purchased $8.0 million in U.S. dollartime deposits in Australia which matured on JTanuary
3,2013 having an interest rate of 0.48%. On December 31,2013, we had the following funds in U.S. dollars: in Australia,
$4.6 million and in New Zealand, $495,000.

Receivables

Our recejvables balance is composed primarily of credit card receivables, representing the purchase price of
tickets, concessions, or conpon books sold at ourvarious businesses. Sales charged on customer credit cards are collected
when the credit card transactions are processed. The remaining receivables balance is primarily made up of the goods and
services tax (“GST™) refund receivable fiom our Ausiralian taxing authorities and the management fee receivable from the
managed cinemas. 'We have no history of significant bad debt losses and we have established an allowance for acconnts
that we deem uncollectible.
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Inventory,

Tnventory is composed of concession goods used in theater operations and is stated at the lower of cost (first-in,
first-out method) ox net realizable value,

Investment in Marketable Securities

We account for investments in marketable debt and equity securities in accordance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) 320-10 - Frvestments—Debt mnd Equity
Securities (“ASC 320-10”), Our investment in Marketable Securitics includes equity instruments that are classified as
available for sale and are recorded at market using the specific identification method. In accordance with ASC 320-10,
available for sale securities are camied at their fair market value and any difference between cost and market value is
recorded as unrealized gain or loss, net of income taxes, and is reported as accumulated other comprehensive income in
the consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity. Premiums and discounts of any debt instruments are recognized in
interest income using the effoctive interest method. Realized gains and losses and declines in value expected to be other-
than-temp orary on available for sale securities are included in other expense, We evaluate our available for sale securities
for other than temporary impeirments at the end of each reporting period. These investments have a cumulative
unzealized gain 0£$9,000 included in other comprehensive income at December 31, 2013, For the years ended December
31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, our net unrealized losses were $0, $2,000, and $32,000, respectively. The cost of securities
sold s based on the specific identification method. Interest and dividends on securities classified as available for sale are
included in interest income.

Restricted Cash

We classify restricted cash as those cash accounts for which the use of finds is resiricted by contract or bank
covenant. AtDecember31,2013 and 2012, ourrestricted cash balance was $782,000 and $2.5 million, respectively.

FBair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of our cash and cash equivalents, accounts recefvable, restricted cash, and accounts
payable approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities. Sec Note 16— Fair Value of Financial Instruments.

Derivative Financial Instruments

In accordance with FASB ASC 81520 — Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815-20"), we cany all derivative
financial instruments on our consolidated balance shests at fair value, Derivatives are generally executed for interest rate
management puposes but are not designated as hedges in accordance with ASC 815-20. Therefore, changes in market
values are recognized in cureent earnings.

Opejating property.

Operating property consists of land, buildings and improvements, leaschold improvements, fixtures and
equipment which we use to derive operating income associated with our two business segments, cinema exhibition and
real estate. Buildings and improv leasehold improv ts, fixtures and equipment initially recorded at the Jower
of cost or faic market value and depreciated over the useful lives of the related assets. In accordance with US GAAP, land
isnot depreciated.

Investment and Development Property

Investment and development property consists of land, new bujldings and improvements under development,
and their assoviated capitalized interest and other development costs that we are either holding for development,
cumentfly developing, or holding for investment appreciation purposes. These properties are initially recorded at the
lower of cost or fair market value. Within investment and development property are building and improvement costs
directly associsted with the development of potential cinemas (whether for sale or lease), the development of
entertainment themed retail centers (“ETRCS”), or other improvements to real property. As incurred, we expense stat-up
costs (such as pre-opening cinema advertising and tmining expense) and other costs
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not directly related to the acquisition and development of long-term assets. W cease capitalization on a development
property when the property is complete and ready for its intended uss, or if activities necessary to got the propexty xeady
for its intended use have been substantiaily curtailed. Dusing the year-ended December 31, 2009, we decided to curtail
our current development progress on certain Australian and New Zealand land development projects. Asa result, these
properties are considered held for development and we have not capitalized interest for these projects and will not do so,
until the development work recommences.

Incident to the development of our Burwood property, in late 2006, we began various fill and earth moving
operations. In late February 2007, it became apparent that our cost estimates with respect to site preparation were low, as
the extent of the contaminated soil present at the sits, a former brickworks site, was greater than we had originally
believed. As we were not the source of this contamination, we are not currently under any legal obligation to remove this
contaminated soil fiom the site. However, as a practical maties, we intend to address these issues in connection with our
planned redevelopment of the site as a mixed-use retail, entertainment, ¢ ial and residential complex. As of
December 31, 2013, we estimate that the total site preparation costs associated with the removal of this contaminated soil
will be $15.2 million (AUS$17.1 million) and as ofthat date we had incurred a total of $7.4 million (AUS$8.3 million) of
these costs. In accordance with FASB ASC 410-30-25 — Environmental Obligations, contamination clean-up costs that
improve the property from its original acquisition state are capitalized as part ofthe property’s overall development costs,

Aceounting for the Impairment of Long Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets, including goodwill and intanpibles, for impairment as past of our annual budgeting
process, at the beginning ofthe furth quarter, and whenever events or changes in cireumstances indicate that the carrying
amount ofthe asset may not be fully recoverable.

Pursuant to FASB ASC 360-35, we review intemal management reports on a monthly basis as well as monitoring
cumrent and potential future competition in film markets for indications of potential impairment. ‘We evaluate our long-
lived assets using historical end projected data of cash flow as our primaty indicator of potential impairment and we take
into ideration the lity of our business. Ifthe sum of the estimated, undiscounted future cash flows is less than
the carrying amount of the asset, then impairment is recognized for the amount by which the canying value of the assel
exceeds its estimated fairvalue based on an appraisz or a discounted cash flow caleulation.

For certain non-income producing properties, we obtain appraisals or other evidence to evaluate whether there
are impairment indicators for these assets, Based on caleulations of cumrent value fom appraisals and a sales contract, we
recorded impaimment losses of $1.5 million and $369,000 relating to certain of our property and cinema locations for the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. No impairment losses were recorded in 2013, For a further
explanation of our 2012 impairment losses see below under the heading “Coachella impairment” and see Note 7 —
Investment and Development Property to our 2013 Consolidated Finaneial Statements.

Pursuant to FASB ASC 350-35, goodwill and intangible assefs are evaluated annually on a reporting unit
basis. The impairment evaluation is based on the present value of estimated future cash flows of the segment plus the
expected terminal value: There are significant assumptions and estimates used in determining the future cash flows and
terminal value. The most significant assumptions include our cost of debt and cost of equity assumptions that comprise
the weighted average cost of capital for cach reporting unit. Accordingly, actual results could vary materially from such
estimates. There was no impairment for the goodwill and intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012,
and 2011, respectively.

Variable Interest Entity

Our determination of the appropriate accounting method with respect to our investment in Reading Intemational
Trust I, which is considered & Variable Interest Entity (“VIE"), is based on FASB ASC 810-10. We account for this VIE, of
which we are not the primary beneficiary, under the equity method of accounting.

We determine if an entity is a VIE under FASB ASC 810-10 based on several factors, including whether the
entity’s total oquity investment at risk upon inception is sufficient to finance the entity’s activities without additional
subordinated financial support. We make judgments regaxding the sufficiency ofthe equity at risk based
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first on & qualitative analysis, then a quantitative analysis, if necessary. In a quantitetive analysis, we incorporate various
estimates, including estimated future cash flows, asset hold periods and discount rates, s well as estimates of the
probaebilities of various scenarios occuming. Ifthe entity is a VIE, we then determine whether we consolidate the entity as
the primary beneficiary. We detemmine whether an entity is a VIE and, If so, whether it should be consolidated by
utilizing judgments and estimates that are inherently subjestive. If we made different judgments or utilized different
estimates in these evaluations, it could result in differing conclusions as to whether ornot an entity is a VIE and whether
or not to consolidate such entity. Our investments in unconsolidated entities in which we have the ability to exercise
significant influence over operating and financial policies, but do not control, or entities which are variable interest
entities in which we are not the primary beneficiary are accounted forunder the equity method.

We carry our investment in the Reading International Trst Iusing the equity method of accounting because we
have the ability to exercise significant influence (but not control) over operating and financial policies of the entity. We
eliminate transactions with an equity method entity to the extent of our ownership in such an entity. Accordingly, our
share ofnet income (Joss) of this equity method entity is included in consolidated net income (loss). We have no jmplicit
or explicit obligation to further fund our investment in Reading Intemational Trust L

Goodwill and Intanpible Assets

‘We use the purchase method of accounting for all business combinations. Goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite usefil lives are not amoxtized, but instead, tested for impairment at least annually. Prior to conducting our
goodwill impairment analysis, we assess long-lived assets for impairment in accordance with FASB ASC 360-15 -
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“ASC 360-15”). We then perform the impairment analysis at the reporting
unit level (one level below the operating segment level) (see Note 10 — Goodwill and Intangibles) as defined by FASB
ASC 350-35 — Goodwill Subsequent Measurement (*ASC 350-35"). This analysis requires management to make a series
of critical assumptions to: (1) evaluate whether any impairment exists; and (2) measure the amount of impairment. ‘We
estimate the fair value of our reporting units as compared with their current book value. Ifthe estimated fair value of a
reporting unit is less than the book value, then impairment is deemed to have occurred. In estimating the fair value of our
reporiing units, we primarily use the income approach (which uses forecasted, discounted cash flows to estimate the fair
value ofthe reporting unit).

Discontinued Opemtions and Properties Held for Sale

In accordance with ASC 360-15, the revenus, expenses and net gain on dispositions of operating preperties and
the revenue and expenses on properties classified as held for sale are reported in the consolidated statements of operations
as discontinued aperations for all periods presented through the date of the respective disposition. The net gain (loss) on
disposition is included in the period the property is sold. In deteomining whether the income and loss and net gain on
dispositions of operating properties is reported as discontinued operations, we evaluate whether we have any significant
continuing invelvement in the operations, leasing or management of the sold property in accordance with FASB ASC
205-20— Py ton of Fi ial S —Di; inued Operations (“ASC 205-20”). I we wers to determine that
there was any significant continuing involvement, the income and loss and not gain on dispositions of the operating
property would not be recorded in discontinued operations.

A property is classified as held for sale when certain criteria, as set forth under ASC 360-15, are mot. At such
time, we present the respective assets and liabilities related to the property held for sale separately on the balance sheet
and cease to record depreciation and amortization expense. Properties held for sale are reported at the lower of their
cartying value or their estimated fair value less the estimated costs to sell. For a description of the properties previously
held for sale see Note 9 — Transfer of Held for Sale Real Estate to Continuing Operations and Related ftems. These asset
transfers from held for sale to operating resulted in a reclassification of their opemting results which is reflected in our
December 31,2013,2012, and 2011 Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from cinema ticket sales and concession sales are recognized when sold. Revenue from gift certificats
sales is defered and recognized when the certificates are redeemed. Rental revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis
in accordance with FASB ASC 840-20-25 — Leases Having Both Scheduled Rent Increases and Contingent Rents (“ASC
840-20-25"). :
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Direct costs incurred in connection with obtaining tenants and/or financing are amortized over the respective
term ofthe lease orloan on & stright-line basis. Direct costs incurred in connection with financing arc amortized overthe
respective term of the loan utilizing the effective interest method, or streight-line method if the result is not materally
different, Tn addition, interest on loans with increasing interest mtes and scheduled principal pre-payments are also
recognized on the effective interest method.

Adverticing Expense

We expense our advertising as incurred. The zmount of our advertising expense was $3.4 million, $3.8 million,
and $3.8 million forthe years ended December 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

_egal Settlement Income/Expense

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, we recorded gains/(losses) on the settlement of
litigation of ($285,000), ($194,000), and $0, respectively, included in other income (expense). Also inchuded in other
income/expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 was a $1.4 million net gain on acquisition and settlement (see
Note 8 — Acquisitions, Disposals, and Assets Held for Sale),

Depreciation an ortization

Depreciation and amortization are provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives ofthe
assets. The estimated useful lives are generally as follows:

Building and improvements 1540 years

Leasehold improvement Shorter of the life ofthe lease or useful life of the improvement
Theater equipment 7 years

Furniture and fixtures 5—10 years

Translation of Non-11.S. Cumrency Amounts

The financial statements and transactions of our Australian and New Zealand cinema and real estate operations
are reported in their functional currencies, namely Australian and New Zealand dollars, respectively, and are then
translated into U.S. dollars, Assets and liabilities of thess operations are denominated in their finctional cumencies and
are then translated at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated at the
average cxchauge rate for the meporting period. Trenslation adjustments are reported in “Accumujated Other
Comprehensive Income,” a component of Stockholders’ Equity.

The carrying value of our Australian and New Zealand assets fluctuates due to changes in the exchange rate
between the U.S. dollar and the Australian and New Zealand dollars, The exchange rates of the U.S. doliar to the
Australian dollar were $0.8929 and $1.0393 as of December 31,2013 and 2012, respectively. The exchange mtes of the
U.S. dollarto the New Zealand dollar wers $0.8229 and $0.8267 as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively,

COMS (<

We account for income taxes under FASB ASC 740-10 — Income Taxes (“ASC 740-10), which prescribes an
asset and liability approach. Under the asset and lizbility method, defirred tax assets and lizbilities are recognized forthe
expected future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing
agsets and Habilities and the respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and Habilities are measured nsing enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary diffsrences are expected to be recovered or
settled. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be
realized. Income tax expense (benefit) is the tax payable (refundable) for the perdod and the chaoge during the period in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. .
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In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arse we
consider all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of: deferred tax liabilities, projected
future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial opemtions. In projecting future taxable income, we
begin with historical results adjusted for the results of discontinued operations and changes in accounting policies. We
then include assumptions about the amount of projected future state, federal and foreign pretax operating incoms, the
reversal of temporary diffes , and the impl ation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. These
assumptions require significant judgment about the forecasts of fature taxable income and are consistent with the plans
and estimates we uge to manags the underlying businesses. In evaluating the objective evidence that historeal results
provide, we consider three years of cumulative operating income (loss). In the cvent we were to determine that we would
be able to realize our deforred income tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, we would make an
adjustment to the valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

ASC 740-10 provides that a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely
than not that the position will be sustained upon cxamination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation
processes, based on the technical merits.

We recognize tax liabilities in accordence with ASC 740-10 and we adjust these liabilities when our judgment
changes as a result of the evaluation of new information not previously available. Due to the complexity of some ofthese
uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in a payment that is materially different from our current estimate ofthe
tax labilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income tax expense in the period in which.
they are determined. -

Eamnines Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares of Class A and Class B Stock
outstanding durng the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. Diluted eamings per share is
caleulated by dividing net eamings svailable to common stockholders by the weighted average common shares
outstanding plus the diluiive effect of stock options and unvested restricted stock. We had issued stock options to
purchese 709,850, 672,350, and 622,350 shares of Class AC Stock at D ber 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011,
respectively, at a weighted average exercise price of $6.66, $6.24, and $5.65 per share, respectively. Stock options to
purchase 185,100, 185,100, and 185,100 shares of Class B Common Stock were outstanding at the years ended December
31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively, at a weighted average exercise price of $9.90, $9.90, and $9.90 per share,
respectively, In accordance with FASB ASC 260-10 — Earnings Per Share (“*ASC 260-10"), for any years that wo record
losses from continuing operations before discontinued operations, the effect of the stock options and restricted stock are
anti-dilutive and accordingly exchuded fiom the diluted eamings per share computation (see Note 4 — Earnings (Loss) Per
Share).

eal Bstat ice Allocatio

We allocate the purchase price to iangible assets of an acquired property (which inctudes land, building and
tenant fmprovements) based on the estimated fair values of those tangible assets assuming the building was
vacant. Fstimates of fair value for Jand are based on factors such as comparisons to other properties sold in the same
geographic area adjusted for unique characteristics. Estimates of fair values of buildings and tenant improvements are
based on present values determined based upon the application ofhypothetical leases with market rates and terms.

We record above-market and below-market in-place Jease values for acquired properties based on the present
value (usiug an interest rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between (i) the
contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and (i) management s estimate of fair market Jease rates for
the coresponding in-place leases, measured over a period equal to the remaining non-cancelable term of the lease. 'We
amortize any capitalized above-market lease values as a reduction of rental income over the remaining non-cancelable
terms of the respective leases. We amortize any capitalized below-market lease values as an increase to rental income
over the initial term and any fixed-rate renewal periods in the respective leases.
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We measure the aggrogate value of other intangible assets acquired based on the difference between (i) the
property valued with existing in-place leases adjusted to market rental rates and (ii) the property valued as if
vacant. Management’s estimates of value are made using methods similar to those used by independent appraisers (e..
discounted cash flow analysis). Factors considersd by management in its analysis include an estimate of canying costs
during hypothetical expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions, and costs to execute similar
leases. We also consider Information obtained about cach property as a result of our pre-acquisition due diligence,
marketing, and leasing activities in estimating the fair value of the tangible and intangible assots acquired. In estimating
camying costs, management includes real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses and estimates of] lost rentals
at market rates during the expected lease-up pedods. Management also estimates costs to exccute similar leases including
leasing commissions, legal, and other related expenses to the extent that such costs are not already incurred in connection
with a new lease origination as part of the transaction. :

The total amount of other intangible assets acquired is further allocated to in-place lease values and customer
relationship intangible values based on management's evaluation of the specific characteristics ofcach tenant’s leaso and
our overall relationship with that respective tenant. Characteristies considered by management in allocating these values
include the nature and extent of our existing business relationships with the tenant, growth prospects for developing new
business with the tenant, the tenant’s credit quality and expectations of lease renewals (including those existing under the
terms ofthe lease agreement), among other factors.

We amortize the value of in-place leases to expense over the initial texm of the xespective leases. The value of
customer relationship intangibles is amortized to expense over the initial term and any renewal periods in the respective
leases, but in no event may the amextization period for intangible assets exceed the remaining depreciable life of the
building. Should & tenant terminate its lease, the unamortized portion of the in-place lease value and customer
relationship intangibles would be charged to expense.

These assessments have a dirset impact on revenue and net income. Ifwe assign more fair value to the in-place
leases versus buildings and tenant improvements, assigned costs would generally be depreciated over a shorter period,
resulting in more depreciation expense and a lower net income on an anoual basis. Likewise, if we estimate that moro of
our leases in-place at acquisition are on terms believed to be above the current market rates for similar properties, the
caleulated present value ofthe amount above market would be amortized monthly as & direct reduction to rental revenue
and ultimately reduce the amount of net income.

Business Acquisition Valuations

The assets and liabilities of businesses acquired are recorded at their respective preliminary fair valtues as of the
acquisition date in accordance with FASB ASC 805-10 — Business Combinations (*ASC 805-10"). Upcen the acquisition
of real properties, we allocate the purchase price of such properties to acquired tangible assets, consisting of land and
building, and identified intangible assets and liabilities, consisting ofthe value of above market and below market leases
and the value of in-place leases, based in each case on their fair values. We use independent appraisals to assist in the
determination of the fair values of the tangible assets of an acquired property {which includes land and building). We
also perform valuations and physical counts of property, plant and equipment, valuations of investments and the
involuntary terminaiion of employees, as necessary. Costs in excess of the net fhir values of assets and Jiabilities acquired
arerecorded as goodwill.

‘We record and amortize above-market and below-market operating leases assumed in the acquisition of a
business in the same way as those under real estate acquisitions.

The fair values of any other intangible assets acquired are based on the expected discounted cash flows of the
identified intangible assets. Finitelived intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method of amortization

over the expected period in which those assets are expected to contribute to our future cash flows. We do not amortize
indefinite lived intangibles and goodwill.

Fair Value of Financial ostraments

FASB ASC 820-10 — Fair Valie Measurements and Disclasures (“ASC 820-10") defines fair‘value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and provides for expanded disclosure about fair value
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mensurements. ASC 820-10 applies to all other ting p ts that require or permit fair value
measurements.

The fiir value of our financial assets and lisbilities are disclosed in Note 16 —Fair Value of Finencial
Tnstrumentsto our consolidated finaneial statements, We generally determine or calculate the fair value of financial
instruments using quoted market prices in active markets when such information is available or using approptiate present
value or other valuation tect , such as di; ted cash flow analyses, incorporating available market discount rate
information for similar types of instruments while estimating for non-pecformance and liquidity risk. These techniques
are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount rate, credit spreads, and estimates of future cash
flow.

The financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in our conselidated financial statements are marketable
securities and interest xate swaps/cap., The carying amounts of our cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and
accounts payable approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities. ‘The remaining financial assets and liabilities
that are only diselosed at fair value are comprised of notes payable, TPS, and other debt instraments. We estimated the
fair value of our secured mortgage notes payable, our unsecured notes payable, TPS and other debt instruments by
pesforming discounted cash flow analyses using an appropriate market discount rate. We calculated the market discount
rate by obtaining period-end treasury rates for fixed-rate debt, or LIBOR rates for variable-rate debt, for matuxities that
comespond to the maturities of our debt adding an appropriate credit spreads derived from information obtained from
third-party financial institutions. These credit spreads take into account factors such as our credit standing, the maturity
of the debt, whether the debt is secured orunsecured, and the loan-to-value ratios ofthe debt.

Assets and Habilities typically recorded at fair value on a non-recumring basis to which ASC 820-10 applies
include:

» Non-financial assets and Habilities initially measured at fair value in an acquisition orbusiness combination;

» Longlived assets measured at fair value duc to an impaiment assessment under ASC 360-15; and

o Asset retirement obligations initially measured under FASB ASC 410-20 — Asset Retirement Obligations (“ASC
410-20™).

Usc of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confonmity with US GAAP requires us to meke estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date ofthe financial statements and the reported amounts of evenue and expenses during the eported period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Accounting Pronouncements Adopted During 2013

No new pronour ts were adopted during the year ended December 31,2013,

New Accounting Pron ouncements

Tn July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11, Presentation of an Unrecognized Tux Benefit When a Net
Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists ("ASU 2013-11"). ASU2013-11 is
effective for the first interim or aonual period beginning on or after December 15, 2013 with eady adoption permitted.
ASU 2013-11 amends ASC Topic 740, fncome Taxes, to provide guidance and reduce divewsity in practice on the
finaneial statement proscntation of an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss,
or atax credit carry forward exists. We do not anticipate that the application ofthis standaxd will impact our company.
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= ompensation an ee Stock Option Pla)

Stock Based Compensation

As part of his compensation package, Mr. James J. Cotter, our Chaitman of the Board and Chicf Executive
Officer, was granted $750,000, $950,000, and $750,000, respectively, of resiricted Class A Non-voting Common Stock
(“Class A Stock™) for each of the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. The 2013, 2012, and
2011 stock grants of 125,209, 217,890, and 155,925 shares, respectively, were granted with stock grant prices of $5.99,
$4.36, and $4.81, respectively. Mt Cotter’s stock compensation is granted fully vested with a five-year restrction on
sale. AsofDecember 31,2013, the 2013 stock grant had not yet been issued tn Mr. Cotter. During 2013, we issued to Mr.
Cotter 217,890 of Class A Stock for his 2012 vested stock prants which had a stock grant priee of $4.36 and a grant date
fafrvalue 0£$950,000.

During 2012, we issued 9,680 shares as a one-time stock grant of Class A Stock to our employees valued at
$44,000.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, we reconded compensation expense of $750,000,
$994,000, and $750,000, respectively, for the vesting of all our restricted stock grants. The following table details the
grants and vesting ofrestricted stock to our employees (dollars in thousands):

Weighted
Average Faiv
Non-Vested Valme at Grant
Restricted Stock Date
Qutstanding — Januazy 1,2011 - $ -
Granted 155,925 750
Vested - (155.925) (750
Outstanding — December 31,201 - % —
Granted 227,570 994
Vested : (227,570) (994)
Outstanding — December 31,2012 — $ -
Granted 125,209 750
Vested (125,209) (750)

Outstanding — December 31,2013 B -

Emplovee Stock Option Plan

‘We have a long-term incentive stock option plan that provides forthe grant to eligible employees, directors, and
consultants of incentive or nonstatutory options to purchase shares of our Class A Stock, Our 1999 Stock Option Plan
expired in November 2009, and was replaced by ournew 2010 Stock incentive Plan, which was approved by the holders
of our Class B Voting Common Stock in May 2010.

FASB ASC 718-10 — Stock Compensation (“ASC 718-10") requires that all stock-based compensation be
recognized as 2o expense in the financial statements and that such costs be measured at the fair value of the award. We
estimate the valuation of stock based compensation using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

‘When our tax deduction from an option exercise exceeds the compensation cost resulting from the option, a tax
benefit is created, ASC 718-10 requires that excess tax benefits related to stock option ises be reflected as fi ing
cash inflows instead of operating cash inflows, For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, thers was no
fmpact to the consolidated statements of eash flows because there were no recognized tax benefits during these periods.

ASC 718-10 requires companies to estimate forfeitures. Based on our historical experience, we did not estimate
any forfeitures for the options granted during the years ended December 31, 2013,2012,and 2011,

In accordance with ASC 718-10, we estimate the fair value of our options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model, which takes into account assumptions such as the dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate, the
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expected stock price volatility, and the expected lifo of the options. The dividend yield is excluded from the calculation,
as it is our present intention to retain all eamings. We estimated the expected stock price volatility based on our
historical price volatility measured using daily share prices back to the inception of the Company in its cument form
beginning on December 31, 2001. We estimate the expected option life based on our historical share option exercise
experience during this same period. We expense the estimated grant date fair values of options issued on a straight-line
basis over their vesting periods.

No options were granted during 2011, For the 175,000 and 206,000 options granted during 2013 and 2012,
tespectively, we estimated the fair valuc of these options at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:

2013 2012
Stock option exercise price $6.19 $594
Risk-free interest rate 2.25% 1.71%
Bxpected dividend yield - -
Expected option life ' 5.00 yr=. 7.20 yrs.
Expected volatility 31.80% 32.15%
Weighted average fair value $1.98 $262

Using the above assumptions and based on our use of the modified prospective method, we recorded $199,000,
$285,000, and $189,000 in compensation expense forthe total estimated grant date fair value of stock options that vested
during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. At December 31, 2013, total unrcognized
estimated compensation cost related to non-vested stock options granted was $432,000 which is expected to be
recognized overa weighted average vesting period 0£2.15 years,

For the stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, we issued 62,500 and
95,000 shares of Class A Stock for cash to employees of the corporation under this stock based compensation plan with
weighted average exercise prices of §3.98 and $4.68, respectively. No options were exercised in 2011. The total realized
value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $133,000 end $136,000,
respestively. We recorded cash received from stock options exercised of $248,000 and $308,000 during the years ended
December 31,2013 and 2012, respectively, In 2013, 75,000 options were exercised having a realized value of $124,000
for which we did not receive any cash but the employee elected to exchange 53,136 personally owned shares of the
company with a market price of $5.66 for the 75,000 shares based on an exercise price 0 $4.01 for the related options. In
2012, 41,000 options were exercised having a realized value of $103,000 for which we did not receive any cash but the
employee clected to receive the net incremental number of in-the-money shares of 15,822 based on an exercise price of
$4.01 and a market price of $6.53. At December 31, 2013, the intriusic, unralized value of all options outstanding,
vested and expected to vest, was $939,000 of which 68.8% were cumently exercisable,

Pursuant to both our 1999 Stock Option Plan and our 2010 Stock Incentive Plan, all stock options expire within
ten years of their grant date. The aggregate total number of shares of Class A Stock and Class B voting common stock
anthorized for issuance under our 2010 Stock Option Plan is 1,250,000. At the time that options are exercised, at the
discretion of management, we will either issue treasury shares or make a new issuance of shares to the employee or board
member. Dependent on the grant letter to the employee or board member, the required service period for option vesting is
between zero and four years.

‘We had the following stock options outstanding and exercisable:
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eiphted Welghted Average

Commeon Stoclk Average Exerciss Common Stock Priceof
Options Price of Options Exercisable Exerclsable
Outstanding Outstanding Options Options
Class A Class B ClassA Class B Class A ClassB  ClassA  Class B
Outstending-Januery 1, 2011 622,350 185,100 5.65 000 449,750 150,000 $ 622 § 1024
No activity during the period — — ~ —
Outstanding-December 31,2011 622,350 185,100 5.65 050 544,383 167,550 $ 586 § 10.05
Granted 206,000 - 5.94 -
Bxercigsed (136,000) ~$ 468 3% -
Expired i (20,000) —$ 375§ ~
O ding - Decemiber 31,2012 672350 185,100 624 $ 590 546350 185,100 § 626 § 990
Granted 175,000 - 619 $ -
Exercised (137,500} -3 400 § -
Outstanding - December 31, 2013 709850 185,100 § 666 $ 990 490,350 185,100 §__6.85 § 9.90

The weighted average remaining contractual life of sll options outstanding, vested and expected to vest, at
December 31, 2013 and 2012 were approximately 4.70 and 532 years, respectively, The weighted average remaining
contractnal life of the exercisable options outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012 was approximately 3.63 and 4.28
years, respectively.

Note 4 — Barnings (Loss) Per Share

For the three years ended December 31, 2013, we caleulated the following eamings (loss) per share (dollars in
thousands, except per share amounts):

2013 2012 2011
Ineome (loss) from continuing operations ¥ 9,041 3 (509) & 8,068
Income (logs) from discontinued operations — (405) 1,888
Net ineome (loss) atiributable to Reading T ional, Inc. hold 9,041 914) 9956
Basfe Income (loss) per common share attributable to Reading International,
Inc. shareholders:
Earpings (loss) from continuing operations 3 039 § ©02) % 0.36
Barnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net - ©02) 0.08
Basic income (loss) per shere affributable fo Reading International, Ine.
shareholders § 039 $ 0.04) 3 0.44
Diluted income (loss) per share attrit to Reading
Infernational, Inc. shareholders:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 3 038 8 0.02) § 0.35
Earmnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net ) — (0.02) 0.08
Diluted income (loss) per share affributeble to Reading Internafional, Ino.
ghareholders $ 038 § 0.04) $ 0.43
‘Weighted avetage shares of common stock — basic 23,348,003 23,028,596 22,764,666
Weighted average shares of common stock — diluted - 23,520,271 23,028,596 22,993,135

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2011, the weighted average common stock — dilutive included
172,268 and 228,469, respectively, of incremental shawes of exercisable in-the-money stock options and unissued
restricted Class A Stock, Forthe year ended December 31, 2012, we recorded a loss from continuing operations. As such,
the 284,054 ofi al shares of isable n-the-money stock options and unissued restricted Class A Stock were
excluded fiom the computation of diluted loss per share because they were anti-dilutive in that period. In addition,
847,891, 791,286, and 734,906 of out-ofthe-money stock options were excluded from the computation of diluted
camings (loss) per share for the years ended December31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. The total number of in-
the-money stock options, out-of-the-money stock options, and unissued restrieted Class A Stock that
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could potentially dilute basic eamings per share was 1,020,159, 1,075,340, and 963,375 for the years ended December3 1,
2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively,

Noie 5 - Prepaid and Other Assets

Prepaid and other assets are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

Dy ber 31,
2013 2012
Prepald and other current asse(s .
Prepaid expenses 8 1079 § 1,150
Prepaid taxes 623 855
Prepaid rent 1,210 1,044
Deposits 368 373
Other 3 154
Total prepaid and other cuirent assets $ 3283 § 3,576
Other non-current assefs
Other non-cinema and non-rental real estate assets $ 1,134 § 1,134
Long-term deposits 144 212
Deferred financing costs, net 1,833 2,230
Interest xate cap at fair value 75 -
Note recejvable . - 2,000
Tenant inducement asset . 512 716
Stxaight-line rent asset 2310 2,775
Other 2 2
Total non-current assets $ 6010 § 9,069

Note 6 —~ Operating Property

Property associated with our operating activities is summarized as follows (dellams in thousands):

D ber 31,

Operating property 2013 2012
Land 3 65,578 $ 69,370
Building and improvements 123,061 136,225
Leasehold improvements 46,330 45391
Fixtures and equipment 106,099 108,169
Total cost 341,068 359,155
Less: accumulated depreciation {149,408) (156,377)
Operating property, net 3 191,660 $ 202,778

Depreciation expense for operating property was $14.0 million, $14.9 million, and $14.9 million for the three
years ended December 31,2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

In 2011, we recorded impaimment losses totaling $65,000 on two of our cinema properties. We did not record an
impairment charge for our operating assets during 2013 ox 2012.

e 7 — Invest and Development Proper

Tnvestment and development property is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
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December 31,

i and Development Property 2013 2012
Land $ 59,550 $§ 717,020
Construction-in-progress (including capitalized interest) 14,680 17,902
Investment and development property, net $ 74,230 § 94,922

During the year-ended December 31, 2009, we decided to curtail our curmrent development progress on certain
Australian and New Zealand land development projects. As a result, we did mot capitalize interest on these projects
during 2013, 2012,and 2011 and we will not capitalize interest for these projects until devel 1t work )ences.

Coachella, California Land

Based on a December 2012 appraieal, the fair value of our Coachella property was $4.0 million resulting in a
$1.5 million $mpajrment to the carrying value of the asset. As noted below, this property is 50% owned by Mz James J.
Cotter who shares in any impajment loss to the extent of his ownership interest.

Note 8 — Acquisitions, Disposals, and Assets Held for Sale
0 jon
Plano Cinema
On December 31, 2013, we settled a management fee claim that we had against the owner of the Plano, Texas
cinema that we had managed since 2003 for a cash xeceipt of $1.9 million. As part of the scttlement, we acquired that
entity, and through the purchase of that entity acquired the underlying cinemsa's lease and the associated personal
property, equipment, and trade fixtures. Becauss the fair value of the lease, in light of anticipated rent payments, resulted

in a lease Hability of $320,000 and the acquired net assets, including cash received in connection with the settlement,
were valued at $1.7 million, we recorded a net gain on acquisition and settlement of $1.4 million.

Property Held for Sale — Moonee Ponds

On October 15, 2013, we entered into a definitive purchase and sale agr t with Moonee Ponds Pty Ltd, an
affiliate of Leighton Properties Pty Ltd, for the sale of our properties located in Mocnee Ponds, Victoria, Australia, The

agreement calls for a sale price of AUS$23.0 million payable in full on April 16, 2015. Leighton Properties Pty Ltd. bas .

guaranteed the purchaser’s performance. Our attomey has received from the purchaser bank guatanties and checks to the
value of AUS$2.3 million representing the agreed upon 10% deposit. These amounts will be held by our attoreey and
released to us upon settlement on April 16,2015, Prior to scitlement, Reading retainstitle to the properties, is responsible
for their costs (including taxes and utilities), and is entitled to receive all of their revenues (the properties are cunently
used as a patking lot). The properties comprisc approximately 3.3 acres and are camied on our books at $11.6 million
(AUS$12.4 million) at December 31, 2013 which is classified as land held for sale on our December 31, 2013
consolidated balance sheet. The historical operations of this property were as an non-attendant parking lot which arenot
material and thus not separately presented as discontinued operations.

2012 Trnsactions
Indooroopilly -Sale
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On November 20, 2012, we sold our Indooroopilly property for $12.4 million (AUS$12.0 million). As its book
value at the time of sale was $12.5 million (AUS$12.1 million), we recorded a loss on sale in the form of an impaimment
expense of $318,000 (AUS$306,000) for the year ended December 31, 2012 which included the cost to sell the property.
The operational results are included in income (loss) from discontinued operations on our Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2011, respectively. The condensed statement of operations for
Indooroopilly is as follows (dollars in thousands):

2012 2011
Revenue 3 793 § 825
Less: operating expense 560 593
Less: impairmexnt expense 318 —
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net oftax $ (@85 $ 232

Taringa - Sale

On February 21, 2012, we sold our three properties of approximately 1.1 acres in the Taringa area of Brisbane,
Australia for §1.9 million (AUSS$1.8 million), Because the net camying amounts of these properties were greater than the
total sale price, we tecorded an impairment expense for these properties of $369,000 (AUS$365,000) for the year ended
December 31,2011, .

Coachella, California Land - Acquisition

On January 10, 2012, Shadow View Land and Faming, L1C, & limited liability compeny owned by our
Company, scquired a 202-acre property, zoned for the development of up to B16 single-family residential units, located
in the City of Coachella, California. The property was acquired at a foreclosure auction for $5.5 million. The property
was acquired as a long-term investment in developable Jand. Half of the fands used to acquire the land were provided by
Mr. James J. Cotter, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and controlling shareholdex Upon the approval of our
Conflicts Committee, these funds were converted on January 18, 2012 into & 50% interest in Shadow View Land and
Famning, LLC. We are the ing ber of this company. See Note 20 — Noncontrolling Interests.

2011 Transactions,
Cal Oaks Cinema - Acquisition

On August 25, 2011, we purchased a 17-screen multiplex in Mureta, California (the “CalOeks Cinema™} for
$4.2 million.

Elsternwick Classic Cinema - Sale

On April 14, 2011, we sold our 66.7% share of the 5-screen Elstemwick Classic cinema located in Melboume,
Australia to our joint venturs partner for $1.9 million (AUS$1.8 million) and recognized a gain on sale of a discontinued
operation of $1.7 million (AUS$L.6 million). .
Note 9 - Transfer of Held for Sale Real Eatate to Continning Operations and Related Itemg

013 and 20 S

There were no transfers ofheld for sale real estate to continuing operations or related items in 2013 or 2012.
2011 Transactions
Lake Taupo Motel

During the fourth quarter of 2010, we listed for sale the residential units of our Lake Taupo property and the
adjoining 1.0-acre parcel Jocated in Lake Taupo, New Zealand. A portion ofthis property was previously
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improved with a motel in which we recently renovated the property’s units to be condominiums and have enhanced the
property value with residential apartment entitlements for the adjoining vacant Jand. At December 31, 2011, we had not
yet sold the property. Pursuant to ASC 360-10-45, s twelve months had passed since this announcement and we did not
meet the criteria to classify thie propesty as held for sale. As a result of the transfer of the asset from held for sale to
continuing operations, we recorded a loss for 2011 of $37,000 (NZ$48,000) to measure the property at the Tower of its
carrying amount, adjusted for depreciation and amortization expense that would have been reco gnized had the asset been
continuously classified as a continuing operational asset, or its fair value at the date of the decision not to sell. We
continue to discuss with potential buyers and plan to monetize the property in time.

Burwood Development Property

In May 2010, we announced our intent to sell and began actively macketing our 50.6-acre Burwood
development site in suburban Melboume. At June 30,2011, we had not yet achieved that aim. Pursuant to ASC 360-10-
45, as twelve months had passed since this announcement and we did not meet the criteria to classify this property asheld
for sale, we reclassified the current camrying value of this property of $53.4 million (AUS$52.1 million) fom assets held
for sale to investment and development property on our December 31,2011 conselidated balance sheet. We continue to
evaluate our options conceming this property.

Note 10 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill associated with our business combinations is tested for impaimment at the beginning of the fourth
quarter with continued evaluation through the end of the fourth quarter of every year The fair value estimates of each of
our roporting units is based on the projected profits and cash flows of the related assets using cach reporting unit’s
weighted average cost of capital as a discount rate, As a result of this test, whereby the Step 1 Test was passed for all
roporting units, it was determined that there is no impairment to our goodwill as of December 31,2013 or2012.

At December 31, 2013 or 2012, our goodwill consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):

2013 Cinema Real Estate Total
Balance as of January 1,2013 $ 17674 8§ 5224 § 22,898
Foreign currency translation adjustment (739) - (739)
Balance at December 31, 2013 3 16935 § 5224 § 22,159
2012 Cinema Real Estate Total
Balance as of JTanuery 1, 2012 $ 17,053 § 5224 % 22,277
Foreign cumency translation adjustment 621 - 621
Balance at December 31,2012 $ 17674 $ 5224 § 22,898

We have intangible assets other than goodwill that are subject to amortization which are being amortized over
various periods (dollars in thousands):

Other
Beneficial Intangible .
As of December 31, 2013 _Leases Trxade Name Assets Total
Gross carrying amount 3 24223 § 7254 B 455  § 31,932
Less: Accumulated amostization 14,520 3517 455 18,492
Total, net 3 9,703 § 3,737 _§ - 3 13,440
Other
Benefictal Intangible
As of December 31,2012 Leases Trade Name Asseis Total
Gross carrying amount $ 24,284 § 7254 % 458 § 31,996
Less: Accumulated amortization 12,873 3,059 403 16,335
Total, net $ 11411 8 4,195 § 55 8 15,661
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We amortize our beneficial leases overthe lease period, the longest of which is approximately 30 years; ourtrade
name nsing an accelerated amortization method over its estimated useful life of 45 yeas; and our option fee and other
intangible assets over 10 years. For the years ended December 31, 2013,2012, and 2011, our amortization expense was
$2.2 million, $2.2 million, and §2.4 million, respectively. The estimated amortization expense in the five succeeding
years and thereafter is as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ending D ber 31,

2014 $ 1994
2015 1,921
2016 1,724
2017 1327
2018 - 1,211
Thereafter 5263
Total future amortization expense 5 13,440

Note 11 — Investments in and Advances to Unconsolidated Joint Ventnres and Entities

Tnvestments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures and entities are accounted for under the equity
method of accounting except for Rialto Distribution as described below. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, these
investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures and entities include the following (dollars in thousands):

D ber 31,
Interest 2013 2012
Rislto Distribution 333% $ - $ -
Rialto Cinemas 50.0% 1,571 1,561
205-209 East 57* Street Associates, LLC 250% - 60
Mt, Gravatt 333% 5,164 6,094
Total investments $ 6,735 8§ 7,715

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, we recorded our earnings (loss) from our
unconsolidated joint ventures and entities as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Rialto Distribution $ 159 § 199 § 383
Rialto Cinemas 221 209 72)
205-209 Bast 57* Street Associates, LLC 1) 27 33
Mt. Gravatt 990 1,186 1,038
Total investor share of eamings 1,369 1,621 1,382
Rialto Cinemas impairment recorded at investor level - - (2,934)
Totsl equity eamings 5 1369 § 1621 § (1,552)
Rialto Digtribution

Due to significant Josses in years past, we determined that the goodwill associated with Rialto Distribution’s
investment in the film distibution business was fully impaired. As a result of these losses, as of January 1,2010, we treat
our interest as a cost method interest in an uneonsolidated joint ventnre. For the years ended December 31,2013, 2012,
and 2011 we received $159,000 (NZ$195,000), $199,000 (NZ$245,000), and $383,000 (NZ$500,000), respectively, in
distributions ffom our interest in Rialto Distribution which we recorded as carnings at the time of receipt.

Rialtg Cinemas
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We own an undivided 50% interest in the assets and liabilities of the Rialte Entertainment joint venture and treat
our interest as an equity method interest in an unconsolidated joint venture. Subsequent to the February 22, 2011
earthquake in Christchurch, the joint venturs obtained a termination ag t with the landlord associated with the
Christchurch cinema lease (see Note 26 - Casualty Loss). As of December 31, 2013, following the closure of three
cinemas with 15 screens, the joint venture owned two cinemes with 13 screens in the New Zealand cities of Auckland and
Dunedin. As part of our investment impairment analysis for 2011, we determined that the value of our investment was
impaired. For this reason, we recorded an jmpajiment charge to ourinvestment in Rialto Cinemas of $2.9 million (NZ$3.8
million) during December 31, 2011 and included it in our equity loss from unconsolidated joint ventures and entities for
the year ended December31,2011.

05-20 of ciates,

We own a non-managing 25% membership interest In 205-209 Bast 57th Street Associates, LLC a limited
lability company formed to redevelop our former cinema site at 205 East 57th Street in Manhattan.

During the fourth quarter of 2010, the last residential condominjum was sold for $900,000 from which we
recorded eamings of $64,000 and received. distributions totaling $293,000. During 2012, as a consequence of a
purchaser’s dispute, 2 condominium which was previously sold was repurchased, renovated, and resold for a small gein
resulting in additional eamings to us of $27,000. We do not anticipate any further jncome or expense from this
investment.

Mt. Gravait

We own an undivided 33.3% interest in Mt. Gravatt, an unincorporeted joint venturs that owns and aperates a
16-sereen multiplex cinema in Australia. The condensed balance sheets and statements of operations of Mt Gravatt are as
follows (dollars in thousands):

Mt. Gravait Condensed Balance SheetInformation

December 31,
2013 2012
Current assets 3 887 § 1,318
Noncument assets . 3,288 4,078
Current liabilities 751 L1111
Noncurrent liabilities 30 43
Members® equity 3,394 4,242
Mt. Gravatt Condensed Statements of Operations Information
D ber 31,
2013 2012 2011
Total revenue 3 12949 $ 15,236 § 14,097
Netincome 2923 3,513 3,045

alulagi Investmen L

' On June 26, 2006, we acquired for $1.8 million, an 18.4% interest in 2 private real estate company. On July 2,
2009, Magoon Acquisition and Development, LLC (‘Magoon LLC”) and we entered into a seitlement agreement {the
«Settlement Terms™) with respect to a lawsuit against certain officers and diréctors of Malulani Investments, Limited
.("MIL”). Under the Settlement Terms, Magoon LLC and we received $2.5 million in cash, a $6.8 millien three-year
6.25% secured promissory note issued by The Malulani Group (“TMG”), and a ten-year “tail interest” in MIL and TMGin
exchange for the trensfer of all ownership interests in MIL and TMG held by both Magoon, LLC and RDI and for the
release of all claims against the defendants in this matter A gain on the transfer of our ownership interest in MIL of
$268,000 was recognized during 2009 25 a result of this transaction. The tail interest allows us to participate in certain
distributions made or received by MIL, TMG, and in certain cases, the sharcholders of TMG. The tail interest, however,
continues only for a period of ten years and we cannot assure that we will receive any distibutions from this tail
interest. During 2011, we received $191,000 in interest on the
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promissory note, and, on June 14, 2011, we received $6.8 million of principal and interest owed on this note. We believe
that further amounts are owed under the note and we have begun lifigation to collect such amounts. Auny further
collections will be recognized when received.

Combined Condensed Financjal Information

The combined condensed financial information for all of the above unconsolidated joint ventures and entities
accounted forunder the equity method is as follows; therefore, these financials only exclude Rialto Distibution (dollars
in thousands):

Condensed Balance Sheet Information

December 31,
2013 2012
Current assets 3 3,255 § 3488
Noncurrent assets 5,934 6,621
Cumrent lisbilities 2,516 2,197
Noncurrent liabilities 670 751
Members® equity 6,002 7,161
Condensed Statements of Operations Informatiom
D ber 31,
2013 2012 2011
Total revenue 3 23,070 $ 26,138 §$ 28,017
Net income 3,598 4,590 4,021
Note 12 - Notes Payable
Notes payable are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Name of Note Payable or Security 2013 2012 Mlltll.l'lg Date 2013 2012
Trum Preferred Securities 4.24% 431% April 30,2027 § 27514 8 27913
Australian NAB Corporate Term Loan 5.00% 582% June 30,2014 56,699 15,349
Augtralian NAB Corporate Revolver 5.09% 582% June 30, 2014 - -
Augtralian Shopping Conter Losns - - November 1, 2014 89 208
New Zealand Corporate Credit Facifity 4.30% 4,70% March 31, 2015 23,041 23,148
US Bank of America Revolver 2.67T% 3.26% Octaber 31, 2017 31,500 30,000
US Bank of America Line of Credit 3.17% 321% October 31,2017 - 2,007
US Cinema 1, 2, 3 Term Loan 5.21% 524% June 27,2014 15,000 15,000
US Liberty Theaters Term Loan - 620% April 1, 2013 - 6429
'US Minetia & Orpheum Theatres Loan 291% - June 1, 2018 1,500 -
US Nationwide Loan 1 - 850% February 21,2013 - 593
US Sutton Hill Capital Note — Related Party - 825% June 18,2013 - 9,000
VS Union Square Theatre Teom Loan 5.92% 592% Moy 1, 2015 6,717 6,950
Total $ 168,460 $ 196,597
Trust Preferved Securities

On February 5, 2007, we issued $51.5 million in 20-year fully subordinated notes to a trust that we control,
which in tum issued $51.5 million in securities. Of the $51.5 million, $50.0 million in TPS were issued to unrelated
investors in & private placement and $1.5 million of common frust securities were issued by the trust to Reading called
“Investment in Reading Intemational Trust I” on our balance sheet. Effective May 1,2012, the interest rate on our Trust
Preferred Securities changed from a fixed rate 0f9.22%, which was in effect for five years, to a

79

£

da saY RO RIE 0 e o ey, Theus A PR S

S 28 fe dy st PR ENENEINTENEEN

e o §:

JA1472



veriable rate of three month LIBOR. plus 4.00%, which will reset each quarter through the end of the loan unless we
exercise pur right to refix the rate at the cument market rate at that time. Effective October 28, 2013, we entered into a
fixed interest rate swap of $27.9 million at 1.20% plus the 4.00% margin, expiring on October 31, 2017, see Note 13 —
Derivative Instruments. There are no principal payments due until maturity in 2027 when the notes and the trust
securities are scheduled to be paid in full. We may pay off the debt after the first five years at 100% of the principal
amount without any penalty, The trust is essentially a pass through, and the transaction is aceounted for on our books 2s
the issuance of fully subordinated notes. The credit facility includes a number of affirmative and negative covenants
designed to monitor our ability to service the debt. The most restrictive covenant of the facility requires that we must
maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio at a certain level. However, on December 31, 2008, we secured a waiver of all
financial covenants with respect to our TPS for 2 period of nine years (through December 31, 2017), in consideration of
the payment of $1.6 million, consisting of an injtial payment of $1.1 million, a paymont 0 $270,000 made in December
2011, and a contractual ebligation to pay $270,000 in December 2014.

During the first quarter of 2009, we took advantage of the then cumrent market illiquidity for securities such as
our TPS to repurchase $22.9 million in face velue of those securities throuph an exchange of $11.5 million worth of
marketable securities purchased during the period for the express purpose of executing this exchange trapnsaction with the
third party holder of these TPS. During the twelve months ended 2009, we amortized $106,000 of discount to interest
income associated with the holding of these securities prior to their extinguishment. On April 30, 2009, we extinguished
$22.9 million of these TPS, which resulted in a pain on metirement of subordinated debt (TPS) of $10.7 million net ofJoss
on the associated write-off of deferred loen costs of $749,000 and a reduction in our Investment in Reading Intemational
Trust I from $1.5 million to $838,000.

Dusing the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, we paid $12 million, $1.9 million, and $2.5
million, respectively, in prefomed dividends to the unrelated investors that are included in interest expense. At December
31, 2013 and 2012, we had preferred dividends payable of $191,000 and $198,000, respectively. Interest payments for
this loan are required every three months,

Australia,
NAB Australian Corporate Term Loan

On June 24, 2011, we replaced our Australian Corporate Credit Facility of $115.8 million (AUS5110.0 million)
with BOS Intemational (“BOSI") with 2 new credit facility from National Austrmlia Bank (“NAB”) of $110.5 million
(AUS$105.0 million). NAB provided us term debt of $94.7 million (AUS$90.0 million) and $9.5 million (AUS$9.0
million) in line of credit which we used combined with our cash of $1.6 million (AUS$1.5 million) to pay off our $§105.8
million (AUS$100.5 million) of outstanding BOSI debt.

The NAB three-tiered credit facility (the “NAB Credit Facility”) has a term of three years, due and payable June
30, 2014, and comprised of a term Joan with a December 31, 2013 balance of $56.7 million (AUS$63.5 million); a $4.5
million (AUSES5.0 million) revolving facility for which we do not have & balance at December 31, 2013; and a $8.9
million (AUS$10.0 million) guarantes facility. During 2013, to support a guarantee on the Australian digital projection
conversion, we transfered $4.5 million (AUS$5.0 million) of our revolving facility to the guarantee facility. This transfer
will remain in place until we refinance the NAB Credit Facility during 2014. This loan to Reading Potertainment
Australia commenced on June 24, 201 1 with an interest tate of between 2.90% and 2.15% above the BBSY bid rate. This
credit faclity is secured by substantially all of our cincma assets in Australia and is only guaranteed by several of our
wholly owned Australian subsidiaries. The NAB Credit Facility requires annual principal payments of between $6.3
million (AUS$7.0 million) and $8.0 million (AUS$9.0 million) which we anticipate will be paid from Reading
Entertainment Australia operating cash flows. The covenants of the NAB Credit Facility include a fixed charge coverage
ratio, a debt service cover ratio, an operating leverage ratio, a loan to value ratio, and other finaneial
covenants, Additionally, the NAB Credit Facility allows us to transfer only $3.6 million (AUS$4.0 million) per year
outside of Australis, In December 2012, as patt of the sale of our Indooroopilly property, we paid dowm $6.3 million
(AUS$6.0 million) on our NAB term Joan.

In conjunction with this NAB Credit Facility, we entered into a five-year interest swap agroement which swaps
over 100% of our $56.7 million (AUS$63.5 million) variable rate term loan (d ing in line with scheduled principal
repayments) based on BBSY, for 2 5.50% fixcd rate. For furtherinformation regacding our swap agreements, see Note 13 ~
Derivative nsiruments.
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As indicated above, this NAB Credit Facility matures on June 30,2014, Accordingly, the outstanding balance of
this debt of $56.7 million (AUS$63.5 million) is classified as curent on our December 31, 2013 ‘balance sheet. Whils no
assurances can be given that we will be successful, we are currently in the process of renewing this loan and anticipate
that the refinancing will be completed at the latest by May 31,2014.

Australian Shopping Center Loans

In July 2004, as part of the acquisition of the Anderson Cinema Circujt, we assumed the three loans on the
Epping, Rhodes, and West Lakes properties. The total amount assumed on the trarisaction date was $1.5 million
(AUSS$2.1 million) and the loans camry no interest as long as we make timely principal payments of approximately
$89,000 (AUS$100,000) per year Barly repayment is possible without penalty. The only recourse on default of these
loans is the security on the properties.

New Zealand
New Zealand Corporate Credit Facility

On Febmary 8, 2012, we received an approved amendment fiom Westpac renewing out existing $36.9 million
(NZ$45.0 million) New Zealand credit facility with a 3-year credit facility. The renewed facility called for 2 decrease in
the overall facility by $4.1 million ($5.0 million) to $32.8 million (NZ$40.0 million), an increasc in the facility margin of
0.55% to 2.00%, and the line oforedit charge increase from 0.30% to 0.40%. The facility is securcd by substantially all of
our New Zealand assets, but has not been guaranteed by any entity other than several of our New Zealand
subsidiadies, The facility includes various affirmative and negative financial covenants designed to protect the bank’s
security regarding capital expenditures and the repatriation of fiinds out of New Zealand, Also included in the restrictive
covenants of the facility is the restriction of transferming funds from subsidiary to parent.

us
Bank of Ameriea Revolver

On October 31, 2012, we replaced our GE Capital Term Loan of $27.7 million with a new credit facility from
Bank of America (the “BofARevolver™) of $30.0 million with an interest rate ofbetween 2.50% and 3.00% above LIBOR
and an expiration date of October 31, 2017. Although the new credit facility does not require & fixed interest swap
agreement, we have continued to use the existing fixed interest rate swap 0£$29.1 smillion until its term date of December
31,2013. Effective December3 1, 2013, we replaced this swap with a $31.5 million fixed interest rate swap, see Note 13 ~
Derivative Fistruments. ‘The BofA Revolver requires borrowing limit reductions of $3.0 million per year with a balloon
payment of $18.0 million at the expiration date. The BofA Revolver contains other customary terms and conditions,
including representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, events of default and indemnity
provisions. The most restrictive covenant of the facility requires that we must maintain a fixed charge coverage matio at a
certain level

On March 25,2013, Bank of America extended the bomowing limit on our BofA Revolver from $30.0 million to
$35.0 million and we borrowed $5.0 million on this revolver. On April 1, 2013, we used $2.3 million of the revolver
proceeds to partially repay our US Liberty Theaters Term Loan.

As part of the negotiations of the BofA Revolver, we entered into a master operating equipment Jease financing
agreement with Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC to finsnce the acquisition of up to $15.5 million in digftal
projection equipment for our US. cinema operations. See Note 17 ~ Lease Agreements.

Bank of America Line of Credit

On October 31, 2012, Bank of America renewed md increased out existing $3.0 million line of credit to 85.0
million. The LOC carries an interest rate equal to BBA LIBOR floating plus a 3.50% margin and an uused line fee of
0.03%. The agreement is in effeet till October 31,2017 and is potentially renewable at that date. The undrawn balance of
this LOC is $5.0 million at December 31,2013,
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Cinemas 1, 2, 3 TermLoan

On June 28, 2012, Sutton ¥ill Properties LLC (“SHP”), one of our consolidated subsidiaries, paid off its
Burohypo AG, New York Branch loan with a new $15.0 million term Toan (the “Sovercign Bank Loan™) fom Sovereign
Bank,N.A. The Sovereign Bank Loan had a ane-year term ending on June 27, 2013, with a one-year extension option to
Yune 27, 2014 subject to an extension fee equal to 1.00% of the ending principal balance and a compliance requirement
with certain special covenants, We exercised this option in June 2013, Asthe extencions mature on fune 27,2014, we
have classified the $15.0 million as a current liability. While no assurances can be given that we will be successful, we
are currently in the process of renegotiating this loan, The terms of the loan require interest only payments at LTBOR plus
a 5.00% margin to be calculated and paid monthly. This loan is secured by SHP inferest in the Cinemas 1, 2, & 3 land
and building. Covenants include maintaining a loan to value ratio of at least 50% of fair market value and an 11% debt
yicld (with a numerator of the cash available for debt service and a denominator of the outstanding principal balance of
the loan). The Sovercign Bank Loan is further secured by a gusranty provided by Reading Intemational, Inc. and by its
noncontrolling interest member, Sutton Hill Capital, LLC.

Minetta and Orpheun Theaires Loan

On May 29, 2013, we refinanced our Libesty Theaters loan with 2 $7.5 million loan securitized by our Minetta
and Orpheum theatres, thus releasing the Royal George from the securitization and leaving it unencumbered. This new
loan has a maturity date of June 1, 2018, and an interest ratc of LIBOR plus a 2.75% margin with a LIBOR xate cap of
4.00% plus the 2.75% margin. SeeNote 13 — Derivative Instruments.

Nationwide Loan I

On Febmuaty 22, 2008, our subsidiary entered into a five-year promissory note (the “Nationwide Note 1") with
Nationwide Theatres Corp of $21.0 million associated with the acquisition of 15 motion picture theaters and theater-
related assets from Pacific Theatres Bxhibition Corp. The Nationwide Note 1 was subject to certain purchase price related
adjustments, Through December 31, 2010, these adjustments resulted in a net reduction in principal of $20.4 million
comprised of a reduction in the amount of $6.3 million in 2008, a further reduction 0f$226,000 during the first quarter of
2009, an additional advance of $3.0 million in 2009 (such advance was used fo pay down a portion of the GE Capital
Term Loan discussed above), 2 $4.4 million reduction during the first quarter 02010 in which Nationwide Theaters Corp.
and Reading agreed to reducs the seller’s note, and finally 2 $12,5 million reduction in September 2010.

The Nationwide Note 1 had an interest () as to $4.5 million of principal at the annual rates 6f 7.50% for the first
three years and 8.50% thereatter and (ii) as to $13.0 million of principal at the annual ates of 6.50% through Tuly 31,
2009 and 8.50% thereafter. Acerued interest was due and payable on February 21,2011 and thereafter on the last day of
each calendar quarter, ing on June 30, 201 L. Pursuant to the Natjonwide Note 1 agreement, we paid off the
$593,000 balance of this loan on February 21,2013.

Sutton Hill Capital Note

On June 18, 2013, we repaid the SHC Note 2 for $9.0 million. As the debtor on this note was Sutton Hill
Properties, LLC, in which we have 2 75% interest, the note was, in effeet, paid $6.75 million by us and $2.25 million by
our cu-investor.
Union Square Theatre Term Loan

On April 30, 2010, we refinanced the loan secured by our Unjon Square property with another lender. The new
loan for $7.5 million has a five-year term with a fixed interest rate of 5.92% per annum and an amortization payment
schedule 0f 20 years with a balloon payment of approximately $6.4 million at the end ofthe Joan texm,

Summary of Notes Payable
Our aggregate future principal loan payments are as follows (dollars in thousands):
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Year Ending D ber 31,

2014 $ 75,538
2015 33,009
2016 3,500
2017 21,000
2018 7,500
Thereafter 27913

Total future prineipal loan payments $ 168,460

Since approximately $79.8 million of our total debt of $168.5 million at December 31, 2013 consisted of debt
denominated in Australian and New Zealand dollars, the U.S dollar amounts of these repayments will fluctvate in
accordance with the relative values of these cumencies,

Note 13 - Derivative Instrnments

We are exposed to interest rate changes from our outstanding floating rate borrowings. ‘We manage our fixed to
floating mate debt mix to mitigate the impact of adverse changes in interest rates on eamings and cash flows and on the
market value of our bomowings. From time to time, we may enter Into interest rate hedging contracts, which effectively
convert a portion ofour variable rate debt to a fixed rate over the teom of the interest rate swap.

For our Australian borrowings, we are presently required to swap no less than 75% of our drawdowns under our
Australian Corporate Credit Facility into fixed interest rate obligations. In conjunction with this NAB Credit Facility, we
entered into a five-year interest swap agreement, which swaps more than 100% of our variable rate term loan based on
BBSY for a.5.50% fixed rate loan which steps down commensurate with the payments ofthe loan balance, At the ime of
entering into this NAB swap, our existing BOSY swap was “in-the-money” by $160,000. In lieu of a cash payment for the
in-the-money BOSI swap, we negotiated 2 slightly lower fixed swap rate by 0.05% for ournew NAB fixed rate swap.

Although our Bank of America Revolver does not require a fixed interest swap agr t, effective D b
31,2013, we entered into an approximate three-year $31.5 million fixed interest rate swap that has a balance reduction
schedule which matches the contraction amortization of the Bank of America Revolver,

Effective October 28, 2013, we entered into a three-year $27.9 million fixed interest mte swap for our Tust
Preferred Securities.

As a result of these swap and loan agreements, we pay a total fixed interest rate of 7.90% (5.50% swap contract
rate plus a 2.40% margin under the loan) for our NAB Loan, a total fixed interest rate 0f3.65% (1.15% swap contract rate
plus 2 2.50% margin under the loan) for our BofA Loan, and a total fixed interest rate of 5.20% ( 1.20% swap contract rate
plus a 4.00% margin under the loan) for our Trust Preferred Securitics instead of the obligatorily disclosed loan rates of
5.09%, 2.67%, and 4.24%, respectively, as indicated in Note 12 — Notes Payable.

Finally, as past of our new US Minetta and Orpheum Theatres Loan, we entered into a five-year LIBOR rate cap
0f4.00% with a loan margin 0f2.75% (see Note 12 — Notes Payable).

The following table sets forth the terms of our interest rate swap derivative instruments at December 31, 2013:

Regeive Variable

Type of Instrament Notional Amount Pay Fixed Rate Rate Maturity Date
Interest rate swap $62,057,000 5500% 2.690% June 30,2016
Interest rate swap $31,500,000 1.150% 0.169% October31,2017
Interest rate swap $21,913,000 1200% 0.236% October31,2017

Interest rate cap $17,500,000 4.000% n/a June 1,2018

T accordance with FASB ASC 815-20 — Derivatives and Hedging, we marked our interest swap instruments to
market on the consolidated balance sheet resulting in a $2.0 million decrease to interest expense

83

ot QU E 0% {20 fraveiin
d 5

g v oid T P o
e spe el Ao, Se Rvenncdo! ¢

N TR aR BSOS

JA1476




during 2013, a $1.1 million increase to interest expense during 2012, end a $5.0 inerease to interest expense during
2011. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, we récorded the fair market value of our interest rate swaps of $3.3 million and
$5 .9 million, respectively, as other long-term labilities. Tn accordence with FASB ASC 815-20, we have not designated
any of our current interest rate swap positions as financial reporting hedges.

Note 14 - Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income tax expense includes the following (dollars in th ds):
Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

United States $ 8,745 . § 836 § (1,391)
Foreign 3973 1,446 (379)
Jncome (loss) before income tax expense and equity earnings of
unconsolidated joint ventures and entities $ 12,7118 § 2282 § (1,770)
Nel (i ) exp attributable to noncontrolling interests:

United States 24 578 (604)

Foreign (128) (86) (336)
Equity earnings and gain on sale of unconsolidated subsidiary:

United States ) 27 33

Foreign 1,370 1,594 (1,585)
Gain on sale of discontinued operation:

United States - - -

Foreign - (405) 1,888
I (loss) before income tax expense $ 13983 § 3,990 3 (2,374)

Significant components of the provision for income taxes are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Currentincome tax expense
Federal $ 1,121 § 964 § 1,332
State 432 584 531
Foreign 1,283 1370 1,067
Total 2,836 2918 2,930°
Deferred income tax expense (henefit)
Fedezal - - —
State - - -
Foreign 2,106 1986 . (15260)
Total 2,106 1,986 (15,260)
Total income tax expense (benefif) $ 4942 § 4904 § (12,330)

Deferred income taxes reflect the “temporary differences” between the financial statement camrying amounts of
assets and ligbilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes, adjusted by the
relevant tax rate. The components of the deferred tax assets and labilities are as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

Componenis of Deferred Tax Assefs 2013 2012
Deferred Tax Assets:

Net opemting loss carry-forwards $ 21228 § 31,040

Tmpairment reserves 2915 3,578

Altemative minimum tax credit camy-forwards 3,291 3,118
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Compensation and employes benefits 3,867 3,242

Defermed revenue and expense 2,398 2,688
Land, tangible assets, and option real properties 5477 2,882
Other 3,685 4,003
Total Deferred Tax Assets 42,861 50,551
Valuation allowance (34,022) (37,903)
Net deferred tax asset $ 8,839 $ 12,648

In accordance with FASB ASC 740-10 — Jecome Taxes (“ASC 740-10"), we record net defemed tax assets to the
extent we believe these assets will more Iikely than not be realized. In making such determination, we consider all
available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future
taxsble income, tax planning strategies and recent financial performance. ASC 740-10 presumes that a valuation
allowance is required when there is substantial negative evidence about realization of deferred tax assets, such as a pattern
of losses in recent years, coupled with facts that suggest such losses may continue. Because of such negative evidence
available for the U.S,, Puerto Rico, and New Zealand, as of December 31, 2013, we recorded a valvation allowance of
$34,0 million. Affer consideration of a number of factors for the Reading Australia group, including its recent history of
it ial i its expected future earnings, the increase in market value of its real estate assots, and having executed a
credit facility of over $100.0 million to resolve potential liquidity issues, the Company determined as of July 1,2011 that
it was more likely than not that defemed tax assets in Reading Austwmlia group will be realized. Accordingly, we revemsed
the ful] valuation allowance in Australia, resulting in a net deferred tax asset of $14.4 million as of December 31, 2011,
with approximately $3.4 million classified as cument and $11.0 million as non-current.

As of December 31, 2013, we had U.S. net operating loss cany-forwards of $15.2 million, of which $8.7 million
expire between 2025 and 2030, while $6.5 million expire between 2030 and 2035.

In addition to the above net operating loss carry-forwards having expiration dates, we have the following camy-
forwards that haveno expiration date at December 31, 2013:

o approximately $3.3 million in U.S, altemative minimum tax credit carry-forwards;

o approximately $26.0 million in Australian ordinary and capital loss carmy-forwards, including accmed but
unpaid interest on loans from its US parent company; and -

o approximately $11.8 million in New Zealand loss camy-forwerds.

We dispased of our Puexto Rico operations during 2005 and plan no further investment in Puerto Rico for the
foreseeable future. We have approximately $14.1 million in Puerto Rico loss camy-forwands expiring no later than
2018. No material future tax benefits from Puerto Rico loss cary-forwards can be recognized by the Company unless it
re-enters the Puerto Rico market for which the Company hes no cument plans.

‘We expect no other substantial limitations on the firture use 0fU.S, or foreign loss carry-forwards except as may
oceur for certain losses occuming in New Zealaod related to the Landplan operations, which may only be used to offset
income and gains fom those particular activities, and cannot be shared with their respective consolidated group.

US. income taxes have not been recognized on the temporary differences between book value and tax basis of
jnvestment in foreign subsidiaries. These differences become taxable upon a sale of the subsidiary or upen distribution of
assete from the subsidiary to U.S. shareholders. We expect neither of these events will accur in the foreseeable future for
any of our foreign subsidiaries.

The provision for income taxes is different from amounts computed by applying U.S. statutory rafes to
consolidated losses before taxes, The significant reason for these differences Bllows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Expected tex provisjon (benefit) 3 4894 § 1,397 $ (831)

Increase (decrease) in tax expense resulting from:
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Change in valuation allowance (3,882) (558) (15,260)

Expired foreign loss carry-forward - - 1,100
Foreign tax provision 3389 3,356 . 1,067
Tax effect of foreign tax rates on cument income (294) (126) 24
State and local tax provision 296 408 361
Tax/Audit Litigation Setilement 1,140 1,140 1375
Effect of tax rate change — - -
Other items (601) (713) (166)
Actual tax provision (benefit) $ 4942 % 4904 _§ (12,330)

Pursuznt to ASC 740-10, a provision should be made for the tax effect of eamings of foreign subsidiades that are
not permanently fuvested outside the United States. Our intent is that earnings of our foreign subsidiaries are not
permanently invested outside the United States. Current eamings were available for distribution in the Reading Australia
consolidated group of subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013, There is no withholding tax on dividends paid by an
Australian company to its 80% or more U.S. public company shareholder, thus we have not provided foreign withholding
taxes for these current retained eamings. We befieve the U.S. tax impact of a dividend from our Australian subsidiary, net
of loss camy forward and potential foreign tax credits, would not have a material effect on the tax provision as of
December31 2013.

‘We have acerued $20.8 million in income tax liabilities as of December 31, 2013, of which $8.3 million has been
classified as current taxes payable and $12.5 million have been classified as non-current tax liabilities. As part of cument
taxes payable, we have acorued $3.5 million in connection with federal and state liabilities arsing from the “Tax/Audit
Litigation" matter which has now been settled (see Note 19 -- Conmil and Conting ). Aspart of noncument tax
liabilities, we have accrued an additional $11.5 million related to the “Tax Audit/Litigation” matter. Amounts assessed
by the IRS and expected to be assessed by state income tax agencjes in connection with the “Tax Audit/Litigation™
matter are no longer recorded under the cumulative probability approach prescribed by FASB ASC 740-10-25 but
are recorded as a fixed and determinable liability. We believe the $20.8 million in tax liabilities represents an adequate
provision for our income tax exposures.

The following table is 2 summary of the activity related to unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and
penalties, for the years ending December 31, 2013, December 31,2012, and December 31,2011 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
D ber 31, D ber 31, December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Unrecognized tax benefits ~ gross beginning balance $ 2,171 § 1974 § 8,058
Gross increases —prior perfod tax provisions [¢9))] 197 -
Gross increases — cumment period tax positions - - 151
Settlements - - (6,235)
Statute of limitations lapse -- — -
Unrecognized tax benefits — pross ending balance $ 2,160 % 2,171 § 1,974

Tn accordance with FASB ASC 740-10-25 — Income Taxes - Uncertain Tax Positions (“ASC 740-10-25%) we
elected to record interest and penalties related to income tax matters as part of income tax expense.

‘We had approximately $10.8 million and $11.4 million of gross tax benefits as of the adoption date and
December 31, 2007, respectively, plus $1.7 million and §$2.3 millien of tax interest unrecognized on the financial
statements as of each date, respectively. The gross tax benefits mostly reflect operating loss camy-forwards and the IRS
Tax Audit/Litigation case described below.

We recorded a reduction to our gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $3.4 million and an incresse to
tax interest of approximately $8.8 million during the period January 1,2010 to December 31, 2010 and the fotal balance
at December 31, 2010 was approximately $20.6 million (of which approximately $12.6 million represents IRS
interest). Having settled the Tax Audit/Litigation matter described in Note 19 — Commiitments and

86

> RNy GF Hnalyt Pl sy 7 P S Sy
o e naf Tiatarte ROt

N By o Ry

]

A1479




Contingencies, we further reeorded a net reduction to our gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $6.1 million
and a reduction to tax jnterest of approximatefy $10.4 million durizg the period January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011,
resulting in a total balance at December 31, 2011 of approximately $4.1 million, consisting of $1.9 million tax and $2.2
million interest. Ofthe $4.1 million pross unrecognized tax benefit at December 31, 2011, approximately $3.0 million
would tmpact the effective tax rate if recognized. During the period January 1, 2012 to December 31,2012 we recorded
an increase of $0.2 million to our gross unrecognized tax benefits and an increase to tax interest of approximately $1.1
million, resulting in a total balance of $5.3 million consisting o0f$2.1 million in tax and $3.2 million in intesest. Ofthe
$5.3 million gross unrecognized tax benefit at December 31, 2012, approximately $43 million would impact the
effective rate if recognized. During the period January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013 we recorded no material change to
our gross unrecognized tax benofits and a decrease to tax interest of approximately $1.4 million, resulting in a total
balance of $3.9 million- consisting of $2.1 million in tax and $1.8 million in interest. Of the $3.9 million gross
unrecognized tax benefit at December 31,2013, approximately $2.9 million would impact the effective rate if recognized.

It is difficult to predict the timing and resolution of uncerfain tax positions. Based upon the Company’s
assessment of many factors, including past experience and judgments about future events, it is probable that within the
next 12 months the reserve for uncertain tax positions will increase within a range of $0.5 million to $1.5 million, The
reasons for such change include but are not limited to tax positions expected to be taken during 2013, revaluation of
curmrent uncertain tax positions, and expiring statutes of limitation. :

Our company and subsidiaries are subject to U.S. federal income tax, income tex in various U.S, states, and
income tax in Australia, New Zealand, and Puerto Rico.

Generally, changes to our federal and most state income tax returs for the calendar year 2007 and earlier are
bamed by statutes of Jimitations. Certain TS, subsidisries filed federal and state tax retums for periods before these
entities became consolidated with us, These subsidiaries were examined by IRS for the years 1996 to 1999 and
significant tax deficiencies were assessed for those years. Those deficiencies have been settled, as discussed in “Tax
Audit/Litigation,” Note 19 — Commitments and Contingencies. Our mcome tax returns for Australia filed since inception
in 1995 are generally open for cxamination. The income tax retums filed in New Zealand and Puerto Rico for calendar
year 2007 and afterward remain open for examination as of December 31,2013,

87

OF et The iy i SIRES T Sy erny
PR NE)

24 T0IN 2E BRG LT

JA1480




Nate 15 Other Llabilities

Other liabilities are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012
Current liabilities
Leasc liability $ 5900 $ 5,855
Security deposit payable 246 174
Other 9 3
Other current liabilities $ 6,155 § 6,032
Other Liabflities
Foreign withholding taxes $ 6,748 § 6,480
Straight-line rent liability 9,259 8,893
Environmental reserve 1,656 1,656
Accrued pension 8,527 6,976
Tnterest rate swap 3,288 5,855
Acquired leases 1,797 2,078
Otherpayable ~ 875 1,191
Other 599 630
Other liabilities $ 32,749 $ 33,759

Villapge Bast Purchase Option

On June 29,2010, we agreed to extend our existing lease from SHC ofthe Village East Cinema in New York City
by 10 years, with a new termination date of June 30, 2020. The Village East lease includes a sub-lease of the ground
underlying the cinema that is subject to a longer-term ground lease between SHC and an unrelated third party that expires
in June 1, 2031 (the “cinema ground lease”). The extended lease provides for a call option pursuant to which Reading
may purchase the cinema ground Jesse for $5.9 million at the end of the lease term. Additionally, the lease has a put
option pursuant to which SHC may require Reading to purchase all or a portion of SHC's interest in the existing cinema
lease and the cinema ground lease at any time between Jaly 1, 2013 and December 4, 2019. SHC’s put option may be
exercised on one or mere occasions in increments of not less than $100,000 each. Beeanss our Chairman, Chief
Hxecutive Officer; and controlling sharcholder, Mt James J. Cotter, is also the managing member of SHC, RDI and SHC
are considered entities under common control. As a result, we have recorded the Village East Cinema building as 2
property asset of $4.7 million on our balance sheet based on the cost camy-over basis fom an entity under common
control with & comresponding lease liability of $5.9 million presented under other liabilities which accreted up to the $5.9
million liability till July 1,2013 (sec Note 25 — Related Partles and Transactions). As the option is able to be exercised
starting on July 1,2013, we classificd the $5.9 million lease liability as a current Hability.

Nofe 16 — Fair Value of Financial Instruments
ASC 820-10 applies to existing accounting pronouncemenis in which fuic value measurements are already
1

required and defines fair value, establishes a & rk forx ing fair value in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.

ASC 820-10 (see Note 2 —Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) establishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fairvalue, The statement requires that assets and liabilities
carried at fair value be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Observable market based inputs orunobservable inputs that are comoborated by market data,

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not comroborated by market data. ’
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'We use appropriate valuation techniques based on the available inputs to measure the fair values of our asscts
and Tiabilities. When available, we measure fair value using Level 1 inpuis because they generally provide the most
reliable evidence of fair value.

Level | Fair Value Measurements — are based on market quotes of cur marketable securitics.

Level 2 Fair Value Measuroments — Interest Rate Swaps and cap — The fair value of interest rate swaps and cap are
estimated using intemal discounted cash flow calculations based upon forward interest rate curves, which are
cormoborated by market data, and quotes obtained from counterparties to the agreements.

Level 3 Pair Value Measnrements — Impaired Property - For assels measured on a non-recurring basis, such as real estats
assets that are required to be recorded at fair value as a result of an impairment, our estimates of fair value are based on
ynenagement’s best estimate derived from evaluating market sales data for comparable properties developed by a third
party appraiser and amiving at management’s estimate of fair value based on such comparable data primarily based on
properties with similar characteristics. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the fair value of our impaired
properties was estimated to be $4.1 million and $1.9 million, respectively, which we used to mcord our impairment
expense and was based on lovel 3 inputs in developing management’s estimate of fir value, For the year ended
December 31, 2011, the fair value of our Rialto Cinemas investment was $1.6 million (NZ$2.0 million) resulting in an
impairment charge of $2.9 miltion (NZ$3.8 million). We did not record an impairment charge for our properties during
2013.

As of December 31, 2013, we held certain items that are required to be measured at fair value on a recuming
basie. These included available for sale securities and interest rate derivative contracts. Derivative instraments are
related to our economic hedge of interest mfes. Our availableforsale securities primarily consist of investments
associated with the ownership of marketable securities in Australia.

The fair values of the interest rate swap aund cap agreements are determined using the market standard
methodology of discounting the future expected cash eceipts or payments that would oceur if variable interest rate fell
above or below the strike rate of the interest rate swap and cap agreements. The variable interest rates used in the
calculation of projected receipts or payments on the interest ratc swap and cap agreements are based on an expectation of
future interest tates derived from observab]e mavket interest rate curves and volatilities, To comply with. the provisions of
ASC 820-10, we incorporate credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both. our own nonperformance risk and
the respective counterparty's nonperformance tisk in the fair value measurements. Although we have determined that the
majority of the inputs used to value our derivatives fall within Level 2 of the faic value hierarchy, the credit valuation
adjustments associated with our derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate
the likelihood of defiult by us and our counterpartics. However, as of December 31, 2013, we have. assessed the
significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation and determined that the credit
valuation adjustments are ot significant to the overall valuation of our derivatives, As a result, we have determined that
our derivative valuations in their entirety are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. We have consistently
applicd these valuation techniques in all periods presented and believe we have obtained the most accurate information
availsble for the types of derivative contmots we hold.

On a recuming basis, we used the above methods and assumptions on the following items to measure fair value
subject to the disclosure requirements of ASC 820-10 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively (dollars in
thousands):

Book Value Fair Value
Finaneial Insicument Level 2013 2012 2013 2012
Tnvestment in matketable securities 1 $ 55 8 55 § 5 § 55
Interest rate cap asset 2 $ 75 8 - 8 75 8 -
Interest rate swap liabilities 2 $ 3288 § 5855 § 3,288 § 5855
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Fingneia) Instruments Disclosed at Fair Value

The following table sets forth the carrying value and the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities at
December 31, 2013 and 2012 (dollars in thousands):

Book Value Fair Value

Fi jal Jnstrument Level 2013 2012 2013 2012
Cash 1 $ 37,696 $ 38,531 $ 37,696 3 38,531
Time deposits 1 $ — § 8000 § - $ 8000
Accounts receivable 1 $ 9,087 $ 8514 § 9,087 % 8,514
Other assets - notes receivable 1 $ -  $ 2,000 § - $ 2,000
Restricted cash 1 $ 782§ 2465 § 782§ 2,465
Accounts and filmrent payable 1 $ 25,046 $ 25,566 $ 25,046 3 25,566
Notes payable 3 $ 140547 § 159,684 § 121411 § 154795
Notes payable to related party NA $ - % 9,000 § WA § N/A
Subordinated debt 3 $ 27913 3 27913 $ 11,067 5 12,268

For purposes of this fair value disclosure, we based our fair value estimate for notes payable and subordinated
debt on our intemal valuation whereby we apply the discounted cash flow method to our expected cash flow payments
due under our existing debt agreements based on a representative sample of our lenders® market interest rate quotes as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, for debt with similarrisk characteristics and maturities.

Note 17 ~ Lease Agreemen|

Most of our cinemas conduct their operations in leased facilities. Sixteen of our twenty operating multiplexes in
Australia, four of our seven cinemas in New Zealand, and all but one of our cinemas in the United States are in leased
facilities. These cinema leases have remaining terms inclusive of options of 1 to 37 years. Certain of our cinema Jeases
provide for contingent rentals based upon a specified percentage of theater revenue with a guaranteed
minimum, Substantially all of our leases requirc the peyment of property taxes, insurance, and other costs applicable to
the property. We also lease office space and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases. All of our leases ate
accounted for as operating leases and accordingly, we have no leases of fhcilities that require capitalization.

We determine the annual base rent expense of our cinemas by amortizing totzl minimum lease obligations on 2
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Base rent expense and contingent rental expense under the operating lcases
totaled approximately $32.1 million and $1.3 million for 2013, respectively; $32.6 million and $1.7 million for 2012,
respectively; and $3 1.2 million and $1.6 million for 2011, respectively. Future minimum lease payments by yeat and, in

the aggregate, under non-cancelable opemting leases consisted of the following at December 31, 2013 (dollars in
thousands):
Minimum Ground Minionum Premises Equipment Total Minimnm
Lease Payments Lease P Lease Lease Payments
2014 $ . 2592 % 28381 % 2,703 § 33,676
2015 2,591 26,137 2,703 31431
2016 2,656 22,427 2,694 21,777
2017 2,751 19,744 2,693 25,188
2018 2,759 16,054 2,614 21427
Thereafi 8671 49,739 - 58410
Total minimum lease p ts $ 22020 % 162482 § 13,407 _§ 197,908

Since approximately $75.7 million of our total minimum lease payments of $197.9 million as of December 3 1,
2013 consisted of lease obligations denominated in Australian and New Zealand dollars, the U.S dollar amounts of these
obligations will fluctuate in accordance with the relative values of these cumrencies. See Note 25 — Related Parlies and

Transaetions for the amount ofleases associated with any related party leases.
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Effective December 1,2012, we entered into a 5-year digital projection equipment lease obligation with Banc of

America Leasing & Capital, LLC cnabling us to convert substantially all of our T1.S. cinemas to digital projection. The

equipment lease agreement requires that we make lease payments of $218,000 per month for the next 60 months after
which we can eitherpurchase the equipment at amarket price or renew the lease for an undetermined length oftime. This
lease qualifies as an operating lease and is recorded accordingly.

Note 18 — Pension Liabflities

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

In March 1, 2007, the Board of Directors of Reading Intemational, Inc. ("Reading™) approved 2 Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan. (“SERP") pursuant to which Reading has agreed to provide James J. Cotter, its Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors, supplemental retirement benefits effective March 1,
2007. Under the SERP, Mr Cotter will receive a monthly payment of the greater of (i) 40% of the average monthly
eamnings over the highest consecutive 36.month period of samings prior to Mr. Cotler’s sepagation from service with
Reading or (if) $25,000 per month for the yemainder ofhis life, with a guarantee of 180 monthly payments following his
separation from service with Reading or following his death. The beneficiaries under the SERP may be designated by Mr.
Cotter or by his beneficiary following his oz his beneficiary’s death. The benefits under the SERP are fully vested as of
March 1,2007.

The SERP initially will be unfunded, but Reading may choose to establish one or more grantor trusts from which
to pay the SERP benefits, As such, the SERP benefits are unsecured, general obligations of Reading. The SERP is
administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Reading. In accordance with FASB ASC 715-
30-05 — Defined Benefit Pension Plans (‘ASC 715-30.05"), the initial pension benefit obligation of $2.7 million was
included in our other liabilities with a comesponding amount of unrecognized prior service cost included in accumulated
other comprehensive income on March 1,2007. The initial benefit obligation was based on a discount rate 0£5.75% and
a compensation increase rate of 3.5%. The $2.7 million is being amortized es a prior service cost over the estimated
service period of 10 years combined with an annual interest cost. For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and
2011, we recognized $202,000, $149,000, and $195,000, respectively, of interest cost and $304,000 of amortized prior
service costperyear For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, we recognized $356,000 and $0 of amortized net
gains. The balance of the other liability for this pension plan was $7.4 million and $5.9 million at December 31, 2013
and 2012, respectively, and the acenmulated unrecognized prior service costs included in other compxehensive income
balance was $3.8 and $3.2 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The December 31, 2013 and 2012
values of the SERP are based on a discount rate 0f4.25% and 3.40%, respectively, and an annual compensation growth
rate 0£7.50% and 3.50%, respectively.

The change in the SERP pension benefit obligation and the funded status for the year ending December 31, 2013
and 2012 are as fbllows (dollars in thousands):

For the year ending
Change in Benefit Obligation December 31, 2013
Benefit obligation. at January 1,2013 3 5,944
Interest cost 202
Actuadal gain 1,252
Benefit obligation at December 31,2013 7,398
Funded status af December31, 2013 3 (7,398)
For the year ending
Change in Benefit Obligation December 31,2012
Benefit obligation at Japuary 1,2012 $ 3,511
Interest cost 148
Actuarial pain 2284
Benefit obligation at D ber 31,2012 5944
Funded status at December 31,2012 3 (5,944)
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Amount recognized in balance sheet consists of (dollars in thousands):

AtDecember 31, AtDecember 31,
2013 2012
Current liabilities $ 15 § 14
Noncument liabilities 7,383 5,930

Ttems not yet recognized as a coxoponent ofnet periodic pension cost consist of (dollars in thousands):

AtDecember 31, AtDecember 31,
2013 2012
Unamortized actuarial loss $ 3,166 8 2,269
Prior service costs 627 931
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 3,793 3,200

The components of the net perjodic benefit cost and other amounts recognized in other comprehensive income
are as follows (dollass in thousands):

For the year ending For the year ending

Net perlodic benelit cost . December 31,2013 December 31,2012

Interest cost $ 202 § 149
Amortization of prior service costs 304 304
Amortization ofnet gain 356 -
Net periodic benefit cost $ 862 § 453

Other changes in plan asseis and benefit obligations reco ganized In
other comprehensive income

Net loss $ 1,253 8§ 2,284
Amortization of prior service cost (304) (304)
Amortization ofnet loss (356) —
Total recognized in other comprehensive income $ 593 8 1,980

Total recognized in met periodie benefit cost and other
comprehensive income $ 1455 8 2,433

The estfmated net loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit pension plan that will be amortized fom
slated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year will be $356,000 and
$304,000, respectively.

92

st i ey The Qe ssauis

Pt LTS




The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine the plan benefit obligations at December
31,2013 and 2012:

2013 2012
Discount rate 4.25% 3.40%
Raste of compensation increase 7.50% 3.50%

The following weighted-average assumptions were used to determine net perodic benefit cost for the year ended
December 31,2013 and 2012:

2013 2012
Discount rate 3.40% 4.25%
Expected long-term retum on plan assets 0.00% 0.00%
Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50%

Other Pension Liabilities

In addition to the aforementioned SERP, we have defined contribution pension plans for selected cument and
former executives of our corporation resulting in a pension Hability of $1.1 million and $1.0 million at December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively. These pensions accrued $95,000 and $204,000 of pension expense for the years ended
December 31,2013 and 2012, respectively.

The benefit payments for all of our pensions, which reflect expected future secvice, as appropriste, are expected
to be paid overthe following periods (dollars in thousands): -

Pension Payments
2014 . $ 14
2015 32
2016 50
2017 633
2018 607
Thereafter 7,191
Total pension payments $ 8,527

Note 19 - Commjitments and Copfingencies,
Uncongsolidated Joint Venture Loang

The following section describes any loans assoclated with our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures. As
these investments are unconsolidated, any associated barik loans are not reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at
December 31,2013. Bach loan is without recourse to any assets other than our interests in the individual joint venture.

Rialto Distribution. ‘We are the 33.3% co-owners of the assets of Rialto Distribution. At December 31,2013 and 2012,
Rialto Distribution had a bank line of credit of $1.6 million (NZ$2.0 million) and $1.7 million (NZ$2.0 million),
respectively, and had an outstanding balance of $634,000 (NZ $770,000) and $703,000 (NZ$850,000),
respectively. This loan is guaranteed by one of our subsidiaties to the extent of our ownership percentage.

Tax Audit/ itigation

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS") has examined the tax retum of Reading Entertainment Inc, (RDGE”)
for its tax years ended December 31, 1996 through December 31,1999 and the tax retum of Craig Corporation (“CRG"), 2
Nevada Corporation with no operating assets, for its tax year ended June 30, 1997. These
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companies are both now wholly ovmed subsidiaries of the Company, but for the time pexiods under audit, were not
consolidated with the Company for tax puzposes.

CRG and the IRS agreed to compromisc the claims made by the IRS against CRG and the Tax Court’s order was

entered on January 6, 2011, In the settlement, the IRS conceded 70% of its claimed adjustment to income. Instead of 2
claim for unpaid taxes of $20.9 million plus intcrest, the effect of settlement on the Reading consolidated group was to
require 2 total federal income tax obligation 0f$5.4 million, redueed by a federal tax refund of$800,000 and increased by
Juterest of $9.3 million, for a net federal tax liability of $13.9 million as of Janvary 6,2011. On October 26, 2011, CRG
reached an agreoment with the IRS for an instaliment plan to pay offthis federal tax liability, including additional interest
aceruals at the preseribed IRS floating rate. The agreement requires monthly payments of $290 ,000 over a period of
approximately five years. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, after the payments made during 2013 and 2012,
respectively, the remaining federal tax obligation was $8.3 million and $10.0 million, respectively, in tax and interest. of
the $8.3 million owed under the installment agreement as of December 31, 2013, $3.5 million was recorded as curment
taxes payable, with the remaining balance being recorded as non-cumrent tax liability. Of the $10.0 million owed under
the installment agreement as of December 31, 2012, $3.5 millien was recorded as current taxes payable, with the
remaining balance being recorded as non-current tax liability.

The impact ofthe settlement upon the state taxes ofthe Reading consolidated group, if the adjustment to income
agreed with the IRS were reflected on state returns, would be an obligation of approximately $1.4 million in tax plus
interest and potential penalty. As of December31,2013,n0 deficiency has been asserted by the State of Califomia, and
we have made no final decision as ta the course of action 1o b& followed when a deficiency is asserted.

Environmental and Asbestos Claims

Certain of our subsidiaries were historically imvolved in railroad operations, coal mining, and
manufacturing.  Also, certain of these subsidiaries appear in the chain of title of properties that may suffer fom
pollution. Accordingly, certain of these subsidiaries have, from time to time, been named in and may in the future be
named in various actions brought under applicable environmental laws. Also, we are in the real estate development
business and may encounter ffom time to time unanticipated environmental conditions at properties that we have
acquired for development. These environmental conditions can increase the cost of such projects, and adversely affect
the value and potential for profit of such projects. We do not curently beljeve that our exposure under applicable
environmental laws is material in amount.

From time to time, we have claims brought against us relating to the exposure of foxmer employees of our
raiload operations to asbestos and coal dust. These are generally covered by an insurance settlement reached in
September 1990 with our insurance camiers, However, this insurance settlement does not cover litigation by people who
were not our employees and who may claim second hand exposure o asbestos, coal dust and/or other chemicals or
elements now recognized as potentially cansing cancerin humans. Our known exposure to these types of claims, asserted
orprobable of being asserted, is notmaterial.

In connection with the development of our 50.6 acre Burwood site, it will be necessary to address certain
environmental issues. That property was at one time used asa ‘brickworks and we have discovered petrolenm and asbestos
at the site, During 2007, we developed a plan for the remodiation of these materials, in some cases through removal and
in other cases through encapsulation. As of December 31, 2013, we estimate that the total site preparation costs
associated with the removal of this contaminated soil will be $15.2 million (AUS$17.1 million) and as of that date we had
incurred a total of $7.4 million (AUS$8.3 million) of these costs. We do not believe that this has added materially to the
overall development cost of the site, as it is anticipated that all of the work will be done in connection with the
excavation and ofher development activity already contemplated for the property.
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Note 20 — Noncontrolling interesfs.

As of December 31, 2013, the noncontrolling interests in our consolidated subsidiaries are comprised of the
following:

»  25% noncontrolling interest in Australian Country Cinemas by 21st Century Pty, Lid;

s 50% trolling bership interest in Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC owmed by Mz James J.
Cotter, Sr.; and

»  25% noncontrolling interest in the Sutton Hill Properties, LLC owned by Sutton Hill Capital, LLC.

The components ofnoncontrolling interest are as follows (dolfars in thousands):

December 31,
2013 2012
AFCLLC $ - 8 1,737
Australian Country Cinemas 532 601
Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC 1,862 1,912
Sutton Hill Properties 2,213 (152)
Nonconirolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries $ 4,607 8 4,098

The components of income atiributable to noncontrolling interests are as follows (dollars in thousands):

‘Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
AFCLLC $ 173§ 612 §$ 209
Australian Country Cinemas 129 86 311
Elstemwick unincorporated joint venture - - - 25
Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC (50) (843) -
Sutton Hill Properties (148) (347) (305)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest $ 104 § (492) §$ 940

AFCLLC Acquisition of Noncontrolling Interest

On June 28, 2013, we acquired the interest in AFC LLC that we did not already own in consideration of the
release of certain claims we held against the owner of that interest under a guaranty agreement, The removal of the AFC
LLC noncontrolling interest balance of $101,000 was reflected as a change in our additional paid in capital pursuant to
FASB ASC 810-10-45.

Sutton Hill Properties

On June 18, 2013, our co-investor; having a 25% intercst in our Sutton Hill Properties subsidiary, confributed
$2.25 million toward the payoff of our SHIC Note 2 for $9.0 million resulting in 2 $2.25 million contribution of capital to
Sutton Hill Properties (See Note 12 — Notes Payable).

Sha Vier d and ing, 11.C

During the 2012, Mzt James J. Cotte, our Chaitman, Chief Executive Officer and controlling shareholder
contributed $2.5 million of cash and $255,000 of his 2011 bonus as his 50% share of the purchase price of a land parcel
in Coachella, California and to cover his 50% share of certain costs associated with that acquisition. This land is held in
Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC, in which Mr. Cotter owns a 50% interest. We are the managing member of
Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC. However, as Mt Cotter is considered to be our controlling shareholder, pursuant
to FASB ASC 810-10-05, we have consolidated Mr. Cotter’s interest in the
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property and its expenses with that of our interest and shown his interest as a noncontrolling interest. Note 8 —
Acquisitions, Disposals, and Assets Held for Sale.

Elsternwick Sale

On April 14, 2011, we sold our 66.7% share of the 5-sereen Elsterawick Classic cinema located in Melboume,
Australia to our joint venture partner for $1.9 million (AUS$ 1.8 million) and recognized a gain on sale ofa discontinued
operation of$1.7 million (AUSS1.6 million).

ote 21 — Total Reading International, Inc. Stockholders’ Equil

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ under the symbols RDI and RDIB which are our Class A (non-voting)
and Class B (voting) stock, respectively. Our Class A (non-voting) has preference over our Class B (voting) shares upon
liquidation. No dividends have ever been issued for either share class.

2013 Common Stock Activity

During 2013, we issued 217,890 of Class A Stock to an executive employee associated with his prior years® stock
grants,

62,500 options were exercised during 2013 having an intrinsic value of $133,000 for which we received
$248,000 of cash. Additionally, 75,000 options were exercised during 2013 having an intrinsic value of $124,000 for
which we did not receive any cash but the employes clected to exchange 53,136 pemsonally owned shares of the company
at amarket price of$5.66 per shars for the 75,000 shares based on an exercise price of $4.01 for the related options.

2012 Co ivi

During 2012, we issued 155,925 of Class A Stock to an executive smployee associated with his prior years’ stock
grant, and, during 2012, we issued 9,680 asa one-time stock grant of Class A Stock to our employees valued at $44,000
which we unted for as tion expense.

D

95,000 options were exercised during 2012 having a realized value of $136,000 for which we received $308,000
of cash. Additionally, 41,000 options were exercised during 2012 having a realized value of $103,000 for which we did
not receive any cash but the employee clected to reccive the net incremental number of in-the-money shares of 15,822
based on a $4.01 and a market price 0f $6.53.

2011 Commmon Stock Activity

During 2011, we issued 174,825 of Class A Stock to certain executive employee associated with his prior yeass’
stock grants,

During 2011, we purchased 172,300 of Class A Stock on the open market for $747,000.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive ncome

Uneealized
Gain and
Toases on
Foreign Available-for- Accrued
Currenecy Sale Peasion
Ttems Investments Service Costs Total
Begiming balance $ 64,558 3 9% (3,2000% 61,369
Net current-perlod other compn i (19,259) - (593) (15,854)
Ending balance 45,299 9 (3,793) 41,515
ote 22 — j egments a) eographic Ares foformatie

The table below sets forth certain information conceming our cinema operations and our real estate operations
(which includes information relating to both our real estate development, retail rental and live theater rental activities) for
the three years ended December 31,2013 (dollams in thousands):

Cinema Intersegment
Year Ended D 31,2013 Exhibition Real Estate i inafi ‘Tofal
Revenue $ 239,418 $ 26,456 $ (7,653) § 258,221
Operating expense 200,859 10,830 (7,653) 204,036
Depreciation and amortization 10,741 4,023 - 14,764
General and administrafive expense 3,273 644 — 3917
Segment operating income 3 24,545 $ 10,059 § — 3 35,504
Cinema Intersegment
Yeay Ended D ber 31, 2012 Exhibition Real Estate i fnati Total
Revenue $ 234,703 $ 27,256 $ (7,529) $ 254430
Operating expense 198,040 11,163 (7,529) 201,674
Depreciation and smortization 11,154 4.44) - 15,595
General and administrative expense 2,598 18 - 3316
TImpeirment expense — 1,463 — 1463
Segment operating income [ 22,911 $ 9471 § —$ 32,382
Cinema Infersegment
‘Year Ended December 31, 2011 Exhibition Real Estate Elbninati Total
Revenue 3 225,849 $ 26,562 § (7432 3 244,979
Operating expense 189,647 10,190 (7,432) 192,405
Depreciation and amortization 11,842 4,444 - 16,286
General and administrative expense 2,740 646 - 3386
Impairment expepse - 369 i — 369
Segment operating income $ 21,620 $ 10,913 3 —§ 32,533
Reconciliation to net income attributable
to Rmding International, Inc, shareholders: 2013 2012 2011
Total segment operating income $ 35504 § 32,382 § 32,533
Non-segment:
Depreciation and ization exp 433 454 309
General and administrati p 14,136 12,801 14,046
Operating income 20,935 19,127 18,178
Interest expense, net (10,037) (16,426) (21,038)
Other income (loss) 1,876 (563) 1,157
Gain (loss) on sale of assets (56) 144 67
Income tax benefit (expense) (4,942) (4,904) 12,330
Bquily earnings (loss) of unconsolidated joint veninres and
enities 1,369 1,621 (1,552)
97
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Income (loss) from discontinned operations - (85) 232

Gain (loss) on sele of discontinued operation — (320) 1,656
Netincome (loss) $ 9,145 $ (1,406) $ 10,806
Net (income) Joss attributable to noncontrolling interests 104) 492 (940)
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading International, Inc.
common sharcholders $ 9,041 3 (914) 3 9,956
S
December 31,
ry of assets: 2013 2012 2011
Segment assets $ 347,637 $ 408,667 $ 414,608
Corporate assets 39,170 15,921 16,156
Total Assets $ 386,807 $ 428,588 b 430,764
December 31,
v of capital expenditures: 2013 2012 2011
Segment capital expenditures $ 19910 3 13390 § 8419
Corporate capital expenditures 172 333 957
Total capital gEmditures 3 20,082 $ 13,723 § 9376

The cinema results shown above include revenue and operating cxpense dircotly linked to our cinema
asgets, The real estate results include rental income from our properties and live theater venues and operating expense

directly linked to oux property assets.

The following table sets forth the book value of our operating property by geographical area (dollas in
thousands):

December 31,
2013 2012

Australia $ 97,240 $ 106,020
New Zealand 36319 35456
United States 58,101 61,302
Total operating property $ 191,660 $ 202,778

The following table sets forth our revenue by geographical area (dollars in thousands):

December 31,
. 2013 2012 2011
Australia $ 100,399 § 108320 § 110,742
New Zealand ' 26310 24,608 22247
United States 131,512 121,502 111,990
Tota)l revenue § 258221 % 254430 § 244,979
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ote 23 — ndjted ter! al Information {dollars jn thousands, exc: ave pmounts’

First Second Third Fourth
2013 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Revenue T 59,567 § 69,642 § 65472 $ 63,540
Net income (loss) $ 671y $ 4176 § 2431 § 3,209
Net income (loss) atiributable to Reading Intemational, Inc.
sharcholders $ G68) 3 4,135 § 2393 8§ 3,181
Basic eamings (loss) per share $ (003 % 018 § 010 $ 0.14
Diluted eamings (loss) per share 3 ©003) 3 018 3 010 % 0.13
2012
Revenue $ 62431 $ 62948 § 63934 § 65117
Net income (loss} 3 (109) 224 § 396 $  (1917)
Net income (loss) aittibutable to Reading Intemational, Inec.
shareholders 5 (2393 239 $ 363§ (1,277)
Basic eamings (loss) per share $  (001) 8 001 § 002 %3 (0.06)
Diluted eamings (loss) per share § (o) § 001 5 0023 (0.06)
Nete 24 - Foture Migimom Rental Income.

Real estate revenue amounted to $18.8 million, $19.7 million, and $19.1 million, for the years ended December
31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. Future minimum reotal income under all contractual opemting leases is
summarized as follows (dollars ja thousands):

‘Year Ending D ber 31,

2014 $ 8,605
2015 7934
2016 ) 6,662
2017 5216
2018 4,125
Thereafter 21,203
Total fature minimum rental income . $ 53,745

Note 25 — Rejated Parties and Transactions

Sutton 1l Capital

Tn 2001, we entered into a transaction with Sutton Hill Capital, LLC (“SHC”) regarding the leasing with an
option to purchasc of certain cinemas located in Manhattan including our Village Bast and Cinemas 1,2 & 3 theaters. In
connection with that transaction, we also agreed to lend certain amounts to SHC, 1o provide liquidity in its investment,
pending our determination whether or not to exeroise our option to purchase and to manage the 86th Street Cinema on 2
fee basis. SHC is a limited Hability company owned in equal shares by James J, Cotter and a third party and of which Mz
Cotter is the managing member. The Village East is the only cinema that remains subject to this lease and during 2013,
2012, and 2011, we paid rent to SHC for this cinema in the amount of $590,000, $590,000, and $590,000, respectively.

On June 29, 2010, we agreed to extend our existing loase from SHC of the Village East Cinema in New York City
by 10 years, with a new termination date of June 30, 2020, The Village East lease includes a sub-lease of the ground
underlying the cinema that is subject to 2 longer-term ground lease between SHC and an unrelated third patty that expires
in June 2031 (the “cinema ground lease”). The extended lease provides for a call option pursuant to which Reading may
purchase the cinema ground lease for $5.9 million at the end of the lease term. Additionally, the lease has a put option
pursuant to which SHC may require Reading to purchase all or a portion of SHC’s interest in the existing cinema lease
and the cinema ground lease at any time between July 1,2013 and December4, 2019.
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SHC’s put option may be exercised on one or more occasions in increments ofnot less than $100,000 sach. Because our
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, and controlling shareholder, Mz James J. Cotter, is also the managing member of
SHC, RDI and SHC ate considered entities under conmnon centrol. As a result, we recorded the Village East Cinema
building as a property asset of $4.7 million on our balance sheet based on the cost carry-over basis fom an entity under
common control with a commesponding capital lease liability of: $5.9 million presented under other liabilities (see Note L5
— Other Liabilities).

In 2005, we acquircd from a third patty the fee inforest and from SHC its interest in the ground lease estate
underlying and the improvements constituting the Cinemas 1,2 & 3. In connection with that transaction, we granted to
SHC an option to acquire a 25% intexest in the special purpose entity formed to acquire these interests at cost. On June
28, 2007, SHC exercised this option, paying the option exercise price through the application of their $3.0 million
deposit plus the assumption of its proportionate share of SHP's liabilities giving it a 25% non-managing membership
interest in SHP.

OBI Management Agreement,

Pursnant to 2 Theater Management Agreement (the ‘Management Agreement”), our Jive theater opemtions are
managed by OBILLC (*OBI Msnagement™), which is wholly owned by Ms, Margaret Cotter who is the daughter of JTames
I. Cotter and a member of our Board of Directoss.

The Management Agreement geperally provides that we will pay OBI Management a combination of fixed and
incentive fees, which historically have equated to approximately 21% of the net cash flow received by us from our live
theaters in New York, Since the fixed fees are applicable only during such periods as the New York theaters are booked,
OBI Management receives no compensation with respect to a theater at any time when it is not generating rovenue for
us. This arrangement provides an incentive to OBI Management to keep the theaters booked with the best available
shows, and mitigates the negative cash flow that would result from having an empty theater In addition, OBL
Management manages our Royal George live theater complex in Chicago on a fee basis based on theater cash flow. In
2013, OB Management samed $401,000, which was 20.1% of net cash flows for the year In 2012, OBI Management
eamed $390,000, which was 19.7% ofnet cash flows for the year. In 2011, OBl Management earned $398,000, which was
19.4% ofnet cash flows forthe year. o each year, we reimbursed travel related expenses for OBI Management personnel
with respect to travel between New York City and Chicago in connection with the management of the Royal George
complex. -

OBI Management conducts its operations from our office facilities on & rent-fiee basis, and we share the cost of
one administrative employes of OBl Management. Other than these expenses and travelrclated expenses for OBI
Management personnel to travel to Chicago as referred to above, OBL Management is responsible for all of its costs and
expenses related to the performance of its management functions. The Management Agreement Tenews automatically
each year unless either party gives at least six months® prior notice of its determination to allow the Management
Agreement to expire. Tn addition, wemay terminate the Management Agreement af any time for cause.

Ve catel 8 IVES!

From time to time, our officers and dircctors may invest in plays that lease our live theaters. The play STOMP
bhas been playing in our Orpheum Theatre since prior to the time we acquired the theater in 2001, Messrs. James J. Cotter
and Michael Forman own an approximately 5% interest in that play, an interest that they have held since prior te our
acquisition ofthe theater.

Shadow View Land and Farming LLC

During 2012, Mt James J. Cottes, our Chairman, Chief Exceutive Officer and controlling shareholder, contributed $2.5

million of cash and $255,000 of his 2011 bonus as his 50% share of the purchase price of a land pareel in Coachella,
Californiz and to cover his 50% share of cextain costs associated with that acquisition. This land is held in Shadow View
Land and Farmiog, LLC, in which M. Cotter owns 2 50% interest. We are the managing member of Shadow View Land

and Farming, LLC (see Note 20 — Noncontrolling Inierests).
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Note 26 — Casualty Loss
Wellington, New Z: Parking Structure

On July 21, 2013, Wellington, New Zealand experienced a strong earthquake that damaged our parking structure
adjacent to our Courtenay Central shopping center The parking structuse has been closed pending repaims to the
structure. We estimate the eost to Tepair the structure will be approximately $2.0 million (NZ$2.5 million) of which our
earthquake insurance will cover approximately $1.5 million (NZ$1.8 million) after our $584,000 (NZ$710,000) insurance
deductible. For the year ended December 31, 2013, we recorded a casualty loss of $49,000 (NZ$59,000) based on the
associaied net book value of the property as an other income (expense) and 2 $1.5 million (NZ$1.8 million) insurance
receivable in our current receivables at December 31, 2013. Our reduction in operating income will also be offket
somewhat by our business interruption insurmnce subject to the relevant deductible. -

Christchurch, New Zealand Cinemas

Our 8-screen complex in Christchurch, New Zealand, was damaged as a result of the devastating earthquake
suffored by that city on Febmary 22, 2011, We have earthquake and lost profits insurance on that facility for which we
have received to date §1.1 million (NZ$1.3 million) which is ineluded in our 2011 other income (expense). We are
awaiting a final settlement payment on this claim for p nominally estimated amount to be received in 2014. ‘This cinema
was reopened on November 17, 2011, but, es a result of a December 23, 2011 earthquake, the cinema was again
temporarily closed for approximately two weeks.

Additionally, the 3-screen complex in Christchurch, New Zealand owned by our Rialte Cinemas joint venture
entity (Rialto Cinemas”), was damaged as a esult of the devastating earthquake suffered by that eity on February 22,
2011, and has been closed since that date. Pursnant to the lease on the property, in May 2011, Rizlto Cinemas gave
notice o the landlord that Rialte Cinemas would be terminating the cinema lease, Rialto Cinemas and the landlord have
terminated the lease under agreeable terms and did not result in a significant reduction to the value of our investment in
the Rialto Cinemas joint venture relative to its carrying value.
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) e I — Valuation and Quallfying Accounts

Addifions
Balanceat  charged to
beginping of  costs and Balance at
Description year expenses Deducti end of year
Allowanee for doubtful accounts
Year-ended December 31,2013 — Allowance for -
doubtful accounts $ 209 3 505 § 339 § 375
Year-ended December 31,2012 — Allowance for
doubtful accounts 8 53 8 367 $ 211 § 209
Year-onded December 31, 2011 — Allowance for
doubtful accounts $ 58 8§ 153 § 158 8§ 53
Tax valuation allowance
Year-ended December 31,2013 — Tax valuation
allowance $ 37,903 § - 8 2,920 $ 34,983
Year-ended December 31, 2012 — Tax valuation
allowance $ 38,461 3 -3 558 & 37,903
Year-ended December 31,2011 — Tax valuation
allowance $ 54,513 § -3 16,052 § 38,461
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None.
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Ytem 9A — Controls and edures
€l ’s Re, on Interna

Our management is responsible for establishing and meintaining adequate intemal conirel over finencial
reporting, as such temn is defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(@), including maintenance of
(i) records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets, and
(ii) policies and procedures that provide rasonable assurance that (2) transactions are recorded as necessary to pemnit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting prineiples generally accepted in the United States of
America, (b) our receipts and expenditures are being made only in sccordance with authorizations of management end our
Board of Directors and (¢) we will prevent or timely detect unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition-of our assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Tatemal control over financial reporting cannot provide ebsolute assurance of achieving financial reporting
objectives because of the inherent limitations of any system of intemal control. Intemal control over financial reporting
is & process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses of judgment and breakdowns resulting
from human failures. Intemal control over financial reporiing also can be circumvented by collusion or improper
oveniding of controls. As 2 result of such limitations, there s risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis by intemal control over financial reporting. However, these ipherent limitations are known
fe ofthe fi jal reporting p. Therefore, it is possibleta design into the process safeguards to reduce, though
not eliminate, this risk.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our intemal contro} over financial reporting
based on the criteria cstablished in Jnternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations (COSO) of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the COSO framework, our
menagement concluded that our intemal control aver financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2013. The
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has been audited by Grant Thomton
LLP, an independent xegi d public ing firm, as stated in theirxeport, which is included herein.

Disclosure Controls and Procedurgs

‘We have formally adopted a policy for disclosure controls and procedures that provides gnidance on the
evaluation of diselosure controls and procedures and is designed to ensure that all corporate disclosure is complete and
accurate in all material respects and that all information required to be disclosed in the pedodic reports submitted by us
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and repoxted within the time periods and
in the manner specified in the Securities and Bxchange Commission's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuer's
menagement, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as
appropriateto allow timely decisjons regarding required disclosure. As ofthe end of the period covered by this repadt, we
carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. A disclosure committee consisting ofthe
principal accounting afficer, general counsel, senior officers of each significant business line and other select employees
assisted the Chief Executive Officer and the Chisf Financial Officer in this evaluation. Based upon that cvaluation, our
Chief Bxecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective
as requircd by the Securities Exchange Act Rule 132-15(c) and 15d - 15(c) as ofthe end of the perdod coversd by this
report.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Finapcial Reporting

No changes in intemal control over financial reporting occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2013,
that have materially affected, or are likely to materially affect, our intemal control over finaneial reporting.
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eport of Independen tered Public r

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Reading Intemational, Inc.

We have audited the intemal control over financial reporting of Reading Intemational, Jac. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31,2013, based on criteria established in the 1992 Tuternal Contro}—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal contro] over finencial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness ofintemal contro] over financial roporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Intemal
Cantrol Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's intemal control over
financial reporting based on ouraudit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective intemnal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our sudit included obtaining an
undesstanding of intemmal control over financial reposting, asscssing the risk that 2 material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of intemal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such
other procedures as we idered y in the circu We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion. .

A company’s intemal ¢ontrol over financial reporting is & process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financjal statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally aceepted accounting principles. A company’s intemal control over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the mai sce of records that, in ble detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as y to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide bl ding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of'the company's assets that could have a material effect an the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls

may b inadeq of changes in conditions, or that the degres of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate,

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material rospects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria cstablished in the 1992 Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of end for the year ended December 31, 2013
and ourreport dated March 7, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

s/  Grant Thomton LLP
Los Angeles, California
March 7,2014
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PART HI
Tterns 10,11, 12,13 and 14,

Information required by Part I (fems 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14) of this From 10K is hereby incorporated by
reference from the Reading International, Inc.s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, pursuant to Regulation 14A, not later than 120 days
after the end ofthe fiscal year.
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(6) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:

1. Financial Siatements

The following financial statements are filed as patt of this Teport under Item 8 — Financial Staiements and
Supplementary Data.

Descripiion
Reports of Independent Registered Accounting Firm (page 55)

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2013 and 2012 (page 56)

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three Years Ended December 31,2013 (page57)

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Three Years Ended December 31,2012 (page 58)
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Three Years Ended December31, 2013 (page 59)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Years Ended December31,2013 (page 60)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (page 61)

2. Financial Statements and Schedules for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011
Schedule - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (page 102)
Financial Statements of Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture (page 108)

3. Exhibits (Listed by numbers corresponding to Ttem 601 of Regulation S-K (page 125)
(b) Exhibits Required by Ttem 601 of Regulation SX.

See Item (a) 3. above.

(c) Fi ial Statement Schedul

See ltem (a) 2. abave.
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1 replace the board of directoxs at RDI?

2 A. Certainly a majority.
3 Q. Would you seek to replace any of the
4 executives at RDI?
5 A. That is quite likely. 01:48PM
Q. Would you reinstate Jim Cotter, Jr., as
CEQ?
A. Probably not.
Q. Okay. Why wouldn't you reinstate Jim
Cotter, Jr., as CEO? 01:49PM
A. Because I think the well has been poisoned

with the war among the siblings, and to give the
company a fresh start, we'd conduct -- we'd rehire
Korn Ferry and do -- and pick up the process where
we left off and find the very best CEO we could for 01:49PM
the company.
And if Ellen and Jim Cotter, Jr., wanted to

be considered as part of that process, they would be

welcome to throw their hats in the ring. But I
20 think it's unlikely, both because I think we could 01:49PM
21 find somebody better, one, and, two, because of the
22 bad blood and the war that's gone on between the
23 giblings, among the siblings, that it would probaply
24 be best to bring in an outsider.
25 Q. With respect to the rehiring Jim Cotter, 01:49PM
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10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Jr., you said likely wouldn't do it. The xreason you

gave is that the well is poisoned.

A. Yes.
Q. Any other reason?
A. T'd want to see the other candidates that

we can surface for this. It's not clear to me that,
in the entire world, that he is the single best
gualified person to run this company.

Q. It's your expectation there are other
candidates who might be more qualified than Jim
Cotter, Jr., to act as CEO of the company?

A. T think there's a reasonable likelihood.

Q. And why do you say that?

A. General long experience with nepotism,
when, you know, a father appoints his son to £ill
hig shoes. T can't say I've had enormous amounts of
experience with this, both directl& through my own
investing or otherwise, but my general sense is that
just because you happen to have the same genetic
code of the person who founded and built the company
doesn't make you the best qualified CEO.

But that's a secondary reason. The primary
reagon is, is the well ig poisoned, and if we're
going to get a clean start of this company, that we

should bring in an outside CEO who doesn't -- who

01:50PM

01:50PM

01:51PM

01:51PM

01:51PM
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1 ijsn't -- I have to imagine the vast majority of the
2 employees of RDI are on one sibling's side or the
3 other. And so to have one gibling or another be the
4 CEO means you're still going to have a divided
5 company. That's what T mean by the well being 01:52PM
6 poigoned.
7 Q. Have you conducted any investigation to see
8 if anyone at the company is on one sibling's side or
9 the other sibling's side?
10 A. No. I don't know anyone at the company. 01:52PM
11 Q. Have you conducted any investigation or
looked into Jim Cotter, Jr.'s record while he was

CEO at RDI?
A, Not extensive. He was CEO for a couple
quarters, maybe two quarters when -- as a public 01:52PM
company before he was forced out. The company
seemed to be doing okay. I met him once for 20
minutes. Seeméd to be a reasonable guy. But I
don't have deep knowledge or opinion about his
tenure as CEO. 01:53PM
Q. Other than he seemed to you to be doing
generally okay, do you have any knowledge about what
he did or didn't accomplish as CEO?
A. Not really. The company seemed to be going

along, running its cash cow theater operations 01:53PM
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1 reasonably well and taking steps to develop the two

2 properties in New York City, for example. There was

3 nothing that was a real outlier, either positive or

4 negative( in the couple quarters that he was the

5 CEO. 01:53PM
6 I certainly didn't see anything that would

7 give grounds for the board coup that ousted him

8 based on any kind of failures that he had as the

9 CEO, and I certainly believe that he was ousted due
10 to a political family struggle and the ultimatum the 01:54PM
11 sisters presented him with, that that was the
12 motivation for his ouster and not any poor
13 performance as CEO.
14 Q. Well, we'll come back to the rest of what,
15 you just said. I mean -- 01:54PM
16 A. I'm sure.
17 Q. What you said was "not really," right, when
18 it came to your assegsment of Jim Cotter, Jr.'s
19 performance as CEO?
20 A, Uh-huh. 01:54PM
21 Q. Is it corxect that --
22 THE REPORTER: Was that an answex?
23 THE WITNESS: I'm gorry. I shouldn't have
24 gaid "uh-huh."
25 Go ahead. 01:54PM
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1 BY MR. SEARCY:
2 Q. Is it correct that you can't identify
3 really anything posgitive or negative about hig
4 tenure as you previously tesﬁified?
5 A. Wwhat I said is any -- I believe I sgaid any
6 outliers, anything he did that was shoékingly
7 positive or shockingly negative. It was sort of
8 steady as she goes during his tenure as CEO.
9 Q. Other than "steady as she goes," can you
10 identify anything positive?
11 A. Not off the top of my head.
12 Q. And in terms of steady as she goesg, are you
13 able to qualify that at all?
14 A. That the business performed in line with my
15 expectations, in line with previous trends, which is
16 the business was doing fairly well.
17 Q. And is -- the business is currently
is performing in line with previous trends; correct?
19 Al Yes.
20 Q. And with respect to anything negative, did
21 you have any negative observationg about Jim Cotter,
22 Jr., as CEO?
23 A. No.
24 Q. You identified Korn Ferry as being the
25 organization that you would look to to conduct a CEO

01:54PM

01:55PM

01:55PM

01:55PM

01:56PM
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1 search; correct?
2 A. It was a little bit tongue in cheek, but
3 since we've already hired and paid them a couple
4 hundred thousand dollars, they would be the first
5 phone call I would make if I were making the
6 decision as to who to pick up and continue the CEO
7 search that was aborted.
8 Q. Well, you would expect them to provide an
9 unbiased search for CEO; correct?
10 A. Yes.
11 Q. And you wouldn't have any qualms about
12 uging them begin to search for a CEO at RDI;
13 correct?
14 A. Not baged on any information I have today
15 to the contrary.
16 Q. and I've been asking you about the
17 potential reinstatement of Jim Cotter, Jr., which
18 you said that you would not be in favor of in
19 connection with this motion for preliminary
20 injunction.
21 A. Uh-huh.
22 Q. Let me ask you a now slightly different
23 question.
24 If T2 were to succeed in its lawsuit --
25 A, ﬁh~huh.

01:56PM

01:56FPM

01:56PM

01:57PM
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1 Q. -- would --

2 A. Sorry.

3 Q. -~ T2 seek the reinstatement or rehiring of
4 Jim Cotter, Jr., as CEO?

5 A, No.

6 Q. Thoge -- for the same reasons that you

7 previously identified in connection with preliminary
8 injunction?

S A, Yes. ,

10 Q. Earlier you talked about a lawsuit -- class
11 action lawsuit that you were the lead plaintiff on
12 against a golf sportswear company?

13 A, Yes.

14 Q. You described that as a friendly lawsuit?
15 A. Yes.

1le Q. Do you consider the current lawsuit to be a
17 friendly suit?

18 A No.

19 Q. Has there ever been a situation where

20 vou've ever opposed the sale of a company?

21 A. No.

22 Q. How many times, as a shareholder in a

23 company. Have you pushed for the sale of a company
24 as best you can recall?
25 A. I;m having trouble thinking of any

01:57PM

01:57PM

01:58PM

01:58PM

01:59PM
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1 not the level, certainly, that I once had.

2 Q. And though the amended complaint makes

3 reference to reinstatement of Jim Cotter, Jr.,

4 that's not something you'd seek; correct? \

5 A, I personally, speaking only for myself, am
6 not an advocate for returning him to the CEO

7 position.

8 Q. Do you know if Mr. Glaser is?

9 A I don't believe he is.

10 0. Okay. Do you know if Mr. Shapiro is?

11 A. I don't know.

12 Q. Okay. So to your knowledge, because you
13 and Mr. Glager are the plaintiffs in this case, two
14 of the plaintiffs, and seeking a remedy for

15 yourself, you would not be seeking to have

16 Mr. Cotter, Jr., reinstated; correct?

17 AL No.

18 Q. I asked you a question in a negative, and
19 you answered in a negative. So as a result, I have
20 to --
21 A. Okay .
22 Q. -- reagk it agaiﬁ.

23 It's correct that you and Mr. Glaser would
24 not seek reinstatement of Jim Cotter, Jr.?
25 A. That is correct.

02:30PM

02:31PM

02:31PM

02:31PM

02:31FPM
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1 Q. Well, let me back up because I'm not sure
2 that you actually answered my question. Okay?

3 A, I've been known to do that.

4 Q. And I asked you if the status quo has

5 remained the same at RDI since October of 2014.

6 Do you recall that?

7 A. I do. .

8 Q. And you made reference to -- you uged the
°] term "thermonuclear war"é
10 A. Again.

11 Q. You used that to describe the dispute

12 between the siblings?

13 A. Yes.

14 Q. Since the termination of Jim Cotter, Jr.,
15 at RDI, has the status quo changed at all?

16 A. Which status guo? Between the war among
17 the giblings or the business operations?

18 Q. The business operations.

19 A. That -- that's remained pretty steady
20 during the entire period.
21 Q. Even enduring the time that you described
22 as the thermonuclear war; correct?
23 A. Correct.
24 Q. Okay.
25 A. Much to my surprise, the company's results

02:38PM

02:38PM

02:38PM

02:38PM

02:38PM
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have not been -- appear to the outside, appear to
have been crippled by their war going on, which I'm,

frankly, pleased by.

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

195

20

21

22

23

24

25

Q. So though you've used the term
vthermonuclear war," the actions of the sisters
during the thermonuclear war hasn't had any negative
impact on the operations or the business of the
company; correct?

A. It'é hard for me to know what it would have
been in the absence of the, I must imagine,
significant amount of time that they've been
spending at war with their brother.

But I will say that I'm pleased and
relieved that what I thought could be a war that
could spill over and really impair the operations of
the business and become a huge distraction does not
appear to have been, and I credit them for being
able to do that.

Q. Sso the answer isg, just to be clear, you
haven't observed any negative impact; correct?

A. There are a couple things in the filing
about, you know, the repayment of some of the
interest payments and some of the debts, et cetera.

But in terms of the general operations of

the busginess, yes, I have not observed any negative

02:39PM

02:39PM

02:39PM

02:35EM

02:40PM
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JONATHAN GLASER 06/01/2016

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JAMES COTTER, JR., derivatively
on behalf of Reading Intermnational,
Inc.,

Plaintiff,

vs. Case No.

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER, A-15-719860-B
@UY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS
McEACHERN, TIMOTHY STOREY,
WILLIAM GOULD, JUDY CODDING,
MICHAEL WROTNIAK, and DOES 1
through 100, inclusive,
Defendants.

and
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.,

a Nevada corporation,
Nominal Defendant.

(CAPTION CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE.)

VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF JONATHAN GLASER
Los Angelesg, California
Wednesday, June 1, 2016

Reported by:

JANICE SCHUTZMAN, CSR No. 9509
Job No. 2312217

Pages 1 - 293
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JONATHAN GLASER

T2 PARTNERS MANAGEMENT, LP, a
Delaware limited partnership,
doing business as KASE CAPITAL
MANAGEMENT, et al.,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER,
GUY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS
McEACHERN, WILLIAM GOULD, JUDY
CODDING, MICHAEL WROTNIAK, CRAIG
TOMPKINS, and DOES 1 through 100,
inclusive,

Defendants.
and
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., a
Nevada corporation,

Nominal Defendant.

vVideotaped Deposition of JONATHAN GLASER,
individually, and as the Person Most Knowledgeable
for JMG Capital Management, LLC and Pacific Capital
Management, LLC, taken at 865 South Figueroa Street,
10th Floor, Los Angeles, California, commencing at

9:25 a.m. and ending at 5:03 p.m., Wednegday,

.June 1, 2016, before Janice Schutzman, CSR No. 95009.
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10

11

12

JONATHAN GLASER

06/01/2016

point, we would have looked at it carefully to
figure out which -- those were potential folks. We
hadn't made any decisions.

Q. Have you at any point actually proposed
nameg of potential board members to anyone at
Reading?

A. I don't believe so. I don't think I
mentioned any nameg in my coanversation with Andrzej.
Q. Have you discussed with anybody whethex
there would be -- whether you would like to see
changes made in Reading's management, that is to

say, a new CEO or --

A, No. I -- when -- well, the answer's no, T
haven't discussed with anybody changes in
management.

And when Ellen was named permanent CEC, did
I feel like she's the very best candidate out there
to run this company? No. But I actually don't

really have a problem with Ellen as CEO.

20

21

22

23

24

25

Q. Do -- would you want to have James Cotter,
Jr. reinstated as CEO?
A. I'm indifferent. I mean, we're not
advocating that.
We want the -- we -- ultimately, we want

the begt person to run the'company, and whether

01:39PM

01:39PM

01:39PM

01:40PM

01:40PM

Page 154

Veritext Legal Solutions
866 299-5127

JA1334



JONATHAN GLASER 06/01/2016

1 that's Ellen, Jim, or some third party, that's to be

2 determined. But we're not actively lobbying to put

3 anybody in that geat.

4 Q. Okay. Do you know that, in your lawsuit,

5 you asked that he be reinstated; correct? 01:40BPM
6 A T believe initially we did. I don't know

7 if we are still seeking that.

8 MR. TAYBACK: This has previously been

9 marked as 213. Did you get that, 2137

10 (Previously marked Deposition Exhibit 213
11 was identified.)
BY MR. TAYBACK:
WO S——

Q. 8o I'm ghowing you what has been marked

previously as Exhibit 213. And it's the T2

Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint. So it's the 01:41PM
one that's on file now.

And if you could go to page 37, using the

page numbers in the lower center, under the section

that says "Prayer for Relief.™

20 A. Yeah. 01:41PM
21 Q. Under "Equitable and Injunctive Relief," B,
22 it says:
23 "Iﬁcluding but not limited to, i)
24 an order reinstating James J. Cotter,
25 Jr., as the president and CEO of" 01:41PM
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JONATHAN GLASER 06/01/2016

Reading -- "of RDI."
Does that refresh your recollection that

that's, in fact, what you're atill asking for?

A. It is still in there.

Q. But is it your understanding that you're 01:42PM
not actually seeking that?

A. That's coxrrect.

Q. Was that a decision that was made by you

and Mr. Tilson that that was not something you were

seeking? 01:42PM
A. Yes.
Q. Describe for me how that decision was made.
Al T don't recall exactly. It's a body of

thought that's emerged over the course of the last

few months. 01:42PM
Q. And what was that decision based on,

generally? Why did you originally think that was

gsomething you wanted but now you think that that's

not something you want?
A. I guesg I'd just say it's not a high 01:42PM

priority, that I'm personally comfortable with Ellen

as CEO or a third party. It's not -- it's just not

a high priority to put Jim, Jr. back. And I'm not

opining on whether he's a good CEO or not a good

CEO. I don't know. But in the scope of what we're 01:43PM
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JONATHAN GLASER

1 after, that's not a priority.

2 Q. Is it fair to say you don't think that

3 whether he is or is not the CEO is going to make a
4 difference to the shareholders of Reading?

5 A. I don't -- at this point, I don't think it
6 would make much difference.

7 Q. Let me -- I'm going to -- I'm going to ask
8 you some questions generally about the complaint,

9 the First Amended Complaint -- the original

10 complaint and the First Amended Complaint.

11 Did you -- I guess before filing that

12 complaint, did you read it?

13 A. The --

14 Q. The document itself?

15 A. I believe so, yeah.

16 Q. And now we'll focus on the First Amended
17 Compliant.

18 A. The first -- okay.

i9 Q. Did you read it -- did you have -- when you
20 read it, did you have changes to it, that is to say,
21 I don't think this is accurate or I don't want to
22 say thig?

23 A. I don't recall.
24 THE REPORTER: 241.
25 (Deposition Exhibit 241 was marked for

01:43PM

01:44PM

01:44PM

01:44PM

01:44PM
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JONATHAN GLASER 06/01/2016
1 A. I can't say for sure. I don't think it
2 helped. 2And the gemeral turmoil surrounding the
3 termination and the family in-fighting I think has
4 been, on balance, detrimental. But T -- again, I
5 don't know what people are doing out there. I don't 01:47PM
6 know what forces people to hit the sell or buy
7 button.
8 Q. 2nd do you know whether or not -- well, let
9 me back up.
10 Is it your view, though, that if it had an 01:47PM
11 effect on the stock price, it's not based on him
12 per se holding that position such that a
13 reinstatement of him would positively affect the
14 stock price, or do you think that?
15 A. I don't have an opinion on that. I think 01:48PM
16 when he wag terminated, I'm guegsing it came as a
17 surprise and a negative surprise to the market. If
18 ‘he were reinstated, I have no idea if the market
19 would react positively or not.
20 Q. Do you think it's generally true that the 01:48PM
21 termination of a CEO adversely affects stock prices
22 of the companies?
23 A. Tt -- I can't -- who knows. It depends on
24 the CEO. It depends on the company. How they've
25 been -- how the company's been doing. It could be 01:48PM
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JONATHAN GLASER 06/01/2016

—

1 fiduciary duty, in your view, to use -- to his -+ to

2 the company, to the shareholders, to take action

3 against an independent contractor or employee that

4 may not be in the best interest of the company

5 because of a personal dispute? . 03:18PM
6 A. Yeah, I understand your question better.

7 Yes.

B8 Q. Have you done anything to look into whether

9 that occurred?
10 A. No. 03:18PM
i1 Q. Did you, with respect to -- give me one

i2 minute.

13 Do you have a view as to whether or not a

14 CEO could properly be terminated for not getting

15 along with the employees and other executives of the 03:19PM
16 company?
17 A. Sure.

18 Q. And could -- would that be a proper basis

19 for termination?
20 A. It would be a major factor, yeah. 03:19PM
21 Q. and if a personal dispute prevented a CEO
22 from discharging his duties as CEO, would that be a
23 proper basis for termination?
24 A. A personal dispute with somebody in the
25 company or -- 03:19PM
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JONATHAN GLASER 06/01/2016

1 retaining a banker or capital markets expert, and
2 then a report would be made to the board.
3 Q. Since you haven't reviewed it, I assume you
4 don't have any opinion on the company's current
5 business plan? 03:44PM
6 A. Well, I don't recall specifically looking
7 at that presentation. I may have because it's --
8 I'm sﬁre it's on the company's website.
n;nd, yvou know, the issue for me -- I don't
10 really have a huge problem with the way the company 03:44PM
11 -ig running day to day. I do‘want to make sure that
12 the New York assets are being teed up in the proper
13 way, so to speak. I think the company is doing
14 that. 1It's taken a very long period of time.
15 I have concerns about where we are on the 03:44PM
16 real estate market and whether the company has, you
é 17 know, perhaps misgsed an opportunity to best
18 capitalize on thoge assets for this cycle. I don't

19 really know.

20 I think -- what I'm -- I'm not necesgsarily 03:45PM

21 concerned about asset by asset. I'd more like to

22 understand what could be done, if anything, in terms

23 of perhaps monetizing some of the foreign assets or

24 even domestic asgets. You know, just having an open

25 mind about what can be done to enhance the price of 03:45PM
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JONATHAN GLASER 06/01/2016
1 the stock, which I think is very depressed relative
2 to where it should be.
3 MR. TAYBACK: Can we go off the record for
4 a couple minutes.
5 MR. ROBERTSON: Sure.
6 MR. TAYBACK: Give me a few minutes to look
7 through my outline.
8 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are off the record at
9 3:45 p.m.
10 (Recess taken.) 03:49PM
11 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are on the record at
12 3:59 p.m.
13 BY MR. TAYBACK:
14 Q. Directing your attention to what's been
15 marked as Exhibit 232, it's the -- one set of 03:59PM
16 interrogatory resgponses by you.
17 If you go to Exhibit B, which bears the
18 Bates stamb number, you may remember, 101, it starts
19 with -- ending in 101. And it's a fairly long
I20 document with a list of tradesg, I think. 03 :59PM
21 I'm trying to figure out how to -- just how
22 to read that. It says, bought, sold, bought, sold.
23 Can you tell by looking at that how many
24 Class A shares your funds currently own?
25 A. ILike from thig, I couldn't tell you. All I 04 :00PM
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JONATHAN GLASER : 06/01/2016

1 can tell you, it's approximately 500 and -- let's
2 call it 550, give or take 25. I'm mot -- I
3 haven't -- I'm not sure exactly, but it's about
4 that.
5 Q. And how many Class B shares? 04 :00PM
6 A. T think it's a thousand and one.
7 Q. And has each of the -- your two funds owned
8 some RDT shares during the entire pendency of the
9 litigation?
10 A, Yeah. 04 :00PM
11 Q. Okay.
12 A. Yeah.
i3 Q. and how about you personally? Have you
14 held Reading funds during the pendency of the
15 litigation? ‘ 04:01FM
16 A. Yeah: I mean, the positions are largely --
17 you know, not materially different than where they
18 were way back when.
19 Q. How has your investment in Reading
20 performed compared to, say, your investment in other 04:01PM
21 stocks over the span of time?
22 A. Over which span of time?
23 Q. Oover the span of time that you've been
24 invested in Reading.
25 A. I would say okay. It hasn't been bad. 04:01PM
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JONATHAN GLASER 06/01/2016

1 cover.

2 Q. Okay. And then, just so we're clear,

3 looking at pages, say, 117 and 118, after each line

4 there's a number which indicates -- I believe on

5 these pages at least, indicates the number of 04:17FM
6 optiong or shares.

7 A. Yes.

8 Q. Then there's the code name for the company,

9 RDI.

10 Al Yeah. 04:17PM
11 Q. And what's the number --

12 A. That's prob- --

13 Q. -~ and the lettexrg that follow?

14 A. That's probably a security ID number. So

15 that's -- that, I'm guesging, is an ID number for 04:17PM
16 the contract, for the specific options contract.

17 Q. And does that include all the way into the

18 letters that end --

19 A, Yeah. And then they -- where you see PCMJ

20 or JMG or Glaser, that would be the account that it 04:17PM
21 goeg into.

22 Q. You said at one point that you would not

23 fire Ellen Cotter. Why not?
24 A. I don't have any evidence that she's not a
25 good CEO. I -- in fact, I told -- when the 04 :18PM
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JONATHAN GLASER 06/01/2016

1 gearch -- CEO search was concluded and they

2 announced Ellen was becoming the permanent CEO, one,

3 I was not in the least bit surprised and, two, I

4 told Andrzej in the conversation I had with him that

5 I was not necessarily troubled by that either. 04:18PM
6 Q. Did you say to Andrzej, the CFO, why you

7 were not troubled by that?

8 A. I don't recall, no.

!

9 Q. Why weren't you troubled by that?

10 A. I recognize, one, the difficulty of finding 04 :18PM
11 anybody else, particularly with the circus going on;

12 and, two, I think she knows the company pretty well,

13 has been there a long time, probably learned the

14 business from her dad.

15 So I'mxnot convinced that there's some 04:18PM
16 knight in shining armor out there to come in and be,

17 you know, a great -- you know, a much better CEO of

18 this company. I'm okay with Ellen.

19 Q. .Did youy—— I believe you indicated that you
20 spoke to someone on behalf of Pico -- 04:19PM
21 A. Yes.
22 Q. -~ Pico Holdings?
23 A. Yeah.
24 Q. Do you recall -- you don't remember who the

25 name was? 04 :19PM
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EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JAMES COTTER, JR., derivatively )
on behalf of Reading International,)
Inc., : )
Plaintiff, )
) Case No.
vs. )
)
MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER, } Case No.
GUY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS )
McEACHERN, TIMOTHY STOREY, WILLIAM )
GOULD, JUDY CODDING, MICHAEL )
WROTNIAK, and DOES 1 through 100, )
inclusive, )
Defendants. )
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

and

READING INTERNATIONAIL, INC.,
a Nevada corporation,

Nominal Defendant.

(CAPTION CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE.)

- VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF ANDREW SHAPIRO
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Monday, June 6, 2016
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Reported by:
CARLA SOARES

CSR No. 5908
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T2 PARTNERS MANAGEMENT, LP, a

Delaware limited partnership,

doing business as KASE CAPITAL
MANAGEMENT, et al.,

Plaintiff,
vs.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

)
MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER, GUY )
ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS )
McEACHERN, WILLIAM GOULD, JUDY )
CODDING, MICHAEL WROTNIAK, CRAIG )
THOMPKINS, and DOES 1 through 100, )
inclusive, )
)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

Defendants.
and

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.,
a Nevada corporation,

Nominal Defendant.

VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF ANDREW SHAPILRO,
volume I, taken on behalf of Defendants, at 50
California Street, San Francisco, California,
beginning at 9:11 a.m., and ending at 6:15 p.m., on
Monday, June 6, 2016, before CARLA SOARES, Certified
Shorthand Reporter No. 5908.
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It's -- by the way, one of the reasons I
chose not to intervene was, I didn't want this
deterioration of relationship to occur. I had hoped
that we could remain -- that I would be perceived
and we could remain independent of the fight between
the siblings over the control of the assets and the

control of the company.

10

11

I just want what's best for the company
and all ite shareholders in the delivery of its
business plan, which I don't have any disagreements
with. I haven't had a disagreement with their
direction for -- with Senior, with Junior, or with
what Ellen has been doing.

Q And that business plan hasn't changed over

15 the courge of time?

16 A I think it's-been fairly -- I think the
17 business plan has been fairly consistent.

18 There wag a bias over Senior's earlier
19 years of accumulating. He never met a distressed
20 éeller he didn't like. »And he -- it's not that he
21 didn't -- it's not that he didn't buy well. He
22 bought well most times. But, you know, he

23 acéumulated.

24 Near the last year or two of his life,
25 unfortunately, the last few years, which were the

09:46:26

09:46:44

09:47:00

09:47:17

09:47:33

09:47:51
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lagst of his life, unfortunately, he became more of a
gseller and building upon the value of the assets
that had been accumulated than an accumﬁlator.

He had a few forays that I think went off
the rails and didn't go well that I, at annual
meetings, would call him out on and be critical of,

that this is a distraction.

10

11

And now with the current assets that they
have, Junior was migrating the company towards
building upon what the company had, and I feel Ellen

and the new regime is similarly doing that.

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

0 So after the termination of Mr. Cotter
Junior, the business plan that you'%e identified
hasn't really changed; is that correct?

A Not that I can tell.

Q Had the operations of the business at RDIL
changed?

A Yeg. Not so much. But in one particular
area, the operating costs, the SG&A has gone through
the roof.

That part is unfortunate, but there's been
a substantial hiring of new parties and a --
creating redundancies, as well as then the exiting
of parties.

And go that has increased the SG&A of the

09:47:55

09:48:09

09:48B:27

09:48:46

098:49:03

09:49:24
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10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

company beyond its historical norms. TI'm hopeful
that it will prove to be non-recurring and that the
SG&A operating costs will go back down to their
historical levels while the company still continues
to grow.

Q But the company has continued to grow as
between the time that Mr. Cotter Junior was
terminated and then Ellen Cotter took over as CEO;
igs that correct?

A I think it's continued along its path.
Whether it's grown or not is a function of box
office success or not box office success in this
short window.

I believe Ellen -- Junior was terminated
in June, so Ellen has had it for a year. Junior has
had it for about nine monthe of what is alleged in

the complaint a tumultuous time period.

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

So duriﬁg both periods of time, the
operating performance of the company bhas kind of
chugged along. I don't feel there's any differences
between the operational direction. I can't tell of
any difference between the operational directioﬁ
that Junior was leading the company and that Ellen
is leading the company.

So I can't tell of any operational

09:49:26

09:49:40

09:49:51

09:50:04

09:50:21

09:50:37
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15

16
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18
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20
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22

23

24

25

differences that have caused this horrible, nasty,

childlike dispute.

Q You're referring to the litigation now?
A The gibling fight over the control of the
estate.
Q All right. We were talking about
Mr. Matyczynski just a minute ago.

I think you said that there were instances
where you would reach out to Mr. Ghose, and then
Mr. Matyczynski would then call you or communicate
with you; is that right?

A On one or two instances I'd reach out to
Dev, or I'd reach out to them both, and Matyczynski
would be responsive.

Q Did you ask Andrzej why he was
communicating with you instead of Mr. Ghose?

A I think Andrzej mentioned to me that he
wasg designated to deal with me.

Q By the company?

A By whoever. Yes. I'm assuming by whoever
pays his paycheck. I don't know.

Q Did he say that that was a function of
your prior involvement in the intervention suit at

all?

09:50:39

09:50:47

09:50:59

09:51:14

09:51:24

09:51:36
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11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

would hire.

Q After you graduated from UCLA in 1987,
what was your first job after that?

A I workedrin the leveraged finance
divigion, the acquisition finance group, of
Manufacturers Hanover Bank, which is now part of JP
Morgan. It was a special unit that originated and
structured the financing of the senior debt of all
the big buyouts in the late '80s.

Q How long did you work at Hanover?

A Mani Hani, as we call it, I worked at Mani
Hani from 1987, right before the crash, to 1989.

Q What was your next job?

A I was an officer at the investment
management arm or the family office for the Belzberg
family at First City Capital, it was called, in New
York City. Manufacturers Hanover was in New York
City as well.

Q How 1on§ did you work at First City
Capital?

A T wag at First City from 1989 to 1991.

22

23

24

25

Q What was your next job?
A I taught finance at the Haas School of
Buginegs as an adjunct professox.

and I was a congultant at the same time

09:55:18

09:59:34

09:59:50

10:00:10

10:00:25

10:00:49
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10
11
§ 12
13
14
15
16
17
18

19

20

with a now defunct fund of funds that I had. They
were a consulting client, that I would help advise
them on whether the hedge funds they allocated
capital to actually invested consistent with the
style and strategy they told the fund of funds that
they did.

So value -- they said they were a value
investor. And if they ﬁad a bunch of Amazon or
Netflix, although I don't think they existed then,
then that would have been examples of investments
not consistent with their style and strategy, which
ig something that I could certainly do.

And after teaching and while doing
consulting, I basically migrated to found my £irm,
Lawndale Capital Management, in 1992, and opened up
our funds in February of 1993. And I've been doing
that ever since. We're in our 24th year.

Q Wwhat's the business of Lawndale?

A Lawndale is an investment advisor that
gserves as the general partner to some investment
limited partnerships.

Q What do you mean by that?

MR. RAISSI: By what?

THE WITNESS: T don't understand your

guestion.

10:00:55

10:01:11

10:01:25

10:01:43

10:02:08

10:02:22
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BY MR. SEARCY:

Q What do you mean when you say it sexrves as
a general partner to some investment limited
partnerships?

A S0 Lawndale Capital Management is an
investment advisor. It is the general partner in
some partnerships. Those partnerships are
inyestment limited partnerships. They make
investments.

Q And are those investment limited
partnerships, are those operated by you?

A The general partner, Lawndale Capital
Management, which I am the founder, president and
portfolio manager of.

Q So yes?

MR. RAISSI: No. His answer is what his
angwer was.
THE WITNESS: Exactly what my lawyer said
on that. It is what my answer is.
So if you want to clarify the question,
I'll be responsive.
BY MR. SEARCY:
Q Sure. Happy to work with you on this.
A Yeah.

Q In termg of the general partnership where

10:02:23

10:02:29

10:02:42

10:02:57

10:03:06

10:03:16
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Lawndale ig serving as a general partnership --

A Lawndale ig not a general partnership,
okay?

Q It's the general partner with the
partnership?

A Lawndale is the general partner of a
partnership which then has limited partners. 2And
that partnership has a brokerage account and makes
investments.

Q And would those limited partners come from
outgide of Lawndale?

A Yes.

Q But Lawndale itself as the general partner
would control the pértnership, correct?

A Ag general partner and with its power of
attorneys or whatever else the legal documents were
that gives it discretionary authority on what to buy
and sell.

Q Hag Lawndale been your full-time
occupation since 19937

A Um~-hum.

Q Just for the record, that was a "yes," for
the court reporter?

A I'm sorry. Yés.

Q How many employees does Lawndale have?

10:03:17

10:03:23

10:03:35

10:03:44
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A Lawndale Capital Management, LLC, only has 10:04:20
me ag an employee.
It has a -- Lawndale -- it has an
affiliate, Lawndale Capital Management, Inc., and it
has two employees, plus me. : 10:04:45
Q What are the roles of those two employees?
A They assist me in the analysis of
companies. They assist in the operational aspects
of the business, the regulatory compliance, the
day-to-day activities of the business. 10:05:13
Q Are they involved -~ these two employees,
are they involved in making trading decisions?
A No.
Q Do you make all trading decisions for the
Lawndale entities? 10:05:25
A I do.

Q and Lawndale owns RDI stock; is that

A Yes.

Q What percentage of Lawndale's holdings are 10:05:39
in RDI stock?

A You know, that's kind of -- that's
proprietary data. It's our largest invegtment. I
mean, I'll give you that. But how much weballocate

to each individual investment amongst investments is 10:05:56
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1 proprietary to our operations and our investment 10:06:04
2 partners.

3 Q All right. We have a protective order in

4 place in this case. Maybe we can designate that

5 information as confidential. 10:06:15
6 MR. RAISSI: We've not seen any protective

7 order, so --

8 MR. SEARCY: Well, maybe we can have a

9 discussion about that over the break.

10 ~ MR. RAISSI: I don't see what the 10:06:25
11 relevance ig to this, either. It's proprietary

12 information. TIt's trade secret.

13 MR. SEARCY: Just so I understand
14 correctly, the position that Mr. Shapiro is taking

15 today at this deposition is that his -- the 10:06:39
16 percentage of RDI stock in the portfolio of Lawndale
17 is proprietary and trade secret?
18 MR. RAISSI: That's correct, and
19 consistent with the written objections we served to
20 the document reguestgs whenever that was, four or 10:07:00
21 five months ago.
22 BY MR. SEARCY:
Q And RDI is your largest investment, you
24 said?
25 A Yes. 10:07:09
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Q What is the amount of Lawndale's
investment in RDI?

A Can you clarify that? I think you just
asked that.

Q Sure. How much money does Lawndale have
invested in RDI?

A I actually don't know exactly. I don't
know -- I don't know offhand. 1It's my largest
investment.

Q Do you know the approximate value?

A  Over 13 million.

Q What percentage of Lawndale's holdings in
RDI are Class A stock?

A  Almost all of it.

Q Does Lawndale hold any RDI Class B stoqk?

A Yes.

Q What amount?

A A few thougand shares. Very -- very
little.

Q Do you know what the value of those shares
are?

A A few thousand times $13 a share. So
13 -- $26,000, $30,000. The bulk of our ownership
interest, the vast majority of our ownership

interest is in the non-voting Class A shares just

10:07:09

10:07:20

10:07:31

10:08:00

10:08:20

10:08:41
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1 like the rest of the public. 10:08:46
2 93 percent of all the public shares --
3 sorry -- 93 percent of all the gshares of Reading are
4 non-voting shares, and only 7 percent of all the
5 shares of Reading are voting shares. 10:09:00
6 Q Do you have any knowledge as to whether
7 the Class B shares are more valuable than the
8 Class A shares?
9 | aA Knowledge? No. Cotter Senioxr has always
10 treated and has represented throughout all these 10:09:30
11 vears that he viewed them economically identical,
12 and he treated them in the merger and other time
13 windows economically identical any time he had dual
14 class.
15 My initial investment was in Craig Corp. 10:09:44
16 preferred shares, and he treated those preferred,
17 which were basically non-voting sﬁares of Craig
18 Corp, one of the predecessors -- with respect to the
19 voting shares of Craig, he always treated those
20 jidentically as well, economically identically. 10:09:59
21 Yeg, they provided him voting control of
22 the entity, but economically, on more than oné
23 occasion, he represented that he viewed them
24 economically identical and he would treat them
25 economically identical. And in multiple corporate 10:10:17
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12

13

14

1is

16

17

18

longer than Junior, whether it's because of the
litigation, whether it's because I'm viewed
adversarial, or it's her own style, I've had less
engagement with Ellen in the one-year window than T
did with Junior, and my advice and counsel has not
been sought.

If anything, with respect to Dev Ghose as
CFO, I'm reminded by him on multiple occasions how
many decades he's been a CFO of larger companies,
and a "we don't need your advice" kind of message.

Ellen hasn't sent that message, but Ellen
hasn't asked for counsel or advice in any way. She

didn't seem to really care about my views or

opinions about that. So I can't -- I can't say that
I come away from a conversation with her -- which
hag been limited -- that I've come away feeling that

they are going to pursue this once the litigation is

ovexr.

19

20

21

22

23

Do I feel'that -~ are they pursuing that
now? I don't really have a bias between Junior's
regime or Ellen's regime, if that's what you say. T
think that she's been advancing the company forward,

gimilar to what I had observed Junior doing.

24

25

The only distinction I have is that Junior

wag doing it without the cloud of litigation, and

11:31:39

11:31:56

11:32:16

11:32:37

11:32:57

11:33:15

Page 98

Veritext Legal Solutions
866 299-5127

JA1360




1 about buying shares in the sell-off, you didn't 14:49:42
2 alert the board that you were considering filing

3 your own intervention suit, correct?

4 A Correct, other than that email you saw

5 that put them on notice that we will do any and all 14:49:58
6 actions to protect shareholder interests. But no

7 specific, we have or will and are contemplating an

8 intervenors' motion.

9 Q When you -- as of July 27th, 2015, you

10 were actually working with counsel for preparation 14:50:25
11 of an intervention sulit, correct?

12 A I don't think.that's correct. I was

13 interviewing counsel at that time.

14 On the 27th, we were interviewing counsel

15 and had not resolved on who counsel would be and 14:50:45
16 various issﬁes regarding the intervention. But I

17 was still contemp}ating being one of the intérvenors

18 at that time.

i9 Q And you didn't let the board know any of
20 that, though, right? 14:51:03
21 A I did not let the board know -- when I
22 emailed them that they ought to buy back shares, T

23 did not let the board know that I was considering
24 filing an intervenors' motion. I wouldn't want that
25 to frankly taint their decision one way ox another 14:51:15
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10

11

12

13

14

on the highly accretive corporate allocation of
buying back and retiring shares.
part of the reason I didn't intervene and
T was concerned about being a named intervenor was
the fact that it would cloud any perception -- the
problem with the intervenors' guit was that it, in
many ways, was piling on or aligning some of the
allegations and remedies with that of Junior, which
I wae not necesgarily in pursuit of, of any and all
of those remedies.
Q Which remedies of Junior were you not in
pursuit of?
A I wasn't committed ome way or the other

that Junior should be reinstated.

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

Again, Junior was the devil I knew, and he
wag doing things in a manner 1 had no problems with.
T had no idea what or how the sisters or Ellen would
manage the company.

go it was the devil I knew versus the
devil T didn't know. .And it was also the fact that,
you know, they're having this nasty, horrible,
drag-out £f£ight over the family estate.

Q But as of the date whexe you were
congidering filing the intexvention guit, you didn't

know whether you had to seek reinstatement of

14:51:18

14:51:32

14:51:58

14:52:10

14:52:26

14:52:38

Page 188

Veritext Legal Solutions
866 299-5127

JA1362




1 A No. 16:23:55
2 Q Have you had any conversations with Mark
3 Xrum?
4 A Yes.
5 Q On how many different occasions? 16:24:02
6 A On a few occasions when I was making the
7 decision whether or not I wanted to file an
8 intervenors' suit oxr not. I don't think I've talked
9 with him really since all of that got filed. Just
10 then, I think. 8o that's on or around July, end of 16:24:19
11 July, early August.
12 I might have talked with him once or twice
;3 gubsequent, regarding status of the case, basically,
14 of one of the other cases that's not the derivative
15 action. But he's -- you know, I can't talk with 16:24:40
16 Junior. I asked Krum -- I asked Krum in one or two
17 calls what's going on in a certain suit.
18 Q What did you'discuss with Mr. Krum about
19 whether or not to file an intervenors' suit?
20 A I told him I was considering filing -- I 16:24:55
21 was considering being an intervenor. I wanted to
22 understand the nature of Junior's claims, why he
23 felt these claims were derxrivative and not personal
24 or direct.
25 My main issue here was that I told him 16:25:12
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1 that I don't think necessarily Junior is the best 16:25:14

2 adequate representative of mine ox other shareholder

3 interests, and I wanted shareholders, myself or

4 shareholder representatives, to have a seat at the

5 table. Becauge who best to pursue and find out 16:25:28
6 what's been going on at this company above and

7 beyond just the circumstances gurrounding Junior's

8 termination than independent shareholders?

9 and so that is why I was very motlvated to

10 be the intervenor, to file an intervening action, to 16:25:46
11 create and have remedies employed here at the

12 company that would be protective of and benefit all

13 chareholders. And the rehiring of Cotter Junior

14 solely as a remedy didn't seem to me to be remedy

15 _enough for all that had gone on in the last few 16:26:04
16 years of Cotter Senior's life and in the years

§ 17 subsgequent.

18 Q So with respect to the items that you've

19 just described, things that have occurred in the

20 last few years of Cotter Senior's life? 16:26:24

21 A Yes, that would be within the statute of

22 limitatiomns.

23 Q That was going to be my question to you,

24 was, with respect to those issues which are now

25 barred by the statute of limitations, why didn't you 16:26:38
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AMENDED AND RESTAED
BYLAWS!
OF
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.

A Nevada Corporation

ARTICLE I
STOCKHOLDERS

SECTION 1 ANNUAL MEETING

Annual mestings of the stockholders, commencing with the year 2000, shall be held each
year within 150 days of the end of the fiscal year on the third Thursday in May if not a legal
holiday, and if a legal holiday, then on the next secular day followmg at ten o’clock a.m., or such
other date and time as may be set by the Board of Directors” from time to time and stated in the
notice of the meeting, at which the stockholders shall elect by a plurality vote a Board of
Directors and transact such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting.

SECTION 2 SPECIAL MEETINGS

Special meetings of the stockholders, for any purpose or purposes, unless otherwise
prescribed by statute or by the Articles of Incorporation, may be called by the Chairman ot Vice
Chairman of the Board or the President, and shall be called by the Chairman, Vice Chairman or
President at the written request of a majority of the Board of Directors or at the written request of
stockholders owning outstanding shares representing a majority of the voting power of the
Corporation. Such request shall state the purpose or purposes of such meeting.

SECTION 3 NOTICE OF MEETINGS

Written notice of stockholders meetings, stating the place, date and hour thereof, and, in
the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be
given to each stockholder entitled to vote thereat at least ten days but not more than sixty days
before the date of the meeting, unless a different period is prescribed by statute. Business
transacted any special meeting of the stockholders shall be limited to the purpose or purposes
stated in the notice.

! These Amended and Restated Bylaws are hereinafter referred to as the Bylaws.
2 The “Board” and “Boatd of Directors” are hereinafter used in reference to the Board of Directors of Reading
International, Inc.
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SECTION 4 PLACE OF MEETINGS

All annual meetings of the stockholders shall be held in the County of Los Angeles, State
of California, at such place as may be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors, or at
such other place within or without the State of Nevada as the directors shall determine. Special
meetings of the stockholders may be held at such time and place within or without the State of
Nevada as shall be stated in the notice of the meeting, or in a duly executed waiver of notice
thereof. Business transacted at any special meeting of stockholders shall be limited to the
purposes stated in the notice.

SECTION 5 STOCKHOLDER LISTS

The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of the Corporation shall prepare and
make, not less than ten nor more than sixty days before every meeting of stockholders, a
complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meoting, arranged in alphabetical order,
and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of
each stockholder. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any proper
purpose germane to the meeting, during ordinary business hours for a period not less than ten
days prior to the meeting, either at a place within the city where the meeting is to be beld, which
place shall be specified in the notice of the meeting, or, if not so specified, at the place where the
meeting is to be held. The list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place of the
meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be inspected by any stockholder who is present.

SECTION6  QUORUM; ADJOURNED MEETINGS

The holders of a majority of the stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereat,
present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the
stockholders for the transaction of business except as otherwise provided by statute or by the
Articles of Incorporation. If, however, such quorum shall not be present or represented at any
meeting of the stockholders, the stockholders entitled to vote thereat, present in person or
represented by proxy, shall have the power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, without
notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present or represented.
At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present or represented, any business may
be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally noticed. If the
adjournment is for more than thirty days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed
for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adj ourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder
of record entitled to vote at the meeting.

SECTION 7 VOTING

Except as otherwise provided by statute or the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws,
and except for the election of directors, at any meeting duly called and held at which a quorum is
present, a majority of the votes cast at such meeting upon a given matter by the bolders of
outstanding shares of stock of all classes of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote thereon who
are present in person or by proxy shall decide such matter. At any meeting duly called and held
for the election of directors at which a quorum is present, directors shall be elected by a plurality
of the votes cast by the holders (acting as such) of shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to
elect such directors.
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SECTION 8 PROXIES

At any meeting of the stockholders any stockholder may be represented and vote by a
proxy or proxies appointed by an instrument in writing. In the event that any such instrument in
writing shall designate two or more persons to act as proxies, a majority of such persons present
at the meeting, or, if only one shall be present, then that one shall have and may exercise all of
the powers conferred by such written instrument upon all of the persons so designated unless the
instrument shall otherwise provide. No proxy, proxy revocation or power of attorney to vote
shall be used at a meeting of the stockholders unless it shall have been filed with the secretary of
the meeting; provided, however, nothing contained herein shall prevent any stockholder from
attending any meeting and voting in person. All questions regarding the qualification of voters,
the validity of proxies and the acceptance or rejection of votes shall be decided by the inspectors
of election who shall be appointed by the Board of Directors, or if not so appointed, then by the
presiding officer of the meeting.

SECTION 9 ACTION WITHOUT MEETING

Any action which may be taken by the vote of the stockholders at a meeting may be taken
without a meeting if authorized by the written consent of stockholders holding at least a majority
of the voting power, unless the provisions of the statutes governing the Corporation or of the
Articles of Incorporation require a different proportion of voting power to authorize such action
in which case such proportion of written consents shall be required. Prompt notice of the taking
of the corporate action without a meeting by less than unanimous written consent shall be given
to those stockholdets who have not consented in writing.

SecTION 10  CERTAIN LIMITATIONS

The Board of Directors shall not, without the prior approval of the stockholders, adopt
any procedures, rules or requirements which restrict a stockholders right to (1) vote, whether in
person, by proxy or by written comsent; (ii) elect, nominate or remove directors; (iii) call a
special meeting; or (iv) to bring new business before the stockholders, except as may be required
by applicable law.

ARTICLE II
DIRECTORS

SECTION 1 MANAGEMENT OF CORPORATION

The business of the Corporation shall be managed by its Board of Directors, which may
exercise all such powers of the Corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by
statute or by the Articles of Incorporation or by these Bylaws directed or required to be exercised
or done by the stockholders.

SECTION 2 NUMBER, TENURE, AND QUALIFICATIONS

The number of directors, which shall constitute the whole board, shall be nine (9).
Thereafter, the number of directors may from time to time be increased or decreased to not less
than one nor more than ten by action of the Board of Directors. The directors shall be elected by
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the holders of shares entitled to vote thereon at the annmal meeting of the stockholders and,
except as provided in Section 4 of this Article, each director elected shall hold office until his
successor is elected and qualified. Directors need not be stockholders.

SECTION 3 CHAIRMAN AND VICE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

The directors may elect one of their members to be Chairman of the Board of Directors
and one of their members to be Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Chairman and
Vice Chairman shall be subject to the control of and may be removed by the Board of Directors.
The Chairman and Vice Chairman shall perform such duties as may from time to time be
assigned to them by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 4 VACANCIES; REMOVAL

Vacancies in the Board of Directors, including those caused by an increase in the number
of directors, may be filled by a majority of the remaining directors, though less than a quorum, or
by a sole remaining director, and each director so elected shall hold office until his successor is
clected at an annual or a special meeting of the stockholders. The holders of no less than two-
thirds of the outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote may at any time peremptorily terminate
the term of office of all or any of the directors by vote at a meeting called for such purpose or by
written consent filed with the Secretary or, in his absence, with any other officer. Such removal
shall be effective immediately, even if successors are not elected simultaneously.

A vacancy or vacancies in the Board of Directors shall be deemed to exist in case of the
death, resignation or removal of any directors, or if the authorized number of directors be
increased, or if the stockholders fail at any annual or special meeting of stockholders at which
any director or directors are elected to elect the full authorized mumber of directors to be voted
for at that meeting.

If the Board of Directors accepts the resignation of a director tendered to take effect at a
future time, the Board or the stockholders shall have power to elect a successor to take office
when the resignation is to become effective. :

No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of removing any
director prior to the expiration of his term of office.

SECTION 5 ANNUAL AND REGULAR MEETINGS

Annual and regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at any place within
or without the State of Nevada that has been designated from time to time by resolution of the
Board of Directors or by written consent of all members of the Board of Directors. In the
absence of such designation, annual and regular meetings shall be held at the registered office of
the Corporation. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held without call or notice
at such time and at such place as shall from time to time be fixed and determined by the Board of
Directors.
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SECTION 6 FIRST MEETING

The first meeting of each newly elected Board of Directors shall be held at such time and
place as shall be fixed by the vote of the stockholders at the annual meeting and no notice of
such meeting shall be necessary to the directors in order legally to constitute the meeting,
provided a quorum is present. In the event of the failure of the stockholders to fix the time and
place of such first meeting, or in the event such meeting is not so held, the meeting may be held
at such time and place as shall be specified in a notice given as hereinafter provided for special
meetings of the Board of Directors, or as shall be specified in a written waiver sighed by all of
the directors.

SECTION 7 SPECIAL MEETINGS

Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chairman or Vice
Chairman of the Board or the President upon notice to each director, either personally or by mail
or by telegram. Upon the written request of a majority of the directors, the Chairman or Vice
Chairman of the Board or the President shall call a special meeting of the Board to be held
within two days of the receipt of such request and shall provide notice thereof to each director,
gither personally or by mail or by telegram.

SECTION 8 BUSINESS OF MEETINGS

The transactions of any meeting of the Board of Directors, however called and noticed or
wherever held, shall be as valid as though had at a mesting duly held after regular call and
notice, if a quorum be present, and if, either before or after the meeting, each of the directors not
present signs a written waiver of notice, or a consent to holding such meeting, or an approval of
the minutes thereof, All such waivers, consents or apptovals shall be filed with the corporate
records or made a part of the minutes of the meeting.

SECTION 9 QUORUM; ADJOURNED MEETINGS

A mmajority of the authorized number of directors shall constitute a quorum for the
transaction of business, except to adjourn as hereinafter provided. Every act or decision done or
made by a majority of the directors present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum is present
shall be regarded as the act of the Board of Directors, unless a greater number is required by law
or by the Articles of Incorporation. Any action of a majority, although not at a regularly called
meeting, and the record thereof, if assented to in writing by all of the other members of the
Board shall be as valid and effective in all respects as if passed by the Board of Directors in a
regular meeting.

A quorum of the directors may adjourn any directors meeting to meet again at a stated
day and hour; provided, however, that in the absence of a quorum, a majority of the directors
present at any directors’ meeting, either regular or special, may adjourn from time to time,
without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quornm is present.

Notice of the time and place of holding an adjourned meeting need not be given to the
absent directors if the time and place are fixed at the meeting adjourned.
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SecTiON 10 COMMITTEES

The Board of Directors may, by resolution adopted by a majority of the whole Board,
designate one or more committees of the Board of Directors, gach committee to consist of at
least one or more directors of the Corporation which, to the extent provided in the resolution,
shall have and may exercise the power of the Board of Directors in the management of the
business and affairs of the Corporation and may have power to authorize. the seal of the
Corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it; but no such committee shall have
the power to amend the Articles of Incorporation, to adopt an agreement or plan of merger or
consolidation, to recommend to the stockholders a sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially
all of the Corporation’s assets, to recommend to the stockholders dissolution or revocation of
dissolution, or to amend these Bylaws, and, unless the resolution or the Articles of Incorporation
expressly so provide, no such committee shall have the power or authority to declare a dividend
or to authorize the issuance of stock. Such committee or committees shall have such name or
names as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors. The Board may
designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any
absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. The members of any such
committee present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting may, whether or not they
constitute a quorum, unanimously appoint another member of the Board of Directors to act at the
meeting in the place of any absent or disqualified member. At meetings of such committees, a
majority of the members or alternate members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of
business, and the act of a majority of the members or alternate members at any meeting at which
there is a quorum shall be the act of the committee. :

The committees, if required by the Board, shall keep regular minutes of their proceedings
and report the same to the Board of Directors. '

SECTION 11 ACTION WITHOUT MEETING; TELEPHONE MEETINGS

Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or
of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if a written consent thereto is signed
by all members of the Board of Directors or of such committee, as the case may be, and such
written consent is filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or committee.

Nothing contained in these Bylaws shall be deemed to restrict the powers of members of
the Board of Directors, or any committee thereof, to participate in a meeting of the Board or
committee by means of telephone conference or similar communications equipment whereby all
persons participating in the meeting can hear each other.

SECTION 12 SPECIAL COMPENSATION

The directors may be paid their expenses of attendance at each meeting of the Board of
Directors and may be paid a fixed sum for attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors
or a stated salary as director as fixed by the Board of Directors. No such payment shall preclude
any director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation
therefor. Members of committees may be allowed like reimbursement and compensation for
attending committee meetings.
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ARTICLE I
NOTICES

SECTION 1 NOTICE OF MEETINGS

‘Whenever, under the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation or applicable law or
these Bylaws, notice is required to be given to any director or stockholder, it shall not be
construed to mean personal notice, but such notice may be given in writing, by mail, addressed
to such director or stockholders, at his address as it appears on the records of the Corporation,
postage prepaid, and such notice shall be deemed to be given at the time when the same shall be
deposited in the United States mail. Notice to directors may also be given by telegram.

Notices of meetings of stockholders shall be in writing and signed by the President or a
Vice-President or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary or by such other person or persons as
the directors shall designate. Such notice shall state the purpose or purposes for which the
meeting is called and the time and the place, which may be within or without this State, where it
is to be held. Personal delivery of any notice to any officer of a corporation or association, ot to
any member of a partnership, shall constitute delivery of such notice to such corporation,
association or partnership. In the event of the transfer of stock after delivery of such notice of
and prior to the holding of the meeting it shall not be necessary to deliver or mail notice of the
meeting to the transferee.

SECTION 2 EFFECT OF IRREGULARLY CALLED MEETINGS

Whenever all parties entitled to vote at any meeting, whether of directors or stockholders,
consent, either by a writing on the records of the meeting or filed with the secretary, or by
presence at such meeting and oral consent entered on the minutes, or by taking part in the
deliberations at such meeting without objection, the doings of such meeting shall be as valid as if
had at a meeting regularly called and noticed, and at such mesting any business may be
transacted which is not excepted from the written consent or to the consideration of which no
objection for want of notice is made at the time, and if any meeting be irregular for want of
notice or of such consent, provided a quorum was present at such meeting, the proceedings of
said meeting may be ratified and approved and rendered likewise valid and the irregularity or
defect therein waived by a writing signed by all parties having the right to vote at such meeting;
and such consent or approval of stockholders may be by proxy or attorney, but all such proxies
and powers of attorney must be in writing.

SECTION 3 ‘WAIVER OF NOTICE

Whenever any notice whatever is required to be given under the provisions of the
statutes, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the
person or persons entitled to said notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be
deemed equivalent thereto.

JA1375



ARTICLE IV
OFFICERS

SECTION 1 ELECTION

The officers of the Corporation shall be elected annually at the first meeting by the Board
of Directors held after each annual meeting of the stockholders and shall be a President, one or
more Vice Presidents, a Treasurer and a Secretary, and such other officers with such titles and
duties as the Board of Directors may determine, none of whom need be directors. The President
shall be the Chief Executive Officer, unless the Board designates the Chairman of the Board as
Chief Executive Officer. Any person may hold one or more offices and each officer shall hold
office until his successor shall have been duly elected and qualified or until his death or until he
shall resign or is removed in the manner as hereinafter provided for such term as may be
prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.

SECTION 2 CHAIRMAN AND VICE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

The Board of Directors at jts first annual meeting after each annual meeting of the
stockholders may choose a Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board from among the directors
of the Corporation, The Chairman of the Board, and in his absence the Vice Chairman, shall
preside at meetings of the stockholders and the Board of Directors and shall see that all orders
and resolutions of the Board of Directors are carried into effect.

SECTION 3 PRESIDENT

The President shall be the chief operating officer of the Corporation, shall also be a
director and shall have active management of the business of the Corporation. The President
shall execute on behalf of the Corporation all instruments requiring such execution except to the
extent the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly designated by the Board of Directors
to some other officer or agent of the Corporation.

SECTION 4 VICE-PRESIDENT

The Vice-President shall act under the direction of the President and in the absence or
disability of the President shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the President. The
Vice-President shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the President or
the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe. The Board of Directors may designate
one or more Executive Vice-Presidents or may otherwise specify the order of seniority of the
Vice-Presidents. The duties and powers of the President shall descend to the Vice-Presidents in
such specified order of seniority.

SECTION 5 SECRETARY

The Secretary shall act under the direction of the President. Subject to the direction of
the President, the Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board of Directors and all meetings
of the stockholders and record the proceedings. The Secretary shall perform like duties for the
standing committees when required. The Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all
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meetings of the stockholders and special meoetings of the Board of Directors, and shall perform
such other duties as may be prescribed by the President or the Board of Directors.

SECTION 6 ASSISTANT SECRETARIES

The Assistant Secretaries shall act under the direction of the President. In order of their
seniority, unless otherwise determined by the President or the Board of Directors, they shall, in
the absence or disability of the Secretary, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the
Secretary. They shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the President or
the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.

SECTION 7 TREASURER

The Treasurer shall act under the direction of the President. Subject to the direction of
the President, the Treasurer shall have custody of the corporate funds and securities and shall
keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the
Corporation and shall deposit all monies and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit
of the Corporation in such depositorics as may be designated by the Board of Directors. The
Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the President or the
Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the
President and the Board of Directors, at its regular meetings, or when the Board of Directors so
requires, an account of all transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the
Corporation.

If required by the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall give the Corporation a bond in
such sum and with such surety or sureties as shall be satisfactory to the Board of Directors for
the faithful performance of the duties of such person’s office and for the restoration to the
Corporation, in case of such person’s death, resignation, retirement or removal from office, of all
books, papers, vouchers, money and other property of whatever kind in such person’s possession
or under such person’s control belonging to the Corporation.

SECTION 8 ASSISTANT TREASURERS

The Assistant Treasurers in the order of their seniority, unless otherwise determined by
the President or the Board of Directors, shall, in the absence or disability of the Treasurer,
perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Treasurer. They shall perform such other
duties and have such other powers as the President or the Board of Directors may from time to
time prescribe.

SECTION 9 COMPENSATION

The Board of Directors shall fix the salaries and compensation of all officers of the
Corporation.

SpCTION 10 REMOVAL; RESIGNATION

The officers of the Corporation shall hold office at the pleasure of the Board of Directors.
Any officer elected or appointed by the Board of Directors, or any member of a committee, may
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be removed at any time, with or without cause, by the Board of Directors by a vote of not less
than a majority of the entire Board at any meeting thereof or by written consent. Any vacancy
occurring in any office of the Corporation by death, resignation, removal or otherwise shall be
filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term.

Any director or officer of the Corporation, or any member of any committee, may tesign
at any time by giving written notice to the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, the
President, or the Secretary of the Corporation. Any such resignation shall take effect at the time
specified therein or, if the time is not specified, then upon receipt thereof. The acceptance of
such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

ARTICLE V
CAPITAL STOCK

SECTION 1 CERTFICATED AND UNCERTIFICATED SHARES OF STOCK

Shares of stock in the Corporation shall be represented by certificates, or shall be
uncertificated, as determined by the Board of Directors in its discretion. As to any shares
represented by certificates, every stockholder shall be entitled to have a certificate signed by the
Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, the President or a Vice-President and the
Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer, or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the
Corporation, certifying the number of shares owned by such person in the Corporation. If the
Corporation shall be authorized to issue more than one class of stock or more than one series of
any class, the designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special
rights of the various classes of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or
restrictions of such rights, shall be set forth in full or summarized on the face or back of any
certificate which the Corporation shall issue to represent such stock; provided, however, that
except as otherwise provided in NRS 78.242, in lieu of the foregoing requirements, there may be
set forth on the face or back of any certificate which the Corporation shall issue to represent such
class or series of stock, a statement that the Corporation will furnish without charge to each
stockholder who so requests, the designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or
other special rights of the various classes or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or
restrictions of such preferences and/or rights. '

If a certificate representing stock is signed (1) by a transfer agent other than the
Corporation or its employees or (2) by a registrar other than the Corporation or its employees,
the signatures of the officers of the Corporation may be facsimiles. In case any officer who has
signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall cease to be such
officer before such certificate is issued, such certificate may be issued with the same effect as
though the person had not ceased to be such officer. The seal of the Corporation, or a facsimile
thereof, may, but need not be, affixed to any certificates representing stock.

SECTION 2 SURRENDERED; LOST OR DESTROYED CERTIFICATES

The Board of Directors or any transfer agent of the Corporation may direct a new
certificate or certificates to be issued, or, if such stock is no longer certificated, a registration of
such stock, in place of any certificate or certificates theretofore issued by the Corporation alleged
to have been lost or destroyed upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming

10

JA1378



the certificate of stock to be lost or destroyed. When authorizing such issue of a new certificate
or certificates, or new registration of uncertificated stock, the Board of Directors (or any transfer
agent of the Corporation authorized to do so by a resolution of the Board of Directors) may, in
its discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance ot registration thereof, require the
owner, of such lost or destroyed certificate or certificates, or the owner’s legal representative, to
advertise the same in such manner as it shall require and/or give the Corporation a bond in such
sum as it may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the Corporation
with respect to the certificate alleged to have been lost or destroyed.

SECTION 3 REGULATIONS

The Board of Directors shall have the power and authority to make all such rules and
regulations and procedures as it may deem expedient concerning the issue, transfer and
cancellation of stock of the Corporation and replacement of any stock certificates representing
stock and registration and re-registration of any uncertificated stock.

SECTION4 - RECORD DATE

The Board of Directors may fix in advance a date not more than sixty days nor less than
ten days preceding the date of any meeting of stockholders, or the date for the payment of any
distribution, or the date for the allotment of rights, or the date when any change or conversion or
exchangs of capital stock shall go into effect, or a date in connection with obtaining the consent
of stockholders for any purpose, as a record date for the determination of the stockholders
entitled to notice of and to vote at any such meeting, and any adjournment thereof, or entitled to
receive payment of any such distribution, or to give such consent, and in such case, such
stockholders, and only such stockholders as shall be stockholders of record on the date so fixed,
shall be entitled to notice of and to vote at such meeting, or any adjournment thereof, or to
receive payment of such dividend, or to receive such allotment of rights, or to exercise such
rights, or to give such consent, as the case may be, notwithstanding any transfer of any stock on
the books of the Corporation after any such record date fixed as aforesaid.

SECTION 5 REGISTERED OWNER

The Corporation shall be entitled to recognize the person registered on its books as the
owner of the shares to be the exclusive owner for all purposes, including voting and distribution,
and the Corporation shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in
such share or shares on the part of any other person, whether or not it shail have express or other
notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by the laws of Nevada.

ARTICLE VI
GENERAL PROVISIONS

SECTION 1 REGISTERED OFFICE
The registered office of the Corporation shall be in the County of Clark, State of Nevada.

The principal office of the Corporation shall be located in the County of Los Angeles, State of
California.

11

JA1379



The Corporation may also have offices at such other places both within and without the
State of Nevada as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine or the business of the
Corporation may require.

SECTION 2 CHECKS; NOTES

All checks or demands for money and notes of the Corporation shall be signed by such
officer or officers or such other person or persons as the Board of Directors may from time to
time designate.

SECTION 3 FISCAL YEAR
The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors.
SECTION 4 STock OF OTHER CORPORATIONS OR OTHER INTERESTS

Unless otherwise ordered by the Board of Directors, the President, the Secretary, and
such other attorneys or agents of the Corporation as may- be from time to time authorized by the
Board of Directors or the President, shall have full power and authority on behalf of the
Corporation to attend and to act an vote in person or by proxy at any meeting of the holders of
securities of any corporation or other entity in which the Corporation may own or hold shares or
other securities, and at such meetings shall possess and may exercise all the rights and powers
incident to the ownership of such shares or other securities which the Corporation, as the owner
or holder thereof, might have possessed and exercised if present. The President, the Secretary or
other such attorneys or agents may also execute and deliver on behalf of the Corporation, powers
of attorney, proxies, consents, waivers and other instruments relating to the shares or securities
owned or held by the Corporation.

SECTION 5 CORPORATE SEAL

The corporation will have a corporate seal, as may from time to time be determined by
resolution of the Board of Directors. If a corporate seal is adopted, it shall have inscribed
thereon the name of the corporation and the words “Corporate Seal” and “Nevada.” The seal
may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or in any manner
reproduced.

SECTION 6 ANNUAL STATEMENT

The Board of Directors shall present at each annual meeting, and at any special meeting
of the stockholders when called for by a vote of the stockholders, a full and clear statement of
the business and condition of the Corporation.

SECTION 7 DIVIDENDS

Dividends upon the capital stock of the Corporation, subject to the provision of the
Articles of Incorporation, if any, may be declared by the Board of Directors at any regular ot
special meeting pursuant to law. Dividends may be paid in cash, in property, or in shares of the
capital stock of the Corporation, subject to the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation.
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Before payment of any dividend, there may be set aside out of any funds of the
Corporation available for dividends such sum or sums as the directors from time to time, in their
absolute and sole discretion, think proper as a reserve or reserves to meet contingencies, or for
equalizing dividends, or for repairing or maintaining any property or the Corporation, or for such
other purpose or purposes as the directors believe to be in the interest of the Corporation, and the
directors may modify or abolish any such reserve in the manner in which it was created.

SECTION 8 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

In the event of any proposed transaction which would result in the merger of the
Corporation with or into any other company or entity, or the sale, dividend, spin-off or transfer
of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation, whether in one or more related
transactions (a “Covered Transaction™), such Covered Transaction shall require the approval of a
two-thirds majority of the Board of Directors after a review and written report of the terms and
fairness of such transaction have been conducted and prepared by a special committee of the
Board appointed to conduct such review. Such special committee shall consist of not less than
two directors and shall be composed entirely of directors who are neither employees, directors,
officers, agents or appointees or representatives of any company or entity affiliated with any
party to the Covered Transaction, other than the Corporation. Such special committee is
authorized to retain such professional advisors, including investment bankers, attorneys, and
accountants as it may determine, in its sole discretion, to be appropriate under the circumstances.

ARTICLE VII
INDEMNIFICATION

SECTION 1 TINDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS

Evety person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to or is involved in
any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, by reason
of the fact that such person or a person of whom that person is the legal representative is or was a
director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation or is or was serving at the request of the
Corporation or for its benefit as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, or
as its representative in a partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, shall be indemnified
and held harmless to the fullest extent legally permissible under the NRS from time to time
against all expenses, liability and loss (including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and amounts
paid or to be paid in settlement) reasonably incurred or suffered by such person in connection
therewith. The expenses of officers, directors, employee or agents incutred in defending a civil
or criminal action, suit or proceeding must be paid by the Corporation as they are incurred and in
advance of the final disposition of the action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking
by or on behalf of the director, officer, employee or agent to repay the amount if it is ultimately
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that such person is not entitled to be indenmified
by the Corporation. Such right of indemmification shall be a contract right, which may be
enforced in any manner desired by such person. Such right of indemnification shall not be
exclusive of any other right which such directors, officers, employees or agents may have or
hereafter acquire and, without limiting the generality of such statement, they shall be entitled to
their respective rights of indemnification under any bylaw, agreement, vote of stockholders,
provision of law or otherwise, as well as their rights under this Article VII.

13

JA1381



SECTION 2 INSURANCE

The Board of Directors may cause the Corporation to purchase and maintain insurance on
behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is
or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of
another corporation, or as its representative in a partnership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise against any liability asserted against such person and incuired in any such capacity or
arising out of such status, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify
such person.

SECTION 3 FURTHER BYLAWS

The Board of Directors may from time to time adopt further Bylaws with respect to
indemnification and may amend these and such Bylaws to provide at all times the fullest
indemnification permitted by the laws of the State of Nevada.

ARTICLE VI
AMENDMENTS

SECTION 1 AMENDMENTS BY STOCKHOLDERS

The Bylaws may be amended by the stockholders at any annual or special meeting of the
stockholders by a majority vote, provided notice of intention to amend or repeal shall have been
contained in the notice of such meeting.

SECTION 2 AMENDMENTS BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting by a majority vote may amend
these Bylaws, including Bylaws adopted by the stockholders, but the stockholders may from
time to time specify particular provisions of the Bylaws, which shall not be amended by the
Board of Directors.
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CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY

1, the undersigned, hereby certify that I am the duly elected and qualified Secretary of
Reading International, Inc. (formerly Citadel Holding Corporation), a Nevada corporation (the
“Company”), and that the foregoing Bylaws, consisting of 17 pages (including cover page and
table of contents), constitute the Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company as duly adopted
by the Board of Directors on November 19, 1999 and amended by the Board of Directors on
March 21, 2002, September 26, 2002, October 15, 2004, December 27, 2007 and December 28,
2011

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name this 28th of December,
2011.

Andrzej Matyczynski, Secretary
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT, dated as of Juhe 3, 203 by and between;
Redding inteimational,. Ihc., a Nevada coiporation, (the "Corhpany”), and James J.
Cotfer, Jr. (the “Executive”}.

1. Temiof Bmploviment

Subjet:t fo the pmws;ons o‘r’ 'Sectlon '19 below. ihe Company shali emp}oy the:
ferm 'Eammencmg as of.June 3 2013 am:i enc{mg that date wh}ch is tweive {12) months.
after elthet party provides the other party with written notice. of terininalion (the “Tarm of
Employment™).

2. Dufies

During ihe Termh of Employimeit, the Execuiivé will sérve a8 the Comipany’s.
President and will reporf direcily to the Chief Executive Officer.  The Exedufive shall.
deviote substantially all of his: businegs fime fo the Company arnid shall petform such
dufies; consistent with. hi staiis as President of the Cofmpany, as he may be -assigned
frony tivie to time by the Chief Executive: Officer.

3. Compefisation

Daring the Temn of Employment, the Compary shall pay to the Executive as
compensation for the: performarice of His dities and obligations. henaunder a-salary at
the rate of $335,000 per annum during each year of the term of this Agreement. Such
sajary'shall be paid inaccordance with.the Company’s standard payment practices:

4. Expenses and Other Benefits

All travel, enfertainment and other reasonable business expenses incident t6 the.
rendering of services hy the Executive hereunder will be promptly paid-or reimbursed by
the Ccmpany subject-to submission by thé Executive in aceoidance with the Company's
policigs ir effect frim time t6 time. Thé Execuiive shall be éntitled to a vehicle
alfowance of $15,000, per antum,

The Exscutive shall be enfitled during the Term of Ermiployment to participaite- in
employee benefit and welfare plans and pregrams of the Gempany including, withiout
any limitation, any key man or ‘executive: !ang termn disability insurance and emplgyee
stoglc option. plans fo the extent that any othet depior executives or officers of the
Corfipany of its subsidiaries are eligible to. participate and subject to the provigions,
mles, regilations, and ladws: applicable theieto, The Executive: shall immediately be
granted 100,000 -employes stock options, whish oghons shall vest annually over 4 five
{B) year period.

Q17780007 2485031




5. - Death.or Disability

. This Agreement shall be terminated by the death of the Executive and also may
be termingted by the Board of Directors of the Company i the Executive shall be
rendered incapable by iiness or any physical or mental -disability (individually, a
“disapility”) from substantially complying with the tarms, ¢ondifions and provisions fo-be.
observed and performied on his part for @ continuous period in excess of three {3}
months or ninety (80) days in the aggregate during any twehve. (12) months diring the-
Tetm of Employrent.

6. Disclosure of information; Invertions and Discoverles

The Executive shall promptly distlose to the Company all processes, tradeniarks,
inventions, improvements, discoveries and  other information  (collectively,
“developments’) directly felated to the busiriess of the Comiparly donceived, developed
or dequired by hint alore of with othérs during thé Tesm of Emplayment by the
Gompany, whether-or ndt during regutar working Fours er through the. use: of material of
facitifiss of the Company. Al such developments shall b the sole and exclusive
property of the Company, and upen request the' Executive shall deliver to the Company
all drawings, skefches, models and other data sind records relating to such
development. [n'the Bvent any siich developmient shall be-deemed by the Company to
e patentable, the Executive shall, at the expanse of the Company, assist the Compaiy
I obtaining a patent or patents thereon and sxeeute all documents and. do all other
‘things necessary ot proper to-obiain latters patent and invest the Company with full tifle-
thereto.. ,

7. Non-Gormpetition

The Cempany and the Exccutive agrée that the services repdered by the
Exécitive hereundet ats whique and. ireplacedble. Durhg his emplayment by the
Gompany, the Executive shall not provide any type -of services to any business that in
the reasonable judgment of the Tempany Is, or a8 a resuit of the Executive’s
engagement or participation would become; directly competitive with any aspect. of the
business of the-Cetnpary.

8. Nof-Disclostre.

“The Execudive will hot &t any tine after the dateé-of this Employrmerit Agreement
divulge, frnish of trgke aécessible o anyons (othewise. thal in: the regular ceurse of
business of the Company) any knowledge or information with réspest. 10 confidential
hiatfars of the Company. except to the -extent such disclosure: ts {a) it the perfdrmance
of his duties: under this Agreement, (b} required by applicable law, {c) authorized in
writing by the Company, -or (dj when required to- do so by fegal process, thaf requires
hir o divilge, disclose or make accéssible such informiation.
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G, Remedies

The Gompshy may pursug any appropriatée legal, €quitable or other remedy,
mcihdmg injunetive reliaf; in respect of any fallure by the Executive: to comply with the
provisions of Sections 6, 7 or 8 hereof, it being acknowledged by the Executive that the:
remedy af law forany such failure would be inadequate.

10. Termination

This Agréement dnd thé Executive’s empioyment ‘with thie Company may be
terminated by the: Board of Directors of the Company (i) in {he-event of the Executive’s,
fraud, embezzlement.or-any other iflegal act sormmitted intentionalfy by Executive in
wen, nection with Execufive's-duties as an executive of the Company which causes or
may reasonably b expected to-causé substantial acanomie injury te the Company or
(iiy upon thitty (30) day$’ notice to the Exesutive: if the Executive shall be in material
breach of any materat provision of this Employment Agreéemenit other than a$ provided
- iri clause () above and shall Have falled fo-oure’ such breach durling Such thirty (30) day
period {the events in (i) and (i) shalf constitute "Cause™). Any such, notice fo the
Executive shall specify with particularity the reason for termination or propesed
tettmination. 10 the event of termination under this:Section 10 or under Section 5
(except s provided thereii), the Company's unaterued ebhgattons under this
Agreement shall cedse and the Execufive shall forfeit all right to réceive:any tndecrued
compensation or benefits hereunder but shall have the right fo réimburserhent of
expenses already incurred. If the Company terminates Executive without Cause, the -
Executive shall bé enfitted fo compensation and benefits which-he was receiving fora
period of fwelve months from such notice. of terminiation. Netwithstanding any
termination of thie. Agreement pursuant to:this Section 10 or by téasen of disability under
Section 5, the Executive, in consideration of his empiaymenf heraunder 1o the date of
such termination; shait rermain hound by the provisions of Sections 6, 7 and 8 {unless
this’ Agreerent is terminated on-actouint of the breagch hereof by the Company) of this
Agresment.

Iry the gvent of any termination, the Executive shall not be required to.seek
ather employment to mitigate damages, and any incgme earned by the
Executive from other employmertt or self-employment shall not be: offset against any -
abﬁgatlons of the Company to the Executive under this Agresrtent, The Company’s
obligations Hereutider arid. the Executive's rights to payment shall not be subject to any
right: of set-off, counterclaim or other deduction by the Company not in the nature of
customary withhelding,. other than in any judicial ‘proceeding or arbifration.

14.  Resignation

In the event that the Executive’s services hereunder are ferminated under
Section & or {0 of this Agreement. (except by deaih), the Executive agrees that he wilt
deliver his wiltteli resignation. to thé Beard of Direcfors, such resighation to becoms
effective immediately..
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12. Pala

wLadsierriry

Upolr edpiration of the Term of Employment or termination pursuant to. Settion §
or 10 hareot, the ExXecutive or his personal representative shall promptly deliver to the.
Goripany alf books;, memoranda, plans, records and written data of gvety kind relating
to the business and affairy of the Company which are then in his possessxon on-aceount
of hig ernplaymem heretndsr, but excluding all such materals in the Exscutive’s
possessien which are persohal and not property of the-Company dor which he holds.on
account of his past or current sfatus as-a director or shareholder of the Company,

Any dqspuie or contraversy arisiig under this Agreement or relating to its
intgrprefation or fhe breach heredf,. including the arb;trabtlsty of any such dispute or
controversy, shall be determined and settled by arbitration. irv Los: Angeles, California.
pursuant to the Rules then obtaining of the Ametican Arbltration Association. Any

award rendered Hereln shialf e final and binding on edeh and.-ajl &f the parties, and
judgmanf may be- entergd thaerson in any court of sormpetent jurisdiction.

4. Weiver of Breach

Any waiver of any: breach of this Eniployrient Agreement shall not be. construed
10 he & continuing waiveror consent fo any subsequent hreach on the part sither of fhe
Execufive or of the Company:

16. Assignment

Neithér party héreto may assign:his or its fights of delegate his or its duties under
this Embloyrient Agreement witiiout® the prler writteh tohsent of the offier parly;
‘provided, however, that this Agreemenit shaill inire 1o the benefit of and. bie bifiding upbn
the suecessors and assignees of the Campany, upon (8) a sale of all or substantially. ali
of the Company's' assels, or upor merger of consolidation of the Company with or into
any other corporation, and (8) upon delivery on the effective day of such sale, merger or
consahdaﬂon to the E'xecutlve of a bindmg mstrument of assump'nen by such
Agreement pro\nded however that na such asssgnment of transfer will reheve the
Company from is. payment vbligations hiereunder in the. event the transferee or
assignee fails to fimely discharge thert; No rights or-obligations. of the Executive under
this Agreerent may be assignied of transferred other than his rights te compensation
and benefits, which may be. transferred by will or operation of law or as othewise
specifivally provided or permitted hereunder or under the terms -of -ahy applicable
employes benefit plan.

16.  Notices

Any notive required or desired to be: givery hergdnder shall belin Wriimg and shiall
be deemed sufficiently given when delivered or 3 days. afier mailing in United States

-
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following address:

The Company.

Reading International, Inc.
61060 Cepter Drive, Suite 806
Los Angeles, CA 90045

The Execulive:

James J. Cotler, Jr.

Reading Interhationd, fne.
8400 Center Drive, Suits 900
Los Angeles, CA 90045

or o sych other addiess as either party may from time & time: degignate by like notice
to the: dthen

17. General

“The téfmié ahd pedvisions.of thig Agreerent shiall cofstitule thie entife agreement
by thie Company #nd the Executive with respect to the subject niatter hereof, and shall
supersede any and al prior agreements or understanidings befwaen the Exeeutive ahd
the Company, whether written or oral. This Agreement may be amended or modified
only by a writfen instrument executed by the Executive gnd the Company, and any sucs
ameridmsnit or- mbdification or arny termination of this Agreement sijall bécoirie-effective
only after wrifter apiproval thereof has been received by the Executive. This Agreemerit,
shall be goverred by and construgd. in accordance with Galifornia law:. I the event that
any terms of provisions of this Agreement shall be held {o be invalid or unenforceable,
such invalidity of unénforceability shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the
rémaining fermé and provisions hereof. In the svent of afy judicial, arbitral or other
proceeding befiween the parfiss herefo with respect to the subject matter hereof, the
prevailing party shall be entitled, in addiion to all bther refief, fo. reasonable aticrmeays’

fees and expenses and court costs.
18. Indemnification

‘The Gompany shall indemnify the Executive-to the-fullest extent permitied by law
fiabilities 'and losses (inclading, Without limitation, altendeys’ fees, judgments, fines,
penalties, and amounts paid in seftiement) reasonably incurned by the Executive in
connection with @ Proceeding.. For the. purposes of this section, a. "Prodesding” shall
mean any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative ‘or
investigative, in which the Executive is made, oris fhireatened to be made, a parily to, or
a witness in, such action, suit or proseeding by reason of the fact that he s or was an

-5
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officer, ditector or empiayee of the Company or fs of was serving as an officer, director,
mersber; empioyee, irustes or-agert of any other gntity at the request of the Company
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INWITNESS WHEREOQF, the parties have execufed fhis Agresment as of the
day and year first- above writter.

READING -iE:FERﬂATiOMAL, INC.

) JaW atter, Sf
AGREED TQ AN AGCEPTED:

WA\
7 ) e,
Rt

¥ el =
Jéiss J. Cotisr,
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Morningstar® Document Research™

FORM10-K

READING INTERNATIONAL INC -RDI

Filed: March 07, 2014 (period: December 31, 2013)

Annual report with a comprehensive overview of the company

The information contalned hereln may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted fo be accurate, complete or timely. The user
assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information, except fo the extent such damages or losses cannot be
limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance Is no guarantee of futiire results.
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K
¥ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Forthe fiscal year ended December 31,2013 ox

OO0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SBCTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF

1934
Forthe transition period from to_
Commission File No. L-8625
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
(Exact name ofregistrant as specified in its charter)
NEVADA 95-3885184
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (LR..S, Employer Identification Number)
6100 Centex Dr., Suite 900 :
Los Angeles, CA 90045
(Address of prineipal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including Area Code: (213) 235-2240
Securities Registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title ofeach class Name ofeach exchange on which regi d
Class A Nonvoting Common Stock, $0.01 par value NASDAQ
Class B Voting Common Stock, $0.01 par value NASDAQ

Securifies registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. Yes [0 No

If this report is an annual or transition report, indicate by check mark if the mgistrant is not required to file
reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f 1934, Yes (1 No [

Indicate by check mark whether registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for shorter period than the Registrant was required to file
such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No D

Tndicate by check mark whether the registnt has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site,
ifany, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405
of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and
post such files), Yest No [l

Tndieats by check mark if diselosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Trem 405 of Regulation S is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of the registrants knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incomorated by reference in Part Il of this Form 10-K ofany amendments to this Form 10-K. [1

Tndigate by check mark whether the registrant is a latge acce]era.tcd ﬂlcr, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated

filerora sm.llerrepurtmg company. See definition of“large 1 d filer” and “smaller reporting
company™ in Rule 12b-2 oftheExchzmgc Act.
Large accelerated filer O A d filer Non lerated filer 1 Smallerreporting company [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act). Yes [ No M

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuet’s classes of common stock, as of the latest
practicable date. As ofMarch 6, 2014, there were 22,015,738 shares of class A non-voting common stock, , par value $0.01
per share and 1,495490 shares of class B voling cammon stock, par value $0.01 per share, outstanding.  The aggregate
malrket value of voting and nonvoting stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant was $112,400,258 as of June 30,
2013,
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PART)
Item 1 ~ Our Business
General Description of Our Business

Reading Juternational, Inc., a Nevada comporation (“RDI"), was incorporated in 1999 incident to our
reincorporation in Nevada. Our class A non-voting common stock (“Class A Stock™) and class B voting common stock
(“Class B Stock™) are listed for trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market (Nasdag-CM) under the symbols RDI and RDIB,
respectively. Our principal executive offices arc located at 6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, Califomia
90045. Our general telephone number is (213) 235-2240 and our website is www,readingrdi.com. It is our practice to
make available free of charge on our website our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Fonn 10-Q, cuwrent
reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(g) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we have electronically filed such material with or fomished it to the
Securities and Exchange Commission. I this Annual Report, we from time to time use terms such as the “Company,”
“Reading” and “we," “us,” or “our” to refer collectively to RDI and our various consolidated subsidiaries and eorporete
predecessors.

‘We are an internationally diversified *hard assef’ company principally focused on the development,
ownershlp and operation of entertainment and real property assets in the United States, Ausiralia, and New
Zealand, Currently, we have two buslness segments:

i. Cinema Exhibition, through our 56 cinemas, and

2. Real Estate, including real estate development and the rental of retail, commercial and live theater assets.
‘We believe that these two busi segments compl t one another, as the comparatively consistent cash
flows generated by our cinema operations allow us to be opportunistic in acquiting and holding real estate assets, and can
be used not only to grow and develop our cinema business but also to help fund the front-end cash demands of our real
estate development business.

At December 31, 2013, the book value of our assets was $386.8 million, and, as of that same date, we had a
consolidated stockholders’ book equity of $121.7 million. Calculated based on book value, $120.7 million or 30%, of
our assets relate to our cinema exhibition activities and $226.9 million or 59%, of our assets relate to our real estate
activities. At December 31, 2013, we had cash and cash equivalents of $37.7 million, which is accounted for as a
corporate asset. Our cash included $23.0 million denominated in the US. dollars, $7.5 million (AUS$$2 4 million) in
Australia dollars, and $7.2 million (NZ$8.7 million) in New Zealand dollars.

. i
Business Line Assst llocation
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For additional segment financia] information, please see Noto 22 — Business Segmenis and Gezographic Area
Information to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.

We have diversified our assets among three countries: the United States, Australia, and New Zealand. At
December 31, 2013, we had approximately 29% of our assets (based on net book value) in the United States, 51% in
Australia and 20% in New Zealand compared to 29%, 53%, and 18% at the end of 2012. For 2013, our gross revenue in
these jurisdictions was $131.5 million, $100.4 million, and $26.3 million, respectively, compared to $12L.5 million,
$108.3 million, and $24.6 million for 2012,

-
Gangraphic Ravanue-Allbsation
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For additional finencial information conceming the geogmphic distribution of our business, please sec Note 22 -
Business Segments and Geographic Area Itformation to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.

‘While we do not believe the cinema exhibition business to be a growth business, we do believe it to be 2
business that will likely continue to generate fairly consistent cash flows in the years ahead even in recessionary or
inflationary environments. This is based on ourbelief that peaple will continue to spend some reasonable portion of their
entertainment dollar on entertainment outside of the home, and, that when compared to other forms of outside the home
entertainment, movies continue to be a popular and competitively priced option, As we believe the cinema exhibition
business to be a mature business with. most markets either adequately screened or over-screened, we see growth in our
cinema business coming principally from the enhancement of our cument cinemas, the development in select markets of
specialty cinemas, and the opportunistic acquisition of already existing cinemas rather than from the developmont ofnew
conventional cinemas.

In 2012, we essentially completed the conversion of our U.S. ¢inemas to digital projection, and followed that up
with a conversion of our Australia and New Zealand cinemas, which was completed in 2013, In 2013, we fook back a
cinema in New Zealand that, at the time we acquired the property, was already leased to 2 competitor We arenow in the
process of upprading that cinema ioto a state-ofthe art facility and plan to begin operations in the 3* Quarter of
2014, We are also working to expand our Angelika Film Center circuit. In the last quarter of 2013, we and Edens, a
nationally known developer, announced our plans to develop a new Angelika siyle cinema in the Union Market district
of Washington D.C. It is cumrently anticipated that this Angelika will open in mid-2016. Also, we are advancing plans to
convert one of our San Diego area cinemas to an upgraded Angelika format, and working on plans to upgrade the food
and beverage offerings at a number of our U.S. cinemas. Finally, during 2013, we acquired equity interests in entities
holding the leases to two of our Angelika Film Centers.

Given the resurgence of Manhattan commercial real estate values, we intend to redevelop our Cinemas 1,2 & 3
property and our Union Square property. Overseas, in 2013, we entered into a lease agreement for a new grocery store
anchor tenant in our Courtenay Central property in Wellington, New Zealand and are actively pursuing
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the development of the next phase of that center, Additionally, we have obtained the necessary land use approvals and
are working on plans to add a cinema to our Newmarket shopping center in Brisbane, Australia,

Histoxically, it has not been our practice to sell assets, except in connection with the repositioning ofsuch assets
to a higher and better use. Howeves in light of the current market conditions and our desire to fiee up capital and pay
down debt, in 2012, we sold our 24,000 square foot office building in Indooroopilly, Australia for $12.4 million
(AUS$12.0 million). In 2013, we cntered into a purchase and sale agn t to sell our 3.3-acre properties in Moonee
Ponds for AUS$23.0 million which is scheduled to close on April 16, 2015 and is classified as land held for sale on our
December 31,2013 consolidated balance sheet. We ate continuing to evaluate our options with respect to our 50.6-acre
Burwood property in Australia and our 70.3-acte Manukau property in New Zealand. We may sell all or portions of these
properties to provide liquidity for other projects. In evaluating whether to sell a particular property, we consider the
potential upside in a patticular property and costs xequired to achicve that upside compared to the opportunities
presented by our other properties.

Typically, we have endeavored to match the cumency in which we have financed our development with the
jurisdiction within which these developments are located. We have followed this approach to reduce our risk to currency
fluctuations.  This structure has, however, somewhat limited our ability to move cash from one jurisdiction to
another. During 2012, we deviated somewhat from this policy by purchasing $8.0 million in time deposits denominated
in U.S. dollars and held by an Australian bank which matured in Janvary 2013. Additionally, at December 31, 2013, we
hold $4.5 million in Australia and $495,000 in New Zealand denominated in U.S. dollars,

In summary, while we do have operating company attributes, we see ourselves principally as a geographically
diversified real estate and cinema company and intend to add to stockholder value by building the value of our porthlio
of tangible real estate and entertainment-oriented assets. We endeavor to maintain a reasonable asset allocation between
our U.S. and international assets and operations, and between our cash generating cinema operations and our cash
consuming real estate development activities, We believe that by blending the cash generating capabilities of a cinema
operation with the investment and development opportunities of our real estate operation coupled with our intemational
diversification of assets, our business strategy is unique among public companies, While historically we have retained our
properties through development, we continue to evaluate the sale of certain assets to provide capital to develop our
remaining properties.

AtDecember 31,2013, our principal assets included:

« interests in 55 cinemas comprising some 463 screens; )

o fes interests in four live theaters (the Union Square, the Orpheum and Minetta Lane in Manhattan and the Royal
George in Chicago);

o fee ownership of approximately 24.0 million square feet of developed and undeveloped real estate; and

»  cash, cash equivalents, and time deposits aggregating $37.7 million.

Our Cinema Exhibition Activities
General

'We conduct our cinema operations on four basic and rather simple premises:

» first, notwithstanding the enormous advances that have been made in home entertainment technology, humans
are essentially social beings, and will continue to want to go beyond the home for their entertainment, provided
that they are offered clean, comfortable and convenient facilities, with state of the art technology;

« second, cinemas can be used as anchors for larger retail developments and our involvement in the cinema
business can give us an advantage over other real estate developers or redevelopers who must identify and
negotiate exclusively with third party anchor tenants;

o third, pure cinema operators can get themselves into financial difficulty as demands upon them to produce
cinema baged eamings growth tempt them into reinvesting their cash flow into increasingly marginal cinema
sites. While we believe that there will continue to be attractive opportunities to acquire cinema assets and/or to
develop upper end specialty type theaters (like our Angelika Film Centers) in the future, we do not feel pressure
to build or acquire cinemas forthe sake of adding units. ' We intend to focus ouruse
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of cash flow on our real estate development and operating activities, to the extent thet aftractive cinema
oppoxtunities are not avajlable to us; and

« fourth, we are always open to the idea of converting an entertainment property to anotheruse, if there is a higher
and better use for the property, orto sell individual assets, if we are presented with an attractive opportunity.

Our cument cinema assets that we own and/or manage are as set forth in the following chart:

‘Whaolly Owned Consolidated'  Unconsolidated® Managed’ Totals

Australia 18 cinemas 2 cinemas 1 cinema® None 21 cinemas
138 screens 11 screens 16 screens 165 sereens

New Zealand 7 cinemas None 2 cinemas® None 9 cinemas
40 screens 13 screens 53 sereens

United States 24 cinemas 1 cinema None 1 cinema 26 cinemas
242 screens 3 screens 4 screens 249 screens

Totals 49 ci 3ci 3 cinemas 1 cinermas 56 cloemas
420 screens 14 screens 29 sereens 4 screens 467 sereens

[1] Cincmas owned and operated through consolidated, butnot wholly owned subsidiarics.

[2] Cincmas owned and op d through lidaied subsidiarics.

[3] Cinemas in which we have no ownership interest, but which arc operated by us under management agresmenis,
[4] 33 3% unincorporaied joint venture interest.

[5] 50% unincotporated joint venture interests.

‘We focus on the ownership and/or operation of three categories of cinemas:

« first, modem stadium seating multiplex cinemas foaturing conventional film produet;

s  second, specielty and art cinemas, such as our Angelika Film Centers in Manhattan, Dallas, Plano, and Fairfax,
Virginia and the Rialto cinema chajn in New Zealand; and

+ third, in some markets, particularly small town markets that will not support the development of a modem
stadiom design multiplex cinema, conventional sloped floor cinemas.

We also have varjous premium class offerings including huxury seating, premium audio, private lounges, café
and bar sexvice, and other amenities in certain of our cinemas and are in the process of converting certain of our exiting
cinemas to provide this premium offering.

Although we operate cinemas in three jurisdictions, the general nature of our operations and operating strategies
doesnot vary mateially from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. In each jurisdiction, our gross rsceipts are primarily from box
office receipts, concession sales, and sereen advertising. Our ancillary revenue is created principally from theater rentals
(for example, for film festivals and special events), ancillary programming (such as concerts and sporting events), and
internet advertising and ticket sales.

Our cinemas generated approximately 67% of their 2013 revenue from box office receipts. Ticket prices vary by
location and we offer reduced rates for senior citizens and children,

Show times and features are placed in advertisements in local newspapers, intemet sites, and on our various
websites. Tn the United States, film distributors may also advertise certain feature films in various print, radio and
television media, as well as on the intemet and those costs are generally paid by distributors. In Australia and New
Zealand, the exhibitor typically pays the costs of local newspaper film advertisements, while the distributors are
responsible for the cost of any national advertising campaign.
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Concession sales accounted for approximately 27% of our total 2013 cinema revenue, Although cestain cinemas
have licenses for the sale and consumption of aleoholic beverages, concession products primarily include popeom,
candy, and soda.

Screen advertising and other revenuc contribute approximately 6% of our total 2013 cinema revenue. With the
exception of certain rights that we have retained to sell to local advertisers, generally speaking, we are not in the screen
advertising business and nationally recognized screen-advertising companies provide such advertising forus.

In New Zezland, we also own a one-third interest in Rialto Distribution. Rialto Distribution, an unincorporated
joint venture, is engaged in the business of distdibuting art film in New Zealand and Australia. The remaining 2/3 interest
isowned by the founders ofthe company, who have been in the art film distribution business since 1993.

Management of Cinemas

With the exception of our three unconsolidated cinemas, we manage all of our cinemas with execptives located
in Los Angeles, Manhattan, Melboume, Australia, and Wellington, New Zealand. Approximately 2,311 individuals were
employed (on a full time or part time basis) in our cinema operations in 2013, Our two New Zealand Rialto cinemas are
owned by a joint venture in which Reading New Zealand is a 50% joint venture pertner, ‘While we are principally
responsible for the booking of the cinemas, our joint venture partner, Greater Union, manages the day-to-day operations
of these cinemas. In addition, we havé a 33.3% interest in a 16-screen Brisbane cinema, Greater Union manages that
cinema as well.

Licensing/Pricing

Film product is available fom a vardety of sources ranging from the major film distributors such as Columbia,
Disney, Buena Vista, DreamWorks, Fox, MGM, Parmmount, Wamer Bros, and Universal, to a variety of smaller
independent film distributors. In Australia and New Zealand, some of those major distributors distribute through local
unaffiliated distributors. The mejor film distributors dominate the market for mainstream conventional films, Similarly,
most art and specialty films come flom the art and specialty divisions of these major distributors, such as Fox's
Searchlight and Mitamax. Generally speaking, film payment terms are based upon an agreed upon percentage of box
office receipts which will vary from film to film as films are Heensed in Australia, New Zealand and the United Statezon a
film-by-film, theater by theater basis.

While in certain markets film may be allocated by the distributor among competitive cinemas, typically in the
markets in which we operate, we have access to all conventional film product. Tn the art and specialty markets, due to the
limited mumber of prints available, we from time to time are unable to license all of the films that we might desirc to
play. In summary, while in some markets we are subject to film allocation, on the whole, access to film product has notin
recent periods been a major impediment to our operations.

Competition

In each ofthe United States, Austsalia, and New Zealand, film patrons typically select the cinema that they are
going to go to first by selecting the film they want to sec, and then by selecting the cinema in which they would prefer to
see it. Accordingly, the principal factor in the success or failure of a particular cinema is access to popular film
products, Ifa particular film is only offered at one cinema in a given matket, then customers wishing to ses that film will,
of necessity, go to that cinema. Iftwo or more cinemas in the same market offer the same film, then customers will
typically take into account factors such as the relative convenience and quality of'the various cinemas. In many markets,
the number of digital “prints™ available is less than the number of exhibitors seeking that film for that market, and
distributors typically take the positjon that they are free to provide or not provide their films fo particular exhibitors, at
their complete and absolute discretion.

Competition for films can be intense, depending upon. the number of cinemas in a particular market. Our ability
to obtain top grossing first un feature films may be adversely impacted by our comparatively small size, and the limited
number of screens we can supply to distributors. Moreoves, in the United States, because of the dramatic consolidation of
sercens into the hands of a fow very large and powerful exhibitors such as Regal and AMC, these mega exhibition
companies are in a position to offer distributors access to many more screens in majormarkets than

Y 2RSS

A1400



we can. Accordingly, distributors may decide to give preference to these mega exthibitors when it comes to licensing top

grossing films, rather than deal with independents such as ourselves. The situation is different in Ausiralia and New
Zealand where typically every major multiplex cinema has accessto 21l of the film currently in distribution, regardless of
the ownership of that multiplex cinema. However, we have suffered somewhat in these markets from competition from
boutique operators, who are able to book top grossing commercial films for Hmited runs, thus increasing competition for
customers wishing to view such top film produet.

Once a patron has selected the film, the choice of cinema is typically impacted by the quality of the cinema
experience offercd weighed against convenience and cost. For example, most cinema patrons seem to prefer a2 modern
stadium design multiplex, to an older sloped floor einema, and to prefer a cinema that either offers convenient access to
fiee parking (or public transport) aver a cinema that does not. However,if the film they desire to see is only available at a
limited number of locations, they will typically choose the film over the guality of the cinema and/or the convenience of
the cinema. Genemlly speaking, our cinemas are modem multiplex cinemas with good and convenient paking. As
discussed further below, the availability of 3D or digital technology and/or premium class seating can also be a factorin
the preference of one cinema over another,

In recent periods, a number of cinemas have been opened or re-opened featuring expanded food and beverage
service, including the sale of alcoholic beverages and food served to the seat. We have for a number of years offered
alcoholic beverages in certain of our Australia and New Zealand cinemas and our Angelika cinemas in the U.S. We are
cumently studying a number of our existing locations as candidates for such expanded fbod and beverage offerings.

The film exhibition markets in the United States, Australia, and New Zealand are to a certain extent dominated
by a limited number of major exhibition companies. The principal exhibitors in the United States are Repal (with 7,342
sereens in 576 cinemas), AMC (with 4,950 screens in 343 cinemas), Cinemark (with 4,413 screens in 331 cinemas), and
Carmike (with 2,484 screens in 246 cinemas). As of December 31,2013, we were the 11th largest exhibitor with 1% ofthe
box office in the United States with 249 screens in 26 cinemas,

The principal exhibitors in Australia are Greater Union, which do business under the Event name (@ subsidiary of
Amalgamated Holdings Limited), Hoyts Cinemas (“Hoyts"), and Village. The major exhibitors control approximately
65% of the total cinema box office: Event 30%, Hoyts 20%, and Village 14%. Event has 478 screens nationally, Hoyts
359 screens, and Village 218 screens. By comparison, our 148 screens represent approximately 6% of the total box office.

The principal exhibitors in New Zealand are Event with 93 screens nationally and Hoyts with 63
screens. Reading has 40 screens (not including parnerships). The major cxhibitors in New Zealand control
approximately 55% of the total box office: Event 34% and Hoyts 21%. Reading has 12% of the market (Bvent and
Reading market share figures again do not include any partnership theaters).

Greater Union is the owner of Birch Carroll & Coyle in Ausimlia and purchased Sky Cinemas in New Zealand
during 2010, Tn addition, gencrally speaking, all new multiplex cinema projects announced by Village are being jointly
developed by a joint venture comprised of Greater Union and Village. These companies have substantial capital
resources. Village had a publicly reported consolidated net worth of approximately $524.3 million (AUS$572.1 million)
at June 30, 2013. The Greater Union orgenization does not scparately publish financial reports, but its parent,
Amalgamated Holdings, had a publicly reported consolidated net worth of approximately $824.5 million (AUS$899.6
million) at June 30, 2013. Hoyts is privately held and does not publish financial reports. Hoyts is currenily owned by
Pacific Equity Partners.

In Ausizalia, the industry is somewhat vertically integrated in that Roadshow Film Distributors, a subsidiary of
Village, serves as a distributor of film in Australia and New Zealand for Wamer Brothers and New Line Cinema. Films
produced or distibuted by the majority of the local intemational independent producers are also distributed by
Roadshow Film Distibutors, Hoyts is also invelved in film production and distribution.

Digital Exhibition

After years of uncertainty as to the fiuture of digital exhibition and the impact of this technolopgy on cinema
exhibition, it became clear in 2012 that the industry must go digital. We have now completed the conversion ofall
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of our U.S., Australian, and New Zealand cinema operations to digital projection. We anticipate that the cost of this
conversion, over time, will be covered in substantial part by the receipt of Virtual Print Fees paid by film distributors for
the use of such digital projection equipment.

In-Home Competition

The *“in-home” entertainment industry has experienced significant leaps in recent pedods in both the quality and
affordability of in-home entertainment systems and in the accessibility to entertainment programming through cable,
satellite, DVD, and internet distribution channels. These altemative distribution ch ls ate putting p on cinema
exhibitors to reduce the time period between theatrical and secondary release dates, and cartain distributors are talking
about possible simultaneous or near simultaneous releases in multiple channels of distribution. These are issues common
to both our U.S. and intemational cinema operations.

Competitive issues are discussed in greater detail above under the caption, Compelition, and under the caption,
Ttem LA - Risk Factors,

Season

Major films ars gencrally released to coincide with holidays. With the exception of Christmas and New Year’s
Days, this fact provides some balancing of our revenue because ther is no material overlap between holidays in the
United States and those in Australia and New Zealand. Distributors will delay, in certain cases, releases in Anstralia and
New Zealand to take advantage of Australian and New Zealand holidays that are not celebrated in the United States.

Employees

We have 74 full time executive and administrative employees and approximately 2,311 einema employees. Our
cinema cmployees in Wclhngton, New Zealand and our projectionists in Hawaii are unionized. None of our other
employees are subject to union contracts. Our one union contract with respect to our projectionists in Hawaii expired on
March 31, 2012, Our union contracts with mspoct to our New Zealand employces have been mnewed through to
2015. None of our Australian based employees is unionized. Ovemll, we ate of the view that the existence of these
contracts does not materially increase our costs of labor or our ability to compete. We believe our relations with our
employees to be generally good.

Our Real Estate Activities
Our real estate activities have historically consisted principally oft

» the ownership of fee or long-term leaschold interests in properties used in our cinema exhibition activities or
which were acquired for the development of cinemas or cinema based real estate development projects;

o theacquisition offee interests in land for general real estate development;

« theleasing to production companies of our live th and

o theredevelopment of our existing foe owned cinema orlive theater sitesto their highest and best use.

‘While we report our real estate as a scparate segment, it has histerically operated as an integral portion of our
overall business and, again historically, has principally been in support of that business. In recent periods, however, we
have acquu'ed or developed properties which do not bave any i or other entertai component. As
opportunities for cinema development become more limited, it is likely that our real estate activities will continue to
expand beyond the development of entertainment-oriented properties.

Our real estate activities, holdings and developments are described in greater detail in ftem 2 — Properties.
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Item 1A — Risk Factors

Investing in our securities involves dsk. Set forth below is a summary of various risk factors that you should
consider in connection with your investment in our company, This summary should be considered in the context of our
overall Annual Report on Form 10K, as many of the topies addressed below are discussed in significantly greater detail in
the context of specific discussions of our business plan, our operating results, and the varous competitive forces that we
face.

Business Risk Factors

‘We are currently engaged principally in the cinema exhibition and real estate bust Since we operate in
two business segments (cinema exhibition and real estate), we discuss separately below the xisks we believe to be material
to our invelvement in each of these segments. We have discussed sepamtely certain risks relating to the international
nature of our business activities, ouruse of leverage, and our status as a controlled corporation. Pleasenote, that while we
report the results of our live theater operations as real estate operations — since we are principally in the business of
renting space to producers rather than in licensing ox producing plays ourselves ~ the cinema exhibition and live theater
businesses share certain risk factors and axe, accordingly, discussed together below.

Cinema Exhibition and Live Theater Business Risk Factors

We operate in a highly competitive environment, with many competitors who are significantly larger and may
have significantly better access to funds than do we.

‘We are a comparatively small cinema operator and face competition from much larger cinema exhibitors. These
larger exhibitors are able to offer distributors more screens in more markets — including markets where they may be the
exclusive exhibitor — than can we. Jn some cases, ficed with such competition, we may not be able to get access to all of
the films we want, which may advemely affect our revenue and profitability.

These Jarger competitors may also enjoy (1) greater cash flow, which can beused to develop additional cinemas,
including cinemas that may be competitive with our existing cinemas, (ii) better access to equity capital and debt, and
(iii) better visibility to Jandiords and real estate developers, than do we.

In the case of our live theaters, we compete for shows not only with other “for profit” off Broadway theaters, but
also with not-for-profit operators and, increasingly, with Broadway theaters. We believe our live theaters are generally
competitive with other off Broadway venues. However, due to the increased cost of staging live theater productions, we
are seeing an increasing tendency for plays that would historically have been staged in an offBroadway theater, moving
directly to larger Broadway venues.

We face competition fram other sources of entertainment and other enter delivery sy

Both our cinema and live theater operations face competition from developing “in-home” sources of
entertainment. These include competition from DVDs, cable and satellite television, pay per view, the internet and other
sources of entertainment, and video games. The quality of in-house entertainment systems has increased while the cost of
such systems has decreased in recent periods, and some consumers may prefor the security of an in-home” entertainment
experience to the more public experience offered by our cinemas and live theaters. The movie distributors have been
responding to these developments by, in some cases, decreasing the period of tims between cinema release and the date
such product ismade available to “in-home” forms of distribution.

The namowing of this so-called “window™ for cinema exhibition may be problematic for the cinema exhibition

industry, On the other hand, the significant quantity of films produced in recent periods has probably had more to do, at |

Jeast to date, with the shortening of the time most movies play in the cinemas, than any shottening of the cinema
exhibition window. In recent periods, there has been discussion about the possibility of eliminating the cinema window
altogether for certain films, in favor of a simultaneous release in multiple channels of distribution, such as theaters, pay-
per-view, and DVD. However, again to date, this move has been strenuously resisted by the cinema exhibition indusiry
and we view the total elimination of the cinema exhibjtion window, while theoretically possible, to be unlikely.
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However, there is the risk that, overtime, distributors may move towards simultaneous release of motion picture
produet in multiple channels of distribution. This would adversely affect the competitive advantage enjoyed by cinemas
over “in-home” forms of entertainment, as it may be that both the cinema market and the “in-home” market will have
simultaneous access to motion picture produet.

We also face competition from varous other forms of “beyond-the-hame” entertainment, including sporting
events, concerts, restaurants, casinos, video game arcades, and nightelubs, Our cinemas also face competition fom live
theaters and vice versa,

Competition fiom less expensive “in-home” entertainment altematives may be intensified as a result of the
curent economic recessjon,

Qur cinema operations depend upon access lo film that is aitractive to our patrons and our live theater
operations depend upon the continued attractiveness of our theaters to producers,

Our ability to generate revenue and profits islargely dependent on factors outside of our control, specifically, the
continued ability of motion picture and live theater producers to produce films and plays that are attractive to audiences,
the amount of' money spent by film distributors to promote their motion pictures, and the willingness ofthese producers to
license their films on terme that are financial viable to our cinemas and to rent our theaters for the presentation of their
plays. To the extent that popular movies and plays are produced, our cinema and live theater activities arc ultimately
dependent upon our ability, in the face of competition from other cinema and live theater operators, to book these movies
and plays into our facilities.

‘We rely on film distributors to supply the films shown in our theatres. In the U.S,, the film distribution business is
highly concentrated, with six major film distributors accounting for approximately 83.0% of U.S. box office revenues.
Numerous antitrust cases and consent decrees resulting from these antitrust cases affect the distribution of films. The
consent decrees bind certain major film distributors to license films to exhibitors on a theatre-by-theatre and film-by-film
basis. Consequently, we cannot guarantee a supply of films by entering into long-term amangements with major
distributors, We are therefore required to negotiate licenses for each film and for each theatre. A deterioration in our
relationship with any of the [six] major film distributors could adversely affect our ability to obtain commercially
successful films and to negotiate favorsble lcensing terms for such films, both of which could adversely affect our
business and operating results.

Adverse econontie conditions could materially affect our business by reducing discretionary income and by
lmiting or reducing sources of film and live thenter funding.

Cinema and live theater attendance is a luxury, not a necessity. Accordingly, a decline in the economy resulting
in a decrpase in discretionary income, or a perveption of such a decline, may result in decreased discretionary spending,
which could adversely affect our cinema and live theater businesses. Adverse economic conditions can alse affect the
supply side of our business, as reduced liquidity can advemsely affect the availability of funding for movies and
plays. This is padticulady true in the case of OfEBroadway plays, which are often times financed by high net worth.
individuals or groups of such individuals and which are very risky due to the absence ofany ability to recoup investment
in secondacy markets like DVD or cable.

Our screen advertising revenue may decline.

Over the past several years, cinema exhibitors have been looking increasingly to screen advertising as a way to
boost income. Wo assurances can be given that this source of incoms will be continuing or that the use of such
advertising will not ultimately prove to be counterproductive by giving consumers a disincentive to choose going to the
movics over “in-home” entortainment altematives. .

We face unceriainty as fo the timing and dirvection of technological innovations in the cinema exhibition
business and as to our access to those technologies.

‘We have converted 2ll of our cinema auditoriums to digital projection. However, no assurances can be given.

that other technological advances will not require us to make farther material investments in our cinemas or face loss of
business, For example, only a limited number of our cinemas are equipped with the 48 frame per second
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equipment that is required to show such films as The Hobbit. Also, equipment is curently being developed for
holographic or laser projection, The future of these technologies in the cinema exhibition industry is uncertain.

We face competition from new competitors offering food and beverage as an integral part of their cinema
offerings.

Anumber of new entrants, such as Alamo Draft House, offering an expanded food and beverage menu (including
the sale of alcoholic boverages) have emerged in recent periods. In addition; some competitors are converting existing
cinemas to provide such expanded menu offerings, The existence of such cinemas may alter traditional cinema selection
practices of maviegoers, as they seek out vinemas with such expanded offerings as a preferred altemative to fraditional
cinemas,

Real Bstate Development and Ownership Business Risks
with much

We operate in a highly competitive environment, in which we must
greater financial and human resources than we have,

npete against 1P

‘We have limited financial and human resources, compared to our principal real estate competitors. In recent
periods, we have relied heavily on outside professionals in connection with ourreal estate development activities. Many
of our competitors have significantly greater resources than do we and may be able to achicve greater economies of scale
than cah we.

RisksRelated to the Real Estate Industry Generally.
Our financial performance will be affected by visks associated with the real estate industry generally.

Events and conditions generally applicable to developers, owners, and operators ofreal property will affect our
performance as well. These include () changes in the national, wgional and local economic climate, (ii) local conditions
such as an oversupply of, or a reduetion in demand for commercial space and/or entertainment oriented properties, (i)
reduced attractiveness of our properties to tenants, (iv) the tental rates and capitalization rates applicable to the marketsin
which we operate and the quality of properties that we own, (v) competition from other properties, (vi) inability to collect
rent fom tenants, (vii) increased operating costs, including labor, materials, real estate taxes, insurance premiums, and
utilities, (viii) costs of complying with changes in govenument regulations, (ix) the relative illiquidity of real estate
invi 1ts, and (x) d in of both construction and long-term lending as traditional sources of such
funding leave or reduce their commitments to real estate based lending. In addition, periods of economic slowdown or
recession, rising interest rates or declining demand for real estate, or the public perception that any of these events may
occur, could result in declining rents or increased lease defaults,

We may incur costs complying with the Americans with Disabilities Aci and similar laws,

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act and similar statutory regimes in Australia and New Zealand or under
applicable state law, all places of public accommodation (including cinemas and theaters) are required to meet cestain
governmental requircments related to access and use by persons with disabilities. A determination that we are not in
compliance with those governmental requirements with respect to any of our propertics could result in the imposition of
fines or an award of damages to private litigants. The cost of addressing these issues could be substantial.

Hliguidity of real estate investmenis could impede our ability to respond to adverse changes in the perfortance
of our properties.

Real estate investments are relatively illiquid and, therefore, tend to limit our ability to vary our portlio
promptly in response to changes in economic or other conditions. Many of our properties are either (i) “special purpose”
properties that could not be readily converted to genensl residential, retail or office use, or (ii) undeveloped lznd. In
addition, certain significant expenditures associated with real estate investment, such as real estate taxes and maintenance
costs, are genemlly not reduced when eireur cause a reduction in income from the investment and competitive
factors may prevent the pass-through of such costs to tenants.
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Real eslate development involves a variety of visks.
Real estate development includes a variety of risks, including the following:

e The identification and acquisition of suitable develop properties. Competition for suitable development
properties is intense. Our ability to identify and acquire development properties may be limited by our size and
resources. Also, as we and our affiliates are considered to be “foreign owned” for purposes of certain Australian
and New Zealand statutes, we have been in the past, and may in the future be, subject to regulations that are not
applicable to otherpemons doing business in those countries.

o The procurement of necessary land use entitlements for the project. This process can take many years,
particuladly if opposed by competing interests. Competitors and community groups (sometimes funded by such
competitors) may object based on various factors including, for example, impacts on density, packing, traffie,
noise levels and the historic or architectural nature of the building being replaced. Ifthey are unsuccessful atthe
Joeal govemmental level, they may seek recourse to the courts or other tribunals, This can delay projects and
increase costs,

o The construction of the project on time and on budget. Construction risks include the availability and cost of
finance; the svailability and costs of material and labor; the costs of dealing with unknown site conditions
(including addressing pollution or environmental wastes deposited upon the property by prior owners);
inclement weather conditions; and the ever-present potential for labor related disruptions,

o The leasing or sell-out of the project. Ultimately, thers are risks involved in the leasing of a rental propesty or
the sale ofa condominium or built-for-sale propexty. For our entertainment themed retail centers (“ETRCs”), the
extent to which our cinemas can contimue to serve as an anchor tenant will be influenced by the same factors as
will influence generally the results of our cinema operations. Leasing or sale can be influenced by economic
factors that are neither known nor knowable at the coxmmencement of the development process and by local,
national, and even international economic conditians, both real and perceived,

«  Therefimancing of completed properties. Propertics arc often developed using relatively short-term loans. Upon
completion of the project, it may be necessary to find replacement financing for these loans, This process
involves risk as to the availability of such pennanent or other take-out financing, the inferest rates, and the
peymont terms applicable to such financing, which may be advewely influenced by local, national, or
intemational factors. To date, we have been successful in negotiating development loans with roll over or other
provisions mitigating ourneed to refinance immediately upon completion of construction.

The ownership of properties involves risk,

The ownership of investment properties invelves risks, such as: (i) ongoing leasing and re-leasing risks, (i)
ongoing financing and re-financing risks, (ifi) market risks as to the multiples offered by buyers ofinvestment properties,
(iv) dsks related to the ongoing compliance with changing governmental regulation (including, without limitation,
environmental Jaws and requirements to remediate environmental contamination that may exist on a property (such as, by
way of example, asbestos), even though not deposited on the property by us), (v) relative illiquidity compared to some
other types of assets, and (vi) susceptibility of assots to uninsurable risks, such as biological, chemicel or nuclear
terrorism. Furthermore, as our properties are typically developed around an entertainment use, the attractiveness of these
properties to tenants, sources of finance and real estate investors will be influenced by market perceptions of the benefits

and detriments of such entertainment type properties.

A number of our assets are in geologically active areas, presenting visk of earthquake and land movement.

We have cinemas in Califomia and New Zealand, areas which present a greater risk of earthquake and/or land
movement than other locations, New Zealand has in recent periods had several major earthquakes damaging our facilities
in Christchurch and Wellington, The ability to insure forsuch casualties is limited and may become more difficult and/or
more expensive in futurs petiods.

Intemational Business Rigks

Our intemational operations are subject to a variety ofrisks, including the following:
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Risk of currency flucinations. While we report our eamings and assets in US dollars, substantial pertions of our
revenue and of our obligations are denominated in ejther Australian or New Zealand dollars. The value of these
currencies can vary significantly compared to the US dollar and compared to each other. We typically have not hedged
against these currency fluctnations, but rather have relied upon the natural hedges that exist as aresult of the fact that our
film costs are typically fixed as a percentage of the box office, and our local operating costs and obligations are likewise
typically denominated in local currencies. However, we do have debt at our parent company Jevel that is serviced by our
overseas cash flow and our ability to service this debt could be adversely impacted by declines in the relative value ofthe
Australian and New Zealand dollar compared to the US dollar. $7.5 million (AUS$8.4 million) of our Australian cash and
$7.2 million (NZ$8.7 million) of our New Zealand cash is denominated in local cumencies and subject to the risk of
currency exchange rate fluctuations. Also, our use of local borrowings to mitigate the business risk of currency
fluctuations has reduced our flexibility to move cash between jurisdictions, Set forth below is a chart of the exchange
ratios between these three cumencies over the past twenty years:

Exchiange Rates
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o  Riskof adverse government vegulation. At the present time, we belicve that relations between the United States,
Australia, and New Zealand are good. However, no assurances can be given that this relationship will continue
and that Australia and New Zealand will not in the future seek to regulate more highly the business done by US
companies in their countries,

» Risk of adverse labor velations. Our labor rolations and costs of labor (including future government
requirements with respect to pension Habilities, disability insurance and health coverage, and vacations end
leave).

Risks Associated with Certajp Discontinued Operations

Certain of our subsidiaries were previously in industrial businesses. As a consequence, properties that are
cumently owned or msy have in the past been owned by these subsidiaries may prove to have environmental
issues. Where we have kmowledge of such environmental issues and are in a posjtion to make an. assessment as o our
exposure, we have established what we believe to be appropriate resorves, but we are exposed to the risk that
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cumrently unknown problems may be discovered. These subsidiaries ase also exposed to potential claims related to
exposure of former employees to coal dust, asbestos, and other materials now considered to be, o which in the future may
be found to be, carcinogenic or otherwise injurious to health.

Operating Results, Finangial Struc! omowing Ris]
From time to time, we may have negative working capial.

In recent years, as we have invested our cash in new acquisitions and the development of our existing properties,
we have from time to time had negative working capital. This negative working capital is typical in the cinema
exhibition industry because our shert-term lizbilities are in part financing our long-term assets instead of long-term
liabilities financing shoxt-term assetsas is the case in other industries such as manufacturing and distribution.

We have sub ial short to medium term debt.

Generally speaking, we have historically financed our operations through relatively shortterm debt. No
assurances can be given that we will be able to refinance this debt, or if we can, that the terms will be
reasonable. However, as a counterbalance to this debt, we have significant unencumbered real property assefs, which
could be sold to pay debt or encumbered to assist in therefinancing of existing debt, ifnecessary.

Tn February 2007, we issued $50.0 million in 20-year Trust Preferred Securities (“TPS"), and utilized the net
proceeds principally to retire short-term bank debt in New Zealand and Australia. The interest rate on our TPS was only
fixed for five years. Additionally, we used US dollar denominated obligations to retire debt denominated in New Zealand
and Australian dollars which has increased our exposure to cumency risk. In the first quarter of 2009, we repurchased
$22.9 million ofour TPS at a 50% discount,

At the present time, corporate borrowers both domestically and intemationally are facing greater than normal
constraints on liquidity. No assurances can be given that we will be able to refinance these debts as they become due.

We have substantial lease liabilities.

Most of our cinemas operate in leased facilities, These leases typically have cost of living or othex rent
adjustment features and require that we operate the properties as cinemas, A down tum in our cinema exhibition business
might, depending on its severity, adversely affect the ability of our cinema operating subsidiaries to meet thess rental
obligations. Bven if our cinema exhibition business remains relatively constant, cinema level cash flow will likely be
adversely affected unless we can increase our revenue sufficiently to offset increases in our rental liabilities. Unlike
property rental leases, our newly added digital equipment leases do not have cost of living ar other lease adjustment
features.

Our stock Is thinly traded.

Our stock is thinly iraded, with an average daily volume in 2013 of only approximately 33,000 shares. This can
result in significant volatility, as demand by buyers and sellers can easily get out of balance.

ershi] ement Strueture, Co) te Governayee, ontrol Rig
The interests of our controlling stockholder may conflict with your interests.

M. James J. Cotter beneficially owns 70.4% of our outstanding Class B Stock. Our Class A Stock is non-voting,
while our Class B Stock represents all of the voting power of our Company. As a resalt, as of December 31, 2013, Mr.
Cotter controlled 70.4% of the voting power ofall of our outstauding common stock, Foras long as Mt Cotter continues
to own shares of common stock representing more than 50% of the voting power of our common
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stock, he will be able to elect all of the members of our board of directors and determine the outcome of all maiters
submitted to a vote of our stockholders, including matters involving or other busi binations, the
acquisition or disposition of assets, the incurrence ofindebtedness, the issuance of any additional shares of common stock
or other equity securities and the payment of dividends on common stock. Mr. Cotter will also have the power to prevent
or cause a change in contwl, aud could take other actions that might be desimble to Mz Cotier but not to other
stockholders. In addition, Mr. Cotter and his affiliates have controlling interests in companies in related and unrelated
industries. In the future, we may participate in transactions with these companies (sce Note 25 — Related Partles end
Transactions to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements),

Since we are a Controlled Company, our Directors have determined fo take ad ge of certain exemp
provide by the NASDAQ from the corporate governance rules adopted by that Exchange.

Generally speaking, the NASDAQ requires listed companies to meet certain mini corporate go
provisions. Howeveg 2 Controlled Corporation, such as we, may elect not to be govemed by certain of these
provisions. Ourboarnd of ditectors has elected to exempt our Company from requirements that (i) at least amajoxity of our
directors be independent, (if) nominees to our board of directors be nominated by 2 committes comprised entirely of
independent directors or by a majoxity of our Company’s independent directors, and (i) the compensation of our chief
executive officer be determined or recommended to our board of directors by 2 compensation committee comprised
entirely of independent directors or by a majority of our Company's independent directors. Notwithstanding the
determination by our board of directors to opt-out of these NASDAQ requirements, a majority of our board of directors is
nevertheless cummently comprised of independent directors, and our compensation committee is nevertheless eumently
camprised entirely of independent directors.

We depend on key personnel for our current and future performance.

Our current and future performance depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our
senior management team and other key personnel. The loss or unavailability to us of any member of our senior
management team or 2 key employes could significantly harm us. We canniot assure you that we would be able to locate

or employ qualified rep ts for seniorm t or key employees on acceptable terms,
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Item 1B - Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2015-06-12 Complaint I JA1-JA29
2015-06-16 | AOS William Gould I JA30-JA31
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS — Timothy Storey I JA32-JA33
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Guy Adams I JA34-JA35
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Edward Kane I JA36-JA37
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - Ellen Cotter I JA38-JA39
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - RDI I JA40-JA41
2015-06-18 émended AQS - Margaret I JA42-TA43
otter
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Douglas
McEachern 5 I JA44-JA45
2015-10-22 Eirst Amended Verified I JA46-TA95
omplaint
2015-11-10 | Scheduling Order and Order
Setting Civil Jury Trial, Pre-Trial I JA96-JA99
Conference and Calendar Call
2016-03-14 | Answer to First Amended
Complaint filed by Margaret
Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Douglas I JA100-JA121
McEachern, Guy Adams, and
Edward Kane
2016-03-29 Reading International, Inc.
(“RDI”)'s Answer to James J.
Cotter, Jr.'s First Amended I JA122-JA143
Complaint
2016-04-05 | Judy Codding and Michael
Wrotniak's Answer to First I JA144-JA167
Amended Complaint
2016-09-02 ?:econd Amended Verified I JA168-JA224
omplaint
2016-09-23 | Defendant William Gould's MS]
(pages 1 through 19) I JA225-JA250
2016-09-23 | Defendant William Gould's MS]J

(pages 20 through 39)

II

JA251-JA263
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Date
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Vol. #

Page Nos.

2016-09-23

Appendix of Exhibits to
Defendant William Gould’s MSJ
(through Exhibit 23)

II

JA264-TA268

2016-09-23

Exhibit A — Declaration of
William Gould ISO MSJ

II

JA269-JA272

2016-09-23

Exhibit B — Declaration of
Shoshana E. Bannett ISO
William Gould’s MSJ

II

JA273-JA279

Exhibits 1-46 ISO Declaration of
Shoshana E. Bannett ISO
William Gould’s MS]J

I1, 111,
IV, vV

JA280-JA1049

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants’ Motion
for Summary Judgment (No. 1)
Re: Plaintiff's Termination and

Reinstatement Claims

V, VI,
VII,
VIII

JA1050-JA1862
(Under Seal)

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment
(No. 2) Re: The Issue of Director
Independence (“Partial MSJ No.
2//)

VIII,
IX, X

JA1863-JA2272
(Under Seal)

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment
(No. 3) On Plaintiff's Claims
Related to the Purported
Unsolicited Offer (“Partial MS]
No. 3”)

JA2273-JA2366

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment
(No. 4) On Plaintiff's Claims
Related to the Executive
Committee (“Partial MSJ] No. 4”)

JA2367-JA2477
(Under Seal)

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment
(No. 5) On Plaintiff's Claims
Related to the Appointment of
Ellen Cotter as CEO (“Partial
MSJ No. 5”)

X, XI

JA2478-JA2744
(Under Seal)
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2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment
(No. 6) Re Plaintiff's Claims
Related to the Estate's Option
Exercise, the Appointment of
Margaret Cotter, the
Compensation Packages of Ellen
Cotter and Margaret Cotter, and
the Additional Compensation to
Margaret Cotter and Guy
Adams (“Partial MSJ No. 6”)

XI, XII,
XIII,
XIV

JA2745-]A3275
(Under Seal)

2016-09-23

Plaintiff James Cotter Jr.’s
Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment

X1V

JA3276-JA3310

2016-09-23

Declaration of James J. Cotter,
Jr., ISO James J. Cotter Jr.’s
Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment

XIV

JA3311-JA3315

2016-09-23

Appendix of Exhibits and Table
of Contents re Declaration of
James J. Cotter, Jr., ISO James ]J.
Cotter Jr.”s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment

X1V

JA3316-JA3318

2016-09-23

Exhibits 1-46 ISO Declaration of
James J. Cotter, Jr., ISO James J.
Cotter Jr.”s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment

X1V,
XV

JA3319-JA3726
(Under Seal)

2016-10-03

RDI’s Joinder to Individual
Defendants’ Partial MSJ No. 1

XV

JA3725-JA3735

2016-10-03

RDI’s Joinder to the Individual
Defendants” MSJ No. 2 re The
Issue of Director Independence

XV,
XVI

JA3736-JA3757

2016-10-03

RDI’s Joinder to the Individual
Defendants” MSJ No. 4 re
Plaintiff’s Claims Related to The
Executive Committee

XVI

JA3758-JA3810

2016-10-13

Individual Defendants’
Opposition to Plaintiff James J.
Cotter Jr.”s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment

XVI

JA3811-JA3846
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Page Nos.

2016-10-23

Declaration of Counsel Noah S.
Helpern ISO the Defendants’
Opposition to Plaintiff James J.
Cotter Jr.”s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment with
Exhibits 1-18

XVI

JA3847-JA3930
(Under Seal)

2016-10-13

Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr.'s
Opposition to Individual
Defendants' Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment (No. 1) re
Plaintiff’s Termination and
Reinstatement Claims

XVI

JA3931-JA3962

2016-10-13

Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr.'s
Opposition to Individual
Defendants' Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment (No. 2) re
The Issue of Director
Independence

XVI

JA3963-JA3990

2016-10-13

Individual Defendants’
Opposition to Plaintiff James J.
Cotter Jr.”s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment

XVI,
XVII

JA3991-JA4009

2016-10-13

RDI's Joinder to Individual
Defendants” Opposition to
Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment

XVII

JA4010-JA4103

2016-10-13

Plaintiff James J. Cotter Jr.'s
Opposition to Defendant
Gould's Motion for Summary
Judgment

XVII

JA4104-JA4140

2016-10-17

Appendix of Exhibits ISO
Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr.'s
Opposition to Individual
Defendants' Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment (No. 1) re
Plaintiff’s Termination and
Reinstatement Claims

XVII,
XVIII

JA4141-JA4328
(Under Seal)
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2016-10-17

Appendix of Exhibits ISO
Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr.'s
Opposition to Individual
Defendants' Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment (No. 2) re:
The Issue of Director
Independence

XVIII,
XIX

JA4329-JA4507
(Under Seal)

2016-10-17

Appendix of Exhibits ISO Cotter,
Jr.'s Opposition to Gould's MS]

XIX

JA4508-] A4592
(Under Seal)

2016-10-21

Individual Defendants” Reply
ISO of their Partial MSJ No. 1

XIX

JA4593-JA4624

2016-10-21

Reply ISO Individual
Defendants” Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment (No. 2) re
the Issue of Director
Independence

XIX

JA4625-JA4642

2016-10-21

RDI Reply ISO Individual
Defendants” MSJ No. 1

XIX

JA4643-JA4652

2016-10-21

RDI Reply ISO Individual
Defendants” MSJ No. 2

XIX

JA4653-JA4663

2016-10-21

RDI’s Reply ISO William
Gould’s MSJ

XIX

JA4664-TA4669

2016-10-21

Defendant William Gould’s
Reply ISO Motion for Summary
Judgment (including decl. and
exhibits)

XIX

JA4670-JA4695

2016-10-21

Declaration of Shoshana E.
Bannett ISO Defendant William
Gould’s Reply ISO MS]J

XIX

JA4696-JA4737

2016-10-26

Individual Defendants’
Objections to the Declaration of
James J. Cotter, Jr. Submitted in
Opposition to all Individual
Defendants” Motions for Partial
Summary Judgment

XX

JA4738-JA4749

2016-11-01

Transcript of Proceedings re:
Hearing on Motions, October 27,
2016

XX

JA4750-JA4904

2016-12-20

RDI’s Answer to Plaintiff's
Second Amended Complaint

XX

JA4905-JA4930
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2016-12-21

Order Re Individual Defendants'
Partial MSJ Nos. 1-6 and MIL to
Exclude Expert Testimony

XX

JA4931-JA4934

2016-12-22

Notice of Entry of Order on
Partial MSJ Nos. 1-6 and MIL to

Exclude Expert Testimony

XX

JA4935-JA4941

2016-10-04

1st Amended Order Setting Civil
Jury Trial, Pre-Trial Conference,
and Calendar Call

XX

JA4942-A4945

2017-11-09

Individual Defendants’
Supplement to Partial MS] Nos.
1,2,3,5, and 6

XX,
XXI

JA4946-JA5000
(Under Seal)

2017-11-27

Transcript of 11-20-2017 Hearing
on Motion for Evidentiary
Hearing re Cotter, Jr., Motion to
Seal EXs 2, 3 and 5 to James
Cotter Jr.'s MIL No. 1

XXI

JA5001-JA5020

2017-11-28

Individual Defendants” Answer
to Plaintiff's Second Amended
Complaint

XXI

JA5021-JA5050

2017-12-01

Request For Hearing On
Defendant William Gould's
Previously-Filed MS]

XXI

JA5051-JA5066

2017-12-01

Cotter Jr.’s Supplemental
Opposition to Partial MSJ Nos. 1
and 2 and Gould MS]J

XXI

JA5067-JA5080

2017-12-01

Declaration of Akke Levin ISO
SUPP OPPS to Motions for
Summary Judgment Nos. 1 and
2 and Gould Summary
Judgment

XXI

JA5081-JA5091

2017-12-01

Plaintift’s Supplemental OPPS to
MSJ Nos. 2 and 5 and Gould

Summary Judgment Motion

XXI

JA5092-JA5107

2017-12-01

Declaration of Akke Levin ISO
Plaintiff’s Supplemental OPPS to
MS]J Nos. 2 and 5 and Gould
Summary Judgment Motion

XXI

JA5108-JA5225
(Under Seal)
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2017-12-01

Plaintiff’s Supplemental OPPS to
MMSJ Nos. 2 and 6 and Gould

Summary Judgment Motion

XXI

JA5226-JA5237

2017-12-01

Declaration of Akke Levin ISO
Plaintiff’s Supplemental OPPS to
MSJ Nos. 2 and 6 and Gould
Summary Judgment Motion

XXII

JA5238-JA5285

2017-12-01

Plaintiff James Cotter Jr’s
Supplemental Opposition to So-
Called Summary Judgment
Motions Nos. 2 and 3 and Gould
Summary Judgment Motion

XXII

JA5286-JA5306

2017-12-01

Declaration of Akke Levin ISO
Plaintiff James Cotter Jr’s
Supplemental Opposition to So-
Called Summary Judgment
Motions Nos. 2 and 3 and Gould
Summary Judgment Motion

XXII,
XXIII

JA5307-JA5612

2017-12-04

Defendant William Gould's
Supplemental Reply ISO of MSJ

XXIII

JA5613-JA5629

2017-12-05

Declaration of Shoshana E.
Bannett ISO William Gould’s
Supplemental Reply ISO MS]

XXIII,
XXIV

JA5630-JA5760

2017-12-04

Reply ISO Individual
Defendants” Renewed Motions
for Partial Summary Judgment
Nos. 1 and 2

XXIV

JA5761-JA5790

2017-12-08

Joint Pre-Trial Memorandum

XXIV

JTA5791-JA5822

2017-12-11

Transcript from December 11,
2017 Hearing on Motions for
[Partial] Summary Judgment,
Motions In Limine, and Pre-Trial
Conference

XXIV

JA5823-JA5897

2017-12-19

Cotter Jr.”s Motion for
Reconsideration or Clarification
of Ruling on Partial MSJ Nos. 1,
2 and 3 and Gould's Summary
Judgment Motion and
Application for Order
Shortening Time (“Motion for
Reconsideration”)

XXV

JA5898-JA6014
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2017-12-26

Individual Defendants'
Opposition To Plaintiff's

Motion For Reconsideration or
Clarification of Ruling on
Motions for Summary Judgment
Nos 1,2 and 3

XXV

JA6015-JA6086

2017-12-27

Gould’s Opposition to Plaintiff's
Motion for Reconsideration of
Ruling on Gould’s MSJ

XXV

JA6087-JA6091

2017-12-27

Declaration of Shoshana E.
Bannett in Support of Gould’s
Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion
for Reconsideration of Ruling on
Gould’s MSJ

XXV,
XXVI

JA6092-JA6169

2017-12-28

Order Re Individual Defendants'
Motions for Partial Summary
Judgment and Defendants’
Motions in Limine

XXVI

JA6170-JA6176

2017-12-28

Motion [to] Stay and Application
for OST

XXVI

JA6177-JA6185

2017-12-29

Transcript of 12-28-2017 Hearing
on Motion for Reconsideration
and Motion for Stay

XXVI

JA6186-JA6209

2017-12-28

Court Exhibit 1-Reading Int'],
Inc. Board of Directors Meeting
Agenda to 12-28-17 Hearing

XXVI

JA6210-JA6211
(Under Seal)

2017-12-29

Notice of Entry of Order Re
Individual Defendants' Partial
MS]Js, Gould’s Motion for
Summary Judgment, and
parties” Motions in Limine

XXVI

JA6212-JA6222

2017-12-29

Cotter Jr.’s Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and for Stay & OST

XXVI

JA6223-JA6237

2018-01-02

Individual Defendants'
Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion
for Rule 54(b) Certification and
Stay

XXVI

JA6238-JA6245

2018-01-03

Cotter Jr.” Reply ISO Motion for
Rule 54(b) Certification and Stay

XXVI

JA6246-JA6253
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2018-01-04

Order Granting Plaintiff's
Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification

XXVI

JA6254-TA6256

2018-01-04

Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion
to Stay and Motion for
Reconsideration

XXVI

JA6257-JA6259

2018-01-04

The Remaining Director
Defendants” Motion for
Judgment as a Matter of Law

XXVI

JA6260-JA6292

2018-01-04

Notice of Entry of Order
Granting Plaintiff's Motion for
Rule 54(b) Certification

XXVI

JA6293-JA6299
(Under Seal)

2018-01-04

Notice of Entry of Order
Denying Plaintiff's Motion to
Stay and Motion for
Reconsideration

XXVI

JA6300-JA6306

2018-01-05

Transcript of January 4, 2018
Hearing on Plaintiff's Motion for
Rule 54(b) Certification

XXVI

JA6307-JA6325

2018-02-01

Notice of Appeal

XXVI

JA6326-TA6328
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2016-10-04 1st Amended Order Setting Civil

Jury Trial, Pre-Trial Conference, XX | JA4942-A4945

and Calendar Call
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Douglas

McEachern 5 I JA44-JA4S
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Edward Kane I JA36-JA37
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - Ellen Cotter I JA38-JA39
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Guy Adams I JA34-JA35
2015-06-18 ég;f;ded AQS - Margaret I JA42-TA43
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - RDI I JA40-JA41
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS — Timothy Storey | JA32-JA33
2016-03-14 | Answer to First Amended

Complaint filed by Margaret

Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Douglas I JA100-JA121

McEachern, Guy Adams, and

Edward Kane
2015-06-16 | AOS William Gould | JA30-JA31
2016-09-23 | Appendix of Exhibits and Table

of Contents re Declaration of

James J. Cotter, Jr., ISO James J. XIV | JA3316-JA3318

Cotter Jr.”s Motion for Partial

Summary Judgment
2016-10-17 | Appendix of Exhibits ISO Cotter, xpx | JA4508-JA4592

Jr.'s Opposition to Gould's MSJ (Under Seal)
2016-10-17 | Appendix of Exhibits ISO

Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr.'s

Opposition to Individual

D}e)f};ndants' Motion for Partial i\\;gi {éiailr_gz;%%

Summary Judgment (No. 1) re
Plaintiff’s Termination and
Reinstatement Claims
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2016-10-17

Appendix of Exhibits ISO
Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr.'s
Opposition to Individual
Defendants' Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment (No. 2) re:
The Issue of Director
Independence

XVIII,
XIX

JA4329-JA4507
(Under Seal)

2016-09-23

Appendix of Exhibits to
Defendant William Gould’s MS]J
(through Exhibit 23)

II

JA264-JA268

2015-06-12

Complaint

TAT-JA29

2018-01-03

Cotter Jr.” Reply ISO Motion for
Rule 54(b) Certification and Stay

XXVI

JA6246-TA6253

2017-12-19

Cotter Jr.”s Motion for
Reconsideration or Clarification
of Ruling on Partial MSJ Nos. 1,
2 and 3 and Gould's Summary
Judgment Motion and
Application for Order
Shortening Time (“Motion for
Reconsideration”)

XXV

JA5898-JA6014

2017-12-29

Cotter Jr.”s Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and for Stay & OST

XXVI

JA6223-JA6237

2017-12-01

Cotter Jr.’s Supplemental
Opposition to Partial MSJ Nos. 1
and 2 and Gould MSJ

XXI

JA5067-JA5080

2017-12-28

Court Exhibit 1-Reading Int'],
Inc. Board of Directors Meeting
Agenda to 12-28-17 Hearing

XXVI

JA6210-JA6211
(Under Seal)

2017-12-01

Declaration of Akke Levin ISO
Plaintiff James Cotter Jr’s
Supplemental Opposition to So-
Called Summary Judgment
Motions Nos. 2 and 3 and Gould
Summary Judgment Motion

XXII,
XXIII

JA5307-JA5612

2017-12-01

Declaration of Akke Levin ISO
Plaintift’s Supplemental OPPS to
MS]J Nos. 2 and 5 and Gould
Summary Judgment Motion

XXI

JA5108-JA5225
(Under Seal)
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2017-12-01

Declaration of Akke Levin ISO
Plaintiff’s Supplemental OPPS to
MS]J Nos. 2 and 6 and Gould
Summary Judgment Motion

XXII

JA5238-JA5285

2017-12-01

Declaration of Akke Levin ISO
SUPP OPPS to Motions for
Summary Judgment Nos. 1 and
2 and Gould Summary
Judgment

XXI

JA5081-JA5091

2016-10-23

Declaration of Counsel Noah S.
Helpern ISO the Defendants’
Opposition to Plaintiff James J.
Cotter Jr.”s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment with
Exhibits 1-18

XVI

JA3847-JA3930
(Under Seal)

2016-09-23

Declaration of James J. Cotter,
Jr., ISO James J. Cotter Jr.’s
Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment

XIV

JA3311-JA3315

2017-12-27

Declaration of Shoshana E.
Bannett in Support of Gould’s
Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion
for Reconsideration of Ruling on
Gould’s MSJ

XXV,
XXVI

JA6092-JA6169

2016-10-21

Declaration of Shoshana E.
Bannett ISO Defendant William
Gould’s Reply ISO MSJ

XIX

JA4696-JA4737

2017-12-05

Declaration of Shoshana E.
Bannett ISO William Gould’s
Supplemental Reply ISO MS]

XXIII,
XXIV

JA5630-JA5760

2016-10-21

Defendant William Gould’s
Reply ISO Motion for Summary
Judgment (including decl. and
exhibits)

XIX

JA4670-JA4695

2016-09-23

Defendant William Gould's MS]
(pages 1 through 19)

JA225-JA250

2016-09-23

Defendant William Gould's MS]J
(pages 20 through 39)

II

JA251-JA263

2017-12-04

Defendant William Gould's
Supplemental Reply ISO of MS]

XXIII

JA5613-JA5629
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2016-09-23

Exhibit A — Declaration of
William Gould ISO MS]J

II

JA269-JA272

2016-09-23

Exhibit B — Declaration of
Shoshana E. Bannett ISO
William Gould’s MSJ

II

JA273-JA279

2016-09-23

Exhibits 1-46 ISO Declaration of
James J. Cotter, Jr., ISO James J.
Cotter Jr.”s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment

X1V,
XV

JA3319-JA3724
(Under Seal)

Exhibits 1-46 ISO Declaration of
Shoshana E. Bannett ISO
William Gould’s MSJ

I1, I1I,
IV, vV

JA280-JA1049

2015-10-22

First Amended Verified
Complaint

JA46-TA95

2017-12-27

Gould’s Opposition to Plaintiff's
Motion for Reconsideration of
Ruling on Gould’s MSJ

XXV

JA6087-JA6091

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment
(No. 2) Re: The Issue of Director
Independence (“Partial MSJ No.
2//)

VIII,
IX, X

JA1863-JA2272
(Under Seal)

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment
(No. 3) On Plaintiff's Claims
Related to the Purported
Unsolicited Offer (“Partial MS]
No. 3”)

JA2273-JA2366

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment
(No. 4) On Plaintiff's Claims
Related to the Executive
Committee (“Partial MSJ No. 4”)

JA2367-] A2477
(Under Seal)

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment
(No. 5) On Plaintiff's Claims
Related to the Appointment of
Ellen Cotter as CEO (“Partial
MSJ No. 5”)

X, XI

JA2478-JA2744
(Under Seal)
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2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment
(No. 6) Re Plaintiff's Claims
Related to the Estate's Option
Exercise, the Appointment of
Margaret Cotter, the
Compensation Packages of Ellen
Cotter and Margaret Cotter, and
the Additional Compensation to
Margaret Cotter and Guy
Adams (“Partial MSJ No. 6”)

XI, XII,
XIII,
XIV

JA2745-]A3275
(Under Seal)

2017-12-26

Individual Defendants'
Opposition To Plaintiff's
Motion For Reconsideration or
Clarification of Ruling on

Motions for Summary Judgment
Nos 1,2 and 3

XXV

JA6015-JA6086

2018-01-02

Individual Defendants'
Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion
for Rule 54(b) Certification and
Stay

XXVI

JA6238-JA6245

2017-11-28

Individual Defendants” Answer
to Plaintiff's Second Amended
Complaint

XXI

JA5021-JA5050

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants” Motion
for Summary Judgment (No. 1)
Re: Plaintiff's Termination and

Reinstatement Claims

V, VI,
VII,
VIII

JA1050-JA1862
(Under Seal)

2016-10-26

Individual Defendants’
Objections to the Declaration of
James J. Cotter, Jr. Submitted in
Opposition to all Individual
Defendants” Motions for Partial
Summary Judgment

XX

JA4738-JA4749

2016-10-13

Individual Defendants’
Opposition to Plaintiff James J.
Cotter Jr.”s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment

XVI

JA3811-JA3846
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2016-10-13

Individual Defendants’
Opposition to Plaintiff James ]J.
Cotter Jr.”s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment

XVIJ,
XVII

JA3991-JA4009

2016-10-21

Individual Defendants” Reply
ISO of their Partial MSJ No. 1

XIX

JA4593-JA4624

2017-11-09

Individual Defendants’
Supplement to Partial MS] Nos.
1,2,3,5, and 6

XX,
XXI

JA4946-]JA5000
(Under Seal)

2017-12-08

Joint Pre-Trial Memorandum

XXIV

JA5791-JA5822

2016-04-05

Judy Codding and Michael
Wrotniak's Answer to First
Amended Complaint

I

JA144-JA167

2017-12-28

Motion [to] Stay and Application
for OST

XXVI

JA6177-JA6185

2018-02-01

Notice of Appeal

XXVI

JA6326-TA6328

2018-01-04

Notice of Entry of Order
Denying Plaintiff's Motion to
Stay and Motion for
Reconsideration

XXVI

JA6300-JA6306

2018-01-04

Notice of Entry of Order
Granting Plaintiff's Motion for
Rule 54(b) Certification

XXVI

JA6293-JA6299
(Under Seal)

2016-12-22

Notice of Entry of Order on

Partial MSJ Nos. 1-6 and MIL to
Exclude Expert Testimony

XX

JA4935-JA4941

2017-12-29

Notice of Entry of Order Re
Individual Defendants' Partial
MSJs, Gould’s Motion for
Summary Judgment, and
parties’ Motions in Limine

XXVI

JA6212-JA6222

2018-01-04

Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion
to Stay and Motion for
Reconsideration

XXVI

JA6257-JA6259

2018-01-04

Order Granting Plaintiff's
Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification

XXVI

JA6254-JA6256

2017-12-28

Order Re Individual Defendants'
Motions for Partial Summary
Judgment and Defendants’
Motions in Limine

XXVI

JA6170-JA6176
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2016-12-21

Order Re Individual Defendants'
Partial MSJ Nos. 1-6 and MIL to
Exclude Expert Testimony

XX

JA4931-JA4934

2016-09-23

Plaintiff James Cotter Jr.’s
Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment

X1V

JA3276-JA3310

2017-12-01

Plaintiff James Cotter Jr’s
Supplemental Opposition to So-
Called Summary Judgment
Motions Nos. 2 and 3 and Gould
Summary Judgment Motion

XXII

JA5286-JA5306

2016-10-13

Plaintiff James J. Cotter Jr.'s
Opposition to Defendant
Gould's Motion for Summary
Judgment

XVII

JA4104-JA4140

2016-10-13

Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr.'s
Opposition to Individual
Defendants' Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment (No. 1) re
Plaintiff’s Termination and
Reinstatement Claims

XVI

JA3931-JA3962

2016-10-13

Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr.'s
Opposition to Individual
Defendants' Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment (No. 2) re
The Issue of Director
Independence

XVI

JA3963-JA3990

2017-12-01

Plaintiff’s Supplemental OPPS to

MMSJ Nos. 2 and 6 and Gould
Summary Judgment Motion

XXI

JA5226-JA5237

2017-12-01

Plaintift’s Supplemental OPPS to
MSJ Nos. 2 and 5 and Gould

Summary Judgment Motion

XXI

JA5092-JA5107

2016-10-21

RDI Reply ISO Individual
Defendants” MSJ No. 1

XIX

JA4643-JA4652

2016-10-21

RDI Reply ISO Individual
Defendants” MSJ No. 2

XIX

JA4653-JA4663

2016-12-20

RDI’s Answer to Plaintiff's
Second Amended Complaint

XX

JA4905-JA4930

2016-10-03

RDI’s Joinder to Individual
Defendants’ Partial MSJ No. 1

XV

JA3725-JA3735

7
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2016-10-03

RDI’s Joinder to the Individual
Defendants” MSJ No. 2 re The
Issue of Director Independence

XV,
XVI

JA3736-JA3757

2016-10-03

RDI’s Joinder to the Individual
Defendants” MSJ No. 4 re
Plaintiff’s Claims Related to The
Executive Committee

XVI

JA3758-JA3810

2016-10-21

RDI’s Reply ISO William
Gould’s MSJ

XIX

JA4664-TA4669

2016-10-13

RDI's Joinder to Individual
Defendants” Opposition to
Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment

XVII

JA4010-JA4103

2016-03-29

Reading International, Inc.
(“RDI"”)'s Answer to James ]J.
Cotter, Jr.'s First Amended
Complaint

JA122-JA143

2016-10-21

Reply ISO Individual
Defendants” Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment (No. 2) re
the Issue of Director
Independence

XIX

JA4625-JA4642

2017-12-04

Reply ISO Individual
Defendants” Renewed Motions

for Partial Summary Judgment
Nos. 1 and 2

XXIV

JA5761-JA5790

2017-12-01

Request For Hearing On
Defendant William Gould's
Previously-Filed MS]

XXI

JA5051-JA5066

2015-11-10

Scheduling Order and Order
Setting Civil Jury Trial, Pre-Trial
Conference and Calendar Call

JA96-JA99

2016-09-02

Second Amended Verified
Complaint

JA168-JA224

2018-01-04

The Remaining Director
Defendants” Motion for
Judgment as a Matter of Law

XXVI

JA6260-JA6292
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2017-12-11

Transcript from December 11,
2017 Hearing on Motions for
[Partial] Summary Judgment,
Motions In Limine, and Pre-Trial
Conference

XXIV

JA5823-JA5897

2017-11-27

Transcript of 11-20-2017 Hearing
on Motion for Evidentiary
Hearing re Cotter, Jr., Motion to
Seal EXs 2, 3 and 5 to James
Cotter Jr.'s MIL No. 1

XXI

JA5001-JA5020

2017-12-29

Transcript of 12-28-2017 Hearing
on Motion for Reconsideration
and Motion for Stay

XXVI

JA6186-JA6209

2018-01-05

Transcript of January 4, 2018
Hearing on Plaintiff's Motion for
Rule 54(b) Certification

XXVI

JA6307-JA6325

2016-11-01

Transcript of Proceedings re:
Hearing on Motions, October 27,
2016

XX

JA4750-J A4904
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JAMES COTTER, JR.

05/16/2016

1 my activity at those entities because of my

2 appointment as president of RDI.

3 And so while -- and so at the point of

4 becoming president, my father and I had an agreement
5 that I would transition my role as president whereas
6 CEO of Cecelia and the agricultural entities into

7 one as a director, and my activity would be

8 curtailed to reflect the role as a director.

9 Q. And in fact, is that what happened?

10 A Yes.

11 Q. So when you took on the title of president
12 of Reading, what were the additional

13 responsibilities, job responsibilities as president
14 that you accepted?

15 A. Well, all of the responsibilities that a
16 president would normally accept, and spending, you
17 know, all of -- almost all of my time focused on

18 Reading, beginnimg, you know, in June of 2013.

19 Q. Okay. But if you could just elaborate for
20 me, what were the -- what were those
21 responsibilities, those typical responsibilities of
22 a president?
23 A To -- I wag reporting to the CEO, so I was
24 helping the CEO implement his short-term and
25 long-term vision. But I was also the primary

02:25:48

02:26:15

02:26:25

02:26:54

02:27:07
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JAMES COTTER, JR. 05/16/2016

executive responsible for all of the day-to-day
decisions. The executives reported to the
president, and I ultimately reported to the CEO.
So it was more of an executive role with
executive respongibilities because at that time, our 02:27:34
chief operating officer had resigned, and I had
really stepped into an operating role to fill the

vold that he left with his resignatiom.

Q. who was that CO00?

A. John Hunter. 02:27:53
Q. And was he replaced?

A, He was not replaced. But I became

president either at the same time, shortly after, or

before his resignation asg chief operating officer.

0. Was there a president before you tcok the 02:28:07
position?

A, No.

Q. So the position was -- the title, at least,

was created for you. That was, you were the first

president, there was no prior president? 02:28:17
A. I don't know if that's the case. There may

have been.
Q. But you didn't -- you didn't succeed

anybody in that position?

A. There wasn't a president at the company at 02:28:29
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JAMES COTTER, JR. 05/16/2016

§ 1 the time I became president.
2 Q. Who were the executives that reported to
3 you when you initially became president of Reading?
4 A. CFO. I don't know if there was a general
5 counsel, but the principal senior executives would 02:28:52
6 have reported to me.
7 0. But I'm -- guess that's what I'm asking.
8 Who were the principal senior executives?
9 You mentioned the CFO. I'm wondering who
10 else it was. 02:29:04
11 A. Yeah, I mean, technically, all of the
12 principal -- Wayne Smith, Matthew Bourke, Bob
13 Smerling. I mean, I think that's it.
14 Q. What were their job titles?
15 A. Wayne Smith was the managing director of 02:29:23
16 our Australia and New Zealand operation. Andrze]
17 Matyczynski was our chief financial officer. I
18 mean, Cralg Tompkins was an outside legal
19 consultant. Bob Smerling was the president of the
20 U.S. cinemas division. And my sister Margaret, 02:29:53
21 technically, who was a consultant in charge of the
22 live theater operatiom.
23 Q. So and when you say the major company
24 executives reported to you, you're including among
25 those people people who weren't, strictly speaking, 02:30:15
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JAMES COTTER, JR.

05/16/2016

gignificant experience serving as a CFO of a large
public REIT.

At the time my father wanted to hire a new
general counsel, so I hired Bill Ellis, who's a real
estate partner at a large law firm here in
Los Angeles with a lot of real estate experience.

I wag in the process of hiring a director

.of real estate and on the verge of bringing on board

an executive who had 25 to 30 years of real estate
development experience to preside over our domestic
real estate.

T -- whether it was as president or as CEO,
I wag instrumental in the company selling off some
of our nonincome-producing properties in Augtralia
and New Zealand. And at that time, T was putting
together a business plan for the company and getting
management reports from all of the heads of the

seven divisiong of Reading.

19

20

21

Putting to- -- I was on the verge of
putting together budgets for the whole company with

stretch goals.

22

23

24

25

1 had hired a director of real estate --
this might have been as president -- a director of
real estate for our Australia and New Zealand real

estate, who's been very successful in moving all of

03:11:06

03:11:28

03:11:59

03:12:34

03:12:49
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05/16/2016

JAMES COTTER, JR.

1 what the capital needs and what the business plans
2 that each of the divisions had and that that would
3 roll up into a plan for the entire company.

4 Q. So -- and you were -- did you have those

5 bottom-up business plans or not yet by the time you
6 were terminated?

7 A. I don't know exactly when. At some poiﬁt,
8 maybe it was February, maybe it was March, we

9 completed the business plan for the U.S. cinemas,
10 which was a significant division of the entire

11 company. My sister Margaret was continuing to work
12 on a business plan for the live theaters.

13 But we were almost there in terms Of now
14 having each of the divigions preparing business

15 plans and rolling them up into one unified plan for
16 the entire company as well as a unified budget,

17 which Dev had really been tasked with moving forward
18 as well.

19 Q. And did you have a -- I guess my question
20 is, at the time you were terminated, did you have a
21 draft --

22 A, No.

23 0. -- you had started?

24 A. I did not have a draft.
25 Q. So in terms of putting pen to paper or

03:22:15

03:22:28

03:22:44

03:23:01

03:23:07
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JAMES COTTER, JR.

05/16/2016

1 typewriter keys to the electronic page, you hadn't
2 atarted writing what would be the business plan that
3 you were contemplating?
4 A. As T said, I was waiting for the completion
5 of all the business plans from the seven divigions
6 of the company.
7 Now, there was some delay in getting those,
8 and I was putting, you know, thought to the overall
9 business plan. But it had not been finalized in a
10 form to be presented to the board.
11 Q. And T understand it hadn't been finalized.
12 My question's a little different. I just want to
13 make sure that I -- that there's not a document out
14 there that I don't recognize, that this is no --
15 A, No.
16 Q. -- draft?
17 A, No, no. No.
18 Q. Okay. In terms of the budget for the ;— by
19 the way, was there a date -- had you set an internal
20 deadline for creation of the business plan for the
21 company?
22 A. pid I set a date?
23 Q. Yeah, an internal date.
24 A, No.
25 Q. No?

03:23:21

03:23:36

03:23:45

03:24:00

03:24:10
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05/16/2016

JAMES COTTER, JR.

1 goals as a CEO?

2 A. I do.

3 Q. When you say "Update board to focus on

4 strategy,* what did you mean?

5 A. T meant that the board should get involved
6 with creating a strategy and be involved in the

7 process and that the company should operate

8 according to a business plan and that the board

9 gshould be involved in that process.

10 Q. and wag that something that you -- in fact,
11 did you present to the board in a time while you

12 were CEO a business plan with strategy,

13 understanding that you earlier said you didn't write
14 the business plan?

15 A. Right. That was -- I never presented --

16 MR. KRUM: Object to the characterization
17 of the testimony.

18 THE WITNESS: I never presented a plan to
19 the board prior to being terminated, but that was
20 one of the action items that I thought was important
21 for the company.
22 BY MR. TAYBACK:

23 Q. One of the -- the second one there says,

24 "develop better lines of communication with
25 ghareholders."

04:23:30

04:23:46

04:24:01

04:24:10

04:24:20
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James Cotter, Vol 2.

5/17/2016
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JAMES COTTER, JR., derivatively
on behalf of Reading International,
Inc.,
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vs. Case No.

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER, A-15-719860-B
Guy Adams, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS
McEACHERN, TIMOTHY STOREY,
WILLIAM GOULD, JUDY CODDING,
MICHAEL WROTNIAK, and DOES 1
through 100, inclusive, '
Defendants.

and
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.,

a Nevada corporation,
Nominal Defendant.
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T2 PARTNERS MANAGEMENT, LP, a
Delaware limited partnership,
doing business as KASE CAPITAL
MANAGEMENT, et al.,

Plaintiffs,

Ve .

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER,
Guy Adams, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS
McEACHERN, WILLIAM GOULD, JUDY
CODDING, MICHAEL WROTNIAK, CRAIG
TOMPKINS, and DOES 1 through 100,
inclusive,

Defendants.
and
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., a
Nevada corporation,

Nominal Defendant.

Videotaped Deposition of JAMES COTTER, JR.,
Volume II, taken at 865 South Figueroa Street,
10th Floor, Los Angeles, California, commencing
at 9:38 a.m. and ending at 4:37 p.m., Tuesday,
May 17, 2016, before Janice Schutzman, CSR No. 9509.
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1 THE WITNESS: I thought it was unusual, but
2 T also found Ellen and Margaret basically refusing
3 to report to me unusual. And routine buginess

4 matters that ordinarily arose in the company were

5 being converted into issues of personal dispute

6 between my sisters and me and issues about control.
7 and someone recommended that this could be helpful
8 to move the company forward and deal with those

9 issues.

10 BY MR. TAYBACK:

11 Q. And was the discussion forum disbanded at
12 gome point in time?

13 MR. KRUM: Objection, vague and ambiguous,
14 foundation.

15 THE WITNESS: I don't know if it was ever
16 officially disbanded. I think it more kind of

17 sputtered out.

18 BY MR. TAYBACK:

19 Q. Approximately when did you last -- was the
20 last discussion forum meeting that you recall?
21 A. There could have been one in December.

22 Q. The -- at some point, Mr. Storey took on --
23 Tim Storey took on a position of ombudsman. We

24 discussed that a little bit yesterday.

25 You recall that?

09:43AM

09:43AM

09:44AM

09:44AM

0S:45AM
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A. I do.
Q. Do you recall whose suggestion that was?

MR. KRUM: Objection, foundation.

THE WITNESS: My recollection is that it
was recommended by the so-called independent
directors.

BY MR. TAYBACK:
Q. And did you concur in that recommendation?

A, Initially, I was not supportive of the

Q. Why not?

A. Because I didn't think it was necessary.

Q. How wag it explained to you? How was the
proposal explained to you initially?

A. The proposal that was explained to me where
Tim took on thig official role as ombudsman was on,
I believe, March 13th, where Bill Gould asked me and
my two sisters to his office in Century City and
independently described to me with Tim Storey
present that the so-called independent directors had
decided that Tim Storey would beccome involved as an
ombudsman. There had been complaints raised against
me by my two gisters. I had reported complaints
againgt my two sisters.

And the board was at a high level and

09:45AM

09:45AM

09:46AM

09:46AM

09:47AM
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really wasn't in a position to understand the
disputes that were ongoing between me and my two
aigters and felt that Tim, who had a lot of
experience with corporate governance, could become
involved and he would be temporarily given authority 09:47AM
to interact with the three of us to investigate what
was going on between me and my two sisters and also
to help move the business forward.
and I understand that that same message was
communicated after my meeting with Tim and Bill to 09:47AM
my two sisters and that Bill had gaid that Tim would
cerve this function at the beguest of the so-called
independent directors until gsometime in June and
would report his findings to either Bill Gould or to
the independent committee, and that would be 09:48AM

sometime at the end of June.

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Q. and you said that you initially were not

supportive of this.
Did you say that to somebody in words or

subgtance, "Hey, this is unnecessary. 1 don't 09 :48AM
support thig"?

A. T don't recall a specific conversation. I
felt that.

Q. So you felt it, but you can't say that you
communicated it? 09:48AM
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1 What were you referring to by hating
2 putting him on the spot?
3 MR. KRUM: Objection, asked and answered.
4 If you can answer, go ahead.
5 THE WITNESS: This was just a way of 10:23AM
6 communicating to him an issue that arose or that was
7 continuing between myself and Margaret. And I
8 wanted him to be aware of her expectations so that
9 he coula appreciate what was going on at the
10 company. 10:24AM
11 BY MR. TAYBACK:
12 Q. And the question that you ended that email
13 with was, "but if the CEO of DNZ" --
14 That's a company in New Zealand; correct?
15 A. It is. 10:24AM
16 Q. nTf the CEO of DNZ came to you as
17 chairman with correspondence like this
18 from one of his lieutenants, what advice
19 would you give him?"
20 Did Mr. Storey respond to your question 10:24AM
21 about what advice he would give to a CEO faced with
22 correspondehce from one his lieqtenants like thig?
23 A. I don't recall.
24 Q. You did find it difficult to run the
25 company with your sisters, Ellen and Margaret, also 10:25AM

Page 344

Veritext Legal Solutions
866 299-5127

JA1264



James Cotter, Vol 2,

5/17/2016

1 working at Reading; correct?
2 MR. KRUM: Objection, vague and ambiguous,
3 assumes facts not in evidence.
4 THE WITNESS: I found it difficult working
5 with them because, by that point, the issues that T
6 was having with them relating to the trust and
7 estate matters had permeated the company, spread to
8 employees like Linda Pham and ultimately to the
9 board, and it was difficult because they wanted to
10 run Reading like a family-owned business and really
11 didn't want to be accountable to anyone. And so I
12 found that difficult running the company.
13 BY MR. TAYBACK:
14 Q. And did you trust Mr. Storey's judgment?
15 MR. KRUM: Objection, vague.
16 THE WITNESS: At that point in time?
17 BY MR. TAYBACK:
i8 Q. Yes.
19 A. I mean, selectively, I thought he had a lot
20 of experience. I trusted some of the things he said
21 but not everything.
22 Q. You said --
23 {(0ff the record.)
24 BY MR. TAYBACK:
25 Q. You say at that point in time when I asked

10:25AM

10:25AM

10:26AM

10:26AM

10:26AM
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1 Q. Okay. You say in the top part of that
2 email, page 5483, the page ending in that Bates
3 number, the last -- or you say:
4 "Lagt thing I would want is a
5 board member playing COO." 10:37AM
6 Why is that?
7 A. Because there -- I felt that there was a
8 distinction between the respongibilities of boards
9 and the‘responsibilities of management.
10 Q. What -- what's the distinction in your 10:3BAM
11 mind? What was the distinction at this point in
12 time?
13 A, Well, the board should -- the boards
14 should -- again, I mean, this was also more of a
15 reflection of I wanted to preserve my authority as 10:38AM
16 CEO because I felt that my sisters wanted to hollow
17 out my authority and put limitations and create
i8 executive committees that they were reporting to,
19 limit my authorities on approving certain items.
20 and so I wanted to maintain that authority 10:39AM
21 and not have board members playing the role of a
22 chief operating officer.
23 Q. Were you -- do you know of a person named
24 Bryant Crouse, C-R-0-U-8-E?
25 A, I do recall the name. 10:39AM
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Q. What do you recall?
A. I recall that a few years ago, one of the
directors -- I believe it was Al Villasenor -- had a

conversation with Bill Gould about this Bryant
Crouse, and they had recommended that he become 10:40AM
involved with the company and perform an assegsment
of our corporate governance or management structure.
And this was the time that my dad was
chairman and CEO of the company, before I became
president. And they were both recommending that 10:40AM
this individual get involved in the company and
perform an assessment and provide recommendations to
the company, to the board, to the management team,

to my father, on ways to improve the management and

corporate governance -- management, I believe, of 10:40AM
Reading.
Q. Were you aware that Mr. Gould and

Mr. Storey met with Mr. Crouse about acting as a

management comsultant for the counsel senior

management in the company? 10:41AM
AL I recall that there was a discussion, or I

learned about it at some point.
Q. Do you recall how you learned about it, who

told you?

A. It may have been Bill Gould. 10:41AM
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Q. And was it your understanding that they --
that Mr. Crouse had proposed that he could provide
30 hours of time meeting with you and bringing his
expertise to bear on successful management
development for $15,0007? 10:41AM
MR. KRUM: Objection, assumes facts not in
evidence, foundatiom.
THE WITNESS: I think it was the same type
of proposal that they were looking to implement that
they had implemented with my father some years back. 10:41aM
And given the issues that had arisen with my two
sisters, this proposal had arisen again.
BY MR. TAYBACK:
Q. And the proposal was to meet -- for him to
meet with you for a period of time to explore ways 10:42AM
that he could assist in the company's continued
successful management development, outstanding
leadership, and continued implementation of
organizationally sound management structures? Was
that your understanding as to what he was being -- 10:42AM
A. What -- '
MR. KRUM: Let me interpose the objections.
Objection, foundation, the document, which
the witness does not have, it speaks for itself.

BY MR. TAYBACK: 10:42AM
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1 Q. Was that your understanding as to what he
2 was being asked to do by Mr. Gould and Mr. Storey in
3 April of 20157
4 MR. KRUM: Objection, assumes facts not in
5 evidence, the document speaks for itself, and 10:42AM
6 foundation.
7 THE WITNESQ: Again, I had learned that
8 there was a proposal or that there had been
9 discussions with this gentleman that were similar to
10 the proposals that had been made years ago. 10:43AM
11 I don't recall what came of it.
12 THE REPQRTER: 185.
13 (Deposition Exhibit 185 was marked foxr
14 identification.)
15 BY MR. TAYQACK: 10:43AM
le6 Q. I'm just going to ask you whether you've
17 ever seen the written proposal that's reflected here
18 at Exhibit 185.
19 A, I can't recall having seen this document.
20 Q. But is it falr to say that in April, ox 10:43AM
21 between the time of April 15th, 2015, and the time
22 you were terminated as CEO, you never actually sat
23 down and met with Mr. Crouse?
24 A. No.
25 Q. I'm not going to have any more questions. 10:43AM
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1 Q. And are they all in Honolulu?

2 A. They're all on the island of Oahu.

3 Q. Did you wvisit them all?

4 A. Pretty much. I believe I did.

5 Q. Okay .

6 A. I believe I visited every one of them, vyes.
7 Q. Okay. And did you go with anybody.

8 A. On some occasionsg, I brought my family.

9 On -- for a lot of the theaters, I went alone.

10 Q. When you went with your family, did you

11 actually view a movie, or did you just go and

12 inspect the property?

13 A We watched a movie.

14 Q. How many did you go with your family to

15 watch a movie? One or two?

16 A, I can't recall. I don't think it was any
17 more than two. I mean, at most.

18 Q. Did -- when you went to the Reading

19 theaters in Hawaii, did you identify yourself to any
20 of the management there as someone who was the CEO
21 of Reading?
22 A, No, I didn‘t.

23 Q. Okay. Why not?
24 A. Because I wanted to almost be a mystery
25 shopper. I wanted to experience the theater and the

01:55PM

01:55PM

01 :55PM

01:56PM
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theater experience as a normal customer would and as
a normal family would. And I did not want any
gpecial treatment. I wanted to see how others

experienced the theater.

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Q. And was the trip a business expense? 01:56PM
A. The hot- -- one of the hotel rooms that I

had during the seven nights, I expensed. 1T don't

believe I expensed any of the dinners or the

airfare.
Q. Did you write down notes, do a report of 01:56PM

what your observations were?

A. I did.
Q. aAnd whose -- for whoge benefit was that?
A. . It was for my sistexr's benefit to prompt

her to see some of the isgues that I had experienced 01:57PM
at the theaters and to prompt her to start thinking
about addressing the renovation of the theaters and

the condition of the theaters in her business

report -- business plan that she was preparing.
Q. That's your sister Ellen you're talking 01:57BPM
about? |
A. Yes.
Q. The report that you wrote, did you -- how
long after you -- withdraw that.
Did you write it while you were in Hawaii, 01:57PM
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1 statement there that says:

2 *The board stands behind and

3 sﬁpports Jim, Jr. as CEO, however, the

4 board expects him to work respectfully

5 and professionally with his sisters." 02:36PM
6 It then goes on to sgay:

7 "The office environment and morale

8 must return to normalcy. Independent

) directors are investigating Linda's

10 claims and, if proven, the independent ) 02:36PM
11 directors may require Jim, Jr. to take

12 an anger management class."

13 Have yéu ever taken an anger management

14 class?

15 A, No. 02:36PM
16 Q. Did anybody ever suggest to you you should?

17 A. Never. I mean, outside of this incident

18 with Linda Pham, no.

19 Q. Did you ever hear that the perception at
20 Reading by employees is that you had a volatile 02:36PM
21 temper?
22 A. No.
23 MR. KRUM: Objection, assumes facts.
24 THE WITNESS: I heard it. I heard that.
25- But I believe that those allegations were brought by 02:37PM
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individuals like Linda Pham and Deb Watson, who, as
I described earlier, had been co-opted into this
family dispute, including my sister Ellen.

BY MR. TAYBACK:

Q. By whom did you hear that there was a
perception that you had an anger management problem?

A -I heard it from the directors.

Q. At a meeting or individually?

A T can't recall. It was either -- it's
probably individually or it -- maybe even in some of
this correspondence, and a lot of it sprung from the

'
episode with Linda Pham.

Q. And you said that there also was -- you had
an awareness that Ms. Watson also had expressed that
perception?

A Again, I don't think there was any merit at
all to the allegations that were made by Linda Pham
or Deb Watson.

Deb Watson is a -- not even a Reading
employee. She works for Ellen and Margaret on the
trust and estate mattexs.

Linda Pham was working for Ellen and
Margaret on the trust and estate matters at one time
and had been going through all df the emails at

Reading looking for emails from my father, from me,

02:37PM

02:37FPM

02:38PM

02:38PM

02:38PM
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1 at El- -- at, I believe, Ellen and Margaret's

2 direction.

3 So as T said, the direc- -- I asked the

4 directors, there is no basis to these claims, and

5 you should all investigate them.

6 Q. When you say "these claimg," what was your

7 understanding of Ms. Pham's claim?

8 A. T don't know what her claim was. I know

9 that she had filed a complaint with Doug McEachexn
10 séying that I had yelled at her ome day. But I've
11 never seen the complaint.

12 And once I heard that, I raised the issue
13 with a number of directors, giving tﬁem a full

14 timeline of the events, what I thought was happening
15 between Deb Pham -- Linda Pham, my sister Ellen, and
16 my sister Margaret, and that the board should

17 investigate.

18 Q. So when you say you don't know what her

19 claim was, you haven't seen the claim, but you have
20 some understanding of what the claim was?

21 A. That I raigsed my voice to her at one point,
22 but I haven't seen the claim, so I can't say.

23 Q. And where did you hear -- your
24 understanding that you -- you're expressing here,
25 where did you get that from?

02:38PM

02:39PM

02:39PM

02:39PM

02:40PM
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1 A. I can't recall a formal policy being

2 ingtituted.

3 Q. I'm sorry?

4 A. At some poilnt, my sister Margaret

5 complained about me leaving my door shut. . 03:29PM
6 And in response to those complaints, which

7 were communicated to the directors and then

8 communicated to me, I endeavored to keep my door

9 open.

Q. S0 did the directors, then, tell you to 03:30PM
keep your door open while you were in the office?
A. At gome point, someone communicated

something to me.

Q. Someone from the board?
A, I caﬁ't recall. 03:30PM
Q. I'm going to go back and ask you a few
17 questions about Linda Pham.
18 She had been your father's assistant;
19 correct?
20 A. Yes. 03:30PM
21 Q. and then after your father passed away, at
22 gome point she also became Bill Ellis's assistant;
23 correct?
24 A. Yes.
25 Q. Wag she ever your assistant? 03:30PM
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1 A. No.

2 Q. Did you ever yell or raise your voice at

3 Guy Adams?

4 A. I did.

5 Q. Describe for me -- well, was it once or 03:40PM
6 more than once?

7 A. I only recall once.

8 Q. Degcribe for me the instance you recall.

9 A. It was sometime in 2014, and I gaid that he
10 had just taken too long working on certain matters 03:40PM
11 for my father and he had just let things go.

12 And I was upset with Guy. And before the
13 conversation had concluded, I was behind my desk, T

14 stood up, and I apologized to him for raising my

15 voice. 03:41PM
16 That was the only occasion that I had with

17 Guy before my termination.

18 Q. on the day that you were terminated, did
19 Bill Ellis ask you to leave the Reading office?.
20 A. He -- 03:41PM
21 MR. KRUM: When?
22 MR. TAYBACK: On the day he was
23 terminated --
24 MR. KRUM: Well -~
25 MR. TAYBACK: -- did Bill Ellis ask him to 03:41PM
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1 BY MR. TAYBACK:

2 Q. Aand do you recall -- the meeting you recall

3 where that happened, wag that before or after you

4 were terminated?

5 MR. KRUM: Objection, assumes facts not in 03:53EM
6 evidence.

7 THE WITNESS: I don't recall.

8 BY MR. TAYBACK:

9 Q. Do you remember Ellen Cotter talking to you

10 about the possibility of getting an interim CEO at 03:53PM
11 Reading'as early as February 2015, someone to

12 replace you?

13 A. I think they brought it ﬁp ag early as

14 October 2014.

15 Q. And did you sharelwith Mr. Storey, at 03 :54PM
16 least, your concerns about that kind of discuggion

17 from Ellen Cotterx?

18 A. I may have.

19 Q. And when she brought it up, was hex
20 proposal that the company hire an interim CEO that 03:54PM
21 wag none of the Cotters?
22 A. I don't recall a specific conversation that
23 I had with Ellen in February relating to that.
24 Q. You said you think they brought it up or
25 she brought it up as early as October. 03:54PM
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What's your first recollection of what she
said?
A. Well, either Ellen and/or Margaret said

that, at some point, hey, you know, we're going to

hire an interim CEO to replace you. 03 :55PM
Q. and what did you say to her ox them?
A. I don't recall how I responded.
Q. Is it fair to say at the time, as of

October at least, you weren't in favor of that?

A. Ag of Octobexr of 20147 03 :55PM
Q. Yes.
A. Certainly not.

Q. And did you -- by February, did you start
to think that maybe that was a more realistic way of
Reading managing the business while the trust and 03:55PM
estates matters were sorted out?
Al No.
Q. At any point before you were terminated,
did you come to that view?

A. No. ' 03 :55PM

22

23

24

25

Q. I'm going to ask you to take a look at --
While she's getting a document, I'll ask
you a couple of questions unrelated to the documents
in front of you.

Ag a board member at Reading, do you 03:56PM
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Delaware limited partnership,
doing business as KASE CAPITAL
MANAGEMENT, et al.,
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MR. KRUM: This is 90 what?

THE REPORTER: 399.

MR. TAYBACK: 399.

MR. KRUM: 399.

MS. LINDSAY: I got it.

MR. TAYBACK: And the number is TS 0000697.

MR. KRUM: I'm pretty sure that some
version of this has been marked previously.

MR. TAYBACK: Maybe. I didn't think so.
BY MR. TAYBACK:

Q. Taking a look at that briefly, had you
ever -- I realize you're not on that email, but
looking at that email, which purports to describe a
conversation between you and your sister Ellen, do
you recall her discussing, at least in February of
2015, the pqssibility of an interim CEO?

Do you remember having that kind of a
conversation with Ellen?

A. I remember calling Tim and relating that
Ellen had raised this possibility, and that's why I

called him.

22

23

24

25

Q. All right. I'm going to show you a
document that's been previously marked as Exhibit 11
at Mr. Storey's deposition.

(Previously marked Deposition Exhibit 11

01:48PM

01:48PM

01:48PM
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was identified.)
BY MR. TAYBACK:

Q. And this is an email from Mr. Gould to
Mr. Adams, Mr. Kane, Mr. McEachern, Mr. Storey.
You're, again, not on this, but it attaches a
memorandum from Mr. Gould. 2nd I'm golng to -- it's
dated March 6th, 2015,

If I could direct your attention to the
third page of the document, which ends in the Bates
stamp 249.

A. Okay .

Q. Mr. Gould, at the very top of that page --

A. . The top of page 37

Q. The top of the third page of the document,
which ig page 2 of the memo.

A. Okay.

Q. You sSee that?

You gsee it?

A. I do.

Q. Okay. At the very top, there's a sentence
that starts:

We cannot accept a dysfunctional

management team under any circumstances.
Indeed, the company has said in its

public filings that the Cotters will

01:49PM

01:50PM

01:50PM

01:50PM

01:50PM
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work together notwithstanding the
litigation and they do not believe that
the litigation will affect its company's
operations. But we must ask ourselves,
how can we ensure the three Cotters will 01:50PM
work together given the ‘'thermonuclear’
hostility currently existing?"
Would you agree that as of March of 2015,
Mr. Gould's characterization of the hostility
between you and your siblings was properly 01:51PM
characterized as thermonuclear?
MR. KRUM: Objection, vague.
THE WITNESS: No. I wouldn't characterize
the relationship as thermonuclear.
what I would characterize it as -- Margaret 01:51PM
gimply refused to report to me. It wasn't just me.
She really refused to be accountable to anyone. And
that created an issue in the company that I believe
Ellen and Margaret artificially created.
co when it's described as, well, there's an 01:51PM
igssue in the relationship amongst the Cotters, I
would attribute it to Margaret absolutely refusing
to report to me and her being responsible for
creating this crisis that is being degscribed.

BY MR. TAYBACK: 01:52PM
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1 Q. Regardless of whoever's fault you believe

2 it is that you could not get along, would you agree

3 that the relationship between you and your sisters

4 within the management of Reading was dysfunctional

5 by March of 20157 01:52PM

E 6 - MR. KRUM: Object to the characterization

7 of the testimony.

8 You can answer the question.

9 ' THE WITNESS: Again, if there's an

10 executive or an independent contractor who 01:52PM
11 completely refuses to report to me as CEOQ and has

12 done so ag early as September/October of 2014 and

13 hag literally refused to report to me, that's

14 dysfunctional. That's dysfunctional.

15 BY MR. TAYBACK: 01:53PM
16 Q. And did you report -- when your termination ,
17 was being discussed, you raised the issue of your

18 pexrception that Margaret was unwilling to repoxt to

19 you to the board; correct?
20 MR. KRUM: Objection -- 01:53PM
21 THE WITNESS: I think my --
22 MR. KRUM: -- assumes facts.
23 THE WITNESS: -- my description might even
24 have been more. It might have been not just that
25 she was unwilling to report to me. She was 01:53PM
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unwilling to report to anyone. And she didn't want
to have any accountability to anyome. SO --
BY MR. TAYBACK:
4 Q. Go ahead. I'm sorxry.
5 Is it -- and is it fair to say that you 01:53FM
6 described to the board a situation which was there
7 was a dysfunctional working relationship between you
8 and your aigters and that they effectively needed to
9 pick either you or your sisters?
10 -MR. KRUM: Object to the characterization 01:53PM
11 of the testimony --
12 THE WITNESS: I would nev- --
13 MR. KRUM: Let me interpose my objections.
14 Assumes facts not in evidence.
15 Go ahead. 01:54PM
16 THE WITNESS: I would never characterize
17 the issue that T had, especially with Margaret and
18 her abject refusal to report to me, as a
19 dysfunctional relationship because that implies that
20 two people in a relationship are both contributing 01:54PM
21 to the dysfunctionality of their relationship.
22 BY MR. TAYBACK:
23 Q. So you're saying, in your mind at least,
24 the word dysfunctional suggests you would be
25 contributing to dysfunctionality, but you weren't? 01:54PM
Page 700
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MR. KRUM: Objection, assumes facts not in
evidence, including of the witness seeing
Exhibit 11.

MR. TAYBACK: Let me -- I'll rephrase the
gquestion.

BY MR. TAYBACK:

21

22

23

24

25

Q. Isn't it correct that in March of 2015, you
understood that the board would assess how the
management of the company was functioning,
gspecifically you and your sisters, to make an
assessment about what they should do?

A. No.

At the meeting on March 13th, Bill Gould
and Tim Storey communicated to me and independently
to Ellen and Margaret that Tim would make a
recommendation as newly appointed ombudsman and
would report his findings and his recommendations to
the independent directors of the board, not to the
full board, but only to the independent directors.
And the independent directors would then, based on
his findings, possibly take actions in response to
those findings and recommendations.

SRR

Q. and was that agreement, as you understood

it, memorialized in writing somewhere?

MR. KRUM: Objection, foundation.

01:58PM

01:58FPM

01:58PM

01:59PM

01:59PM
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1 BY MR. TAYBACK:

2 Q. Yes or no?

3 A. Well, I mean, I think there may have been

4 memos to that effect.

5 Q. Have you seen a memo that describes that

6 process that you just described?

7 A. T can't recall, sitting here today,

8 without, you know, going through the emails.

o But yeg, I mean, I -- it was clear to me,
10 to Ellen and Margaret, certainly to Bill Gould and
11 Tim Storey and the other directors, that that was
i2 the case.

13 Q. Do you agree with me that the board of a
14 company always has the prerogative to make a

i5 decigion with respect to the hiring énd firing of
16 its executives, the company's executives, subject to
17 whatever contracts might exist.

18 MR. KRUM: Objection, vague and ambiguous,
19 may call for a legal conclusion.

20 THE WITNESS: Do I agree what?

21 BY MR. TAYBACK:

22 Q. That the board of a company --

23 A. Right.

24 Q. -~ has the power to hire and fire a CEO?
25 MR. KRUM: Same objections, incomplete

01:59PM

01:59FEM

02:00PM

02:00PM

02:00PM
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1 hypothetical as well.

2 THE WITNESS: Subject to agreements made,
3 written contracts made.

4 BY MR. TAYBACK:

5 Q. Subject to the terms of a contract;

6 correct?

7 A. Subject to the terms of a contract --

8 Q. Yes.

9 A. -- or posgibly a resolution. Sure.

10 Q. And is there anything about what you're
11 describing that you think limited the power of the
12 board to terminate you as CEO if it believed doing
13 go was in the best interest of the company?

14 MR. KRUM: Same objections.

15 THE WITNESS: I believe in January of 2015,
16 a resolution was passed at the insistence of my

17 gisters that they couldn't be terminated.

18 Ellen could not be terminated as an

19 executive without the approval of the majority of
20 the independent directors.

21 Margaret's contract with -- for her live
22 theater operation could not be terminated without
23 the majority of the independent directors.

24 And my employment as CEO could not be
25 terminated without a'majority of the independent

02:00PM

02:00PM

02:01PM

02:01PM

02:01PM
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conversation, about a repopulated and newly

1

2 chartered executive committee of the RDI board of

3 directors prior to the meeting of June 12, 2015?

4 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Asked and

5 answered.

6 THE WITNESS: As I said, I don't recall

7 specific conversations with Craig about this.

8 BY MR. KRUM:

9 Q. You don't recall speaking to him; is

10 that right?

11 A. I don't recall speaking to him. But I
12 speak to Craig a lot, so, very well this -- this

13 subject would have come up.

14 Q. Did you speak to Bill Ellis prior to the
15 meeting of June 12, 2015 with respect to a
16 repopulated and newly chartered executive committee
17 of the RDI board of directors?

18 A. I don't recall if I spoke to Bill.
19 Q. Did you speak to Frank Reddick prior to
20 the meeting of June 12, 2015 about a repopulated and
21 newly chartered executive committee of the RDI board
22 of directors?
23 A. Frank Reddick of Akin Gump?
24 Q. Yes.
25 A. I did.

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112

www.litigationservices.com

JA1292

Page 156




ELLEN COTTER, VOLUME I - 05/18/2016

W N

D B« T ¥

o o

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 157
Q. T'm not asking you who said what. -

When did that conversation or those
conversations occur?

A. I don't remember.

Q. Was it prior to May 21, 20157

A. I don't -- I don't recall.

Q. Do you recall that May 21, 2015 was the
first supposed meeting oflthe RDI board of directors
where the subject was the termination of Jim Cotter,
Jr., as president and C.E.0.? Do you recall that
date and that meeting?

A. I recall May 21, 2015.

Q. Okay. And you do not recall, with that
particular meeting and date in mind, whether you had
spoken with Frank Reddick about a repopulated and
newly chartered RDI board of directors prior to that
date May 217?

A. I don't remember.

Q. T'm not asking you what you said and
what he said.

Who else was present for or party to
that conversation or conversations?

A. Conversations about what?

Q. Okay. Directing your attention,

Ms. Cotter, to your conversation or your
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1 ‘conversations with Frank Reddick of Akin Gump about
2 a repopulated and newly chartered executive

3 committee of the RDI board of directors, was anyone
4 else present or privy to that conversation or those
5 conversations?

6 A. I don't remember.

7 Q. Were they in person or by phone or both?
8 A. I don't -- I don't remember.

9 Q. Was Guy Adams either present in person
10 or telephonically for any such conversation with
11 Frank Reddick?

12 A. I don't recall.

13 Q. Was Craig Tompkins either preéent in

14 person or telephomnically during such conversation
15 with Frank Reddick?

16 A. I don't recall.

17 Q. Who retained Akin Gump with respect to
18 or related to the termination of Jim Cotter, Jr., as
19 president and C.E.O. of RDI?

20 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.

21 THE WITNESS: Akin Gump had been our
22  counsel for a long time.

23 BY MR. KRUM:

24 Q. When --
25 A. So --
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Q. Go ahead.

A. Yeah. So I mean they've been -- they've
been with us probably for 20 years.

Q. Well, is -- so are you saying that they
weren't -- that they were on retainer and that there
was no new retainer? Is that your point?

A. They had been working for us for a long

time. We didn't have a retainer wiﬁh them.

Q. Okay. So, who first contacted Akin Gump
with respect to or related to the termination of Jim
Cotter, Jr., as president and C.E.O. of RDI?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.

THE WITNESS: Yeah. I don't -- I don't
remember. |
BY MR. KRUM:

Q. Well, how did you first learn or hear
that Akin Gump was engaged in comnection with or
respect to the termination or possible termination
of Jim Cotter, Jr., as president and C.E.O. of RDI?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Assumes facts,
lacks foundation.

THE WITNESS: I don't recall who reached
out to Akin Gump first.

BY MR. KRUM:

Q. I'm asking about when you first learned
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Page 160
of something. Okay?
And so let me just ask the question --
A. Yeah.
Q. - sé we have a clear record. And you

can answer it or, you know, we'll go to another
question.

How did you first learn of Akin Gump
providing services with respect to or in connection
with the termination or possible termination of Jim
Cotter, Jr., as president and C.E.O. of RDI?

MR. SEARCY: And when you answer that
question, only answer it without disclosing the
gubstance of any communications --

MR. KRUM: Right.

MR. SEARCY: -- that you may have had
with Akin Gump.

THE WITNESS: Uh-huh. I don't -- sorry,
you guys. What --

BY MR. KRUM:
Q. Do you want me to have the court
reporter read it back for you?
A. Yeah. Sorry.
MR. KRUM: Please.
(Whereupon the qguestion was read

as follows:
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"Question: How did you first

learn of Akin Gump providing

services with respect to or in

connection with the termination or

possible termination of Jim

Cotter, Jr., as president and

C.E.O. of RDI?"Y)

THE WITNESS: I don't remember how I did
it, how I -- if I called or if somebody else called.
T don't remember when. But Larry Levien --

MR. SEARCY: Okay. You're starting to

disclose --

THE WITNESS: Oh, okay. Sorry.

MR. SEARCY: I don't want you disclosing
any -- any conversations that you had.

THE WITNESS: Okay.

BY MR. KRUM:

Q. Well, if you would please continue about
Larry Levien, but do so heeding Mr. Searcy's
admonition. Because I'm not asking you about
anything that anybody said to anybody at Akin Gump
or anything that anybody at Akin Gump said to
anybody else.

A. Larry Levien had been our labor counsel.

So, Larry was contacted. And I can't remember who
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1 made the first contact. If it was me -- I don't
2 remember.
3 Q. Was it Guy Adams?
4 A. I don't remember.
5 Q. Understand. When I ask a question of
6 that nature, I'm testing and prompting your
7 recollection.
8 A. Yeah.
9 Q. Sometimes it doesn't --
10 A. No. I appreciate that. I don't
11 remember. |
12 MR. SEARCY: Mark, when we're at a
13 natural breaking point, let me know.
14 MR. KRUM: Sure. You want to break,
15 right?
16 MR. SEARCY: Yeah.
17 MR. KRUM: Yeah. We'll do it in a
18 minute -- minute or two.
19 VIDEOTAPE OPERATOR: 35 minutes left.
20 BY MR. KRUM:
21 Q. Did there come a point in time when you
22 had -- strike that. \
23 Did there come a point in time prior to
24 May 21, 2015, when you had communications with Frank
25 Reddick?

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112

www.litigationservices.com

JA1298




ELLEN COTTER, VOLUME I - 05/18/2016

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 163
A. Prior to May 21, 2015?

MR. FERRARIO: On anything or some
business --
MR. KRUM: Anything. It's a threshold
foundational question.
THE WITNESS: I did.
BY MR. KRUM:
Q. And how many such communicatibns were
there, as best you can recall?
A. I don't remember.
Q. When was the first time you communicated
with Mr. Reddick?
A, I don't remember.
Q. Was it within a month prior to May 21,
20157
A. I don't recall.
Q. Was it in or after September -- well,
was it in‘the fall of 2014?
A. No. But I don't remember -- I don't
remember our first communication.
Q. Okay. When you say "no," does that mean
it was after the fall of 2014?
A. Yes.
Q. Understand I'm just asking for your best

recollection of a time frame. Because I heard you
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when you don't remember the date.

A. Uh-huh.

Q. So it was at some point in 2015, prior
to May 21, 2015; is that right?

A,  Yes.

Q. Was it prior to your meeting with
Mr. Adams in Beverly Hills?

A. I don't remember.

Q. Was anyone else present for or party to
the initial communication you had with Mr. Reddick?

A, I don't remember.

Q. Do you recall ever having -- strike
that.

At any time prior to May 21, 2015, did
you ever have any communications with Mr. Reddick to
which any other person was party or privy?

A. Guy Adams -- yeah. I don't -- I know
Guy spoke to Frank with me, but I don't remember
anything else.

Q. Do you recall when that was, whether by

time frame or point of reference to any other event?

A. No.

Q. Was that in person or by telephone?
A. I don't remember.

Q. And do you recall if for any reason
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1 other than what was discussed?

2 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.

3 THE WITNESS: What's your question?

4 What did I discuss at these --

5 BY MR. KRUM:

6 Q. No. No. That's not the gquestionmn.

7 How is it that you -- what is it that

8 prompts you to recall that you did have a

9 conversation with Mr. Reddick to which Mr. Adams was
10 party? !
11 Do you remember where you were at the
12 time? Do you remember what was discussed?
13 What enables you to remember that is

14 what I'm asking, not what was discussed.

15 A. I remember Guy because Guy knew who

16 Frank Reddick was. He had worked with him before.
17 So I don't remember the specifics of the

18 conversation.

19 Q. Okay. I'm not asking about the
20 conversation.

21 MR. KRUM: Marshall, why don't we take a
22 break.

23 MR. SEARCY: Thanks. Yes.

24 VIDEOTAPE OPERATOR: We are off the
25 record.
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Page 86

1 2015 to terminate Jim Cotter, Jr., as president and
2 C.E.O., that Ellen and Margaret both purported to
3 vote?
4 A. I do have that recollection.
5 Q. Was there any discussion of whether they
6 should vote or whether they had standing to vote?
7 MR. HELPERN: Objection to form.
8 MR. SWANIS: Join.
9 THE WITNESS: I don't -- I actually
10 don't recall that right now. I don't remember it.
11 BY MR. KRUM:
12 Q. What were your thoughts at the time as
13 to whether they should vote or whether they should
14 have been recused or disqualified with re- --
15 regarding the termination of Jim Cotter, Jr.?
16 MR. SWANIS: Same objections.
17 MR. HELPERN: Join.
18 THE WITNESS: My thoughts at the time
19 were that even without their votes, the party -- the
20 parties moving to vote for hig termination had
21 gufficient votes to -- to accomplish what they
22 wanted to do.
23 BY MR. KRUM:
24 Q. You mean three -- you mean three of
25 five?
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1 A, That would have been in late April,
2 early May 2015.
3 Q. What happened then?
4 A. There was a notice gent out to the board
5 indicating there would be a meeting to discuss,
6 among other things, the status of the -- something
7 like this, the status of the C.E.0. or something
8 like that. ”
9 And I called for an independent board
10 meeting to find out what this was all about and what
11 the issues were.
12 And that's when I first heard it.
13 Q. How did you first hear?
14 A, At some meeting we had -- there wére
15 several meetings, so excuse me if I'm not specific
16 about which one on which date.
17 But at this meeting I heard the three
18 other directors, Tim -- not Tim Storey, but Guy,
19 Doug and Ed Kane say they felt that -- that Jim's
20 performance was such that he should be replaced.
21 Q. Was that at the first supposed board
22 meeting pursuant to the -- where the agenda item was
23 status of president and C.E.O0.?
24 MR. SWANIS: Objection to form.
25 THE WITNESS: No. It was before that.
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Does that refresh your recollection

that -- that it was in March of 2015 that the five
non-Cotter directors agreed:to Tim Storey being a
committee of one or the ombudsman to work with the
Cotters?
A. Yes.

MR. SWANIS: Objection to form.

MR. HELPERN: Join.
BY MR. KRUM:

Q. Now, did the -- did the conference call
of March 12 occur that's referenced both in the
cover email Exhibit 11 and the --

A. Yes, it did.

Q. And who said what during that call
regarding Tim Storey serving as a committee of one
or ombudsman to work with the Cotters?

A. Well, I think all the directors felt
that that was a reasonable approach to try. And it
was felt by -- by everybody that hopefully Tim could
accomplish three things. First of all, he would
mediate -- help mediate the disputes among the three
family members; secondly, he would monitor the
progress of how Jim, Jr., was coming along and how
the other giblings were doing, as well; and finally

he would report back to the board as to how he
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1 viewed the progress of -- of these relationships.

2 And everybody seemed to agree with that.
3 Q. When you say "everybody seemed to

4 agree," you mean that no one said anything in words
5 or substance that communicated -- well, strike that.
6 Why do you say everyone seemed to agree?
7 A. Well, the only issue I can remember was

8 the fact that we were worried about Tim's time. He
9 lived in Auckland, and he had to fly over here and
10 spend time. And we knew it would be time consuming
11 and expensive.

12 And he indicated he would be willing to
13 do it.
14 Q. What did -- when you say he would help

15 mediate the disputes among the three family members,
16 to what are you referring?
17 A. I'm referring to the fact that on one

18 hand Jim was saying that Ellen wasn't giving him

19 the -- her business plan, and she -- Margaret was

20 being -- refusing to do -- excuse me -- to provide
21 anything.
22 And they were saying that Jim was making_
23 unreasonable demands on them and he was asking them
24 - for things that he shouldn't be asking them for.
25 So, Tim, who is a very successful and
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foundation.

MR. HELPERN: Join.

THE WITNESS: Yes. We did not wait
until the end of June .
BY MR. KRUM:

Q. Both you and Mr. Storey expressed to
Messrs. Kane, Adams and McEachern that the process
should be completed, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Did any of them provide any response
other than to communicate that they were unwilling
to allow that to happen?

MR. HELPERN: Objection to form.

MR. SWANIS: Join.

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

THE WITNESS: They clearly made the
statements that you had said, that they -- they felt
that they Wére convinced that Jim's performance was
guch that it had to be cut off at an earlier point;
that the time had come to make a decision, and we
should not wait the extra month or so to get Tim

Storey's final repoxrt.

22
23
24

25

Q. Did any of the -- any of Messrs. Kane,
Adams or McEachern ever provide any responses to any
interim reports provided by Mr. Storey?

MR. HELPERN: Objection. Lacks
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1 A. Uh-huh.

2 Q. Do you see that item number one says

3 vpresent status"?

4 A. Right.

5 Q. To what did that refer?

6 A. Well, that was intended to refér, as I
7 recall, to how things are going at the company at
8 that time.

9 Q. Ttem two, "Tim's involvement," to what
10 did that refer?

11 A. That -- that referred to how Tim was
12 coming along in his capacity as what we called at
13 that time ombudsman.
14 Q. Ombudsman being the same role as the
15 »committee of one -~

16 A. The committee of one.

17 Q. Item three reads, quote,

18 vFace-to-face meeting of

19 independent directors in June

20 before the shareholders meeting to
21 assess status," close quote.

22 Do you see that?

23 A. Yes.

24 Q. To what did that refer?
25 That referred to what we had always
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1 gaid, that we were going to get a report from Tim

2 and then make a final decision on whether some or
3 all of the Cotter family members would have to
4 improve their performance or change their -- what

they were doing.

Q. what does that mean when you say
vimprove their performance or change what they were
doing?

A. Well, in other words, if the -- the
10 gituation could not continue the way it was
11 indefinitely with this hostile bickering.

12 And at some point, if certain people

13 were chronic offenders, we'd have to consider

14 terminating them.

15 Q. As of April 2, 2015, had you had any

16 communications with any other non-Cotter member of
17 the RDI board of directors about the subject or

18 possibility of terminating one or more of the

19 Cotters?

20 A. The subject came up that we had to be

21 prepared, if the situation did not correct itself
22 within a reasonable period of time, to take drastic
23 steps which might involve terminating one or more oOf

24 the Cotters.

25 Q. When did that subject first arise?
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1 THE WITNESS: I think it was unclear. I
2 think nobody knew the correct answer there.

3 T mean the letter itself on its face,

4 you know, 1f you had prior dealings with these

5 people, you knew what their style was -- without

6 more information we wouldn't have a defin- -- we

7 couldn't have a definitive answer.

8 So T don't think anybody had a firm

9 feeling as to what the issue was.

10 BY MR. KRUM:
11 Q. If Margaret Cotter had felt vindicated

12 with respect to how she handled it, at the end of
13 that meeting, do you think that she understood what
14 people said to her?

15 ‘ MR. SWANIS: Objection. Form,

16 foundation.

17 MR. HELPERN: Join. Calls for

18 speculation.

19 THE WITNESS: No. I can't speculate. I
20 don't know.

21 BY MR. KRUM:

22 Q. Well, did you say anything that you

23 intended to communicate to her that she had been

24 vindicated by the discussion?

25 A. I don't --I don't remember saying
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25
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anything at that meeting.

But she certainly hadn't been vindicated

at that point. But she later was vindicated when

Q. When you say she was vindicated, does
that mean that it was acceptable to have not
previously disclosed the February 6th letter or that
on the merits of the issues --

On the merits.

-- she was correct?

» 0 >

On the merits she was correct.

Q. Did any other RDI director other than
you and other than Jim Cotter, Jr., say anything
during that meeﬁing that led you to believe they
understood the distinction between the subject of
disclosing the February 6th letter to the C.E.O., at
least, if not to the board and the subject of the
merits of the dispute with the Stomp producers?

MR. HELPERN: Object to form, vague.

MR. SWANIS: Join.

THE WITNESS: There were general
discussions among the others, saying -- you know,
questioning whether there was sufficient notice in
that original February 6th letter to cause Margaret

to turn it over to Jim.
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plan was done by the board to assist Jim with his

1
2 C.E.O. duties.
3 Q. What plan was that?
4 A. You know, I don't have any details from
5 it. All T know is that apparently Tim Storey was
6 given some kind of mandate to help out Jim.
7 Q. Okay. Do you know what the nature of
8 that mandate was?
9 A. I never saw anything in writing. I
10 don't really know.
11 Q. Other than what you've testified, did
12 you have any other source of information that you
13 chéractefized as questioning of Jim's performance by
14 the board?
15 A. Just what I heard from board members.
16 Q. What did you hear, if anything, other
17 than what you've already testified?
18 A. Just in meetings some of the stuff he
19 did was guestioned, as -- ag happens at every board
20 meeting.
21 Q. Do you recall any particular matter or
22 item or issue or subject?
23 A, There were some concerns about Jim's
24 behavior that the board looked at.
25 Q. Anything else?
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A. Not in terms of any particular decision
that he made the board questioned. It was more
behavior and experience.
Q. Okay. By "behavior," you're reférring
to what?
A. Temperament and what I think people

characterized ags anger issues.
Q. Well, I'm asking who said what.
Whether you could characterize it as

behavior or temperament or anger issues, I'm asking

what did you -- what did you hear or learn, not what
did you -~ not how do you sum them up today.
13 A. T heard a couple stories about angry
14 outbursts of Jim's that weré, T believe, shared with
15 the board; not by me, but I belieﬁe shared with the
16 “board.
17 Q. Angry outbursts in the presence of you
18 or directed at home?
19 A. Incidentg involving people in the
20 office; my former assistant, I,inda Pham, accountant,
21 outside estate accountant, Debbie Watson, Ellen.
22 Again, I didn't witness any of these.
23 These were stories that were shared around the
24 office.
25 Q. Did you ever oObserve an angry outburst
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1 by Jim Cotter, Jr.?
2 A. We shared a thin wall. I did hear him
3 yelling at times. I can't pin down the subject or
4 when. Just it's just a recollection. Our walls
5 were very thin.
6 Q. Did you ever tell -- were you ever asked
7 by any member of the RDI board of directors whether
8 you witnessed any angry outbursts by Jim?
9 A. I don't recall.
10 Q. Did you ever tell them whether you had
11 or that you had not?
12 A. I don't recall anyone asking or -- or me
13 telling.
14 Q. And with respect to your testimony that
15 you did hear him yelling at times, do you know
16 whether that was when Margaret Cotter was in his
17 office or on the other phone -- end of the line of
18 the phone?
19 A. T don't -- I don't know that.
20 Q. Did you ever hear or learn or were you
21 ever told that Linda Pham had developed a personal
22 relationship with either or both Margaret and/or
23 Ellen Cotter?
24 A. I don't understand the term "personal
25 relationship."
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